Exodromy

Clark Barwick

Saul Glasman

Peter Haine

August 21, 2020

Abstract

Let X be a quasicompact quasiseparated scheme. Write Gal(X) for the category whose objects are geometric points of X and whose morphisms are specializations in the étale topology. We define a natural profinite topology on the category Gal(X)that globalizes the topologies of the absolute Galois groups of the residue fields of the points of X. One of the main results of this book is that Gal(X) variant of MacPherson's exit-path category suitable for the étale topology: we construct an equivalence between representations of Gal(X) and constructible sheaves on X. We show that this *exodromy equivalence* holds with nonabelian coefficients and with finite abelian coefficients. More generally, by using the pyknotic/condensed formalism, we extend this equivalence to coefficients in the category of modules over profinite rings and algebraic extensions of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . As an 'exit-path category', the topological category Gal(X) also gives rise to a new, concrete description of the étale homotopy type of X.

We also prove a higher categorical form of Hochster Duality, which reconstructs the entire étale topos of a quasicompact and quasiseparated scheme from the topological category Gal(X). Appealing to Voevodsky's proof of a conjecture of Grothendieck, we prove the following reconstruction theorem for normal varieties over a finitely generated field k of characteristic 0: the functor $X \mapsto Gal(X)$ from normal k-varieties to topological categories with an action of G_k and equivariant functors that preserve minimal objects is *fully faithful*.

Contents

0	Intro	oduction	6	
	0.1	Monodromy for topological spaces	8	
	0.2	Monodromy for schemes and topoi	9	
	0.3	Exodromy for stratified topological spaces	11	
	0.4	Exodromy for higher topoi: ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality	12	
	0.5	Exodromy for schemes & the Reconstruction Theorem	15	
	0.6	Extending exodromy: coefficients & ℓ -adic sheaves	16	
	0.7	Other roles of $Gal(X)$	17	
	0.8	Technical overview	19	
	0.9	Open problems	20	
	0.10	Acknowledgements	20	
	0.11	Terminology & notations	21	
I	Stra	atified spaces	28	
1	Aide	-mémoire on the topology of posets & profinite posets	29	
	1.1	Alexandroff Duality	29	
	1.2	Stratifications of topological spaces	31	
	1.3	Hochster Duality	31	
	1.4	Profinite stratifications	33	
2	The	The homotopy theory of stratified spaces		
	2.1	Stratified spaces as ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset	34	
	2.2	Functoriality in the poset	36	
	2.3	The stratified Postnikov tower	38	
	2.4	π -finite stratified spaces	39	
	2.5	Profinite stratified spaces	41	
	2.6	Complete Segal spaces & spatial decollages	43	
	2.7	The nerve of a stratified space	44	
	2.8		46	
II	El	ements of higher topos theory	48	
3	Aide	-mémoire on higher topoi	49	
	3.1	Higher topoi	49	
	3.2	Boundedness	51	
	3.3	Coherence	53	
	3.4	Coherence & <i>n</i> -topoi	55	
	3.5	Coherence of morphisms & <i>n</i> -localic ∞ -topoi	59	
	3.6	Coherent geometric morphisms via sites & coherent ordinary topoi	61	
	3.7	Examples of coherent ∞ -topoi from algebraic geometry	65	
	3.8	Classification of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi via ∞ -pretopoi	67	

	3.9	Coherence of inverse limits	69
	3.10	Coherence & preservation of filtered colimits	69
	3.11	Points, Conceptual Completeness, & Deligne Completeness	71
	3.12	Bases for ∞-topoi	73
4	Sha	be theory	79
	4 1	Protruncated objects	79
	4.2	Shape theory	80
	43	Shapes of inverse limits	82
	44	Profinite spaces & Stone ∞ -topoi	84
			01
5	Orie	ented pushouts & oriented fiber products	89
	5.1	Recollements of higher topoi	90
	5.2	Oriented squares & oriented pushouts	94
	5.3	Internal Homs & path ∞ -topoi	96
	5.4	Oriented fiber products	97
	5.5	Generating ∞ -sites for oriented fiber products	99
	5.6	Compatibility of oriented fiber products & étale geometric morphisms	105
6	Loca	al ∞-topoi & localizations	110
	6.1	Quasi-equivalences	110
	6.2	Local ∞-topoi	111
	6.3	Nearby cycles & localizations	113
	6.4	Compatibility of oriented fiber products with localizations	115
	6.5	Localization à la Grothendieck–Verdier	116
	6.6	Coherence of localizations	118
	6.7	Geometric examples of localizations	119
7	Base	echange conditions for oriented fiber products	121
-	7.1	Basechange transformations & basechange conditions	121
	7.2	Examples of the basechange condition	124
	7.3	Applications of the basechange theorem for oriented fiber products	125
	7.4	Stable consequences of nonabelian basechange	126
	7.5	Localizations & the truncated basechange condition	130
	7.6	Functoriality of oriented fiber products in oriented diagrams	133
	7.7	Proof of the basechange condition for oriented fiber products	136
		С	
Π	I S	tratified higher topos theory	139
8	Stra	tified higher topoi	140
Ŭ	8.1	Higher topoi attached to finite posets & spectral topological spaces	140
	8.2	Stratifications over spectral topological spaces	141
	8.3	The natural stratification of a coherent ∞ -topos	145
	8.4	Stratified ∞ -topoi attached to stratified spaces	147
	8.5	Gluing squares	150
	0.0		

	8.6	Toposic décollages	152
	8.7	The nerve of a stratified ∞ -topos	154
	8.8	Profinite stratified spaces as stratified ∞ -topoi	157
9	Spec	tral higher topoi	160
	9.1	Stone ∞ -topoi & oriented fiber products	160
	9.2	Spectral ∞-topoi & toposic décollages	161
	9.3	Hochster duality for higher topoi	162
	9.4	Constructible sheaves	163
	9.5	Coherence & constructibility	166
10	Prof	inite stratified shape	170
	10.1	The definition of the profinite stratified shape	170
	10.2	Recovering the protruncated shape from the profinite stratified shape .	172
	10.3	Points & materialization	173
	10.4	Stratified homotopy types via décollages	176
	10.5	The van Kampen Theorem	178
IV	' St	tratified étale homotopy theory	180
11	۸ide	-mémoire on étale homotony types	181
11	11 1	Artin & Mazur's étale homotopy types	181
	11.1	Framples	182
	11.2	Monodromy	184
	11.4	Friedlander's étale homotopy of simplicial schemes	184
	11.5	Riemann Existence Theorem	185
	11.6	A van Kampen Theorem for étale shapes	186
12	Galo	is categories	188
	12.1	Galois categories of schemes	188
	12.2	Examples	190
	12.3	Sieves & cosieves of Galois categories	191
	12.4	Undercategories & overcategories of Galois categories	191
	12.5	Recovering the protruncated étale shape	193
	12.6	Stratified Riemann Existence Theorem	194
	12.7	The van Kampen Theorem for Galois categories	196
13	Exte	nding exodromy: coefficients, stacks, & ℓ -adic sheaves	198
	13.1	Category objects of higher topoi	199
	13.2	Exodromy with discrete coefficients	203
	13.3	Pyknotic spaces & pyknotic higher categories	206
	13.4	Profinite spaces as pyknotic spaces	210
	13.5	Profinite stratified spaces as pyknotic ∞-categories	213
	13.6	Exodromy with discrete coefficients, revisited	214
	13.7	Exodromy with profinite coefficients	215

13.8 Exodromy with ℓ -adic coefficients	217	
13.9 Fibered Galois categories & exodromy for simplicial schemes and stack	s 220	
14 Perfectly reduced schemes & reconstruction of absolute schemes		
14.1 Universal homeomorphisms and equivalences of Galois categories	226	
14.2 Perfectly reduced schemes	228	
14.3 Perfection	229	
14.4 Grothendieck's Conjecture & the proof of the Reconstruction Theorem	231	
14.5 Example: Curves	233	
References	236	
Kelerences	230	
Index of Notation	245	
Index of Terminology	248	

0 Introduction

Let X be a quasicompact quasiseparated scheme.

0.0.1 Construction. Define a category Gal(X) as follows.

- An object is a *geometric point* $x \to X$: a point Spec $\kappa(x) \to X$ that exhibits $\kappa(x)$ as a separable closure of the residue field $\kappa(x_0)$ of its image $x_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$.
- Given geometric points $x \to X$ and $y \to X$, a morphism $x \to y$ in Gal(X) is a *specialization* $x \nleftrightarrow y$: a lift of the geometric point $y \to X$ to a geometric point $y \to X_{(x)}$ of the strict localization $X_{(x)} \coloneqq \text{Spec}(O^{\text{sh}}_{X,x_0})$.

The assignment $x \mapsto x_0$ defines a functor from Gal(X) to the *specialization poset* of the Zariski topological space X^{zar} of X: the poset of points of X^{zar} in which $x_0 \le y_0$ if and only if x_0 lies in the closure of y_0 . The fiber over a point x_0 is a connected groupoid in which the automorphism group of each object is the absolute Galois group $G_{\kappa(x_0)}$ of $\kappa(x_0)$. The category Gal(X) thus *globalizes* the absolute Galois groups of the residue fields of the points of X.

Accordingly, we synthesize the profinite topologies on these Galois groups into a global topology on the category Gal(X):

0.0.2 Construction. For any point $u \to X$ that is finite over its image $u_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$, we form the unramified extension A of the henselization O_{X,u_0}^{h} with residue field the separable closure of $\kappa(u_0)$ in $\kappa(u)$, and we write $X_{(u)} := \text{Spec } A$. If $v \to X$ is finite over its image $v_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$, then a *specialization* $u \nleftrightarrow v$ is a point $v \to X_{(u)}$ of $X_{(u)}$ lying over $v \to X$. For any specialization $u \nleftrightarrow v$, we define the subset $U(u \nleftrightarrow v)$ of the set of morphisms of Gal(X) consisting of those specializations $x \nleftrightarrow y$ that lie over $u \nleftrightarrow v$. We endow the morphisms of Gal(X) with the topology generated by the sets $U(u \nleftrightarrow v)$.

In this book, we prove three theorems about the topological category Gal(X): the *Exodromy*, *Homotopy*, and *Reconstruction Theorems*. The Exodromy Theorem is a classification theorem for constructible sheaves on *X*. To state it, we consider the constructible derived category¹ $D_{cons}(X; \Lambda)$ in each of the following situations:

- (1) If Λ is a finite ring, then $D_{cons}(X; \Lambda)$ is the constructible derived category of complexes of Λ -modules with perfect stalks.
- (2) If A is a noetherian ring that is complete with respect to an ideal I ⊂ A such that the quotients A/Iⁿ are finite, then D_{cons}(X; A) is the category of constructible complexes of A-modules (with perfect stalks) as constructed by Deligne [31, §1.1], Ekedahl [36], and Bhatt–Scholze [17].
- (3) If A is an algebraic extension of Q_ℓ, then D_{cons}(X; A) is the category of constructible complexes of A-vector spaces (with perfect stalks) as constructed by Deligne [31] and Bhatt–Scholze [17].

¹More precisely, we work with the natural ∞-categorical enhancements of these derived categories.

Using the formalism of pyknotic/condensed mathematics [15; 117; 118; 119], one can make sense of 'topologies' on (higher) categories and the continuity of functors between them. In each of these cases, the natural topology on Λ induces a 'topology' on the category Perf(Λ) of perfect complexes of Λ -modules; we show that for every constructible complex $F \in D_{cons}(X; \Lambda)$, the formation of the stalks $x \mapsto F_x$ defines a continuous functor

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(A).

We prove:

0.0.3 Theorem (Exodromy; Theorems 13.0.1, 13.0.4 and 13.0.5). *Let* X *be a scheme* whose underlying topological space is noetherian. Then the assignment $F \mapsto \rho_F$ *is an* equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X; \Lambda) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(\Lambda)).$$

In fact, the coefficients in the Exodromy Theorem can be taken to be even more general, even nonabelian (see Corollary 0.5.2 and Theorems 0.6.1 to 0.6.3 for more refined statements). As a result, we are able to use Hoyois' description of the *étale* homotopy type $\Pi^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ of Artin–Mazur–Friedlander [8; 39, §4] via Lurie's shape theory [HTT, §7.1.6; HA, §A.1; SAG, §E.2; 62, Corollary 5.6] to prove our *Homotopy Theorem*. This result shows that we can recover the étale homotopy type from Gal(X) in the following manner. We may invert all the morphisms of Gal(X) in a way that respects the topology to obtain a *classifying prospace* ε (Gal(X)). We then construct a natural map

$$\theta_X \colon \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X) \to \varepsilon(\text{Gal}(X))$$

and prove that θ_X is an equivalence (in an appropriate sense):

0.0.4 Theorem (Homotopy; Theorem 12.5.1). Let X be a quasicompact quasiseparated scheme. For each geometric point $x \to X$ and integer $n \ge 1$, the map θ_X induces an isomorphism of homotopy progroups

$$\pi_n^{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X, x) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_n(\text{Gal}(X), x)$$

Thus the category Gal(X) is a *refinement* of the étale homotopy type of X. Moreover, the Homotopy Theorem provides a new, concrete description of the étale homotopy type.

Once again, more is true: Gal(X) recovers not only the étale homotopy type but the whole étale topos. This fact, combined with an early result of Voevodsky [133], yields the following *Reconstruction Theorem*. We view this Reconstruction Theorem as a globalization of the Neukirch–Uchida Theorem [98; 99; 132]: it provides situations in which the topological category Gal(X) is a complete invariant of the scheme X.

0.0.5 Theorem (Reconstruction; Theorem 14.4.7). Let k be a finitely generated field of characteristic zero, and let G_k be the absolute Galois group of k. Then the assignment

$$X \mapsto \operatorname{Gal}(X)$$

is fully faithful as a functor from normal k-varieties to topological categories over BG_k and continuous functors over BG_k that carry minimal objects to minimal objects.

Together with a generalization of the Riemann Existence Theorem (Theorem 0.7.3), this proves that normal k-varieties and morphisms between them can be reconstructed entirely from topological and group-theoretic data.

The Exodromy Theorem (Theorem 0.0.3) justifies thinking of the category Gal(X) is an algebro-geometric analogue of MacPherson's exit-path category. To further explain this point, we turn to a discussion of homotopy types and exit-path categories in topology and algebraic geometry. We then give a more detailed overview of the contents of this book.

0.1 Monodromy for topological spaces

It is a truth universally acknowledged, that a locally constant sheaf of C-vector spaces on a connected topological manifold M is completely determined by its attached *monodromy representation*: a choice of basepoint $x \in M$ specifies an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Mon}_{x}$$
: LC(M; Vect(C)) \cong Rep_C($\pi_{1}(M, x)$).

To avoid selecting a point and to drop the connectivity hypothesis on M, we can combine the set of connected components and the various fundamental groups of M to form the *fundamental groupoid* $\Pi_1(M)$. Then the monodromy equivalence becomes a natural equivalence

Mon: $LC(M; Vect(\mathbf{C})) \cong Fun(\Pi_1(M), Vect(\mathbf{C}))$.

An early insight of Kan was that, in a similar fashion, *all* the homotopy groups and all the *k* invariants of *M* could be combined to form a single combinatorial object which knows everything about the homotopy type of *M*. This combinatorial object a simplicial set $\Pi_{\infty}(M)$ known as the *singular simplicial set* or the *fundamental* ∞ -groupoid of *M*. Perhaps the clearest formulation of this insight was that of Quillen, who showed that when topological spaces and simplicial sets are given the conventional choices of model structure, the functor

$$\Pi_{\infty}$$
: **TSpc** \rightarrow s**Set**

is a right Quillen equivalence. Nowadays we go a step farther and think of Π_{∞} as an equivalence $\mathbf{S} \cong \mathbf{Gpd}_{\infty}$ between the underlying ∞ -category of spaces and that of ∞ -groupoids.

The fundamental ∞ -groupoid of M appears in derived versions of the monodromy equivalence: for instance, the monodromy of a locally constant sheaf of *complexes* of **C**-vector spaces is a functor from $\Pi_{\infty}(M)$ to complexes, and there is a monodromy equivalence of ∞ -categories

Mon:
$$LC(M; D(\mathbb{C})) \cong Fun(\Pi_{\infty}(M), D(\mathbb{C}))$$
.

Here D(C) denotes the derived ∞ -category of C. All of these monodromy equivalences follow from the universal example of locally constant sheaves of *spaces* on M, which are known as *parametrized homotopy types* in the homotopy theory literature [3; 4; 88]. That is to say, there is a natural monodromy equivalence of ∞ -categories

(0.1.1) Mon:
$$LC(M; \mathbf{S}) \cong Fun(\Pi_{\infty}(M), \mathbf{S})$$

from ∞ -category of locally constant sheaves of spaces on M to space-valued representations of the ∞ -groupoid $\Pi_{\infty}(M)$ [HA, Theorems A.1.15 & A.4.19].

0.2 Monodromy for schemes and topoi

To replace the manifold in the monodromy story with a scheme X, Grothendieck introduced the *extended étale fundamental group* $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$ of [SGA 3_{II}, Exposé X, §6]. Here it is not the Zariski topological space of X that is relevant, but its *étale topos*. Moreover, since universal covers in algebraic geometry do not exist as étale covers, but only as *proétale* covers, the extended étale fundamental group is not a group, but rather a *progroup*. In the case that X is connected and *locally connected*, Grothendieck proved a monodromy equivalence between locally constant étale sheaves and representations of $\pi_i^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$.

In the algebro-geometric setting, local connectedness is not automatic, and removing this hypothesis requires a tradeoff. On the one hand, without the local connectedness hypothesis, the monodromy equivalence only holds for *lisse* sheaves, i.e., locally constant sheaves of finite sets that can be trivialized on a finite cover. On the other hand, to classify lisse sheaves, we can work with the (more simple) profinite completion of $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$: the usual *profinite étale fundamental group* $\hat{\pi}_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$. In this setting, the monodromy equivalence states the following: if X is a connected scheme, then a choice of geometric point $x \to X$ provides an equivalence between the category of lisse sheaves of sets on X and finite sets with a continuous action of the profinite group $\hat{\pi}_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$.

Monodromy for topoi

Dubuc [34, §§5–6] provided a simultaneous generalization of the fundamental groupoid of a topological space and the étale fundamental group of a scheme: given a topos X, Dubuc defined the *fundamental progroupoid* $\Pi_1(X)$ of X. In the two cases of interest, Dubuc's progroupoid recovers the existing notions: if X is the category of sheaves of sets on a manifold M, then $\Pi_1(X)$ is the fundamental groupoid of M, and if X is the étale topos of scheme X, then $\Pi_1(X)$ is a progroupoid whose automorphism groups at every point are the extended étale fundamental groups of X. In addition, if the topos Xis *locally connected* in a suitable sense, then there is a monodromy equivalence

$$X^{\text{lc}} \simeq \text{Fun}(\Pi_1(X), \text{Set})$$

between the locally constant objects of X and (continuous) Set-valued representations of the progroupoid $\Pi_1(X)$ (see [62, Remark 2.14 & Theorem 3.3]).

Again, to remove the local connectedness hypothesis on X, there's a tradeoff: without the local connectedness hypothesis, the monodromy equivalence only holds for *lisse* objects. On the other hand, to classify lisse sheaves, we can work with the (more simple) profinite completion of $\hat{\Pi}_1(X)$ of $\Pi_1(X)$: there is a natural monodromy equivalence

$$\mathbf{X}^{\text{lisse}} \simeq \text{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_1(\mathbf{X}), \mathbf{Set}^{\text{fin}})$$

Monodromy for higher topoi: ∞-Categorical Stone Duality

Lurie provided a homotopical refinement of the Dubuc's fundamental progroupoid: given an ∞ -topos X, Lurie constructed a pro- ∞ -groupoid $\Pi_{\infty}(X)$ called the *shape* of X [HTT, §7.1.6; HA, §A.1; SAG, §E.2]. If X is *locally contractible*², then there is a natural monodromy equivalence

$$X^{\text{lc}} \simeq \text{Fun}(\Pi_{\infty}(X), \mathbf{S})$$

between the locally constant objects of X and (continuous) space-valued representations of the pro- ∞ -groupoid $\Pi_{\infty}(X)$ [HA, Theorem A.1.15]. This theory is well-suited to the study of locally constant sheaves on manifolds: since manifolds are locally contractible, the ∞ -topos of sheaves on a manifold is locally contractible. Moreover, for any manifold M, the shape of the ∞ -topos of sheaves of spaces on M coincides with the fundamental ∞ -groupoid $\Pi_{\infty}(M)$ of M; the monodromy equivalence for locally contractible ∞ -topoi is, in fact, how Lurie proves the monodromy equivalence (0.1.1).

The local contractability assumption becomes problematic in the algebro-geometric setting: the étale topos of a scheme is rarely locally simply connected, never mind locally contractible. In order to have a monodromy equivalence for étale sheaves, it is necessary that we work with the profinite completion of $\Pi_{\infty}(X_{\acute{e}t})$ and *lisse sheaves of spaces* on *X*. The setting of higher topos theory, the category of finite sets is replaced by the ∞ -category of π -finite spaces, and a *lisse* sheaf is a locally constant sheaf of π -finite spaces that can be trivialized on a finite cover. The monodromy theorem in this context is as follows: for any ∞ -topos *X*, there is a natural natural monodromy equivalence of ∞ -categories

(0.2.1)
$$X^{\text{lisse}} \simeq \text{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$$

between the lisse objects on X and representations of $\hat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$ valued in the ∞ -category S_{π} of π -finite spaces [SAG, Proposition A.8.3.2, Theorem E.2.4.1, & Theorem E.3.1.1]. (See also [11, Proposition 10.1] and Proposition 4.4.18.)

0.2.2 Example. Hoyois showed that if X is a locally connected scheme, then the profinite shape $\hat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_{\acute{e}t})$ of the étale ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t}$ of X coincides with the *profinite étale homotopy type* $\hat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ of Artin–Mazur–Friedlander [62, Corollary 5.6]. Thus Lurie's shape theory both provides a new perspective on the étale homotopy type and shows that the profinite étale homotopy type classifies lisse étale sheaves.

The monodromy equivalence (0.2.1) is a higher categorical form of *Stone Duality*. Recall that the classsical Stone Duality Theorem identifies profinite sets with totally disconnected compact Hausdorff topological spaces. Lurie's ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality Theorem identifies profinite *spaces* with a certain class of ∞ -topoi in the following manner.

0.2.3 Theorem (∞ -Categorical Stone Duality; [SAG, Theorem E.2.4.1]). *The fully faithful functor* $\mathbf{S}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$ *given by the assignment* $\Pi \mapsto \mathrm{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$ *extends along*

²The terms *locally of constant shape* and *locally* ∞ -connected are also used for local contractibility [HA, Definition A.1.5 & Proposition A.1.8; 62, Definition 3.2]

inverse limits to a fully faithful right adjoint

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$$
$$\{\Pi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A} \mapsto \lim_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S})$$

from profinite spaces to ∞ -topoi. Moreover, the left adjoint of this functor is the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}$: $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi})$.

The essential image of this embedding $Pro(S_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow Top_{\infty}$ is spanned by a higher categorical version totally disconnected compact Hausdorff topological spaces; we will return to this point momentarily (see §0.4).

0.3 Exodromy for stratified topological spaces

A string of results has suggested the possibility that *stratified spaces* and *constructible sheaves* might be modeled in a combinatorial fashion similar to spaces and locally constant sheaves. MacPherson proved that constructible sheaves of sets on a (suitably nice) stratified topological space T over a poset P determine and are determined by a functor from the *exit-path category* $\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T)$ of T. The objects of $\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T)$ are points of T and the morphisms are stratified homotopy equivalence classes of *exit paths* – paths from a stratum T_{p} to a stratum T_{q} for $q \ge p$. We call this equivalence

$$\operatorname{Ex}^{P}$$
: $\operatorname{Sh}(T; \operatorname{Set})^{P-\operatorname{cons}} \cong \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T), \operatorname{Set})$

between *P*-constructible sheaves of sets on *T* and set-valued representations of $\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T)$ the *exodromy* equivalence.³ Observe that $\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T)$ is a category with a conservative functor to *P*: for each point $p \in P$, the fiber of the functor $\operatorname{Exit}_{1}^{P}(T) \to P$ over *p* is the fundamental groupoid $\Pi_{1}(T_{p})$ of the stratum T_{p} .

Treumann [131] extended MacPherson's result to give an exodromy equivalence between constructible *stacks* with groupoid-valued representations of the *exit-path* 2*category* of *T*. Lurie [HA, Appendix A] extended this result still further to give an exodromy equivalence

$$\operatorname{Ex}^{P}$$
: $\operatorname{Sh}(T; \mathbf{S})^{P-\operatorname{cons}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Exit}^{P}(T), \mathbf{S})$

between *P*-constructible sheaves on *T* with values in the ∞ -category of spaces and space-valued representations of an *exit-path* ∞ -category Exit^{*P*}(*T*) of *T*. The objects of Exit^{*P*}(*T*) are points of *T*, the morphisms are exit-paths, the 2-morphisms are stratified homotopies, the 3-morphisms are stratified homotopies of homotopies, etc., ad infinitum. Again, Exit^{*P*}(*T*) is an ∞ -category with a conservative functor to *P*: over each point $p \in P$, the fiber of this functor is the fundamental ∞ -groupoid $\prod_{\infty}(T_p)$ of the stratum T_p .

³ἕξω: outer; δρόμος: avenue.

Stratified spaces as ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset

One is led to seek an analogue of the Kan–Quillen Theorem that states that the formation of the exit-path ∞ -category is an equivalence of homotopy theories between stratified topological spaces and suitable ∞ -categories. A geometric form of this result was proven by Ayala–Francis–Rozenblyum [10], who showed that the exit-path ∞ -category construction is fully faithful from a homotopy theory of *conically smooth* stratified spaces to ∞ -categories.

A still closer stratified analogue of the Kan–Quillen equivalence has now been provided by the simultaneous work of three teams: Douteau [32; 33] (after Henriques [54; 55]), Nand-Lal–Woolf [96; 97], and the third-named author [51]. These papers each take a slightly different point of view, but for our purposes the salient point (expressed in [51]) is that the functor Exit^{P} is an equivalence between the following homotopy theories:

- (1) Topological spaces with a sufficiently nice stratification over P in which a weak equivalence of such is a weak equivalence on strata and (homotopy) links.
- (2) The ∞ -category of ∞ -categories equipped with a conservative functor to *P*.

We thus refer to ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset *P* as *P*-stratified spaces. This makes it possible to port some of the ideas of stratified homotopy theory to the study of schemes, as we shall soon see.

0.4 Exodromy for higher topoi: ∞-Categorical Hochster Duality

With motivation from existing monodromy and exodromy results in place, in the remainder of this introduction we explain the results of this book in more detail. The first goal of this book is to prove that for any coherent⁴ scheme X, there exists a 'profinite' ∞ -category $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\text{ét}}(X)$ that classifies constructible sheaves of *spaces* on X. That is, for which there is a natural *exodromy equivalence*

(0.4.1)
$$X_{\text{\'et}}^{\text{cons}} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\text{\'et}}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \,.$$

Due to the failure of the étale ∞ -topos to be locally simply connected, here it is crucial that the term 'constructible' is interpreted in the way it is usually used in algebraic geometry, rather than topology: a sheaf *F* is *constructible* if there is a finite stratification such that the restriction of *F* to each stratum is lisse (not just locally constant). The second goal is to identify the profinite ∞ -category $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\text{ét}}(X)$ with the category in profinite topological spaces Gal(X) introduced in Constructions 0.0.1 and 0.0.2.

Hochster Duality

In order to accomplish the first goal, we take a hint from Lurie's proof that the profinite shape of a ∞ -topos classifies lisse sheaves. Through his proof of ∞ -Categorical Stone

⁴Following the Grothendieck school we use the term 'coherent scheme' synonymously with 'quasicompact quasiseparated scheme' (0.11.15).

Duality (Theorem 0.2.3), Lurie identifies the essential image of the embedding

$$Pro(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$$

of profinite spaces into ∞ -topoi with those ∞ -topoi that are *bounded coherent* in which the truncated coherent objects coincide with the *lisse* sheaves [SAG, §E.3]. We call these ∞ -topoi *Stone* ∞ -*topoi*.⁵ *Boundedness* is a technical condition that means that the ∞ -topos can be recovered by its truncated objects in a particular way; *coherence* is the higher-toposic version of being quasicompact and quasiseparated and generalizes Grothendieck's notion of coherence for ordinary topoi [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI]. The key example to keep in mind is that the étale ∞ -topos of a coherent scheme is bounded coherent. However, in the case of the étale ∞ -topos, the truncated coherent objects coincide with the larger class of *constructible* sheaves, rather than the lisse sheaves.

Thus in order to provide the desired equivalence (0.4.1), we aim to extend ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality to an equivalence between profinite *stratified* spaces and a class of *stratified* ∞ -topoi. Hochster's thesis [57; 58] gives evidence that such a generalization should be possible: Hochster identifies the category of profinite posets with the category of *spectral topological spaces*, i.e., those topological spaces that underlie coherent schemes. This functions as a simultaneous generalization of Alexandroff Duality (which identifies finite posets with finite T₀ topological spaces) and Stone Duality.

For our generalization of Hochster Duality, we need to identify the correct notion of π -*finiteness* for stratified spaces. This turns out to be the following simple generalization of π -finiteness for spaces:

0.4.2 Definition. A stratified space $\Pi \to P$ is π -finite if the poset P is finite, the ∞ -category Π has finitely many objects up to equivalence, and the mapping spaces of Π are π -finite spaces.

Write \mathbf{Str}_{π} for the ∞ -category of π -finite stratified spaces. We call objects of the ∞ -category $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Str}_{\pi})$ of proöbjects of \mathbf{Str}_{π} profinite stratified spaces.

Profinite stratified spaces are, by definition, stratified by profinite posets, equivalently, by spectral topological spaces. With this in mind, there is an obvious way to talk about stratified ∞ -topoi on the same footing.

0.4.3 Definition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. An *S*-stratified ∞ -topos is an ∞ -topos *X* equipped with a geometric morphism $X \to \text{Sh}(S)$ to the ∞ -topos of sheaves of spaces on *S*. We write **StrTop**_{∞} of the ∞ -category of stratified ∞ -topoi.

The following two examples are of particular importance to our results.

0.4.4 Example. Let P be a finite poset. Then there is a natural equivalence

$$Sh(P) \simeq Fun(P, S)$$

between sheaves on the Alexandroff topological space attached to P and functors $P \rightarrow S$.

More generally, if S is a spectral topological space regarded as a profinite poset $\{P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$, then

$$\operatorname{Sh}(S) \simeq \lim_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}(P_{\alpha}, S)$$

⁵Lurie calls these *profinite* ∞ -topoi. In this book we introduce a more general class of ∞ -topoi that could also reasonably be called 'profinite ∞ -topoi', so we use the distinct term 'Stone ∞ -topoi' to avoid confusion.

0.4.5 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme. Then the natural geometric morphism

$$X_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \to X_{\text{zar}} = \text{Sh}(X^{\text{zar}})$$

is a stratification of the étale ∞ -topos of X by the Zariski topological space X^{zar} of X.

To identify profinite stratified spaces with a class of stratified ∞ -topoi, we follow the paradigm of Lurie's ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality Theorem and extend the functor

$$Str_{\pi} \rightarrow StrTop_{\infty}$$

given by the assignment

$$[\Pi \to P] \mapsto [\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S})]$$

along inverse limits. We also generalize the theory of constructible sheaves to stratified ∞ -topoi, and prove the following higher categorical refinement of Hochster Duality.

0.4.6 Theorem (∞-Categorical Hochster Duality; Theorem 9.3.1). Write

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: Pro(**Str** _{π}) \rightarrow **StrTop** _{∞}

for the functor that carries a profinite stratified space $\Pi = \{\Pi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ to the ∞ -topos

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}) \coloneqq \lim_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}) \,.$$

Then the functor $\hat{\lambda}$ is fully faithful with its essential image those bounded coherent stratified ∞ -topoi in which the truncated coherent objects coincide with the constructible sheaves.

We call these ∞ -topoi spectral ∞ -topoi (Definition 9.2.1). This is partially justified by the fact that they are the natural higher categorical extension of Hochster's spectral topological spaces.

Exodromy for higher topoi

The next thing we show is that for each spectral topological space S, the fully faithful functor

$$\lambda_S$$
: Pro(**Str**_ π)_S \hookrightarrow **StrTop** _{∞,S}

from profinite S-stratified space to S-stratified ∞ -topoi admits a left adjoint

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}: \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,S} \to \mathbf{Pro}(\mathbf{Str}_{\pi})_{S}$$

Given the existence of this left adjoint, the following *Exodromy Theorem* is an immediate consequence of ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality.

0.4.7 Theorem (Exodromy; Theorem 10.1.8). Let *S* be a spectral topological space. For any *S*-stratified ∞ -topos *X*, the unit

$$X \to \operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty 1)}(X), \mathbf{S})$$

of the adjunction to profinite stratified spaces restricts to an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq X^{S-\operatorname{cons}}$$

between the ∞ -category of representations of $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(\mathbf{X})$ valued in π -finite spaces and *S*-constructible sheaves \mathbf{X} . We call this identification the exodromy equivalence for stratified ∞ -topoi.

We call the profinite ∞ -category $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ the profinite S-stratified shape of X.

0.4.8 Example (Example 10.1.7). Let X be a spectral S-stratified ∞ -topos. The profinite stratified shape is a *refinement* of the usual profinite shape type of X: the profinite classifying space of $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty 1)}(X)$ is precisely $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$.

0.4.9 Example (Lemma 10.3.2). Let *X* be a spectral *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. The profinite stratified shape is a *refinement* of the ∞ -category

$$Pt(\mathbf{X}) \coloneqq Fun^*(\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{X})$$

of *points* of **X** in the following sense. The profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{S}(\mathbf{X})$ is a pro- ∞ -category, and taking the limit of a prosystem defining $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{S}(\mathbf{X})$ recovers the ∞ -category Pt(\mathbf{X}). We thus think of the profinite stratified shape as the ∞ -category Pt(\mathbf{X}) equipped with an a 'profinite structure'.

0.5 Exodromy for schemes & the Reconstruction Theorem

Our interest in the profinite stratified shape is primarily due to the following example.

0.5.1 Example. If X is a coherent scheme, then the stratified ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t} \rightarrow X_{zar}$ is spectral. We call the profinite ∞ -category

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\text{\acute{e}t}}(X) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{X^{\text{zar}}}(X_{\text{\acute{e}t}})$$

the stratified étale homotopy type of X.

Since the étale ∞ -topos of X comes from an ordinary topos, the stratified étale homotopy type $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ is simply a profinite 1-category. In light of Example 0.4.9, the 1-category obtained by taking the limit of a prosystem defining $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ is the 1category $\operatorname{Pt}(X_{\acute{e}t})$ of points of the étale ∞ -topos of X. The Grothendieck School showed that the 1-category $\operatorname{Pt}(X_{\acute{e}t})$ is the 1-category $\operatorname{Gal}(X)$ of geometric points of X introduced in Construction 0.0.1 [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VIII, Théorème 7.9].

We are able to identify stratified 1-types with 1-categories equipped with a suitable topology; under this correspondence, the stratified étale homotopy type of X agrees with the *topological* category Gal(X) Constructions 0.0.1 and 0.0.2. That is, there is a natural identification

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty 1)}^{\text{ét}}(X) \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X) \,.$$

Theorem 0.4.7 thus provides the following exodromy equivalence for schemes:

0.5.2 Corollary (Exodromy for schemes). *Let X be a coherent scheme. Then there is a natural exodromy equivalence*

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Gal}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq X_{\acute{e}t}^{\operatorname{cons}}$$
.

Armed with this, the Reconstruction Theorem (Theorem 0.0.5) follows as soon as we know that the *k*-schemes in question can be recovered from their étale ∞ -topoi. On this score, in his letter to Faltings, Grothendieck conjectured – and Voevodsky proved [133] – that the assignment $X \mapsto X_{\text{ét}}$ is a fully faithful functor from normal schemes of finite type over a finitely generated field *k* of characteristic 0 to ∞ -topoi with an action of the absolute Galois group G_k and 'admissible' G_k -equivariant morphisms. Combined with our results on the profinite stratified shape, we obtain our Theorem 0.0.5.

Whereas one only expects that the étale homotopy type is a complete invariant of varieties constructed iteratively from hyperbolic curves, the addition of the natural stratification on the étale homotopy type makes the stratified étale homotopy type a complete invariant of *all* normal varieties.

In positive characteristic and for more general arithmetic schemes, the presence of inseparable extensions forces us to give a more careful formulation of Grothendieck's conjecture (Conjecture 14.4.4). Both it and the analogue of Theorem 0.0.5 remain open problems in this case.

0.6 Extending exodromy: coefficients & ℓ -adic sheaves

The nonabelian exodromy equivalence readily implies the abelian version of the Exodromy Theorem (Theorem 0.0.3) with coefficients in a finite ring.

0.6.1 Theorem (Exodromy with finite coefficients; Theorem 13.0.1). Let *X* be a coherent scheme and let *R* be a finite ring. Then there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X; R) \simeq Fun(Gal(X), Perf(R))$$
.

Thus the datum of a constructible sheaf F of complexes of R-modules on X is essentially the same information as that of a *exodromy representation*

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(R).

The claim that Gal(X) classifies constructible ℓ -adic sheaves (Theorem 0.0.3), however, is not obvious from this, and we emphasize that the question a bit subtle. Recall that Deligne's famous example of a curve of genus ≥ 1 with two points identified shows that the extended étale fundamental group $\pi_1^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ is insufficient to reconstruct lisse \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaves [17, Example 7.4.9]. The scheme in Deligne's example is necessarily nonnormal; for geometrically unibranch schemes, even the *profinite* étale fundamental group $\hat{\pi}_1^{\acute{e}t}(X)$ is sufficient to reconstruct lisse \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaves [17, Lemmas 7.4.7 & 7.4.10]. Nevertheless, even though Gal(X) is profinite, it is still capable of classifying constructible \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaves. What rescues us is that passage to a sufficiently fine stratification ensures that the strata are all normal. In order to access coefficients like \mathbb{Z}_{ℓ} and \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} with *topological* structure, we employ a small piece of the *pyknotic* (AKA *condensed*) formalism, which was introduced simultaneously by the first- and third-named authors [15] and by Clausen–Scholze [117; 118; 119]. With this, we can speak of *continuous functors* from Gal(X) into an ∞ -category of perfect complexes over \mathbb{Z}_{ℓ} or \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} that incorporates their topologies into the definition.

Using this formalism, we first extend the exodromy equivalence to coefficients in profinite rings like the ring of integers in a nonarchimedean local field (e.g., \mathbf{Z}_{ℓ} or $\mathbf{F}_{q}[[t]]$):

0.6.2 Theorem (Exodromy with profinite coefficients; Theorem 13.0.4). Let X be a coherent scheme, Λ be a noetherian ring, and $I \subset \Lambda$ an ideal. Assume that Λ is complete with respect to the I-adic topology and that for each integer $n \ge 1$, the quotient ring Λ/I^n is finite. Then there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X; \Lambda) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(\Lambda)).$$

We finally complete the proof of Theorem 0.0.3 by extending Theorem 0.6.2 to coefficients in \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} or $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{\ell}$. For this extension, we need the underlying topological space of X to be noetherian in order to ensure that the usual notion of a constructible complex of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaves is equivalent to the requirement that the sheaf is lisse over a finte stratification (see [17, §6.6]).

0.6.3 Theorem (Exodromy for ℓ -adic sheaves; Theorem 13.0.5). Let X be a scheme whose underlying topological space is noetherian, ℓ be a prime number, and E be an algebraic field extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . Then there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X; E) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(E))$$
.

0.7 Other roles of Gal(X)

We also prove a number of results about the stratified étale homotopy type that are not directly related to constructible sheaves. In this section, we explain two such results.

New description of the étale homotopy type

Let *X* be a cohrent scheme. We have seen that the stratified étale homotopy type Gal(*X*) of *X* is a delocalization of the profinite étale homotopy type $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(X)$ (Examples 0.4.8 and 0.5.1). We have also seen that the whole étale ∞ -topos of *X* can be reconstructed from the profinite 1-category Gal(*X*). Since the uncompleted étale homotopy type $\Pi^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(X)$ of *X* only depends on the étale ∞ -topos of *X*, and since Gal(*X*) recovers the étale topos in its entirely, we are assured that the étale homotopy type can be abstractly reconstructed from Gal(*X*).

Our Homotopy Theorem (Theorem 0.0.4) is more precise: it essentially states that the classifying prospace of Gal(X) (with no profinite completion) coincides with the étale homotopy type of X. The Homotopy Theorem follows from the following more general result for spectral ∞ -topoi.

0.7.1 Theorem (Homotopy; Theorem 10.2.3). Let $X \to \text{Sh}(S)$ be a spectral *S*-stratified ∞ -topos, and write ε : Pro(Cat_{∞}) \to Pro(S) for the left adjoint to the inclusion. Then there is a natural morphism

$$\theta_{\boldsymbol{X}}: \Pi_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}) \to \varepsilon(\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathcal{S}}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X}))$$

from the shape of X to the prospace obtained by inverting all morphisms in the profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ of X. Moreover, the morphism θ_{X} induces an equivalence on protruncations.

0.7.2 Remark. A morphism of prospaces induces an equivalence on protruncations if and only if it induces an equivalence on all homotopy prosets. Moreover, is not clear what invariants of a prospace exist that are not detected by its protruncation. We emphasize that essentially all existing results in étale homotopy theory work with the étale homotopy type up to protruncation (cf. Remarks 4.1.3 and 4.1.4). Hence the fact that we prove that the morphism θ_X is an equivalence on protruncations should not be seen as a problematic, but rather as the best result one could reasonably expect.

Stratified Riemann Existence

Let X be a C-scheme of finite type, and write X^{an} for the topological space of complex points of X with its analytic topology. A modern formulation of the Riemann Existence Theorem is that there is a natural comparison morphism

$$\Pi_{\infty}(X^{\mathrm{an}}) \to \Pi_{\infty}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(X)$$

from the fundamental ∞ -groupoid of X^{an} to the étale homotopy type of X, and this morphism becomes an equivalence after profinite completion [8, Theorem 12.9; 21, Proposition 4.12]. In this book, we prove the following *stratified* refinement of the Riemann Existence Theorem.

0.7.3 Theorem (Stratified Riemann Existence; Corollary 12.6.6). *Let X be a* C*-scheme of finite type. Then there is a natural equivalence*

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X) \simeq \lim_{X^{\operatorname{zar}} \to P} \operatorname{Exit}^{P} (X^{\operatorname{an}})^{\wedge}_{\pi},$$

where the right hand side is limit over finite algebraic stratifications $X^{\text{zar}} \to P$ of the profinite completions of the exit-path ∞ -categories Exit^P(X^{an}).

Combining Stratified Riemann Existence with the Reconstruction Theorem (Theorem 0.0.5) provides the following variant of the Reconstruction Theorem:

0.7.4 Example (Example 14.4.9). Let *k* be a finitely generated field of characteristic 0, and let \overline{k} be an algebraic closure of *k*. Choose a complex embedding $\overline{k} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$. Then a normal *k*-variety *X* can be reconstructed from the stratified homotopy type of the topological space

$$(X \times_{\text{Spec } k} \text{Spec } k)^{\text{an}}$$

along with its action of the absolute Galois group G_k .

In dimension 1, for example, a connected, smooth, and complete curve over k is uniquely specified by a genus g and a suitable action of G_k on a diagram of free groups whose ranks depend on g (see § 14.5).

0.8 Technical overview

This book consists of four parts. Parts I to III reflect the three ingredients necessary to construct the profinite stratified shape and to prove the central ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 0.4.6=Theorem 9.3.1). Part IV is then focused applying this machinery to the étale ∞ -topoi of schemes.

The first ingredient is a small (and quite elementary) piece of abstract homotopy theory in the study of stratified spaces and profinite stratified spaces. Most of this work is relatively formal, but one important notion is that of a *spatial décollage*, which is a presheaf on the subdivision of a poset satisfying a Segal condition (Definition 2.6.3). We prove that the ∞ -category of stratified spaces is equivalent to that of spatial décollages via a nerve construction (Theorem 2.7.4). The upshot is that a stratified space can be recovered from its 'unglued' form⁶ – a collection of strata and links, suitably organized.

On the toposic side, we need to be able to perform the same ungluing procedure, so that we can recover an ∞ -topos X from the data of a closed subtopos Z, its open complement U, and the gluing information in the form of the *deleted tubular neighborhood* W of Z in U. This is the second major ingredient – *gluing squares* of ∞ -topoi, which are certain squares

of geometric morphisms with a noninvertible natural transformation σ . In order to make sense of this, there are three nontrivial tasks:

- We must work systematically and *ab initio* with *bounded coherent* ∞-topoi. This involves some care, particularly as boundedness and coherence are not stable under the formation of recollements. See Chapter 3.
- (2) We must develop the higher categorical analogue of Deligne's *oriented fiber product* [67; 83; 101]. The *tubular neighborhood* of Z in X is the *evanescent* ∞-topos Z × X, and the *deleted tubular neighborhood* W is then the open subtopos Z × U ⊆ Z × X. See Chapter 5.
- (3) Finally, and most crucially, we must prove a rather delicate *Basechange Theorem for* oriented fiber products (Theorem 7.1.7), which ensures that the two gluing functors i^{*}j_{*} and p_{*}q^{*} agree, at least on truncated objects. See Chapters 6 and 7.

We then define *stratified* ∞ -*topoi* in a manner completely analogous to our definition of stratified topological spaces (Chapter 8). Our study of gluing squares now permits us to prove that the ∞ -category of *bounded coherent* stratified ∞ -topoi are equivalent to a ∞ -category of *toposic décollages*, i.e., presheaves of ∞ -topoi on the subdivision of a poset that satisfy a kind of *oriented Segal condition* (Theorem 8.7.3). This condition ensures that a chain { $p_0 < \cdots < p_n$ } $\subset P$ is carried to the iterated oriented fiber product $X_{p_0} \times_X \cdots \times_X X_{p_n}$ of the strata. Passing to proöbjects in the base permits us to contemplate stratified ∞ -topoi over spectral topological spaces.

⁶whence the term 'décollage'

Among the bounded coherent stratified ∞ -topoi are those in which the strata are Stone ∞ -topoi. These are the *spectral* ∞ -topoi. We prove that these agree with those bounded coherent stratified ∞ -topoi in which the truncated coherent objects are exactly the *constructible sheaves* – i.e., those sheaves that restrict to a lisse sheaf on any stratum. If Π is a profinite stratified space, then the stratified ∞ -topos Fun(Π , **S**) is spectral in this sense. As in Lurie's ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality, there is a left adjoint to the functor $\Pi \mapsto \text{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$, which carries a stratified ∞ -topos to its *stratified homotopy type*.

The ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 0.4.6=Theorem 9.3.1) now follows from a sequence of three moves:

- (1) We reduce to the case of a finite poset P. This is formal.
- (2) We then show that the stratified homotopy type of a spectral ∞-topos stratified by a finite poset can be computed by ungluing to the toposic décollage, forming the homotopy type objectwise to get a spatial décollage, and then regluing to a profinite stratified space.
- (3) We then appeal to Lurie's ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality Theorem.

0.9 Open problems

There are a number of questions we have not answered in this book. Here are two.

Question. Our work here leaves Conjecture 14.4.4 open. In effect, it predicts that a large class of *absolute schemes* (see Definition 14.4.1) can be reconstructed from their stratified étale homotopy types.

Question. We may ask whether one can recover an absolute scheme *X* from the profinite stratified space at a finite stage. That is, is there a finite constructible stratification $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow P$ such that for any absolute scheme *Y*, the map

 $\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Sch}}_k}(X,Y) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{BG}_k}(\operatorname{Gal}(Y),\operatorname{Gal}(X)) \to \pi_0 \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{BG}_k}(\operatorname{Gal}(Y),\operatorname{Gal}(X/P))$

is a bijection? Here Gal(X/P) denotes the profinite stratified shape of $X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}$ with respect to the stratification $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow P$. One might expect that it suffices to choose stratification in which the strata in X are strongly hyperbolic Artin neighborhoods [SGA 4_{III}, Exposé XI, §§2 & 3]; at this point, we do not know.

0.10 Acknowledgements

The Université Montpellier has recently released a collection of notes of Grothendieck [45], including 'Cote n^o 151: Espaces stratifiés', in which he develops some elements of stratified topos theory and some elements of an attached shape theory, to which he referred in his *Esquisse d'un Programme* [48, p. 36]. It is not clear to us how much of the work here he anticipated.

We have used the framework and results in Jacob Lurie's three big books [HTT; HA; SAG] everywhere here. The impact of his ideas here is obvious and extensive. We are

also grateful to him for his very helpful answers to a number of technical questions we pelted him with over the course of this project.

Much of our understanding of stratified spaces is directly the result of our conversations with David Ayala, who independently developed the 'spatial décollage' perspective on stratified spaces. We are exceedingly grateful to him for sharing with us a portion of these ideas. Ayala's thinking has had a tremendous influence on us, and conversations with him in the first phase of this project have been vital to our work. Additionally, he has read some early editions of this monograph, spotted some mistakes, and helped us improve our writing.

Dustin Clausen and Jacob Lurie have each developed a portion of the topos-theoretic material here. In particular, it seems that they were each already aware of the ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem. We are grateful to them both for sharing their insights on this matter.

We are grateful to Marc Hoyois for carefully reading a draft of this monograph and for providing us with helpful feedback.

We are grateful to Ko Aoki and Harry Gindi for carefully reading this monograph and for spotting a number of typos and pointing out some mistakes.

We thank Chang-Yeon Chough for helpful conversations on the relationship between the nonabelian proper basechange theorem in algebraic geometry and our basechange theorem for oriented fiber products.

Some of the ideas here were originally conceived during the Bourbon Seminar at MIT. We are grateful to our fellow participants – Marc Hoyois, Denis Nardin, Sune Precht Reeh, and Jay Shah.

The first- and third-named authors are grateful to the Isaac Newton Institute in Cambridge and to the Mathematical Sciences Research Institute in Berkeley, whose hospitality they enjoyed while completing some of this monograph.

The third-named author gratefully acknowledges support from both the MIT Dean of Science Fellowship and the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship under Grant #112237. They would also like to thank Alex Sear for her generous hospitality during his visits to the University of Edinburgh during which much of this monograph was written.

This text is partially based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant #DMS-1440140, while the first- and third-named authors were in residence at the Mathematical Sciences Research Institute in Berkeley, California, during the Spring 2020 semester. During this time, the first author was supported by the Simons Foundation.

0.11 Terminology & notations

Set theoretic conventions

0.11.1. Recall that if δ is a strongly inaccessible cardinal (which we always assume to be uncountable), then the set V_{δ} of all sets of rank strictly less than δ is a Grothendieck universe of rank and cardinality δ [SGA 4₁, Exposé I, Appendix]. Conversely, if V is a Grothendieck universe that contains an infinite cardinal, then $V = V_{\delta}$ for some strongly inaccessible cardinal δ .

In order to deal precisely and simply with set-theoretic problems arising from the consideration of 'large' collections, we append to ZFC the Axiom of Universes (AU). This asserts that any cardinal is dominated by a strongly inaccessible cardinal.

We write δ_0 for the smallest strongly inaccessible cardinal. Now AU implies the existence of a hierarchy of strongly inaccessible cardinals

$$\delta_0 < \delta_1 < \delta_2 < \cdots \;,$$

in which for each ordinal α , the cardinal δ_{α} is the smallest strongly inaccessible cardinal δ_{α} that dominates δ_{β} for any $\beta < \alpha$.⁷

We certainly will not use the full strength of AU; the existence of only δ_0 , δ_1 , and δ_2 suffices for our work here. At the cost of some circumlocutions, one could even get away with ZFC alone.

0.11.2. We write N for the poset of *nonnegative integers*. We write $N^* := N \setminus \{0\}$, and $N^{\triangleright} := N \cup \{\infty\}$.

Higher categories

Throughout this book we use the language and tools of ∞ -category theory, as defined by Boardman–Vogt and developed by Joyal [74; 75; 76] and Lurie [HTT; HA; SAG]. There are many places in this book where we do not know how construct the functors we're interested in without ∞ -category theory. It would be prohibitively difficult to prove even the most basic properties about our constructions using a different framework. In particular, we assume that the reader is familiar with the basics of ∞ -category theory, (co)limits [HTT, §1.2.13 & Chapter 4], adjunctions [HTT, §5.2], Kan extensions [HTT, §4.13], (co)cartesian fibrations [HTT, Chapter 2], and ∞ -topoi [HTT, Chapter 6].

We also use the language of ∞ -category theory in a mostly model-independent manner, which means that some standard terminology is used with a slightly different meaning than usual. For example, a full subcategory is always assumed to be closed under equivalences, a cartesian fibration is any functor that is equivalent to a cartesian fibration in the sense of [HTT, §2.4], etc. We also simply regard categories as ∞ -categories, namely those with discrete mapping spaces (up to equivalence).

0.11.3. We will generally follow the terminological and notational conventions of Lurie's trilogy [HTT; HA; SAG]. In particular:

- For each integer $n \ge 0$, we write [n] for the poset $\{0 < \dots < n\}$.
- Let δ be a strongly inaccessible cardinal. We say that a set, group, simplicial set, ∞ -category, ring, etc., is δ -small⁸ if it is equivalent (in whatever appropriate sense) to one that lies in V_{δ} . We abbreviate δ_0 -small to small.
- An ∞-category *C* is *locally* δ-*small* if and only if, for any objects *x*, *y* ∈ *C*, the mapping space Map_C(*x*, *y*) is δ-small. We abbreviate *locally* δ_0 -*small* to *locally small*.

⁷Thus $V_{\delta_{\alpha}}$ models ZFC plus the axiom 'the set of strongly inaccessible cardinals is order-isomorphic to α '. ⁸The adverb 'essentially' is often deployed in this situation.

- Accessibility of ∞-categories and functors and presentability of ∞-categories will always refer to accessibility and presentability with respect to some δ₀-small cardinal. Please observe that an accessible ∞-category is always δ₁-small and locally δ₀-small.
- We will use the terms ∞-groupoid or space interchangeably for an ∞-category in which every morphism is invertible.⁹
- Let δ be a strongly inaccessible cardinal. Then we write S_{δ} for the ∞ -category of δ -small spaces and $Cat_{\infty,\delta}$ for the ∞ -category of δ -small ∞ -categories. In particular, we shall write S and Cat_{∞} for S_{δ_0} and Cat_{∞,δ_0} , respectively.
- Let *C* be an ∞ -category and $W \subseteq Mor(C)$ a set of morphisms of *C*. Then we write $W^{-1}C$ for the result of inverting the morphisms of *W*. If δ is an inaccessible cardinal for which *C* is δ -small, then $W^{-1}C$ is δ -small as well. This ∞ -category comes equipped with a functor $C \to W^{-1}C$ that, for any ∞ -category *D*, induces a fully faithful functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}(W^{-1}C, D) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Fun}(C, D)$$

that identifies Fun($W^{-1}C$, D) with the full subcategory spanned by those functors $C \rightarrow D$ that carry the morphisms of W to equivalences in D. See [26, §7.1].

0.11.4. For any $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$, write $\operatorname{Cat}_{n} \subseteq \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the (n, 1)-categories; that is, an ∞ -category C lies in Cat_{n} if and only if for any $x, y \in C$, the ∞ -groupoid $\operatorname{Map}_{C}(x, y)$ is equivalent to an (n - 1)-groupoid. In particular, $\operatorname{Cat}_{0} \simeq \operatorname{Pos}$, the 1-category of partially ordered sets.

The inclusion $\operatorname{Cat}_n \subseteq \operatorname{Cat}_\infty$ admits a left adjoint h_n [113]. If *C* is a ∞ -category, then the unit $C \to h_n(C)$ exhibits $h_n(C)$ as the *n*-categorical truncation, so that the objects of $h_n(C)$ are exactly those of *C* and whose mapping spaces are defined by the condition that the map

$$\operatorname{Map}_{C}(x, y) \to \operatorname{Map}_{h_{n}(C)}(x, y)$$

exhibits $\operatorname{Map}_{h_n(C)}(x, y)$ as the (n - 1)-truncation of $\operatorname{Map}_C(x, y)$. The 1-categorical truncation $h_1(C)$ is also known as the *homotopy category* of *C*. The 0-categorical truncation $h_0(C)$ is equivalent to the preorder whose elements are the equivalence classes of objects of *C* in which $x \le y$ if and only if there exists a morphism $x \to y$.

Proöbjects in higher categories

0.11.5. We say that a δ_0 -small ∞ -category *A* is *inverse* if and only if its opposite ∞ -category A^{op} is filtered. Hence an *inverse system* in an ∞ -category *C* is a functor $A \rightarrow C$ from an inverse ∞ -category *A*, and an *inverse limit* is a limit of an inverse system.

0.11.6. Let *C* be an ∞ -category. The ∞ -category Pro(C) of *proöbjects in C* and the Yoneda embedding¹⁰

 $: C \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(C) ,$

⁹Clausen and Scholze have suggested the term *anima* for this notion [22, §5.1.4], following Beilinson's use of the term *animation*.

¹⁰The Hiragana character '*L*' is pronounced 'yo'.

are defined by the following universal property

- − The ∞-category Pro(C) admits δ_0 -small inverse limits.
- For any ∞ -category *D* with δ_0 -small inverse limits, composition with \downarrow induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{inv}}(\operatorname{Pro}(C), D) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}(C, D)$$
,

where $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{inv}}(\operatorname{Pro}(C), D) \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Pro}(C), D)$ full subcategory of functors that preserve δ_0 -small inverse limits.

The existence of Pro(C) is a special case of (the dual of) [HTT, Proposition 5.3.6.2].

0.11.7. The formation of proöbjects is formally dual to the formation of indobjects: for any ∞ -category *C*, we have a natural identification $\operatorname{Pro}(C)^{\operatorname{op}} \simeq \operatorname{Ind}(C^{\operatorname{op}})$.

0.11.8. For any accessible ∞ -category *C* that with finite limits, the ∞ -category Pro(C) admits an explicit description: Pro(C) is equivalent to the full subcategory of $Fun(C, \mathbf{S})^{op}$ spanned by the left exact accessible functors [SAG, Proposition A.8.1.6]. Under this identification, the Yoneda embedding &: $C \rightarrow Pro(C)$ is the restriction of the opposite of the Yoneda embedding $C^{op} \hookrightarrow Fun(C, \mathbf{S})$

If $X : A \to C$ is an inverse system, then its limit in Pro(C) is the functor

$$Y \mapsto \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{C}(X_{\alpha}, Y)$$
.

We abuse notation and denote this proöbject by $X = \{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$. Every proöbject of *C* can be exhibited in this manner, and for proöbjects $X = \{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ and $Y = \{Y_{\beta}\}_{\beta \in B}$ we obtain the familiar formula

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Pro}(C)}(X,Y) \simeq \lim_{\beta \in B} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{C}(X_{\alpha},Y_{\beta}) .$$

We thus often speak of objects of Pro(C) as if they *were* inverse systems. In particular, we call a proöbject *X* constant if and only if *X* lies in the essential image of \pounds ; equivalently, *X* is constant if and only if, as a functor $C \rightarrow \mathbf{S}$, *X* preserves inverse limits.

0.11.9 (proëxistent left adjoint). Let δ be an inaccessible cardinal, *C* a locally δ -small ∞ -category that admits all δ_0 -small limits, *D* an accessible ∞ -category that admits finite limits, and $u: D \to C$ a left exact functor. The functor *u* does not generally admit a left adjoint, but passage to proöbjects often repairs this. Indeed, one may extend *u* to a (unique) functor $U: \operatorname{Pro}(D) \to C$ that preserves inverse limits, and in the other direction, one may consider the composite

$$F := u^* \circ \sharp : C \to \operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S}_{\delta})^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Fun}(D, \mathbf{S}_{\delta})^{\operatorname{op}}$$

of the Yoneda embedding \downarrow with the restriction along *u*. The functor *F* carries an object $c \in C$ to the assignment $d \mapsto \text{Map}_C(c, u(d))$. We have to make two set-theoretic assumptions:

- Assume that for any object $c \in C$ and any object $d \in D$, the space $Map_C(c, u(d))$ is δ_0 -small.

- Assume that for any object $c \in C$, there exists a regular cardinal $\delta' < \delta_0$ such that for any δ' -filtered diagram $d_* : A \to D$, the natural map

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{C}(c, u(d_{\alpha})) \to \operatorname{Map}_{C}(c, \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} u(d_{\alpha}))$$

is an equivalence.

In this case, the functor F lands in Pro(D), and F is left adjoint to U. We shall call F the *proëxistent left adjoint to u*. If *u already* admits a left adjoint f, then F lands in D and coincides with f.

Recollements

0.11.10 (oriented fiber product of ∞ -categories). Given functors $F: X \to Z$ and $G: Y \to Z$ between ∞ -categories, we write

$$X \downarrow_Z Y \coloneqq X \underset{\operatorname{Fun}(\{0\},Z)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}([1],Z) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}(\{1\},Z)}{\times} Y$$

for the *oriented fiber product* of ∞ -categories.

0.11.11. Let *X* and *Y* be δ_0 -small ∞ -categories, let *Z* be a locally δ_0 -small ∞ -category, and let $F : X \to Z$ and $G : Y \to Z$ be functors. Write $Z' \subset Z$ for the full subcategory spanned by those objects in the image of *F* or the image of *G*. Then *Z'* is δ_0 -small and the oriented fiber product $X \downarrow_Z Y$ is equivalent to $X \downarrow_{Z'} Y$, whence $X \downarrow_Z Y$ is δ_0 -small.

0.11.12 (see [HA, §A.8]). Let *C* be an ∞ -category that admits finite limits. Then two functors $i_* : C_Z \to C$ and $j_* : C_U \to C$ exhibit *C* as a *recollement* of C_Z and C_U if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

- Both i_* and j_* are fully faithful.
- There are left exact left adjoints i^* and j^* to the functors i_* and j_* , respectively.
- The functor j^*i_* is constant at the terminal object of C_U .
- The functor (i^*, j^*) : $C \to C_Z \times C_U$ is conservative.

We refer to the ∞ -category C_Z as the *closed subcategory*, the ∞ -category C_U as the *open subcategory*, and the functor $i^*j_*: C_U \to C_Z$ as the *gluing functor*.

If C is the recollement of ∞ -categories C_Z and C_U , then C_Z is canonically equivalent to the *kernel* of j^* (i.e., the full subcategory spanned by those objects x such that $j^*(x)$ is terminal in C_U).

If C_Z and C_U are any ∞ -categories with finite limits, and $\phi: C_U \to C_Z$ is a left exact functor, then we write

$$C_Z \, \overleftarrow{\cup}^{\varphi} \, C_U \coloneqq C_Z \, \downarrow_{C_Z} C_U \, .$$

The projections

$$i^*: C_Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi} \, C_U \to C_Z \quad \text{and} \quad j^*: C_Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi} \, C_U \to C_U$$

admit right adjoints

$$i_*: C_Z \to C_Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi} \, C_U \qquad \text{and} \qquad j_*: C_U \to C_Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi} \, C_U$$

that together exhibit $C_Z \overline{\cup}^{\phi} C_U$ as a recollement of C_Z and C_U . Furthermore, every recollement is of this form, where ϕ is the gluing functor.

If C_Z contains an initial object, then j^* admits a further left adjoint $j_!$, so in this case we may also write $j^! := j^*$. If, moreover, C contains a zero object (whence so do C_Z and C_U), then i_* admits a further right adjoint $i^!$, so in this case we may also write $i_1 := i_*$.

0.11.13. Let *C* be an ∞ -category with finite limits and let $i_* : C_Z \hookrightarrow C$ and $j_* : C_U \hookrightarrow C$ be functors which exhibit *C* as a recollement of C_Z and C_U Then for any integer $n \ge -2$, since the left exact functor

$$(i^*, j^*): C \to C_Z \times C_U$$

is conservative, a morphism f of C is *n*-truncated if and only if $i^*(f)$ and $j^*(f)$ are both *n*-truncated.

Relative adjunctions

0.11.14. Given a commutative triangle of ∞ -categories



where *p* and *q* are isofibrations, we say that *G* admits a left adjoint relative to *E* if the following condition holds:

- There exists a functor $F: C \to D$ and a natural transformation $u: id_C \to GF$ which exhibits F as a left adjoint to G such that $pu: p \to pGF \simeq qF$ is an equivalence in Fun(C, E).

In this situation, given a functor $E' \to E$, define $C_{E'} \coloneqq C \times_E E'$, $D_{E'} \coloneqq D \times_E E'$, and write $G_{E'} \colon D_{E'} \to C_{E'}$ and $F_{E'} \colon C_{E'} \to D_{E'}$ for the induced functors on pullbacks. Then the induced natural transformation $\mathrm{id}_{C_{E'}} \to G_{E'}F_{E'}$ exhibits $F_{E'}$ as a left adjoint to $G_{E'}$ relative to E'. See [HA, Proposition 7.3.2.5].

If p and q are cartesian fibrations, G admits a left adjoint relative to E if and only if the following conditions hold:

- For every object $e \in E$, the induced functor $G_e : D_e \to C_e$ admits a left adjoint.
- The functor *G* carries *p*-cartesian morphisms in *D* to *q*-cartesian morphisms in *C*.

See [HA, Proposition 7.3.2.6]. In this case, if $f : a \rightarrow b$ is a morphism of E, then there is a natural equivalence

$$f^*G_b \simeq G_a f^*$$
.

Dually, if p and q are cocartesian fibrations, G admits a left adjoint relative to E if and only if the following (somewhat more complicated) conditions hold:

- For every object $e \in E$, the induced functor $G_e : D_e \to C_e$ admits a left adjoint F_e .
- Let $c \in C$ and $\alpha : e \to e'$ be a morphism of *e* where $e \simeq p(c)$. Let $\widetilde{\alpha} : F_e(c) \to d$ be a *q*-cocartesian morphism in *D* lying over α , and let $\beta : c \to G(d)$ be the composite $\beta := G(\widetilde{\alpha}) \circ u(c)$. Choose a factorization of β as

$$\beta: c \xrightarrow{\beta'} c' \xrightarrow{\beta''} G(d),$$

where β' is a *p*-cocartesian morphism lifting α and β'' is a morphism in $C_{e'}$. Then β'' induces an equivalence $F_{e'}(c') \rightarrow d$ in the ∞ -category $D_{e'}$.

See [HA, Proposition 7.3.2.11]. In this case, if $f : a \to b$ is a morphism of E, then there is a natural equivalence

$$G_b f_! \simeq f_! G_a$$
.

Schemes

0.11.15. Following the Grothendieck school [SGA 4_{II} , Exposé VI, Exemples 1.22; SGA 4_{III} , Exposé XVII, 0.12; 67; 101], we say that scheme *X* is *coherent* if and only if *X* is quasicompact and quasiseparated. All schemes considered in this book will be coherent.

Part I Stratified spaces

In Chapter 1, we recall the *Alexandroff* topology on a poset. Just as the category of profinite sets can be identified with that of Stone topological spaces, the category of profinite posets be identified with that of *spectral* topological spaces. These topological spaces allow one to define stratifications of topological spaces over finite and profinite posets.

The homotopy theory of spaces stratified over a poset P is introduced in Chapter 2. These can be described in two equivalent ways: as a ∞ -category with a conservative functor to a poset and as a *spatial décollage* – a diagram of spaces indexed by the subdivision of P that satifies a Segal condition. These descriptions are equivalent, and they both permit one to study the Postnikov tower of stratified spaces and identify finiteness conditions on them.

1 Aide-mémoire on the topology of posets & profinite posets

In this short chapter we review the topologies on posets, and stratifications of topological spaces by posets. We also recall Hochster's Theorem classifying spectral topological spaces in terms of proöbjects in finite posets (Theorem 1.3.5).

1.1 Alexandroff Duality

We start by reviewing the relationship between topological spaces and preorders. The first thing to note is that every topological space gives rise to a preorder.

1.1.1 Definition. Let *T* be a topological space. The *specialization preorder* on <u>*T*</u> is the preorder on the underlying set of *T* with order relation $x \le y$ if and only if $x \in \{y\}$. We denote the specialization preorder on *T* by S(T).

Every preorder also gives rise to a topological space.

1.1.2 Definition. Let *P* be a preorder.

- (1.1.2.1) We say that a subset $U \subseteq P$ a *cosieve* if for any points $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, if $p \in U$ then $q \in U$.
- (1.1.2.2) We say that a subset $Z \subseteq P$ is a *sieve* if for any points $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, if $q \in Z$ then $p \in Z$.
- (1.1.2.3) We say that subset $W \subseteq P$ is an *interval* if for any points $p, q, r \in P$ such that $p \leq q \leq r$, if $p, r \in W$ then $q \in W$.

The *Alexandroff topology* on *P* is the topology on the underlying set of *P* in which a subset $U \subseteq P$ is open if and only if *U* is a cosieve. We write Alex(P) or simply *P* for the set *P* equipped with the Alexandroff topology.

1.1.3. Note that, a subset $Z \subseteq P$ is closed if and only if Z is a sieve, and subset $W \subseteq P$ is locally closed if and only if W is an interval.

Alexandroff topologies admit a well-known characterization.

1.1.4 Proposition. *The following are equivalent for a topological space T*.

- The space T is finitely generated; that is, a subset $U \subseteq T$ is open if for any finite topological space F and continuous map $f : F \to T$, the inverse image $f^{-1}(U)$ is open.
- The union of any collection of closed subsets of T is again closed.
- The topology on T coincides with the Alexandroff topology attached to the specialization preorder on T.

1.1.5 (Alexandroff Duality). The formation of the Alexandroff topology defines an equivalence of categories

Alex : **Pord** \Rightarrow **TSpc**^{fg}

from the category of preorders to the category of finitely generated topological spaces. The inverse $S: \mathbf{TSpc}^{fg} \cong \mathbf{Pord}$ given by taking the specialization preorder. In particular, the functors Alex and S restrict to an equivalence between the category of finite preorders and the category of finite topological spaces.

The functors Alex and S also restrict to an equivalence between:

- the category of posets and the category of T₀ finitely generated topological spaces,
- the category of *noetherian* preorders (i.e., those for which every nonempty subset contains a maximal element) and the category of quasi-sober finitely generated topological spaces, and thus
- the category of noetherian posets and the category of sober finitely generated topological spaces.

1.1.6 Notation. Let *P* be a preorder. For any subset $W \subseteq P$, we write $P_{\geq W}$ for the cosieve generated by *W*, which is the smallest open neighborhood of *W*. Dually, we write $P_{\leq W}$ for the sieve generated by *W*, which is the closure of *W*.

In particular, we will refer to the sets of the form

$$P_{\geq p} = \{q \in P \mid q \geq p\}$$

for $p \in P$, which are sometimes called the *principal open sets*, and the sets of the form

$$P_{< p} = \{ q \in P \mid q \le p \} ,$$

which are sometimes called the principal ideals.

Similarly, we write

$$P_{>p} \coloneqq P_{\geq p} \smallsetminus \{p\}$$
 and $P_{.$

1.1.7. A poset is quasicompact in the Alexandroff topology if and only if its set of minimal elements is finite and limit-cofinal. A monotone map $f : Q \to P$ of posets is quasicompact if and only if, for any $p \in P$, the poset $f^{-1}(P_{>p})$ is quasicompact.

1.1.8 Notation. Let *P* be a poset. We call a nonempty linearly ordered finite subset $\Sigma \subset P$ a *chain* in *P*. We write sd(*P*) for the *subdivision* of *P*; that is, sd(*P*) is the poset of chains $\Sigma \subset P$ ordered by containment.

Note that there is a natural forgetful functor $sd(P) \rightarrow \Delta$.

Let $\Sigma \subset P$ be a chain. Then every closed subset $Z \subset \Sigma$ is again a chain, and we denote the inclusion $Z \subset \Sigma$ by $i_{Z \subset \Sigma}$ (or simply *i* if Z and Σ are clear from the context). Dually, every open subset $U \subset \Sigma$ is also a chain, and we denote the inclusion $U \subset \Sigma$ by $j_{Z \subset \Sigma}$ (or simply *j* if U and Σ are clear from the context).

In more general situations, we write $e_{W \subset \Sigma}$: $W \hookrightarrow \Sigma$ for an inclusion $W \subset \Sigma$ that is not known to be be either closed or open.

1.2 Stratifications of topological spaces

The theory of stratified topological spaces can now be neatly organized in terms of topological spaces equipped with a continuous map to a poset in the Alexandroff topology.

1.2.1 Definition. A *stratification* of a topological space *T* by a poset *P* is a continuous map $f : T \rightarrow P$. For any point $p \in P$, we write

$$\begin{split} T_{\geq p} &\coloneqq f^{-1}(P_{\geq p})\,,\\ T_{>p} &\coloneqq f^{-1}(P_{>p})\,,\\ T_{\leq p} &\coloneqq f^{-1}(P_{\leq p})\,,\\ T_{< p} &\coloneqq f^{-1}(P_{\leq p})\,,\\ T_{p} &\coloneqq f^{-1}(P_{< p})\,, \end{split}$$

The subspaces $T_{\geq p}$ and $T_{>p}$ are open in T, and $T_{\leq p}$ and $T_{< p}$ are closed in T. The subspace $T_p \subset T$ is locally closed; we call T_p the p^{th} stratum of $f : T \to P$.

We say that the stratification $f: T \to P$ is *nondegenerate* if each stratum T_p is nonempty, and for all $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, we have $T_p \subseteq \overline{T}_q$.

We say that a stratification is *finite* if and only if its base poset is finite. We say that the stratification $f : T \to P$ is *constructible* if and only if, for all $p \in P$, the open subset $T_{\geq p} \subset T$ is retrocompact – i.e., for every quasicompact open $V \subset T$, the intersection $V \cap T_{\geq p}$ is quasicompact.

1.3 Hochster Duality

In this section we recall Hochster's characterization of topological spaces that arise as the Zariski space of a coherent scheme in terms of proöbjects in the category of finite posets. This characterization provides a convenient way to study stratifications of schemes.

1.3.1 Notation. For any topological space *T*, we write FC(T) for the 1-category of finite, nondegenerate, constructible stratifications $T \to P$. We abuse notation and write merely *P* for an object $T \to P$ of this category, leaving the structure morphism implicit. The 1-category FC(T) is, up to equivalence, an inverse poset in which $P \leq Q$ if and only if *P refines Q*. That is, $P \leq Q$ if and only if the structure morphism $T \to Q$ factors through the structure morphism $T \to P$.

1.3.2 Definition. A topological space S is *spectral*.¹¹ if and only if S is the limit of its finite, nondegenerate, constructible stratifications; that is, if and only if the natural map

$$S \to \lim_{P \in \mathrm{FC}(S)} P$$

is an isomorphism the 1-category of topological spaces. We write $\mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}} \subset \mathbf{TSpc}$ for the subcategory of spectral topological spaces and *quasicompact* continuous maps.

¹¹Others call such topological spaces *coherent*; see for example [SAG, A.1; 73, Chapter III §3.4 & p. 78]. We use Hochster's algebro-geometric terminology [57; 58].

1.3.3 Notation. We write the **Pos** for 1-category of posets, and **Pos**^{fin} for the 1-category of finite posets. We regard the 1-category **Pos** as a full subcategory of Cat_{∞} ; indeed one has **Pos** $\simeq Cat_0$.

Passing to proöbjects, we obtain the 1-category Pro(Pos) of proposets and the full subcategory $Pro(Pos^{fin})$ of proöbjects in the category of finite posets – which we call *profinite posets*.

1.3.4. The formation of the Alexandroff topology extends to an equivalence of 1-categories

Alex :
$$Pro(Pos^{nn}) \approx TSpc^{spec}$$

We will therefore fail to distinguish between a spectral topological space and its corresponding profinite poset.

Hochster's characterization of spectral topological spaces justifies their name:

1.3.5 Theorem (Hochster Duality [57; 58]). *The following are equivalent for a topological space S.*

- The topological space S is spectral.
- The topological space S is sober, quasicompact, and quasiseparated; additionally, the set of quasicompact open subsets forms a basis for the topology of S.
- The topological space S is homeomorphic to the underlying Zariski topological space of Spec R for some ring R.
- The topological space S is homeomorphic to the underlying Zariski topological space of some coherent scheme Y.

1.3.6. On one hand, Alexandroff Duality characterizes posets as finitely generated topological spaces. On the other, *Stone Duality* characterizes profinite sets as *Stone topological spaces*, i.e., totally separated quasicompact topological spaces. Hochster Duality provides a common extension of each of these forms of duality. The situation is summarized in the cube



where $\mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{fin}}$ denotes the 1-category of finite spectral topological spaces, and the horizontal functors marked '~' are equivalences of 1-categories.

One of the main technical results of this book – the ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 0.4.6=Theorem 9.3.1) – is an extension of this cube of dualities to one in which the 1-category of finite sets is replaced with the ∞ -category of π -finite ∞ -groupoids. Part of this extension is already established in the literature: Lurie proves an ∞ -categorical form of Stone Duality [SAG, §E.3]. This ∞ -Categorical Stone Duality Theorem identifies the ∞ -category of profinite ∞ -groupoids with the ∞ -category of what we call *Stone* ∞ -*topoi*.¹²

1.4 Profinite stratifications

The theory of stratifications also works well for profinite stratifications.

1.4.1 Definition. A *profinite stratification* of a topological space *T* is a spectral topological space *S* and a continuous map $f : T \to S$. We say that *f* is *constructible* if and only if, for every quasicompact open subset $U \subseteq S$, the inverse image $f^{-1}(U) \subseteq T$ is retrocompact.

1.4.2. A profinite stratification with base *S* is the same as a compatible family of stratifications with base *P* for each nondegenerate, finite, constructible stratification $S \rightarrow P$.

1.4.3 Notation. Let X be a scheme. We write X^{zar} for the underlying Zariski topological space of X.

1.4.4 Example. Let *X* be a scheme of finite type over the complex numbers. Write X^{an} for the set $X(\mathbf{C})$ of complex points of *X* equipped with the complex analytic topology. Then the natural continuous map $X^{an} \rightarrow X^{zar}$ is a profinite stratification of X^{an} by X^{zar} .

¹²Lurie calls these *profinite* ∞ -topoi. In Chapter 9 we introduce a more general class of ∞ -topoi that could also reasonably be called 'profinite ∞ -topoi', so we use the distinct term 'Stone ∞ -topoi' to avoid confusion.

2 The homotopy theory of stratified spaces

In this chapter we develop the homotopy theory of stratified spaces. To start, § 2.1 explains how to think about the homotopy theory of stratified spaces in terms of ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset. Section 2.2 explains how the ∞ -categories of stratified spaces relate as the poset varies. Section 2.3 explains the correct notions of connectedness and truncatedness for stratified spaces. Section 2.4 explains the analogue of π -finite spaces (i.e., truncated spaces with finite homotopy groups) in the stratified setting. These π -finite stratified spaces are crucial in our formulation of one of the main results of this text: ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality (Theorem 0.4.6). Section 2.5 explains the theory of profinite stratified spaces. Sections 2.6 and 2.7 explain a complete Segal space style approach to stratified spaces that we'll use again and again throughout the text; the power of this approach is that it reduces many questions about stratifications over a general poset *P* to questions about *strata* and *links* (and essentially to the poset *P* = [1]). Finally, § 2.8 explains how the complete Segal space approach works in the profinite setting.

2.1 Stratified spaces as ∞-categories with a conservative functor to a poset

The equivalence between the homotopy theory of topological spaces and that of simplicial sets – supplied in the 1950s and 1960s by the work of Kan and Quillen [78; 79; 80; 81; 82; 105] – justifies the treatment of the ∞ -category of Kan complexes as 'the' homotopy theory of spaces. Today, the theory of stratified spaces stands on similarly good footing. Work of Ayala–Francis–Rozenblyum [10], Nand-Lal–Woolf [96; 97], Douteau [33], and finally the third-named author [51] furnish an equivalence between the homotopy theory of stratified topological spaces and that of ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset.

In this section we breifly recall this result and begin to develop the theory of stratified spaces as ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to a poset. To state the core result, we need to fix a convenient category of topological spaces.

2.1.1 Notation. We write $\mathbf{TSpc}^{ng} \subset \mathbf{TSpc}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *numerically generated* topological spaces. The category \mathbf{TSpc}^{ng} is a convenient category of topological spaces and is presentable; see [35; 38; 52; 53, §3; 124]. Moreover, every poset in the Alexandroff topology is a numerically generated topological space.

2.1.2 Theorem ([51, §3]). Let P be a poset. There is a class W of stratified weak equivalences in the category $\mathbf{TSpc}_{/P}^{ng}$ with the following properties.

- There is an equivalence of ∞ -categories

(2.1.3)
$$\operatorname{TSpc}_{/P}^{\operatorname{ng}}[W^{-1}] \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}^{\operatorname{cons}},$$

where the target is the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to *P*.

- Let *T* be a *P*-stratified topological space whose stratification is conical in the sense of Lurie [HA, Definition A.5.5], e.g., *T* is a topologically stratified in the sense of Goresky–MacPherson [44, §1.1]. Then the equivalence (2.1.3) sends *T* to the exit path ∞-category of *T*.
- If T and T' are conically P-stratified spaces, then a P-stratified map $f: T \rightarrow T'$ is a stratified weak equivalence if and only if f induces a weak homotopy equivalence on strata and links.

2.1.4. An ∞ -category *C* admits a conservative functor to a poset if and only if every endomorphism of an object of *C* is an equivalence. In this case, the homotopy 0-category $h_0(C)$ is a poset and the natural functor $C \rightarrow h_0(C)$ is conservative.

We therefore give the following definition.

2.1.5 Definition. We define the ∞ -category **Str** as the full subcategory of Fun([1], **Cat**_{∞}) spanned by those functors $f : \Pi \to P$ where *P* is a poset and the functor *f* is conservative. We call an object of **Str** a *stratified space*.

Let *P* be a poset. We write \mathbf{Str}_P for the fiber the target functor $t : \mathbf{Str} \to \mathbf{Pos}$ over *P*. That is to say, $\mathbf{Str}_P \simeq \mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,/P}^{\mathrm{cons}}$ is the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories with a conservative functor to *P*. We call an object of \mathbf{Str}_P a *P*-stratified space.

2.1.6. The ∞ -category **Str**_{*P*} can also be described as the underlying ∞ -category of the third-named author's *Joyal–Kan model category* s**Set**_{*/P*} [51, Corollary 2.5.11].

2.1.7 Notation. Please observe that if Π and Π' are *P*-stratified spaces, then the ∞ -category Fun_{*P*}(Π , Π') of functors $\Pi \to \Pi'$ over *P* is an ∞ -groupoid. Thus Fun_{*P*}(Π , Π') coincides with the mapping space Map_{Str_P}(Π , Π'). To simplify notation we write

$$\operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Pi, \Pi') \coloneqq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Str}_{P}}(\Pi, \Pi')$$

2.1.8 Definition. Let $f : \Pi \to P$ be a *P*-stratified space. For each point $p \in P$, we call the space

$$\Pi_p \coloneqq \operatorname{Map}_P(\{p\}, \Pi) \simeq \{p\} \times_P \Pi$$

the *p*-th stratum of Π . For each pair of points $p, q \in P$ with $p \leq q$, we call the space

$$N_{P}(\Pi)\{p \le q\} \coloneqq \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\{p \le q\}, \Pi)$$

the $link^{13}$ from the *p*-th stratum to the *q*-th stratum.

Please observe that the link comes equipped with source and target maps

$$(s,t): N_P(\Pi)\{p \le q\} \to \Pi_p \times \Pi_q,$$

and the fiber of (s, t) over a point $(x, y) \in \Pi_p \times \Pi_q$ is the mapping space Map_{Π}(x, y). When p = q, each of s and t is an equivalence, whence (s, t) is equivalent to the diagonal

$$\Pi_p \to \Pi_p \times \Pi_p$$

¹³Our link corresponds to what Frank Quinn and others called the *homotopy link* or *holink*. The significance of our chosen notation will become clear in Construction 2.7.1.

2.1.9. A morphism $f : \Pi' \to \Pi$ of \mathbf{Str}_P is an equivalence if and only if, for every pair of points $p, q \in P$ with $p \le q$, the map on links

$$N_P(\Pi') \{ p \le q \} \to N_P(\Pi) \{ p \le q \}$$

is an equivalence (in particular, when p = q, the map on strata $\Pi'_p \to \Pi_p$ is an equivalence). That is, f is an equivalence in \mathbf{Str}_P if and only if f induces and equivalence on all strata and links.

2.2 Functoriality in the poset

In this section we explain how the ∞ -categories of stratified spaces relate as the poset varies. Notice that if $\phi: P' \to P$ is a morphism of posets, then the functor

$$\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P'} \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$$

given by postcomposition with ϕ does not generally send P'-stratified spaces to P-stratified spaces. However, we can easily repair this by inverting all morphisms that lie over identities in P. To explain this point, let us first explain the left and right adjoints to the inclusion $\mathbf{Str}_P \subset \mathbf{Cat}_{\infty/P}$.

To begin with, we fix some notation.

2.2.1 Notation. We write $\iota: \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty} \to S$ for the right adjoint to the inclusion, given by sending an ∞ -category *C* to the largest ∞ -groupoid $\iota C \subseteq C$ contained in *C*. We call ιC the *interior* of *C*.

We write $\varepsilon \colon \mathbf{Cat}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{S}$ for the left adjoint to the inclusion. The functor ε is given by sending an ∞ -category *C* to the ∞ -groupoid $\varepsilon(C)$ obtained by inverting every morphism of *C*. We call $\varepsilon(C)$ the *classifying space* of *C*.¹⁴ The ∞ -groupoid $\varepsilon(C)$ can be computed as the colimit $\varepsilon(C) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_C 1_{\mathbf{S}}$ of the constant diagram $C \to \mathbf{S}$ at the terminal object.

2.2.2 Construction. Let *P* be a poset. Then inclusion $\operatorname{Str}_P \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$ admits a right adjoint $\iota_P : \operatorname{Str}_P \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$. Indeed, if *C* is an ∞ -category, and $f : C \to P$ is any functor, we write $\iota_P(C) \subset C$ for the largest subcategory of *C* with the property that the composite

$$\iota_P(C) \hookrightarrow C \xrightarrow{J} P$$

is conservative. Concretely, $\iota_P(C) \subset C$ is the subcategory containing all objects such that morphism *e* of *C* lies in $\iota_P(C)$ if and only if *e* satisfies one of the following (disjoint) conditions:

- The morphism *e* is an equivalence.
- The morphism *e* is not sent to an identity morphism in *P*.

¹⁴In simplicial sets the functor ε can be modeled as Kan's Ex^{∞} functor. The notation BC is often used for the classifying space of C. We use the notation $\varepsilon(C)$ for three reasons: to avoid conflict with the notation BG for the 1-object groupoid with automorphism group G, to pay homage to Kan's Ex^{∞} functor, and because ' ε ' stands for *everything* in the phrase *invert everything*.
Given a *P*-stratified space Π , every functor $\Pi \to C$ over *P* factors through $\iota_P(C)$. Hence the assignment $C \mapsto \iota_P(C)$ defines a right adjoint to the inclusion $\operatorname{Str}_P \subset \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$.

2.2.3 Construction. Let *P* be a poset. Then the inclusion $\operatorname{Str}_P \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$ admits a left adjoint $\varepsilon_P : \operatorname{Str}_P \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P}$. Indeed, if *C* is an ∞ -category, and $f : C \to P$ is any functor, we can formally invert those morphisms of *C* that are sent to identities in *P* by forming the pullback

$$\varepsilon_P(C) \coloneqq \varepsilon(C) \times_{\varepsilon(P)} P$$

in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}$. Note that the second projection $\varepsilon_P(C) \to P$ is conservative: for each $p \in P$ we have

$$\varepsilon_P(C) \times_P \{p\} \simeq \varepsilon(C) \times_{\varepsilon(P)} \{p\},\$$

so that $\varepsilon_P(C) \times_P \{p\}$ is the fiber of a map between ∞ -groupoids. We regard $\varepsilon_P(C)$ as a *P*-stratified space via the second projection $\varepsilon_P(C) \to P$.

The functor $f : C \to P$ and the unit $C \to \varepsilon(C)$ induce a natural functor $C \to \varepsilon_P(C)$. By construction, this functor exhibits $\varepsilon_P(C)$ as the localization of *C* at those morphisms that lie over identities in *P*. Moreover, the natural functor $C \to \varepsilon_P(C)$ is the unit of the desired adjunction.

Now we can describe the functionality of the construction $P \mapsto \mathbf{Str}_P$.

2.2.4. Let $\phi: P' \to P$ be a morphism of posets. Since the pullback of a conservative functor is conservative, the pullback functor

$$\phi^* \coloneqq (-) \times_P P' \colon \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P} \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P'}$$

carries *P*-stratified spaces to *P'*-stratified spaces. The pullback functor ϕ^* : Str_{*P*} \rightarrow Str_{*P'*} admits a left adjoint ϕ_1 given by the composite

$$\operatorname{Str}_{P'} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon_P} \operatorname{Str}_P$$

of postcomposition with ϕ followed by the left adjoint to the inclusion $\operatorname{Str}_P \subset \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty/P}$.

2.2.5 Proposition. The target functor $t : Str \rightarrow Pos$ is a bicartesian fibration.

Proof. Let $\phi: P' \to P$ be a morphism of posets. If $f: \Pi \to P$ is a *P*-stratified space, the resulting pullback square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} P' \times_P \Pi & \longrightarrow & \Pi \\ \phi^*(f) & & & \downarrow f \\ P' & & & \downarrow f \\ P' & & & \phi \end{array}$$

is a t-cartesian morphism lying over ϕ .

In the other direction, let $f': \Pi' \to P'$ be a P'-stratified space. Then formally inverting those morphisms of Π' that are sent to identities by $\phi \circ f'$, we see that the resulting square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \Pi' & \longrightarrow & \varepsilon_P(\Pi') \\ f' & & & \downarrow \phi_!(f') \\ P' & \longrightarrow & P \end{array}$$

is a t-cocartesian morphism of **Str** lying over ϕ .

We can use the pullbacks to describe limits in Str:

2.2.6. To compute the limit of a diagram $\alpha \mapsto [\Pi_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha}]$ in **Str**, we first form the limit $P := \lim_{\alpha} P_{\alpha}$; then pulling back along the various projections $p_{\alpha} : P \to P_{\alpha}$, we obtain the diagram $\alpha \mapsto p_{\alpha}^* \Pi_{\alpha}$ of *P*-stratified spaces. We then form the limit $\Pi := \lim_{\alpha} \Pi_{\alpha}$ in **Str**_{*P*}. If the diagram is *connected*, then the limit $\lim_{\alpha} \Pi_{\alpha}$ is computed in **Cat**_{∞}.

2.3 The stratified Postnikov tower

In this section we investigate a Postnikov tower for stratified spaces. Importantly, the correct notion of '*n*-truncatedness' is *not* the notion of *n*-truncatedness interntal to the ∞ -category **Str**_{*P*} (in the sense of [HTT, §5.5.6]); rather it corresponds to the categorical level of the stratified space.¹⁵ For this, recall that we write h_n : **Cat**_{∞} \rightarrow **Cat**_{*n*} for the left adjoint to the inclusion **Cat**_{*n*} \subset **Cat**_{∞} (0.11.4).

2.3.1 Definition. Let *P* be a poset and Π a *P*-stratified space. We call the tower of *P*-stratified spaces

$$\Pi \to \cdots \to h_3 \Pi \to h_2 \Pi \to h_1 \Pi \to h_0 \Pi \to P$$
,

the *stratified Postnikov tower* of Π .

In particular, please observe that $h_0 \Pi \rightarrow P$ is a morphism of posets.

2.3.2. If $P = \{0\}$, then the stratified Postnikov tower coincides with the usual Postnikov tower of spaces.

2.3.3. The following are equivalent for a poset *P*, a *P*-stratified space $f : \Pi \to P$, and a nonnegative integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$:

- the ∞ -category Π is an *n*-category;
- the natural functor $\Pi \rightarrow h_n \Pi$ is an equivalence;
- for all objects $x, y \in \Pi$, the space Map_{Π}(x, y) is (n 1)-truncated;
- for all points $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, the source and target map

$$(s,t): N_P(\Pi) \{ p \le q \} \to \Pi_p \times \Pi_q$$

is (n-1)-truncated (in particular, when p = q, the stratum Π_p is *n*-truncated).

¹⁵Recall that an *n*-category is an *n*-truncated object of Cat_{∞} , but the converse is false.

2.3.4 Definition. Let *P* be a poset and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that a *P*-stratified space Π is *n*-truncated if Π satisfies the equivalent conditions of (2.3.3). We write $\operatorname{Str}_{P,\leq n} \subset \operatorname{Str}_P$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *n*-truncated *P*-stratified spaces.

We caution that an *n*-truncated *P*-stratified space is generally *not* the same thing as an *n*-truncated object of the ∞ -category **Str**_{*P*} in the sense of [HTT, Definition 5.5.6.1]. Nor is it the same thing as a *P*-stratified space whose strata are *n*-truncated; truncatedness in our sense involves a condition on the links as well.

2.3.5. Dually, the following are equivalent for a poset *P*, a *P*-stratified space $f : \Pi \rightarrow P$, and a nonnegative integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$:

- the natural functor $h_n \Pi \rightarrow P$ is an equivalence;
- for all objects $x, y \in \Pi$ such that $f(x) \le f(y)$, the space $\operatorname{Map}_{\Pi}(x, y)$ is (n-1)-connected;
- the strata of Π are nonempty and for all points $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, the map

$$(s,t): N_P(\Pi) \{ p \le q \} \to \Pi_p \times \Pi_q$$

is (n-1)-connected (in particular, when p = q, the stratum Π_p is *n*-connected).

2.3.6 Definition. Let *P* be a poset and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that a *P*-stratified space Π is *n*-connected if Π satisfies the equivalent conditions of (2.3.5). We write $\operatorname{Str}_{P,\geq n} \subset \operatorname{Str}_P$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *n*-connected *P*-stratified spaces.

We can easily identify the 0-connected stratified spaces.

2.3.7 Definition. We say that a 1-category *C* is *layered*¹⁶ if and only if every endomorphism of an object of *C* is an isomorphism. We say that an ∞ -category Π is *layered* if and only if its homotopy category $h_1(\Pi)$ is a layered 1-category. This holds if and only if the natural functor $\Pi \to h_0(\Pi)$ is conservative. Thus a layered ∞ -category Π is naturally an $h_0(\Pi)$ -stratified space.

We write Lay_{∞} for the full subcategory of Cat_{∞} spanned by the layered ∞ -categories.

2.3.8. The assignment $[\Pi \to P] \mapsto \Pi$ defines a functor $\mathbf{Str} \to \mathbf{Lay}_{\infty}$ with a fully faithful left adjoint that carries Π to the $h_0(\Pi)$ -stratified space Π . Consequently, we obtain an identification

$$\operatorname{Lay}_{\infty} \simeq \operatorname{Str}_{>0}$$

Here $Str_{\geq 0} \subset Str$ is the full subcategory spanned by the 0-connected stratified spaces.

2.4 π -finite stratified spaces

In this section we introduce the key finiteness condition that we impose on almost all of the stratified spaces we consider in this book. This finiteness condition is the stratified version of π -finiteness for spaces.

¹⁶Layered categories are often called *EI* categories.

2.4.1 Recollection ([SAG, Definition E.0.7.8]). An ∞ -groupoid *K* is π -finite if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

- The set $\pi_0(K)$ is finite.
- For every point $x \in K$ and any $i \ge 1$, the group $\pi_i(K, x)$ is finite.
- − The ∞-groupoid *K* is *n*-truncated for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

We write $S_{\pi} \subset S$ for the full subcategory spanned by the π -finite ∞ -groupoids.

2.4.2 Warning. We caution that a π -finite space is not the same thing as what is normally called a *finite space* – one obtained via finite colimits from the point. In fact, the overlap between these two classes of spaces is essentially trivial: the spaces satisfying both of these conditions are exactly the discrete spaces with finitely many connected components.

We now define the analogous condition for a *stratified* space.

2.4.3 Definition. We say that a stratified space $\Pi \rightarrow P$ is π -*finite* if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

- The poset *P* is finite.
- For every point $p \in P$, the set $\pi_0(\Pi_p)$ is finite.
- For all $x, y \in \Pi$, the mapping space Map_{Π}(x, y) is a π -finite space.
- The ∞-category Π is an *n*-category for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

In particular, a nondegenerate stratified space $\Pi \to P$ is π -finite if and only if Π has finitely many objects up to equivalence and is *locally* π -finite in the sense that each mapping space Map_{Π}(x, y) is π -finite.

We write $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \subset \mathbf{Str}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the π -finite stratified spaces. Given a finite poset *P*, we write $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi,P} \subset \mathbf{Str}_P$ for the full subcategory spanned by the π -finite *P*-stratified spaces.

2.4.4. The target functor $t : \mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{Pos}^{\text{fin}}$ is a cartesian fibration. However, it is not a cocartesian fibration because the pullback functor doesn't admit a left adjoint when restricted to π -finite stratified spaces. To see this, note that the free pair of parallel arrows $0 \Rightarrow 1$ is π -finite as a [1]-stratified space, but its classifying space is equivalent to BZ, which is not π -finite.

However, the pullback does preserve finite limits, hence has a proëxistent left adjoint; we will discuss this in §2.5.

2.4.5 Lemma. The full subcategory $\operatorname{Str}_{\pi} \subset \operatorname{Str}$ is an accessible subcategory that is closed under finite limits.

Proof. Finite limits of finite posets are finite, pullbacks of π -finite stratified spaces along maps of finite posets are π -finite, and finite limits of locally π -finite ∞ -categories are locally π -finite. Finally, **Str**_{π} is δ_0 -small and idempotent complete.

2.5 **Profinite stratified spaces**

In light of (0.11.9), Lemma 2.4.5 allows us to speak of profinite stratified spaces in terms of left exact accessible functors. We now turn to stratifications over profinite posets (i.e., spectral topological spaces).

2.5.1 Definition. We call objects of the ∞ -category Pro(Str) *stratified prospaces*; the target functor t : Str \rightarrow Pos from stratified spaces to posets extends to a target functor

$$t: Pro(Str) \rightarrow Pro(Pos)$$
.

Let *P* be a poset, regarded as a constant proposet. The fiber $Pro(\mathbf{Str})_P$ of t over *P* can be identified with the ∞ -category $Pro(\mathbf{Str}_P)$ of proöbjects in \mathbf{Str}_P . We refer to objects of $Pro(\mathbf{Str})_P$ as *P*-stratified prospaces.

Similarly, if **P** is a proposet, then we refer to the fiber $Pro(Str)_P$ of t over **P** as the ∞ -category of **P**-stratified prospaces.

2.5.2. A stratified prospace can be exhibited as an inverse system $\{\Pi_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of stratified spaces. The target functor t carries this stratified prospace to the proposet $\{P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$.

2.5.3 Example. Our primary interest is in stratified prospaces stratified by a spectral topological space regarded as a profinite poset. Still, in order to reason effectively with these, it is occasionally necessary to deal with more general stratified prospaces.

We now turn to the functoriality of the assignment $P \mapsto Pro(Str)_P$. The key point is that the adjunctions relating the ∞ -categories Str_P as P varies extend to stratified prospaces.

2.5.4 Construction (pullbacks of stratified prospaces). Please observe that the target functor

$$t : Pro(Str) \rightarrow Pro(Pos)$$

is a cartesian fibration. Indeed, let $\phi: \mathbf{P}' \to \mathbf{P}$ be a morphism of proposets, and exhibit \mathbf{P}' and \mathbf{P} as inverse systems of proposets $\{P'_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ and $\{P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$, respectively. Given a \mathbf{P} -stratified prospace $\Pi = \{\Pi_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$, we define a \mathbf{P}' -stratified prospace $\phi^*(\Pi)$ as the inverse system

$$\phi^*(\Pi) \coloneqq \{\Pi_{\alpha} \times_{P_{\alpha}} P'_{\alpha} \to P'_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A} .$$

The morphism $\phi^*(\Pi) \to \Pi$ is a t-cartesian morphism lying over ϕ and the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \phi^*(\Pi)$ defines a functor ϕ^* : $\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Str})_P \to \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Str})_{P'}$.

We now describe the left adjoint to this functor.

2.5.5 Construction (Pushforwards of stratified prospaces). Let $\eta : P' \to P$ a morphism of proposets where *P* is constant. Regarding *P'* as a left exact accessible functor

$$Pos \rightarrow Set$$

the morphism η defines an element $\eta \in P'(P)$. For a P'-stratified prospace Π' , there exists a t-cocartesian edge $\Pi' \to \eta_! \Pi'$ covering η ; indeed, for any *P*-stratified space Π , we have an equivalence

$$(\eta_! \Pi')(\Pi) \simeq \Pi'(\Pi) \underset{\mathbf{P}'(\mathbf{P})}{\times} \{\eta\}.$$

Equivalently, if we exhibit Π' as an inverse system $\{\Pi'_{\alpha} \to P'_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ in **Str**, then the *P*-stratified prospace $\eta_! \Pi'$ can be exhibited as the inverse system $A \times_{\mathbf{Pos}} \mathbf{Pos}_{/Q} \to \mathbf{Str}_P$ given by

$$(\alpha, P'_{\alpha} \to P) \mapsto \varepsilon_P(\Pi'_{\alpha})$$

Note in particular that if P' and Π' are constant, then so is $\eta_1 \Pi'$.

In the ∞ -category Pro(**Str**), the inverse system $\operatorname{Pos}_{P'/} \to \operatorname{Str}$ given by $\eta \mapsto \eta_! \Pi'$ is identified with Π' itself.

Given *any* morphism of proposets $\phi : P' \to P$ and P'-stratified prospace Π' , the inverse system $\operatorname{Pos}_{P'} \to \operatorname{Str}$ given by the assignment

$$\eta \mapsto (\eta \circ \phi), \Pi'$$

defines a **P**-stratified prospace $\phi_1 \Pi'$. As this notation suggests, the morphism

 $\Pi' \to \phi_! \Pi'$

is a t-cocartesian edge over ϕ . Thus t : $Pro(Str) \rightarrow Pro(Pos)$ is a cocartesian fibration.

We thus combine the previous two points:

2.5.6 Proposition. The target functor $t : Pro(Str) \rightarrow Pro(Pos)$ is a bicartesian fibration.

We now turn to proöbjects in π -finite stratified spaces.

2.5.7 Definition. A *profinite stratified space* is a proöbject of the ∞ -category \mathbf{Str}_{π} . We write $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} := \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Str}_{\pi})$ for the ∞ -category of profinite stratified spaces.

The target functor

$$t: \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Pos}^{\operatorname{fin}}) \simeq \mathbf{TSpc}^{\operatorname{spec}}$$

is a cartesian fibration. Given a spectral topological space *S*, we write $\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S}$ for the fiber of t over *S*. We call $\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S}$ the ∞ -category of *profinite S-stratified spaces*.

The inclusion $\operatorname{Str}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Str}$ extends to a fully faithful functor $\operatorname{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Str})$, which admits a left adjoint $\Pi \mapsto \Pi_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ given by restriction of left exact accessible functors. We call the profinite stratified space Π_{π}^{\wedge} the *profinite completion* of Π .

2.5.8. The profinite completion functor $\Pi \mapsto \Pi_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ is not a relative left adjunction over Pro(**Pos**); however, the inclusion $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Str}$ *does* induce a fully faithful functor

$$Str^{\wedge}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(Str) \underset{\operatorname{Pro}(Pos)}{\times} TSpc^{\operatorname{spec}} ,$$

and profinite completion *does* define a relative left adjoint over **TSpc**^{spec}. In particular, if *S* is a spectral topological space and Π is an *S*-stratified prospace, then Π_{π}^{\wedge} is a profinite *S*-stratified space, and the morphism $\Pi \to \Pi_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ lies over *S*.

2.5.9 Construction (Pushforwards of profinite stratified spaces). Let $\phi : S' \to S$ be a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, and let $\Pi' \to S'$ be a profinite *S'*-stratified space. Then following Construction 2.5.5, we obtain an *S*-stratified prospace $\phi_1 \Pi' \to S$. Forming the profinite completion $(\phi_1 \Pi')^{\wedge}_{\pi} \to S$ of $\phi_1 \Pi'$, we see that the map

$$\Pi' \to (\phi_1 \Pi')'_{\pi}$$

is a cocartesian edge over ϕ for the target functor t : $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}}$.

We thus obtain:

2.5.10 Proposition. The target functor $t : \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}}$ is a bicartesian fibration.

2.5.11 Proposition. Let S be a spectral topological space. Then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Str}_{\pi,S}^{\wedge} \to \lim_{P \in \operatorname{FC}(S)} \operatorname{Str}_{\pi,P}^{\wedge}$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. The formation of the limit in $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ is an inverse.

2.6 Complete Segal spaces & spatial décollages

2.6.1 Recollection. An ∞ -category can be modeled as a simplicial *space*. In effect, if *C* is an ∞ -category, then one may extract a functor $N(C) : \Delta^{op} \to S$ in which $N(C)_m$ is the ∞ -groupoid of functors $[m] \to C$ (the 'moduli space of sequences of arrows in *C*'). The simplicial space N(C) is what Charles Rezk [107] called a *complete Segal space* – i.e., a functor $D : \Delta^{op} \to S$ satisfying the following conditions.

(1) For all $m \in \mathbf{N}^*$, the natural map

$$D_m \to D\{0 < 1\} \underset{D\{1\}}{\times} D\{1 < 2\} \underset{D\{2\}}{\times} \cdots \underset{D\{m-1\}}{\times} D\{m-1 < m\}$$

is an equivalence.

(2) Let I denote the unique contractible 1-groupoid with two objects. Then the map

$$D_0 \to \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}},\mathbf{S})}(\mathcal{N}(I), D)$$

induced by the projection $I \rightarrow \{0\}$ is an equivalence.

(This same formalism can be deployed to define category objects in any ∞ -category with finite limits; we exploit this in Section 13.5.)

Joyal and Tierney [77] showed that the assignment $C \mapsto N(C)$ defines an equivalence from the ∞ -category Cat_{∞} of ∞ -categories to the ∞ -category CSS of complete Segal spaces.

We can isolate the ∞ -groupoids in **CSS**: an ∞ -category *C* is an ∞ -groupoid if and only if N(*C*): $\Delta^{\text{op}} \rightarrow S$ is constant.

In the remainder of this section and the next, we shall demonstrate that the homotopy theory of stratified spaces admits an analogous description.

2.6.2 Notation. For a poset P, we write $sd^{op}(P) := sd(P)^{op}$.

2.6.3 Definition. Let *P* be a poset. A functor *D* : $sd^{op}(P) \rightarrow S$ is a *spatial décollage* (*over P*) if and only if, for every string $\{p_0 < \cdots < p_m\} \subseteq P$, the map

$$D\{p_0 < \dots < p_m\} \to D\{p_0 < p_1\} \underset{D\{p_1\}}{\times} D\{p_1 < p_2\} \underset{D\{p_2\}}{\times} \dots \underset{D\{p_{m-1}\}}{\times} D\{p_{m-1} < p_m\}$$

is an equivalence. We write

$$\text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}) \subseteq \text{Fun}(\text{sd}^{\text{op}}(P), \mathbf{S})$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the spatial décollages.

2.6.4 Example. Let *P* be a poset of rank ≤ 1 . Then every functor sd^{op}(*P*) \rightarrow **S** automatically satisfies the décollage condition. So in this case,

$$\text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}) = \text{Fun}(\text{sd}^{\text{op}}(P), \mathbf{S})$$
.

Now we turn to the functoriality of the assignment $P \mapsto \text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S})$:

2.6.5 Construction (functoriality of spatial décollages). Write

$$(2.6.6) \qquad |_{\mathbf{Pos}} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S}) \to \mathbf{Pos}$$

for the cartesian fibration classified by the functor $Pos^{op} \rightarrow Cat_{\infty}$ given by the assignment

$$P \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \mathbf{S})$$

with functoriality given by right Kan extension [HTT, Corollary 3.2.2.13]. Thus the objects of $\int_{Pos} Fun(sd^{op}, S)$ consist of a pair (P, F) of a poset P and a functor

$$F: \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P) \to \mathbf{S}$$

The fiber of (2.6.6) over a poset *P* is the ∞ -category Fun(sd^{op}(*P*), **S**).

Let

$$D\acute{e}c(\mathbf{S}) \subset \int_{\mathbf{Pos}} Fun(sd^{op}, \mathbf{S})$$

denote the full subcategory spanned by the pairs (P, D) in which D is a spatial décollage. Since $D\acute{e}c(S)$ contains all the cartesian edges, the functor $D\acute{e}c(S) \rightarrow Pos$ is a cartesian fibration.

2.7 The nerve of a stratified space

We now show that the ∞ -category **Str** of stratified spaces and the ∞ -category Déc(**S**) of décollages are equivalent over **Pos**.

2.7.1 Construction (nerve of a stratified space). Let *P* be a poset. Any chain contained in *P* can be regarded as a *P*-stratified space via the inclusion map. This assignment defines a functor $sd(P) \rightarrow Str_P$. For any *P*-stratified space Π , we define the *nerve* of Π to be the functor

$$N_P(\Pi)$$
: $sd^{op}(P) \to S$

given by the assignment $\Sigma \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_P(\Sigma, \Pi)$. (This is the moduli space of sections over Σ .) An equivalence of *P*-stratified spaces is carried to an objectwise equivalence of functors; hence the nerve defines a functor

$$N_P$$
: **Str**_P \rightarrow Fun(sd^{op}(P), **S**)

Furthermore, the assignment $[\Pi \rightarrow P] \mapsto (P, N_P(\Pi))$ defines a functor

N: Str
$$\rightarrow \int_{Pos} Fun(sd^{op}, S)$$

2.7.2 Example. For any poset *P*, *P*-stratified space Π , and points $p, q \in P$ such that $p \leq q$, the space

$$N_P(\Pi) \{ p \le q \} \simeq \operatorname{Map}_P(\{ p \le q \}, \Pi)$$

is the *link* between the *p*-th and *q*-th strata of Π .

Let us demonstrate that the functor N lands in the full subcategory

$$D\acute{e}c(\mathbf{S}) \subset \int_{\mathbf{Pos}} Fun(sd^{op}, \mathbf{S})$$

2.7.3 Lemma. For any poset P and P-stratified space Π , the functor $N_P(\Pi)$ is a spatial décollage.

Proof. In $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty, / P}$, for any chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_n\} \subseteq P$, there is an equivalence

$$\{p_0 < p_1\} \stackrel{\{p_1\}}{\cup} \cdots \stackrel{\{p_{n-1}\}}{\cup} \{p_{n-1} < p_n\} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{p_0 < \cdots < p_n\},\$$

which induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Map}_{P}(\{p_{0} < \dots < p_{n}\}, \Pi) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\{p_{0} < p_{1}\}, \Pi) \underset{\Pi_{p_{1}}}{\times} \dots \underset{\Pi_{p_{n-1}}}{\times} \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\{p_{n-1} < p_{n}\}, \Pi)$$

as desired.

2.7.4 Theorem. The functor $N : Str \to D\acute{e}c(S)$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories over **Pos**.

Proof. Let *P* be a poset and write $\Delta_{/P}$ for the category of simplices of *P*. The Joyal–Tierney theorem [77] implies that the functor

N:
$$\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,/P} \to \operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S})_{/\operatorname{N}(P)} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}}_{/P}, \mathbf{S})$$

$$C \mapsto [\Sigma \mapsto \operatorname{lFun}_{/P}(\Sigma, C)]$$

is fully faithful, and the essential image $\mathbf{CSS}_{/N(P)}$ consists of those functors $\Delta_{/P}^{\text{op}} \to \mathbf{S}$ that satisfy both the Segal condition and the completeness condition. Now notice that left Kan extension along the inclusion $\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P) \hookrightarrow \Delta_{/P}^{\mathrm{op}}$ defines a fully faithful functor $\mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{CSS}_{/N(P)}$ whose essential image consists of those complete Segal spaces $C \to \mathrm{N}(P)$ such that for any $p \in P$, the complete Segal space C_{p} is an ∞ -groupoid. \Box

2.7.5. Write $D\acute{e}c(S_{\pi}) \subset D\acute{e}c(S)$ for the full subcategory spanned by those pairs (P, D) where *P* is a finite poset and *D* is a spatial décollage over *P* whose values are all π -finite. Then nerve restricts to an equivalence of ∞ -categories N : $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \cong D\acute{e}c(S_{\pi})$.

2.8 Profinite spatial décollages

In this section we extend the theory of décollages to problects and explain how to understand profinite *P*-stratified spaces in terms of décollages valued in the ∞ -category of *profinite spaces* (Construction 2.8.8).

2.8.1. We extend the nerve N : Str \Rightarrow Déc(S) to problects to obtain an equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$N: \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Str}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}(\mathbf{S}))$$

over Pro(Pos).

In order to understand profinite décollages, we recall some basic facts about profinite spaces and the product in the ∞ -category of profinite spaces.

2.8.2 Recollection. We write $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} := \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi})$ for the ∞ -category of *profinite spaces*. We regard the $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ as a full subcategory of the ∞ -category $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$. Precomposition with the inclusion $\mathbf{S}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}$ defines a functor $(-)_{\pi}^{\wedge}$: $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}) \to \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ that exhibits $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ as a localization of $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$. Given a prospace *X*, we call X_{π}^{\wedge} the *profinite completion* of *X*.

2.8.3 Recollection (monoidal structures on Pro(**S**) [**SAG**, Remark E.2.1.2]). In addition to the cartesian symmetric monoidal structure on Pro(**S**), there is a related 'composition' monoidal structure: since the composition of two left exact accessible functors $\mathbf{S} \rightarrow \mathbf{S}$ is again left exact and accessible, the composition monoidal structure on Fun(**S**, **S**)^{op} restricts to a monoidal structure (X, Y) $\mapsto X \circ Y$ on Pro(**S**). The identity functor is both the unit for \circ and terminal object of Pro(**S**). Hence the universal property of the product provides is a comparison morphism

$$c_{X,Y} \colon X \circ Y \to X \times Y$$

that is natural in X and Y. However, this morphism is not generally an equivalence.

Since the subcategory $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \subset \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ is closed under products, if $X, Y \in \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$, then the morphism $X \circ Y \to X \times Y$ induces a morphism

$$(2.8.4) (X \circ Y)^{\wedge}_{\pi} \to X \times Y .$$

We claim that the morphism (2.8.4) is an equivalence. To see this, we show that the comparison morphism $X \circ Y \to X \times Y$ becomes an equivalence after evaluation at any truncated space.¹⁷

2.8.5 Lemma. *Let X be a profinite space and Y a prospace. Then for every truncated space K, the morphism*

$$c_{X,Y}$$
: $(X \circ Y)(K) \to (X \times Y)(K)$

is an equivalence in S^{op}.

¹⁷We are grateful to Jacob Lurie for this observation.

Proof. Exhibit X an inverse system $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of π -finite spaces and Y an inverse system $\{Y_{\beta}\}_{\beta \in B}$ of spaces. For each $\alpha \in A$, the fact that the space X_{α} is π -finite for implies that the functor corepresented by X_{α} preserves colimits of filtered diagrams of uniformly truncated spaces [SAG, Corollary A.2.3.2]. Since the space K is truncated, the filtered diagram

$$\beta \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{S}}(Y_{\beta}, K)$$

is uniformly truncated. Hence we have the following equivalences in S:

$$(X \times Y)(K) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{(\alpha,\beta) \in A^{\operatorname{op}} \times B^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{S}(X_{\alpha} \times Y_{\beta}, K)$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{(\alpha,\beta) \in A^{\operatorname{op}} \times B^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{S}(X_{\alpha}, \operatorname{Map}_{S}(Y_{\beta}, K))$$

$$\Rightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{S}(X_{\alpha}, \operatorname{colim}_{\beta \in B^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{S}(Y_{\beta}, K))$$

$$\simeq (X \circ Y)(K) .$$

2.8.6 Corollary. Let X and Y be profinite spaces. Then the natural morphism

$$(X \circ Y)^{\wedge}_{\pi} \to X \times Y$$

is an equivalence in $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$.

2.8.7. Corollary 2.8.6 is helpful for describing fiber products in S_{π}^{\wedge} as well: given morphisms of profinite spaces $p: X \to Z$ and $q: Y \to Z$, the pullback $X \times_Z Y$ of p along q is given by a cobar construction:

$$X \times_Z Y \simeq \lim_{[m] \in \Delta} \left(X \circ Z^{\circ m} \circ Y \right)_{\pi}^{\wedge}$$

We are now ready to describe $\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi P}$ in terms of profinite décollages.

2.8.8 Construction (profinite décollages). For any finite poset *P*, write $\text{Déc}_P(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi})$ for the full subcategory of Fun(sd^{op}(*P*), $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$) spanned by those functors

$$D: \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P) \to \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$$

such that for any chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_n\} \subseteq P$, the natural map

$$D\{p_0 < \cdots < p_n\} \rightarrow D\{p_0 < p_1\} \underset{D\{p_1\}}{\times} \cdots \underset{D\{p_{n-1}\}}{\times} D\{p_{n-1} < p_n\}$$

is an equivalence of profinite spaces. We call objects of $\text{D\acute{e}}_{P}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi})$ profinite décollages over *P*.

Combining the equivalence

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge})$$

furnished by [HTT, Proposition 5.3.5.15] with the equivalences (2.7.5) and (2.8.1), we obtain equivalences of ∞ -categories

(2.8.9)
$$\operatorname{Str}_{\pi P}^{\wedge} \cong \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \cong \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}).$$

Specifically, the composite equivalence (2.8.9) is given by extending the nerve

$$N_P$$
: $Str_{\pi,P} \xrightarrow{\sim} D\acute{e}c_P(S_{\pi}) \subset D\acute{e}c_P(S_{\pi}^{\wedge})$

along inverse limits.

Part II Elements of higher topos theory

In this part we develop the higher-toposic tools that we'll need to state and prove our ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 0.4.6=Theorem 9.3.1). In Chapter 3 we recall a number of important results from higher topos theory and develop the basic frameworks of (*bounded*) coherent ∞ -topoi and (*bounded*) ∞ -pretopoi. The theories of coherent ∞ -topoi and bounded ∞ -pretopoi will be used heavily in the remainder of the text. In Chapter 4, we describe the basic theorems of shape theory for ∞ -topoi; the generalization of shape theory to stratified ∞ -topoi forms the foundation of our work. Chapter 5 develops the basics of Deligne's oriented fiber product; this plays a fundamental role in our approach to stratified higher topos theory in Part III. In Chapter 6 we introduce the analogue of local rings in the context of higher topos theory. In Chapter 7 we generalize work of Moerdijk–Vermeulen and Illusie–Gabber by proving a key base-change theorem for oriented fiber products of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi. As with the proof of the proper basechange theorem in algebraic geometry, reduction to the local case plays a key role in our proof.

3 Aide-mémoire on higher topoi

In this chapter we recall a number of important results from higher topos theory (mostly from Lurie's [SAG, Appendices A & E]), and develop some basic results that we'll use throughout the rest of the text. This chapter is here mostly for ease of reference; much of the material is expository, and the original material mostly serves to fill small gaps in the existing foundations.

Section 3.1 sets our notational conventions for ∞ -topoi. Section 3.2 introduces the first of two finiteness conditions that we impose on almost all of the ∞-topoi we consider in this text: boundedness. Section 3.3 introduces the second finiteness condition: coherence. Section 3.4 studies the relationship between coherence and *n*-topoi. Section 3.5 provides a convenient reformulation of coherence for *n*-localic ∞ -topoi. Section 3.6 shows that a morphism of *finitary* ∞ -sites induces a coherent geometric morphism on corresponding ∞-topoi; along with the material from §3.5, this implies that the theory of 1-localic coherent ∞ -topoi recovers Grothendieck's theory of coherent ordinary topoi [SGA 4_{II} , Exposé VI, Definition 2.3]. Section 3.7 uses the material from § 3.6 to provide examples of coherent ∞-topoi and geometric morphisms coming from algebraic geometry. Section 3.8 explains how bounded coherent ∞ -topoi are classified by their truncated coherent objects. This perspective will be used extensively throughout our work. Section 3.9 recalls the fact that inverse limits of bounded coherent ∞-topoi are again bounded coherent. Section 3.10 shows that the pushforward in a coherent geometric morphism commutes with filtered colimits of uniformly truncated diagrams. Section 3.11 discusses points of ∞ -topoi and hypercompletness, Deligne Completeness, and Lurie's Conceptual Completeness Theorem for bounded coherent ∞ -topoi. Section 3.12 explains how bases for Grothendieck topologies work for ∞ -topoi (which is more subtle than for ordinary topoi); the key example that we need is that the ∞ -topos of sheaves on a finite poset P is the functor ∞ -category Fun(P, S).

3.1 Higher topoi

We begin by setting our basic notational conventions for higher topoi.

3.1.1 Notation. We use here the theory of *n*-topoi for $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$; see [HTT, Chapter 6]. We write $\operatorname{Top}_n \subset \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ for the subcategory of δ_1 -small *n*-topoi and geometric morphisms. Many of the examples in this paper will have $n \in \{0, 1, \infty\}$.

For any δ_0 -small ∞ -category *C*, we write $PSh(C) := Fun(C^{op}, \mathbf{S})$ for the ∞ -topos of presheaves of spaces on *C*.

3.1.2 Example. Recall that 0-topoi are (δ_0 -small) locales [HTT, Proposition 6.4.2.5], and 1-topoi are topoi in the classical sense of Grothendieck [HTT, Remark 6.4.1.3].

3.1.3 Example. Let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$ with $m \leq n$. An *m*-site is a δ_0 -small *m*-category X equipped with a Grothendieck topology τ . Given an *m*-site (X, τ) , we write $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)_{\leq (n-1)}$ for the *n*-topos of sheaves δ_0 -small (n-1)-groupoids on X; when $n = \infty$, we will simply write $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)$.

It is not expected that all ∞ -topoi are of the form $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)$ for an ∞ -site (X, τ) ; however, if $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then every *n*-topos is of the form $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)_{\leq (n-1)}$ for some *n*-site (X, τ) [HTT, Theorem 6.4.1.5]. **3.1.4 Example.** For any topological space W, we write $\widetilde{W} := Sh(W)$ for the 0-localic ∞ -topos of sheaves of spaces on W.

3.1.5 Notation. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$ and let *X* and *Y* be *n*-topoi. We write

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(X, Y) \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}(X, Y)$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the *geometric morphisms*. We note that Fun_x(X, Y) is accessible [HTT, Proposition 6.3.1.13]. We write

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*(Y, X) \subseteq \operatorname{Fun}(Y, X)$$

for the full subcategory spanned by those functors that are left exact left adjoints, so that $\operatorname{Fun}^*(\boldsymbol{Y}, \boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}_*(\boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{Y})^{\operatorname{op}}$.

3.1.6 Notation. Recall that the ∞ -topos **S** of spaces is terminal in **Top**_{∞}. If **X** is an ∞ -topos, then we write $\Gamma_{X,*}$ or Γ_* for the unique geometric morphism $X \to S$; the functor $\Gamma_{X,*}$ is corepresented by the terminal object $1_X \in X$. The geometric morphism $\Gamma_{X,*}$ is called the *global sections* geometric morphism.

3.1.7 Definition. Let X be an ∞ -topos. A *point* of X is a geometric morphism

$$x_*: \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{X}$$

which is necessarily a section of Γ_* . We often write \tilde{x} for this copy of **S**, regarded as lying over X via the geometric morphism x_* .

3.1.8 Recollection (étale geometric morphisms). Let X and Y be ∞ -topoi. A geometric morphism $p_*: X \to Y$ is *étale* if p^* admits a further left adjoint $p_!: X \to Y$ that exhibits X as the slice ∞ -topos $Y_{p_1(1_X)}$. In this case p_1 is identified with the forgetful functor $Y_{/p_!(1_X)} \rightarrow Y$. By [HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6], the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}_*(Z, X) \to \operatorname{Fun}_*(Z, Y)$$

is a right fibration whose fiber over a geometric morphism $f_*: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Y}$ is the (δ_0 -small) ∞ -groupoid Map_{*X*}(1_{*X*}, $f^*p_!(1_X)$).

3.1.9. If X and Y are ∞ -topoi, the product $X \times Y$ in Top_{∞} is *not* the product of ∞ -categories; rather, the ∞ -topos $X \times Y$ can be identified with the tensor product of presentable ∞ -categories.¹⁸

Similarly, if $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ are geometric morphisms, then the pullback $X \times_Z Y$ in Top_{∞} exists [HTT, Proposition 6.3.4.6], but the ∞ -topos $X \times_Z Y$ is not the pullback of ∞ -categories.

In Chapter 5 we also study an oriented fiber product of ∞-topoi. Again, this oriented fiber product does not coincide with the oriented fiber product of ∞ -categories (0.11.10). We therefore endeavour to indicate clearly when a product, pullback, or oriented fiber product is formed in **Top**_{∞} or **Cat**_{$\infty \delta_1$}.

¹⁸For this reason, Lurie writes $X \otimes Y$ for the product in **Top**_{∞}.

We repeatedly make use of the fact that inverse limits in Top_{∞} are computed in Cat_{∞,δ_1} .

3.1.10 Theorem ([HTT, Theorem 6.3.3.1]). *The forgetful functor* $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \rightarrow \mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ *preserves inverse limits.*

3.2 Boundedness

We now turn to the first of two finiteness conditions that we impose on almost all of the ∞ -topoi we consider in this book.

3.2.1 Notation. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. For each integer $n \ge -2$, write $C_{\leq n} \subset C$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *n*-truncated objects, and

$$\tau_{< n} \colon C \to C_{< n}$$

for the *n*-truncation functor, which is left adjoint to the inclusion $C_{\leq n} \subset C$ [HTT, Proposition 5.5.6.18]. Write $C_{<\infty} \subset C$ for the full subcategory spanned by those objects which are *n*-truncated for some integer $n \geq -2$.

3.2.2 Notation. If $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$ with m < n, then passage to (m - 1)-truncated objects defines a functor

$$(-)_{\leq m-1}$$
: Top_n \rightarrow Top_m.

We call a (-1)-truncated object of an *n*-topos X an *open* in X and write Open $(X) := X_{\leq -1}$. For any open U of X, the étale geometric morphism $X_{/U} \hookrightarrow X$ then exhibits $X_{/U}$ as an *open subtopos* of X.

3.2.3 Definition. If $m, n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$ with m < n, then the functor $(-)_{\leq m-1}$: **Top**_n \rightarrow **Top**_m admits a fully faithful right adjoint. Write **Top**_n^m \subseteq **Top**_n for the essential image of this functor; this consists of those *n*-topoi *X* such that, for every *n*-topos *Y*, the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}_*(\boldsymbol{Y}, \boldsymbol{X}) \to \operatorname{Fun}_*(\boldsymbol{Y}_{< m-1}, \boldsymbol{X}_{< m-1})$$

is an equivalence. We call such *n*-topoi *m*-localic [HTT, §6.4.5].

The inclusion $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^n \subset \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$ of the full subcategory of *n*-localic ∞ -topoi admits a left adjoint

$$L_n$$
: **Top** _{∞} \rightarrow **Top**^{*n*} _{∞}

called *n*-localic reflection.

3.2.4. If $n \in \mathbf{N}$, then the proof of [HTT, Proposition 6.4.5.9] demonstrates that an ∞ -topos X is *n*-localic if and only if $X \simeq \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)$, where (X, τ) is a δ_0 -small *n*-site *with all finite limits*.

3.2.5 Example. If W is a topological space, then the ∞ -topos \widetilde{W} of sheaves on W is 0-localic.

3.2.6 Warning. If (X, τ) is an *n*-site and the *n*-category *X* does *not* have finite limits, then the ∞ -topos Sh_{τ}(*X*) may not be *N*-localic for any $N \ge 0$. See [SAG, Counterexample 20.4.0.1] for a basis *B* for the topology on the Hilbert cube $\prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} [0, 1]$ for which the ∞ -topos of sheaves on *B* is not *N*-localic for any $N \ge 0$.

3.2.7 Example. If X is a scheme, then the ∞ -topos $X_{\text{ét}}$ of étale sheaves on the 1-site of étale X-schemes is 1-localic.

3.2.8 Example. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let X be an *n*-localic ∞ -topos. Then [SAG, Lemma 1.4.7.7] demonstrates that for an object $U \in X$, the over ∞ -topos $X_{/U}$ is *n*-localic if and only if U is *n*-truncated.

3.2.9 Definition. We write $Top^{\wedge}_{<\infty}$ the inverse limit of ∞ -categories

$$\mathbf{Top}_{<\infty}^{\wedge} \coloneqq \lim_{n \in \mathbf{N}^{\mathrm{op}}} \mathbf{Top}_n$$

along the various truncation functors $(-)_{\leq m-1}$. This is the ∞ -category of sequences $\{X_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in which each X_n is an *n*-topos, along with identifications $(X_n)_{\leq m-1} \cong X_m$ whenever $m \leq n$. The truncation functors provide a functor

$$\tau$$
: Top _{∞} \rightarrow Top ^{\wedge} _{$<\infty$} ,

which carries an ∞ -topos X to the sequence $\{X_{\leq n-1}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

3.2.10 Construction. The functor τ : $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{Top}^{\wedge}_{<\infty}$ admits a fully faithful right adjoint, which identifies $\mathbf{Top}^{\wedge}_{<\infty}$ with the full subcategory of \mathbf{Top}_{∞} spanned by the *bounded* ∞ -*topoi* [SAG, Proposition A.7.1.5]. These are the ∞ -topoi that can be exhibited as inverse limits in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} of a diagram of localic ∞ -topoi. Equivalently, an ∞ -topos X is bounded if and only if the natural geometric morphism

$$\boldsymbol{X} \to \lim_{n \in \mathbb{N}^{\mathrm{op}}} \mathcal{L}_n(\boldsymbol{X})$$

is an equivalence.

Surprisingly, the functor the functor τ : **Top**_{\approx} \rightarrow **Top**_{$<\infty$} also admits a left adjoint; to state what the essential image of this left adjoint is, we first recall a bit about *Postnikov* completeness.

3.2.11 Definition. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. We say that:

(3.2.11.1) Postnikov towers converge in C, if for every object $X \in C$, the natural morphism $X \to \lim_{n \in \mathbb{N}^{op}} \tau_{< n} X$ is an equivalence in C.

(3.2.11.2) The ∞ -category *C* is *Postnikov complete* if the natural functor

$$C \to \lim \left(\cdots \longrightarrow C_{\leq n+1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{\leq n}} C_{\leq n} \longrightarrow \cdots \xrightarrow{\tau_{\leq 0}} C_{\leq 0} \right)$$

is an equivalence of ∞ -categories. (Here the limit is formed in Cat_{∞,δ_1} .)

3.2.12. Note that Postnikov completeness implies the convergence of Postnikov towers, but not conversely.

3.2.13 Construction. The functor τ : $Top_{\infty} \to Top_{<\infty}^{\wedge}$ also admits a left adjoint, which is necessarily fully faithful. This identifies the ∞ -category $Top_{<\infty}^{\wedge}$ with the full subcategory of Top_{∞} spanned by the Postnikov complete ∞ -topoi [SAG, Corollary A.7.2.8].

We write $(-)^{\text{post}}$ for the right adjoint to the inclusion of the full subcategory of Top_{∞} spanned by the Postnikov complete ∞ -topoi, and write $(-)^{\text{b}}$ for the left adjoint to the inclusion of the full subcategory of Top_{∞} spanned by the bounded ∞ -topoi, so that

$$\mathbf{X}^{\text{post}} \coloneqq \lim_{n \in \mathbf{N}^{\text{op}}} \mathbf{X}_{\leq n}$$
 and $\mathbf{X}^{\text{b}} \coloneqq \lim_{n \in \mathbf{N}^{\text{op}}} \mathcal{L}_n(\mathbf{X})$.

For an ∞ -topos X, we call X^{post} the *Postnikov completion* of X and call X^{b} the *bounded reflection* of X.

3.2.14. The relationship between bounded ∞ -topoi and Postnikov complete ∞ -topoi is formally analogous to the relationship between *p*-nilpotent and *p*-complete abelian groups. Of course *p*-nilpotent and *p*-complete abelian groups form equivalent categories, but their embeddings into the category of all abelian groups differ.

3.3 Coherence

The second finiteness condition that we impose on almost all of the ∞ -topoi we consider is *coherence*. Coherence is the topos-theoretic analogue of being quasicompact and quasiseparated in the world of schemes. Indeed, the étale ∞ -topos of a scheme X is coherent if and only if X is quasicompact and quasiseparated (see Proposition 3.7.3).

3.3.1 Definition (coherence). Let $0 \le r \le \infty$, and let *X* be an *r*-topos. We say that *X* is 0-*coherent* if and only if the 0-topos (=locale) Open(*X*) is quasicompact. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and define *n*-coherence of *r*-topoi and their objects recursively as follows.

- An object $U \in X$ is *n*-coherent if and only if the *r*-topos $X_{/U}$ is *n*-coherent.
- The *r*-topos X is *locally n-coherent* if and only if every object $U \in X$ admits a cover $\{V_i \to U\}_{i \in I}$ in which each V_i is *n*-coherent.
- The *r*-topos X is (n + 1)-coherent if and only if X is locally n-coherent, and the n-coherent objects of X are closed under finite products.

An *r*-topos X is *coherent* if and only if X is *n*-coherent for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and an object U of an *r*-topos X is *coherent* if and only if $X_{/U}$ is a coherent *r*-topos. Finally, an *r*-topos X is *locally coherent* if and only if every object $U \in X$ admits a cover $\{V_i \to U\}_{i \in I}$ in which each V_i is coherent.

3.3.2. In particular, if X is locally *n*-coherent, then $U \in X$ is (n + 1)-coherent if and only if U is *n*-coherent and for any pair $U', V \in X_{/U}$ of *n*-coherent objects, the fiber product $U' \times_U V$ is *n*-coherent.

3.3.3. We are mostly interested in coherence for ∞ -topoi, however we have introduced the notion for *r*-topoi in general because an ∞ -topos *X* is *n*-coherent if and only if its underlying *n*-topos $X_{< n-1}$ is *n*-coherent (this is the content of §3.4).

3.3.4 Notation. Let $r \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$, and let X be an r-topos. Write $X^{\operatorname{coh}} \subset X$ for the full subcategory of X spanned by the coherent objects and $X^{\operatorname{coh}}_{<\infty} \subset X$ for the full subcategory of X spanned by the truncated coherent objects. For each integer $n \ge 0$, write $X^{n-\operatorname{coh}} \subset X$ for the full subcategory spanned by the n-coherent objects.

3.3.5 Example. A space $K \in S$ is truncated coherent if and only if K is π -finite. That is to say,

$$\mathbf{S}_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}} = \mathbf{S}_{\pi}$$
.

3.3.6 Example. By [SAG, Proposition A.7.5.1], if X is a bounded coherent ∞ -topos, then X is also locally coherent.

3.3.7. Let $0 \le r \le \infty$, let X be an r-topos, and let $U \in X$. Then for any integer $n \ge 0$, an object $U' \to U$ of $X_{/U}$ is n-coherent if and only if U' is n-coherent when viewed as an object of X. Thus we have canonical identifications

$$(\boldsymbol{X}^{n-\mathrm{coh}})_{/U} = (\boldsymbol{X}_{/U})^{n-\mathrm{coh}}$$
 and $(\boldsymbol{X}^{\mathrm{coh}})_{/U} = (\boldsymbol{X}_{/U})^{\mathrm{coh}}$

as full subcategories of $X_{/U}$. If $U \in X_{<\infty}$ is a truncated object, then we have a canonical identification

$$(\boldsymbol{X}_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}})_{/U} = (\boldsymbol{X}_{/U})_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}}$$

as full subcategories of $X_{/U}$.

3.3.8 Definition. Let X and Y be ∞ -topoi. We say that a geometric morphism

$$f_*: X \to Y$$

is *coherent* if and only if, for any coherent object $F \in Y^{\text{coh}}$, the object $f^*(F) \in X$ is coherent as well. We write $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$ for the subcategory of $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ whose objects are coherent ∞ -topoi and whose morphisms are coherent geometric morphisms.

We defer examples of coherent ∞ -topoi to § 3.7; we do this in order to put all of our examples from algebraic geometry on the same footing after developing the basic calculus of *finitary sites* in this section and in § 3.6.

3.3.9 Definition. An ∞ -site (X, τ) is *finitary* if and only if X admits all fiber products, and, for every object $U \in X$ and every covering sieve $S \subset X_{/U}$, there is a finite subset $\{U_i\}_{i \in I} \subset S$ that generates a covering sieve.

Let (X, τ_X) and (Y, τ_Y) be finitary ∞ -sites. A morphism of ∞ -sites

$$f^*: (Y, \tau_Y) \to (X, \tau_X)$$

is a morphism of finitary ∞ -sites if f^* is preserves fiber products.

3.3.10 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition A.3.1.3]). Let (X, τ) be a finitary ∞ -site and write $\&_{\tau} : X \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)$ for the sheafified Yoneda embedding. Then:

(3.3.10.1) The ∞ -topos Sh_{τ}(X) locally coherent.

(3.3.10.2) For every object $x \in X$, the sheaf $\sharp_{\tau}(x)$ is a coherent object of $Sh_{\tau}(X)$.

(3.3.10.3) If, in addition, X admits a terminal object, then $Sh_{\tau}(X)$ is coherent.

An elementary way to construct a finitary ∞ -site is to make use of an ∞ -categorical analogue of the notion of pretopology on a 1-category.

3.3.11 Definition. An ∞ -presite is a pair (X, E) consisting of an ∞ -category X along with a subcategory $E \subseteq X$ satisfying the following conditions.

- The subcategory E contains all equivalences of X.
- The ∞ -category X admits finite limits, and E is stable under base change.
- The ∞ -category X admits finite coproducts, finite coproducts are universal in X, and E is closed under finite coproducts.

3.3.12 Construction ([SAG, Proposition A.3.2.1]). Let (X, E) be an ∞ -presite. Then there exists a topology τ_E in which the τ_E -covering sieves are generated by *finite* families $\{y_i \to x\}_{i \in I}$ such that $\prod_{i \in I} y_i \to x$ lies in E. The ∞ -site (X, τ_E) is finitary.

3.4 Coherence & *n*-topoi

In this section we prove that the property that an ∞ -topos X be *n*-coherent only depends on its underlying *n*-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$ of (n-1)-truncated objects (Corollary 3.4.10).¹⁹ We begin with some preliminaries on the relationship between coherence and connectivity.

3.4.1 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition A.2.4.1]). *Let* X *be an* ∞ *-topos, let* $f : U \rightarrow V$ *be a morphism in* X*, and let* $n \in \mathbb{N}$ *. Then:*

(3.4.1.1) If U is n-coherent and f is n-connective, then V is n-coherent.

(3.4.1.2) If V is n-coherent and f is (n + 1)-connective, then U is n-coherent.

Since the natural morphism from an object in an ∞ -topos to its *n*-truncation is (n + 1)-connective, we deduce:

3.4.2 Corollary. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. An object $U \in X$ is n-coherent if and only if $\tau_{\leq n-1}(U)$ is an n-coherent object of X.

It is also easy to deduce the following.

3.4.3 Corollary ([SAG, Corollary A.2.4.4]). Let X be a coherent ∞ -topos and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for any n-coherent object $U \in X$, the (n - 1)-truncation $\tau_{\leq n-1}(U)$ of U is a coherent object of X.

3.4.4 Corollary. Let X be a coherent ∞ -topos. Then an object $U \in X$ is coherent if and only if for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the (n - 1)-truncation $\tau_{\leq n-1}(U)$ of X is a coherent object of X.

3.4.5 Corollary. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism between coherent ∞ -topoi. Then f_* is coherent if and only if f^* carries $Y_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$ to $X_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$.

¹⁹We are grateful to Jacob Lurie for conveying this observation.

We also deduce that coherence of a geometric morphism between coherent ∞ -topoi is equivalent to the *a priori* stronger condition that the pullback functor preserve *n*-coherent objects for all $n \ge 0$:²⁰

3.4.6 Corollary. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism between coherent ∞ -topoi. Then f_* is coherent if and only if f^* carries n-coherent objects of Y to n-coherent objects of X for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. It is immediate from the definition that if f^* preserves *n*-coherence for all $n \ge 0$, then f_* is coherent. Conversely, assume that f_* is coherent, and let $U \in Y$ be an *n*-coherent object. Since Y is coherent, Corollary 3.4.3=[SAG, Corollary A.2.4.4] shows that $\tau_{< n-1}^Y(U)$ is an *n*-coherent object of Y. Since f_* is coherent, we see that

$$f^* \tau_{\leq n-1}^{\mathbf{Y}}(U) \simeq \tau_{\leq n-1}^{\mathbf{X}}(f^*(U))$$

is a coherent object of X. Corollary 3.4.2 then shows that $f^*(U)$ is an *n*-coherent object of X.

Before showing that *n*-coherence only depends on the underlying *n*-topos, we need two preliminary facts on *m*-connective morphisms in an ∞ -topos.

3.4.7 Lemma. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $m \ge 0$ an integer. Let $W \in X$ and let $u: U' \to U$ and $v: V' \to V$ be morphisms in $X_{/W}$. If u and v are m-connective morphisms of X, then the induced morphism $u \times_W v: U' \times_W V' \to U \times_W V$ is m-connective.

Proof. First we treat the case where $W = 1_X$ is the terminal object of X. In this case, since $\tau_{\leq m-1}: X \to X$ preserves finite products [HTT, Lemma 6.5.1.2] and $\tau_{\leq m-1}(u)$ and $\tau_{\leq m-1}(v)$ are equivalences by assumption, we see that

$$\tau_{\leq m-1}(u \times v) \simeq \tau_{\leq m-1}(u) \times \tau_{\leq m-1}(v)$$

is an equivalence.

Now we treat the general case. In the diagram



both squares are pullbacks and $u \times v$ is *m*-connective (by the preceding paragraph). This completes the proof since the class of *m*-connective morphisms in an ∞ -topos is stable under pullback [HTT, Proposition 6.5.1.16].

The following is a useful strenthening of the fact that *n*-truncation commutes with basechange along a morphism between *n*-truncated objects [41, Lemma 1.8]:

 $^{^{20}}$ This second notion is how Grothendieck and Verdier originally defined coherence for geometric morphisms between ordinary topoi [SGA 4₁₁, Exposé VI, Définition 3.1].

3.4.8 Lemma. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $W \in X$ and let $U \to W$ and $V \to W$ be morphisms in X. If W is n-truncated, then the natural morphism

$$\tau_{\leq n}(U \times_W V) \to \tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. Since the natural morphisms $U \twoheadrightarrow \tau_{\leq n}(U)$ and $V \twoheadrightarrow \tau_{\leq n}(V)$ are (n + 1)connective, by Lemma 3.4.7 the natural morphism

$$\phi: U \times_W V \to \tau_{< n}(U) \times_W \tau_{< n}(V)$$

is (n + 1)-connective. Since W is *n*-truncated and the *n*-truncated objects of an ∞ -topos are closed under limits, the object $\tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$ is *n*-truncated. By the uniqueness of the factorization of a morphism in an ∞ -topos into an (n + 1)-connective morphism followed by an *n*-truncated morphism, we see that ϕ exhibits $\tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$ as the *n*-truncation of $U \times_W V$.

3.4.9 Proposition. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following are equivalent for an (n-1)-truncated object $W \in X_{\leq n-1}$:

(3.4.9.1) As an object of the ∞ -topos **X**, the object W is n-coherent.

(3.4.9.2) As an object of the n-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$, the object W is n-coherent.

Proof. Clearly (3.4.9.1) implies (3.4.9.2). We prove that (3.4.9.2) implies (3.4.9.1) by induction on *n*. The base case n = 0 is immediate from the definition of 0-coherence.

For the induction step assume we have shown that an (n-1)-truncated object of X is *n*-coherent if it is *n*-coherent as an object of the *n*-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$. Let W be an *n*-truncated object of X that is (n + 1)-coherent as an object of the (n + 1)-topos $X_{\leq n}$; we prove that W is (n + 1)-coherent as an object of the ∞ -topos X. First we show that $X_{/W}$ is locally *n*-coherent. Let $f: U \to W$ be a morphism in X. Since W is *n*-truncated, f factors as a composite

$$U \twoheadrightarrow \tau_{< n}(U) \to W$$

Since $X_{\leq n,/W}$ is locally *n*-coherent by the inductive hypothesis, there exists a cover

$$\{U_i \to \tau_{\leq n}(U)\}_{i \in I}$$

of $\tau_{\leq n}(U)$ such that for each $i \in I$, the object $U_i \in X_{\leq n,/W}$ is an *n*-coherent object of $X_{\leq n,/W}$. Equivalently, each U_i is an *n*-coherent object of $X_{\leq n}$ (3.3.7). Since the morphism $U \twoheadrightarrow \tau_{\leq n}(U)$ is (n + 1)-connective, Proposition 3.4.1=[SAG, Proposition A.2.4.1] and the fact that (n + 1)-connective morphisms in an ∞ -topos are stable under pullback [HTT, Proposition 6.5.1.16] show that the family

$$\{U_i \times_{\tau_{\leq n}(U)} U \to U\}_{i \in I}$$

is a cover of U in $X_{/W}$ by n-coherent objects. That is, $X_{/W}$ is locally n-coherent.

Now let us show that the *n*-coherent objects of $X_{/W}$ are stable under finite products. Let $f: U \to W$ and $g: V \to W$ be morphisms in $X_{/W}$, where U and V are *n*-coherent. Then since the *n*-coherent objects of $X_{\leq n/W}$ are stable under finite products by the inductive hypothesis, we see that $\tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$ is an *n*-coherent object of $X_{\leq n,W}$. By the inductive hypothesis and Corollary 3.4.2, the object $\tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$ is an *n*-coherent object of $X_{/W}$. The claim now follows from the fact that the natural morphism

$$U \times_W V \to \tau_{\leq n}(U) \times_W \tau_{\leq n}(V)$$

is (n + 1)-connective (Lemma 3.4.8) and Proposition 3.4.1=[SAG, Proposition A.2.4.1].

Setting $W = 1_X$ in Proposition 3.4.9 we deduce:

3.4.10 Corollary. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following are equivalent for an ∞ -topos X:

(3.4.10.1) The ∞ -topos **X** is n-coherent.

(3.4.10.2) The n-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$ is n-coherent.

For the next few results, please recall the notations of Construction 3.2.10.

3.4.11 Corollary. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. If f_* induces an equivalence $X_{\leq n-1} \cong Y_{\leq n-1}$, then X is n-coherent if and only if Y is n-coherent. Equivalently, if f_* induces an equivalence $L_n(X) \cong L_n(Y)$ on n-localic reflections, then X is n-coherent if and only if Y is n-coherent.

Corollary 3.4.11 shows that there are many different ways to check the *n*-coherence of an ∞ -topos.

3.4.12 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following are equivalent for an ∞ -topos X:

(3.4.12.1) The ∞ -topos **X** is n-coherent.

(3.4.12.2) The n-localic reflection $L_n(\mathbf{X})$ of \mathbf{X} is n-coherent.

(3.4.12.3) The hypercompletion X^{hyp} of X is n-coherent (see Definition 3.11.5).

(3.4.12.4) The Postnikov completion X^{post} of X is n-coherent.

(3.4.12.5) The bounded reflection X^{b} of X is n-coherent.

Proof. The equivalence of these statements follows from repeated application of Corollary 3.4.11. The equivalence of (3.4.12.1) and (3.4.12.2) follows immediately from Corollary 3.4.11.

To see that $(3.4.12.1) \Leftrightarrow (3.4.12.3)$, note that since truncated objects are hypercomplete, the natural fully faithful geometric morphism $X^{\text{hyp}} \hookrightarrow X$ induces an equivalence on (n-1)-truncated objects.

To see that $(3.4.12.1) \Leftrightarrow (3.4.12.4)$, note that by [SAG, Proposition A.7.3.7] the natural geometric morphism $X^{\text{post}} \to X$ is an equivalence when restricted to (n - 1)-truncated objects.

To see that $(3.4.12.1) \Leftrightarrow (3.4.12.5)$, note that since the *n*-localic reflection functor L_n : **Top**_{∞} \rightarrow **Top**_{∞} preserves inverse limits [SAG, Lemma A.7.1.4], the natural geometric morphism

$$X \to X^{\mathrm{b}} \simeq \lim_{k \in \mathbf{N}^{\mathrm{op}}} \mathrm{L}_{k}(X)$$

induces an equivalence on *n*-localic reflections.

3.4.13 (equivalent conditions for coherence of geometric morphisms). Let

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \boldsymbol{X}' & \xrightarrow{\boldsymbol{X}_*} & \boldsymbol{X} \\ \boldsymbol{f}'_* & & & \downarrow \boldsymbol{f}_* \\ \boldsymbol{Y}' & \xrightarrow{\boldsymbol{Y}_*} & \boldsymbol{Y} \end{array}$$

be a commutative square of coherent ∞ -topoi in **Top** $_{\infty}$. Lemma 3.4.12 and Corollary 3.4.5 show that if x_* and y_* induce equivalences

$$X'_{<\infty} \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{<\infty}$$
 and $Y'_{<\infty} \xrightarrow{\sim} Y_{<\infty}$

on truncated objects, then f_* is coherent if and only if f'_* is coherent.

In particular, the following are equivalent for a geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ between coherent ∞ -topoi:

- (3.4.13.1) The geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ is coherent.
- (3.4.13.2) The induced geometric morphism f_*^{hyp} : $X^{\text{hyp}} \to Y^{\text{hyp}}$ on hypercompletions is coherent.
- (3.4.13.3) The induced geometric morphism f_*^{post} : $X^{\text{post}} \to Y^{\text{post}}$ on Postnikov completions is coherent.
- (3.4.13.4) The induced geometric morphism $f_*^b : X^b \to Y^b$ on bounded refelections is coherent.

Thus the equivalence between Postnikov complete ∞ -topoi and bounded ∞ -topoi (Construction 3.2.10) restricts to an equivalence between the subcategory of Postnikov complete coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms and the subcategory of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms.

3.5 Coherence of morphisms & *n*-localic ∞-topoi

In this section we prove that coherence for an *n*-localic ∞ -topos is equivalent to (n + 1)coherence, and may be checked on its underling *n*-topos (Proposition 3.5.6). First we'll need ∞ -toposic versions of a number of points from [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, §§1–3]; these follow easily from [SAG, §A.2.1].

3.5.1 Definition. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let X be a locally *n*-coherent ∞ -topos. A morphism $U \to V$ in X is called *relatively n-coherent* if for every *n*-coherent object $V' \in X$ and every morphism $V' \to V$, the fiber product $U \times_V V'$ is also *n*-coherent.

3.5.2 Example ([SAG, Example A.2.1.2]). Let X be a locally *n*-coherent ∞ -topos and $f: U \to V$ a morphism in X. If U is *n*-coherent and V is (n + 1)-coherent, then f is relatively *n*-coherent.

3.5.3 Example. As a consequence of Proposition 3.4.1=[SAG, Proposition A.2.4.1] and the fact that the class of (n + 1)-connective morphisms in an ∞ -topos is stable under pullback [HTT, Proposition 6.5.1.16], the (n + 1)-connective morphism of an ∞ -topos are 'relatively *n*-coherent' in a very strong sense: they satisfy the condition of relative *n*-coherence without the need of local *n*-coherence assumptions on the ∞ -topos.

3.5.4 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let X be a locally n-coherent ∞ -topos. Let $u: U' \to U$ and $v: V' \to V$ be relatively n-coherent morphisms in $X, W \in X$ an object, and $U \to W$ and $V \to W$ be any morphisms. Then the induced morphism $U' \times_W V' \to U \times_W V$ is relatively n-coherent.

Proof. Let $f : X \to U \times_W V$ be a morphism in X where X is *n*-coherent. Note that we have equivalences of iterated fiber products

$$X \underset{U \times_W V}{\times} (U' \times_W V') \simeq (X \times_U U') \times_X (X \times_V V')$$
$$\simeq (X \times_U U') \times_V V'.$$

First, since $X \times_U U'$ is the pullback of $\operatorname{pr}_1 \circ f : X \to U$ along the relatively *n*-coherent morphism *u*, the object $X \times_U U'$ is *n*-coherent. Second, $(X \times_U U') \times_V V'$ is the pullback of the morphism $X \times_U U' \to V$ induced by $\operatorname{pr}_2 \circ f : X \to V$ along the relatively *n*-coherent morphism *v*. Hence $(X \times_U U') \times_V V'$ is an *n*-coherent object of *X*, as desired.

3.5.5 Lemma. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $X_0 \subset X$ be a full subcategory satisfying the following conditions:

- (3.5.5.1) The full subcategory $X_0 \subset X$ is closed under finite products.
- (3.5.5.2) Every object of X_0 is m-coherent.
- (3.5.5.3) For every object $U \in X$, there exists an effective epimorphism $\coprod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$ where $U_i \in X_0$ for each $i \in I$.

Then the m-coherent objects of **X** are closed under finite products.

Proof. Let $X'_0 \subset X$ denote the closure of X_0 under finite coproducts; then every object of X'_0 is *m*-coherent. Since colimits in X are universal and X_0 is closed under finite products, $X'_0 \subset X$ is closed under finite products.

Let $U, V \in X$ be *m*-coherent objects; we show that $U \times V$ is *m*-coherent. Since U and V are quasicompact, there exist effective epimorphisms $u: U' \twoheadrightarrow U$ and $v: V' \twoheadrightarrow V$ where $U', V' \in X'_0$. By Example 3.5.2=[SAG, Example A.2.1.2] both u and v are relatively (m - 1)-coherent. Lemma 3.5.4 shows that

$$u \times v \colon U' \times V' \twoheadrightarrow U \times V$$

is a relatively (m-1)-coherent effective epimorphism. Since $U' \times V' \in X'_0$ is *m*-coherent and **X** is locally *m*-coherent, [SAG, Proposition A.2.1.3] shows that $U \times V$ is *m*-coherent, as desired.

3.5.6 Proposition. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following are equivalent for an n-localic ∞ -topos *X*:

- (3.5.6.1) *The n-topos* $X_{\leq n-1}$ *is* (n + 1)*-coherent.*
- (3.5.6.2) The ∞ -topos **X** is (n + 1)-coherent.
- (3.5.6.3) The ∞ -topos **X** is coherent.
- (3.5.6.4) The n-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$ is coherent.

Proof. Clearly $(3.5.6.3) \Rightarrow (3.5.6.4)$ and $(3.5.6.4) \Rightarrow (3.5.6.1)$.

First we show that $(3.5.6.1) \Rightarrow (3.5.6.2)$. Corollary 3.4.10 shows that **X** is *n*-coherent. First notice that every object of **X** admits a cover by (n-1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects (so, in particular, **X** is locally *n*-coherent). This follows from the following observations:

- Since ∞-topos X is n-localic, every object of X admits a cover by (n-1)-truncated objects.
- Since the *n*-topos $X_{\leq n-1}$ is locally *n*-coherent, Proposition 3.4.9 shows that every (n-1)-truncated object of X admits a cover by (n-1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects.

Moreover, since the (n - 1)-truncated objects of an ∞ -topos are closed under limits and $X_{\leq n-1}$ is (n + 1)-coherent, Proposition 3.4.9 shows that the (n - 1)-truncated *n*coherent objects of X are closed under finite products. Lemma 3.5.5 applied to the full subcategory $X_0 \subset X$ spanned by the (n - 1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects (so that m = nin the notation of Lemma 3.5.5) now shows that the *n*-coherent objects of X are closed under finite products.

Since an *n*-localic ∞ -topos is *N*-localic for all $N \ge n$, to prove the implication $(3.5.6.2) \Rightarrow (3.5.6.3)$, it suffices to prove that if X is (n + 1)-coherent, then X is (n + 2)-coherent. First we show that X is locally (n + 1)-coherent. We have already seen that every object of X admits a cover by a (n - 1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects, and that the subcategory X_0 of (n - 1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects is closed under finite products. Since X is (n + 1)-coherent, [SAG, Corollary A.2.4.3] shows that (n - 1)-truncated *n*-coherent objects of X are automatically (n + 1)-coherent, immediately implying that X is locally (n + 1)-coherent. Lemma 3.5.5 applied to the subcategory X_0 of (n - 1)-truncated (n + 1)-coherent objects (so that m = n + 1 in the notation of Lemma 3.5.5) shows that the (n + 1)-coherent objects of X are closed under finite products.

3.6 Coherent geometric morphisms via sites & coherent ordinary topoi

In this section we explain the relationship between coherent ordinary topoi and their corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topoi.²¹ (See [85; 86, Appendix C, §§5–6] for an excellent accounts of coherent ordinary topoi.) We show that the ∞ -category of coherent 1-localic

²¹The contents of this section originally appeared in a (partially expository) preprint of the third-named author [50].

 ∞ -topoi is equivalent to the 2-category of coherent ordinary topoi. In fact, the results of §3.4 allow us to show that the ∞ -category of coherent *n*-localic ∞ -topoi is equivalent to the (n + 1)-category of coherent *n*-topoi (Proposition 3.6.11).

3.6.1 Recollection. A 1-topos X is *coherent* in the sense of [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, Definition 2.3] if and only if X is 2-coherent in the sense of Definition 3.3.1. This is true if and only if X is equivalent to the 1-topos of sheaves of sets on a finitary 1-site (X, τ) with a terminal object. Proposition 3.5.6 shows that X is coherent if and only if its corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topos is coherent.

A geometric morphism morphism of coherent 1-topoi $f_*: X \to Y$ is *coherent* [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, Definition 3.1] if and only if f_* is induced by a morphism of finitary 1-sites $f^*: (Y, \tau_Y) \to (X, \tau_X)$.

The content of the equivalence between coherent *n*-topoi and coherent *n*-localic ∞ -topoi reduces to showing that a coherent morphism of coherent *n*-topoi induces a coherent morphism of corresponding *n*-localic ∞ -topoi. This follows from the fact that coherence of a geometric morphism between locally coherent ∞ -topoi can be checked on a generating set of coherent objects (Corollary 3.6.6). A particularly useful consequence is that morphisms of finitary ∞ -sites induce coherent geometric morphisms (Corollary 3.6.8).

First we need a few preliminary results. For this, please recall the notion of *relative n*-coherence (Definition 3.5.1) introduced in §3.5.

3.6.2 Lemma. Let X be an ∞ -topos. If $e : U \twoheadrightarrow V$ is an effective epimorphism in X and U is quasicompact, then V is quasicompact.

Proof. This is a special case of [SAG, Proposition A.2.1.3], or, alternatively, Proposition 3.4.1=[SAG, Proposition A.2.4.1].

3.6.3 Lemma. Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer and X a locally (n - 1)-coherent ∞ -topos. Let $U \in X$ and let $e : \prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$ be a cover of U where I is finite and U_i is n-coherent for each $i \in I$. The following are equivalent:

(3.6.3.1) The effective epimorphism e is relatively (n - 1)-coherent.

(3.6.3.2) For all $i, j \in I$, the object $U_i \times_U U_j$ is (n-1)-coherent.

(3.6.3.3) The object U is n-coherent.

Proof. If *e* is relatively (n - 1)-coherent, then since coproducts in *X* are universal, the fiber product

$$\left(\coprod_{i\in I} U_i\right) \underset{U}{\times} \left(\coprod_{j\in I} U_j\right) \simeq \coprod_{i,j\in I} U_i \times_U U_j$$

is (n - 1)-coherent. Thus $U_i \times_U U_j$ is (n - 1)-coherent for all $i, j \in I$ [SAG, Remark A.2.0.16].

If each $U_i \times_U U_j$ is (n - 1)-coherent, then since each U_i is *n*-coherent we see that the pullback of *e* along itself

$$\coprod_{i,j\in I} U_i \times_U U_j \twoheadrightarrow \coprod_{i\in I} U_i$$

is relatively (n-1)-coherent (Example 3.5.2=[SAG, Example A.2.1.2]). Applying [SAG, Corollary A.2.1.5] we deduce that $e: \prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$ is relatively (n-1)-coherent.

To conclude, note that if $e: \coprod_{i \in I} \overline{U_i} \twoheadrightarrow U$ is relatively (n-1)-coherent, then [SAG, Proposition A.2.1.3] shows that U is *n*-coherent. On the other hand, if U is *n*-coherent, then e is (n-1)-coherent by Example 3.5.2=[SAG, Example A.2.1.2].

3.6.4 Proposition. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume that:

- (3.6.4.1) There exists a collection of n-coherent objects $Y_0 \subset Obj(Y)$ of Y such that for every n-coherent object $U \in Y$ there exists a cover $\prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$ where $U_i \in Y_0$ for each $i \in I$.
- (3.6.4.2) The pullback functor $f^*: Y \to X$ takes objects of Y_0 to n-coherent objects of X.
- (3.6.4.3) If $n \ge 1$, the ∞ -topoi X and Y are locally (n 1)-coherent and $f^* : Y \to X$ takes (n 1)-coherent objects of Y to (n 1)-coherent objects of X.

Then f^* takes n-coherent objects of Y to n-coherent objects of X.

Proof. Let $U \in Y$ be an *n*-coherent object; we show that $f^*(U)$ is *n*-coherent. Since U is 0-coherent, by (3.6.4.1) there exists a cover

$$e: \coprod_{i\in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$$

where $U_i \in Y_0$ for each $i \in I$ and I is finite. By (3.6.4.2), for all $i \in I$ the object $f^*(U_i)$ is *n*-coherent, so since *n*-coherent objects are closed under finite coproducts [SAG, Remark A.2.0.16], the object

$$f^*\left(\coprod_{i\in I} U_i\right) \simeq \coprod_{i\in I} f^*(U_i)$$

is *n*-coherent.

Note that

$$f^*(e)$$
: $\prod_{i \in I} f^*(U_i) \twoheadrightarrow f^*(U)$

is an effective epimorphism in X. If n = 0, this proves the claim (Lemma 3.6.2). If $n \ge 1$, then Lemma 3.6.3 shows that it suffices to show that for all $i, j \in I$, the object

$$f^*(U_i) \times_{f^*(U)} f^*(U_j) \simeq f^*(U_i \times_U U_j)$$

is (n-1)-coherent. This follows from the fact that $U_i \times_U U_j$ is (n-1)-coherent (by Lemma 3.6.3) and the assumption that f^* sends (n-1)-coherent objects of Y to (n-1)-coherent objects of X.

Proposition 3.6.4 shows that coherence of a geometric morphism between *locally* coherent ∞ -topoi is equivalent to the *a priori* stronger condition that the pullback functor preserve *n*-coherent objects for all $n \ge 0$; see also Corollary 3.4.6.

3.6.5 Corollary. Let $f_*: X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism between locally coherent ∞ -topoi. Then f_* is coherent if and only if f^* takes n-coherent objects of Y to n-coherent objects of X for all $n \ge 0$.

Proposition 3.6.4 also shows that coherence of a geometric morphism can be checked on a generating set of coherent objects.

3.6.6 Corollary. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism between locally coherent ∞ -topoi. Let $Y_0 \subset \text{Obj}(Y^{\text{coh}})$ be a collection of coherent objects such that for every object $U \in Y$ there exists a cover $\prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow U$ where $U_i \in Y_0$ for each $i \in I$. If for all $U \in Y_0$ the object $f^*(U)$ is coherent, the geometric morphism $f_* : X \to Y$ is coherent.

For the next result, we need the following lemma.

3.6.7 Lemma. Let

$$f^*: (Y, \tau_Y) \to (X, \tau_X)$$

be a morphism of ∞ -sites, and write $\natural_{\tau_Y} \colon Y \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y)$ for the sheafified Yoneda embedding. If the topology τ_X is finitary, then

$$f^* \downarrow_{\tau_Y} \colon Y \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(X)$$

factors through $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(X)^{\operatorname{coh}} \subset \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(X)$.

Proof. We have a commutative square

$$Y \xrightarrow{f^*} X$$

$$\downarrow^{\tau_{r_Y}} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\tau_{r_X}} \downarrow^{\tau_{r_X}} X$$

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y) \xrightarrow{f^*} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X)$$

where the vertical functors are sheafified Yoneda embeddings. Since the topology τ_X is finitary, the sheafified Yoneda embedding $\&_{\tau_X} : X \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X)$ factors through $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X)^{\operatorname{coh}}$ (Proposition 3.3.10=[SAG, Proposition A.3.1.3]).

3.6.8 Corollary. Let f^* : $(Y, \tau_Y) \to (X, \tau_X)$ be a morphism of finitary ∞ -sites. Then the induced geometric morphism

$$f_*: \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X) \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y)$$

is coherent.

Proof. By Proposition 3.3.10, both $\text{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X)$ and $\text{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y)$ are locally coherent. The image $\sharp_{\tau_Y}(Y)$ of Y under the sheafified Yoneda embedding generates $\text{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y)$ under colimits, so by Corollary 3.6.6 it suffices to check that f^* carries objects in $\sharp_{\tau_Y}(Y)$ to coherent objects of X; this the content of Lemma 3.6.7.

3.6.9. Proposition 3.5.6 and Corollaries 3.6.6 and 3.6.8 together show that a geometric morphism of coherent 1-topoi is coherent in the sense of [SGA 4_{II} , Exposé VI, Definition 3.1] if and only if the geometric morphism of corresponding of 1-localic ∞ -topoi is coherent if and only if the geometric morphism of coherent 1-topoi is coherent in the sense of Definition 3.3.8.

We now turn to the equivalence between coherent *n*-topoi and coherent *n*-localic ∞ -topoi.

3.6.10 Notation. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Write

$$\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{n,\mathrm{coh}} \subset \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}}$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the *n*-localic coherent ∞ -topoi. Write

$$\mathbf{Top}_n^{\mathrm{coh}} \subset \mathbf{Top}_n$$

for the subcategory of the (n + 1)-category of *n*-topoi with objects coherent *n*-topoi and morphisms coherent geometric morphisms. When n = 1, the 2-category **Top**₁^{coh} is the 2-category of ordinary coherent topoi and coherent geometric morphisms (both in the sense of [SGA 4₁₁, Exposé VI]).

Proposition 3.5.6 and Corollary 3.6.6 immediately imply the following:

3.6.11 Proposition. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The equivalence of ∞ -categories $(-)_{\leq n-1}$: $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{n} \cong$ Top_n restricts to an equivalence

$$(-)_{\leq n-1}$$
: $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{n,\mathrm{coh}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{Top}_{n}^{\mathrm{coh}}$

3.6.12 Corollary. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following are equivalent for a geometric morphism $f_* : X \to Y$ between n-localic coherent ∞ -topoi:

- (3.6.12.1) The geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ is coherent.
- (3.6.12.2) The pullback functor $f^* : \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{X}$ carries (n-1)-truncated n-coherent objects of \mathbf{Y} to n-coherent objects of \mathbf{X} .

3.7 Examples of coherent ∞ -topoi from algebraic geometry

In this section we use Corollary 3.6.8 to provide a few examples of coherent ∞ -topoi arising from algebraic geometry.

3.7.1 Example. For a spectral topological space *S*, write $\text{Open}^{qc}(S) \subset \text{Open}(S)$ for the locale of quasicompact opens in *S*. Since the quasicompact opens of *S* form a basis for the topology on *S* that is closed under finite intersections, the ∞ -topos Sh(Open^{qc}(*S*)) is 0-localic (3.2.4). Applying [86, Proposition B.6.4] we see that the inclusion

$$\operatorname{Open}^{\operatorname{qc}}(S) \subset \operatorname{Open}(S)$$

induces an equivalence of 0-localic ∞-topoi

$$\widetilde{S} \simeq \operatorname{Sh}(\operatorname{Open}^{\operatorname{qc}}(S))$$

(see also Corollary 3.12.14). Since Grothendieck topology on Open^{qc}(S) is finitary, the ∞ -topos \widetilde{S} of sheaves on S is a coherent ∞ -topos. (Cf. [SAG, Lemma 2.3.4.1]).

If $f: S \to T$ is a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, the inverse image map f^{-1} : Open $(T) \to$ Open(S) restricts to a map

 f^{-1} : Open^{qc} $(T) \rightarrow$ Open^{qc}(S).

Corollary 3.6.8 shows that the induced geometric morphism $f_*: \widetilde{S} \to \widetilde{T}$ is coherent. Since spectral topological spaces are sober, a continuous map $f: S \to T$ of spectral topological spaces induces a coherent geometric morphism on the level of ∞ -topoi if and only if f is quasicompact.

3.7.2. Note that if *X* is a coherent ∞ -topos, then the underlying topological space of *X* is spectral (Corollary 3.4.10).

Combining the fact that the Zariski, Nisnevich²², étale, and proétale²³ topoi of a scheme all have the same underlying topological space with the fact that if a scheme X is quasicompact and quasiseparated, then the 1-topoi of sheaves on X in each of these topologies is coherent [SAG, Proposition 2.3.4.2 & Remark 3.7.4.2; 11, Appendix A; 86, Example 7.1.7], we deduce the following:

3.7.3 Proposition. *The following are equivalent for a scheme X:*

(3.7.3.1) The scheme X is coherent (i.e., quasicompact and quasiseparated).

(3.7.3.2) The Zariski ∞ -topos X_{zar} of X is a coherent ∞ -topos.

(3.7.3.3) The Nisnevich ∞ -topos X_{nis} of X is a coherent ∞ -topos.

(3.7.3.4) The étale ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t}$ of X is a coherent ∞ -topos.

(3.7.3.5) The proétale ∞ -topos $X_{\text{proét}}$ of X is a coherent ∞ -topos.

3.7.4. In the case of the étale topology, see also [SAG, Proposition 2.3.4.2].

3.7.5 Example. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of coherent schemes and let

 $\tau \in \{zar, nis, \acute{e}t, pro\acute{e}t\}$.

Then the induced geometric morphism $f_*: X_{\tau} \to Y_{\tau}$ on ∞ -topoi of τ -sheaves is a coherent geometric morphism of coherent ∞ -topoi. (Cf. [SAG, Proposition 2.3.5.1])

3.7.6 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme. Then the natural geometric morphisms

 $X_{\text{pro\acute{e}t}} \to X_{\acute{e}t}$, $X_{\acute{e}t} \to X_{\text{nis}}$, and $X_{\text{nis}} \to X_{\text{zar}}$

are all coherent geometric morphisms of coherent ∞-topoi.

²²For background on the Nisnevich topology, see [SAG, §3.7; 65; 61; 100].

²³For background on the proétale topology, see [STK, Tags 0988 & 099R; 17].

3.8 Classification of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi via ∞ -pretopoi

In this section we explain how an ∞ -topos that is both bounded and coherent is *determined* by its truncated coherent objects.

3.8.1 Notation. Write $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc} \subset \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{coh}$ for the full subcategory spanned by those coherent ∞ -topoi that are also bounded, that is, the *bounded coherent* ∞ -topoi.

To a large extent, bounded coherent ∞ -topoi function in much the same way as coherent 1-topoi. In particular, any bounded coherent ∞ -topos is, in a canonical fashion, the ∞ -category of sheaves on an ∞ -site with excellent formal properties.

3.8.2 Definition. An ∞ -category *X* called an ∞ -*pretopos* if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

- The ∞ -category X admits finite limits.
- The ∞ -category X admits finite coproducts, which are universal and disjoint.
- Groupoid objects in X are effective, and their geometric realizations are universal.

If X and Y are ∞ -pretopoi, then a functor $f^*: Y \to X$ is a *morphism of* ∞ -*pretopoi* if f^* preserves finite limits, finite coproducts, and effective epimorphisms. We write

$$\operatorname{Pretop}_{\infty} \subset \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$$

for the subcategory consisting of ∞ -pretopoi and morphisms of ∞ -pretopoi.

3.8.3 Example. If X is a coherent ∞ -topos, then the full subcategory $X^{\text{coh}} \subseteq X$ spanned by the coherent objects is an ∞ -pretopos [SAG, Corollary A.6.1.7].

The following two useful facts are immediate from the definitions.

3.8.4 Lemma. Let $\{X_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a collection of ∞ -pretopoi. Then the product $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty, \delta_1}$ is an ∞ -pretopos and for each $j \in I$ the projection

$$\operatorname{pr}_j: \prod_{i \in I} X_i \to X_j$$

is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi.

3.8.5 Lemma. Given morphisms of ∞ -pretopoi $X \to Z$ and $Y \to Z$, the pullback $X \times_Z Y$ in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ is an ∞ -pretopos, and the projections

$$\operatorname{pr}_1: X \times_Z Y \to X \quad and \quad \operatorname{pr}_2: X \times_Z Y \to X$$

are morphisms of ∞ -pretopoi.

3.8.6 Notation. Let X be an ∞ -pretopos, and write $E \subseteq X$ for the collection of effective epimorphisms in X. Then (X, E) is an ∞ -presite, and we write eff := τ_E for the resulting finitary topology on X. We call this topology the *effective epimorphism topology* on X [SAG, §A.6.2].

3.8.7. The effective epimorphism topology on an ∞ -pretopos is a subcanonical topology [SAG, Corollary A.6.2.6].

3.8.8 Definition. An ∞ -pretopos *X* is *bounded* if and only if *X* is δ_0 -small and every object of *X* is truncated. We write

$$\operatorname{Pretop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{b}} \subset \operatorname{Pretop}_{\infty}$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the bounded ∞ -pretopoi.

3.8.9 Theorem ([SAG, Theorem A.7.5.3]). The constructions

$$X \mapsto X_{\leq \infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$$
 and $X \mapsto \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X)$

are mutually inverse equivalences of ∞ -categories

$$\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}} \simeq \mathbf{Pretop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{b,op}}$$

In light of (3.4.13) we deduce the following variant for Postnikov complete coherent ∞ -topoi:

3.8.10 Corollary. Write $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{post}, \operatorname{coh}} \subset \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the Postnikov complete coherent ∞ -topoi. The constructions $X \mapsto X_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$ and $X \mapsto \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X)^{\operatorname{post}}$ are mutually inverse equivalences of ∞ -categories

$$\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{post,coh}} \simeq \mathbf{Pretop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{b,op}}$$
.

We finish this section by recording the following bounded analogue of Lemma 3.8.4 that we use later, as well as a similar result for functor ∞ -categories

3.8.11 Lemma. Let $\{X_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a finite collection of bounded ∞ -pretopoi. Then the ∞ -pretopos given by the product $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty, \delta_1}$ is a bounded ∞ -pretopos.

Proof. For each $i \in I$ the ∞ -category X_i is δ_0 -small, so the product $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ is also δ_0 -small. For any integer $n \ge -2$, an object $F \in \prod_{i \in I} X_i$ is *n*-truncated if and only if $\operatorname{pr}_i(F) \in X_i$ is *n*-truncated for all $i \in I$. Since I is *finite* and every object of each of the ∞ -categories $\{X_i\}_{i \in I}$ is truncated by assumption, every object of the product $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ is truncated.

3.8.12 Lemma. Let C be an ∞ -category and X an ∞ -pretopos. Then:

- (3.8.12.1) The ∞ -category Fun(C, X) is an ∞ -pretopos.
- (3.8.12.2) If C is δ_0 -small and has finitely many objects up to equivalence and X is bounded, then the ∞ -pretopos Fun(C, X) is bounded.

Proof. First, (3.8.12.1) is clear from the definitions and the fact that (co)limits in functor ∞ -categories are computed objectwise.

In the situation of (3.8.12.2), note that since *C* and *X* are δ_0 -small, the ∞ -pretopos Fun(*C*, *X*) is δ_0 -small. Note that for any integer $n \ge -2$, an object $F \in \text{Fun}(C, X)$ is *n*-truncated if and only if F(c) is *n*-truncated for each $c \in C$. So since every object of *X* is truncated and *C* has finitely many objects up to equivalence, every object of Fun(*C*, *X*) is also truncated. Hence the ∞ -pretopos Fun(*C*, *X*) is bounded.

3.9 Coherence of inverse limits

We now recall that bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms are stable under inverse limits in **Top**_{∞}.

3.9.1 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition A.8.3.1]). The ∞ -category **Pretop**^b_{∞} admits filtered colimits and the forgetful functor **Pretop**^b_{∞} \rightarrow **Cat**_{∞,δ_1} preserves filtered colimits.

3.9.2 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition A.8.3.2]). Let $X : A \to \operatorname{Pretop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{b}}$ be a filtered diagram of bounded ∞ -pretopoi. Then the natural geometric morphism

 $\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} X_{\alpha}) \to \lim_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X_{\alpha})$

is an equivalence in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} .

3.9.3. See [27, Lemma 3.3] for a more general statement about filtered colimits of finitary ∞ -sites.

The following is immediate from the previous two propositions and Theorem 3.1.10= [HTT, Theorem 6.3.3.1].

3.9.4 Corollary ([SAG, Corollary A.8.3.3]). The ∞ -category $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{bc}$ admits inverse limits and the inclusion $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{bc} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ and forgetful functor $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{bc} \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ both preserve inverse limits.

3.10 Coherence & preservation of filtered colimits

The goal of this section is to prove the appropriate ∞ -toposic generalization of the fact that a coherent geometric morphism of 1-topoi preserves filtered colimits (see Corollary 3.10.5).²⁴

We begin be recalling a basic fact about filtered colimits of truncated objects and introducing some convenient terminology.

3.10.1 Recollection. Since filtered colimits commute with finite limits in an ∞ -topos, for any ∞ -topos X and integer $n \ge -2$, the inclusion $X_{\le n} \hookrightarrow X$ preserves filtered colimits. Thus $X_{\le n}$ is an ω -accessible localization of X.

3.10.2 Definition. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. We say that an object $X \in C$ is *almost compact* if $\tau_{\leq n}(C)$ is a compact object of the *n*-category $C_{\leq n}$.

We say that functor $F : C \to D$ between presentable ∞ -categories *almost preserves filtered colimits* if for each integer $n \ge -2$, the functor $F : C_{\le n} \to D$ preserves filtered colimits.

3.10.3 Lemma. Let (X, τ) be a finitary ∞ -site, write $X := \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(X)$, and write $\natural_{\tau} \colon X \to X$ for the sheafified Yoneda embedding. Then for any object $x \in X$, the sheaf $\natural_{\tau}(x)$ is almost compact.

²⁴We learned how to simplify and generalize the material in this section from its original form through a preprint of Chough [25, Theorem 3.4].

Proof. Write $U \coloneqq \sharp_{\tau}(x)$ and let $p_* \colon X_{/U} \to X$ denote the natural étale geometric morphism. Let $V \colon A \to X_{\leq n}$ be a filtered diagram. Then we have natural equivalences

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(U,\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}) &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(p_{!}(1_{\boldsymbol{X}_{/U}}),\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{/U}}(1_{\boldsymbol{X}_{/U}},\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} p^{*}(V_{\alpha})) \,. \end{split}$$

Since $U \in X$ is coherent (Proposition 3.3.10=[SAG, Proposition A.3.1.3]), the global sections functor

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{/U}}(1_{\boldsymbol{X}_{/U}}, -): \boldsymbol{X}_{/U} \to \mathbf{S}$$

almost preserves filtered colimits [SAG, Proposition A.2.3.1]. Hence we have natural equivalences

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(U,\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}) &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}/U}(1_{\boldsymbol{X}/U}, p^{*}(V_{\alpha})) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(p_{!}(1_{\boldsymbol{X}/U}), V_{\alpha}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(U, V_{\alpha}) \,. \end{split}$$

3.10.4 Proposition. Let $f^* : (Y, \tau_Y) \to (X, \tau_X)$ be a morphism of finitary ∞ -sites. Then the induced functor $f_* : \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(X) \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_V}(Y)$ almost preserves filtered colimits.

Proof. Write $X \coloneqq \text{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X)$, $Y \coloneqq \text{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y)$, and $\natural_{\tau_X} \colon X \to X$ and $\natural_{\tau_Y} \colon Y \to Y$ for the sheafified Yoneda embeddings. Let $V \colon A \to X_{\leq n}$ be a filtered diagram. Since the essential image of \natural_{τ_Y} generates Y under colimits, to see that the natural morphism

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} f_*(V_\alpha) \to f_*(\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} V_\alpha)$$

is an equivalence, it suffices to show that for all $y \in Y$, the induced morphism

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\sharp_{\tau_{\mathbf{Y}}}(y), \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} f_{*}(V_{\alpha})) \to \operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{Y}}(\sharp_{\tau_{\mathbf{Y}}}(y), f_{*}(\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}))$$

is an equivalence. Applying Lemma 3.10.3 to $\sharp_{\tau_Y}(y)$ and $f^* \sharp_{\tau_Y}(y) \simeq \sharp_{\tau_X}(f^*(y))$ we see that we have equivalences

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(\boldsymbol{\natural}_{\tau_{\boldsymbol{Y}}}(\boldsymbol{y}), \operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in A} f_{*}(V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}})) &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(\boldsymbol{\natural}_{\tau_{\boldsymbol{Y}}}(\boldsymbol{y}), f_{*}(V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}})) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(f^{*}\boldsymbol{\natural}_{\tau_{\boldsymbol{Y}}}(\boldsymbol{y}), V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(f^{*}\boldsymbol{\natural}_{\tau_{\boldsymbol{Y}}}(\boldsymbol{y}), \operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in A} V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}(\boldsymbol{\natural}_{\tau_{\boldsymbol{Y}}}(\boldsymbol{y}), f_{*}(\operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in A} V_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}})) . \end{split}$$

In light of Theorem 3.8.9=[SAG, Theorem A.7.5.3], Proposition 3.10.4 specializes to the following.

3.10.5 Corollary. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a coherent geometric morphism between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi. Then the functor f_* almost preserves filtered colimits.

3.11 Points, Conceptual Completeness, & Deligne Completeness

In this section we discuss points of ∞ -topoi as well as the ∞ -toposic generalizations of the Conceptual Completeness Theorem of Makkai–Reyes and Deligne's Completeness Theorem.

3.11.1 Notation. For an ∞ -topos *X*, we write

$$Pt(\mathbf{X}) \coloneqq Fun_*(\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{X})^{op} \simeq Fun^*(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{S})$$

for the ∞ -category of *points* of *X*.

Note that a morphism $x'_* \to x_*$ of Pt(X) is a natural transformation $x_* \to x'_*$. (The morphisms are the 'geometric transformations' usually preferred in 1-topos theory.) This choice is compatible with the direction of posets: for instance, when *P* is a noetherian poset, one has $Pt(\tilde{P}) \simeq P$.

For general ∞ -topoi, the passage to its ∞ -category of points will lose quite a bit of information. However, the ∞ -toposic version of the Conceptual Completeness Theorem of Makkai–Reyes [87, Theorem 9.2] tells us that bounded coherent ∞ -topoi are to some extent *determined* by their ∞ -categories of points.

3.11.2 Theorem (Conceptual Completeness; [SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]). A geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi is an equivalence if and only if f_* is coherent and the induced functor $Pt(f_*): Pt(X) \to Pt(Y)$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

3.11.3 Definition. An ∞ -topos X has enough points if a morphism ϕ in X is an equivalence if and only if for every point $x_* \in Pt(X)$ the stalk $x^*\phi$ is an equivalence.

In classical topos theory, the Deligne Completeness Theorem [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, Proposition 9.0] states that a locally coherent 1-topos has enough points. This is no longer true in the setting of ∞ -topoi, the main obstruction being that ∞ -connective morphisms in an ∞ -topos need not be equivalences. For this reason the ∞ -categorical version of Deligne's theorem takes place in the setting of ∞ -topoi where ∞ -connective morphisms are equivalences, i.e., ∞ -topoi in which Whitehead's Theorem is valid.

3.11.4 Recollection. A morphism $\phi : U \to V$ in an ∞ -topos X is ∞ -connective if ϕ is *n*-connective for each integer $n \ge -1$.

Let $f_*: X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Since the left adjoint f^* is left exact and preserves effective epimorphisms, if ϕ is an ∞ -connective morphism of Y, then $f^*(\phi)$ is an ∞ -connective morphism of X.

3.11.5 Definition. Let X be an ∞ -topos. An object $U \in X$ is *hypercomplete* if U is local with respect to the class of ∞ -connective morphisms in X. We write $X^{hyp} \subset X$ for the full subcategory spanned by the hypercomplete objects of X. We call X^{hyp} the *hypercompletion* of X, and we say that X is *hypercomplete* if $X^{hyp} = X$.

3.11.6. The ∞ -category $X^{\text{hyp}} \subset X$ is a left exact localization of X, hence an ∞ -topos [HTT, p. 699]. Moreover, the ∞ -topos X^{hyp} is hypercomplete [HTT, Lemma 6.5.2.12].

3.11.7 Construction (functoriality of hypercompletions). Let $f_*: X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Since f^* preserves ∞ -connective morphisms, the pushforward $f_*: X \to Y$ preserves hypercomplete objects, hence restricts to a functor

$$f_*: \mathbf{X}^{\text{hyp}} \to \mathbf{Y}^{\text{hyp}}$$

The functor $f_*: X^{hyp} \to Y^{hyp}$ is the right adjoint in a geometric morphism with left exact left adjoint given by the composite

$$\boldsymbol{Y}^{\mathrm{hyp}} \xrightarrow{f^*} \boldsymbol{X} \longrightarrow \boldsymbol{X}^{\mathrm{hyp}}$$

of f^* with the left adjoint to the inclusion $X^{hyp} \subset X$. We denote this geometric morphism by $f_*^{hyp} : X^{hyp} \to Y^{hyp}$.

3.11.8 Warning. Let $f_*: X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. The pullback functor $f^*: Y \to X$ generally does *not* preserve hypercomplete objects; since every ∞ -topos is a left exact localization of a presheaf ∞ -topos, if this were true then every ∞ -topos would be hypercomplete.

The hypercompletion X^{hyp} is characterized by the following universal property.

3.11.9 Proposition ([HTT, Proposition 6.5.2.13]). Let X be an ∞ -topos. Then for every hypercomplete ∞ -topos H, composition with the inclusion $X^{\text{hyp}} \subset X$ induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}_*(\boldsymbol{H}, \boldsymbol{X}^{\operatorname{nyp}}) \cong \operatorname{Fun}_*(\boldsymbol{H}, \boldsymbol{X})$$

Consequently, the assignment $X \mapsto X^{\text{hyp}}$ defines a functor right adjoint to the inclusion of hypercomplete ∞ -topoi into all ∞ -topoi.

3.11.10 Example. An ∞ -topos with enough points is hypercomplete.

3.11.11 Example. Let X be a 1-topos with corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topos X'. Then X has enough points (in the sense of [SGA 4₁, Exposé IV, Définition 6.4.1]) if and only if the hypercomplete ∞ -topos (X')^{hyp} has enough points.

3.11.12 Example. An ∞ -topos X is hypercomplete if and only if the pullback functor $p^*: X \to X^{\text{post}}$ is conservative. In particular, if Postnikov towers converge in X (Definition 3.2.11), then X is hypercomplete. However, the converse in false:

3.11.13 Warning. Postnikov towers need not converge in a hypercomplete ∞ -topos. Morel and Voevodsky provide the following counterexample [95, §2.1, Example 1.30]. Let *G* denote the profinite group $\prod_{i\geq 1} \mathbb{Z}/2$. Write *X* for the ∞ -topos of hypersheaves on the site of finite continuous *G*-sets with respect to the topology in which a family of maps is a covering if and only if it is jointly surjective. Since $\Gamma_X^* : \mathbb{S} \to X$ preserves connected objects, the constant sheaf $U := \Gamma_X^*(\prod_{i\geq 1} K(\mathbb{Z}/2, i))$ at the product of Eilenberg–MacLane spaces $K(\mathbb{Z}/2, i)$ is connected. On the other hand, one can show that the limit of the Postnikov tower of *U* is the product

$$\lim_{n\geq 0}\tau_{\leq n}U\simeq\prod_{i\geq 1}\Gamma_X^*(\mathbf{K}(\mathbf{Z}/2,i))$$

and, moreover, that this object is not connected. In particular, the map $U \to \lim_{n \ge 0} \tau_{\le n} U$ is not an equivalence.
In light of Example 3.11.10, the following is the correct ∞ -toposic generalization of Deligne's Completeness Theorem.

3.11.14 Theorem (∞ -Categorical Deligne Completeness; [SAG, Proposition A.4.0.5]). *An* ∞ -*topos that is locally coherent and hypercomplete has enough points.*

3.11.15. Please observe that for an ∞ -topos X, the hypercompletion X^{hyp} has enough points if and only if ∞ -connectiveness of morphisms in X can be checked on stalks. Indeed, a morphism ϕ in X is ∞ -connective if and only if for every point x_* of X, the stalk $x^*\phi$ is an equivalence in S. The Deligne Completeness Theorem (Theorem 3.11.14= [SAG, Proposition A.4.0.5]) and Corollary 3.11.17 thus show that ∞ -connectiveness in a locally coherent ∞ -topos can be checked on stalks.

We have already seen that the coherence of an ∞ -topos only depends on its hypercompletion (Lemma 3.4.12). The following proposition gives a more refined assertion about the relationship between the coherent objects of an ∞ -topos and its hypercompletion.

3.11.16 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition A.2.2.2]). Let X be an ∞ -topos, and write $L^{hyp}: X \to X^{hyp}$ for the left adjoint to the inclusion $X^{hyp} \hookrightarrow X$. If X is locally n-coherent for all $n \ge 0$, then:

- (3.11.16.1) The ∞ -topos X^{hyp} is locally n-coherent for all $n \ge 0$.
- (3.11.16.2) An object $U \in X^{\text{hyp}}$ is coherent if and only if U is coherent when viewed as an object of X.
- (3.11.16.3) An object $U \in X$ is coherent if and only if $L^{hyp}(U) \in X^{hyp}$ is coherent.

3.11.17 Corollary. Let X be an ∞ -topos. If X is (locally) coherent, then the hypercompletion X^{hyp} of X is (locally) coherent.

3.11.18 Example. Let X be a bounded coherent ∞ -topos. Then since X is also locally coherent (Example 3.3.6), the hypercompletion X^{hyp} of X is coherent and locally coherent.

3.12 Bases for ∞ -topoi

Let W be a topological space and $B \subset \text{Open}(W)$ a basis for W. Upon passing to sheaves of sets, right Kan extension defines an equivalence of 1-topoi

$$Sh(B; \mathbf{Set}) \xrightarrow{\sim} Sh(W; \mathbf{Set})$$

with inverse given by restriction of presheaves [86, Proposition B.6.4].

The analogous statement for sheaves of *spaces* is false: open subsets of the Hilbert cube $\prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} [0, 1]$ homeomorphic to a product $[0, 1) \times \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} [0, 1]$ form a basis *B* for the topology on the Hilbert cube, but sheaves of spaces on *B* do not coincide with sheaves on the Hilbert cube [SAG, Counterexample 20.4.0.1]. The goal of this section is to show that although right Kan extension need not define an equivalence

$$(3.12.1) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Sh}(B) \to \operatorname{Sh}(W) \,.$$

the failure of (3.12.1) to be an equivalence is fundamentally infinitary in nature and (3.12.1) is an equivalence when we restrict to hypercomplete objects.

We begin by recalling the basics of bases for sites and ∞ -sites.

3.12.2 Definition. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site. A *basis* for the topology τ on *C* is a full subcategory $B \subset C$ satisfying the following property: for every object $c \in C$, there exists a set of morphisms $\{f_i : b_i \to c\}_{i \in I}$ such that $b_i \in B$ for each $i \in I$ and the set $\{f_i\}_{i \in I}$ generates a τ -covering sieve on $c \in C$.

3.12.3. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site and $B \subset C$ a basis for τ . Then there is a unique topology $\tau|_B$ on B satisfying the following property: for each object $b \in B$, a sieve $S \subset B_{/b}$ is a $\tau|_B$ -covering sieve if and only if the image of S under the embedding $B_{/b} \hookrightarrow C_{/b}$ generates a τ covering sieve of $b \in C$.

We always regard a basis $B \subset C$ as an ∞ -site equipped the topology $\tau|_B$. To simplify notation, we often write τ instead of $\tau|_B$.

3.12.4. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site and $B \subset C$ a basis for τ . Then for every object $c \in C$, the full subcategory

$$B_{/c} \coloneqq B \times_C C_{/c} \subset C_{/c}$$

is a basis for the topology on $C_{/c}$ induced by τ .

3.12.5 Example. Let W be a topological space. A full subposet $B \subset \text{Open}(W)$ is a basis for the standard topology on Open(W) (in the sense of Definition 3.12.2) if and only if B defines a basis for the topological space W in the usual sense: every open set of W can be written as a union of opens belonging to B.

3.12.6 Example. Let *P* be a poset. Then the functor $P^{op} \to \text{Open}(P)$ defined by $p \mapsto P_{\geq p}$ is fully faithful and defines a basis for the topology on the Alexandroff topological space *P*. The induced topology on $P^{op} \subset \text{Open}(P)$ is the trivial topology.

The first property of bases for ∞ -sites is that a presheaf on *B* is a sheaf if and only if its right Kan extension along the inclusion $B \hookrightarrow C$ is a sheaf on *C*.

3.12.7 Lemma ([6, Proposition A.5; 86, Proposition B.6.6]). Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site and $i: B \hookrightarrow C$ a basis for the topology τ on C. Then:

- (3.12.7.1) A presheaf $F: B^{op} \to S$ on B is a $\tau|_B$ -sheaf if and only if the right Kan extension of F along $i: B^{op} \hookrightarrow C^{op}$ is a τ -sheaf on C.
- (3.12.7.2) Right Kan extension along i defines a fully faithful right adjoint

$$i_*$$
: $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$

with left exact left adjoint given by the composite

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C) \xrightarrow{i^*} \operatorname{PSh}(B) \xrightarrow{L_{\tau}} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B)$$

of presheaf restriction followed by $\tau|_B$ -sheafification.

Proof. Note that (3.12.7.2) is an immediate consequence of (3.12.7.1). Write i_*F for the right Kan extension of F along $i : B^{\text{op}} \hookrightarrow C^{\text{op}}$.

To prove (3.12.7.1), we first show that if i_*F is a τ -sheaf on *C*, then *F* is a $\tau|_B$ -sheaf on *B*. Let $b \in B$ and let $S_B \subset B_{/b}$ be a covering sieve on *b*; we need to show that the natural map

$$\rho_b^B \colon F(b) \to \lim_{b' \in S_B^{\text{op}}} F(b')$$

is an equivalence. Let $S_C \subset C_{/b}$ denote the sieve generated by $S_B \subset C_{/b}$. Since S_B is a covering sieve for the topology $\tau|_B$ on B, the sieve S_C is a τ -covering sieve. Now notice that the map ρ_b^B factors as a composite

$$F(b) = i_*F(b) \xrightarrow{\rho_b^{\mathsf{C}}} \lim_{c' \in S_C^{\mathsf{op}}} i_*F(c') \xrightarrow{\rho_b'} \lim_{b' \in S_B^{\mathsf{op}}} i_*F(b') = \lim_{b' \in S_B^{\mathsf{op}}} F'(b') \,.$$

The morphism ρ_b^C is an equivalence because i_*F is a τ -sheaf on C and S_C is a τ -covering sieve. The morphism ρ_b' is an equivalence because i_*F is the right Kan extension of F.

Now we show that if F is a $\tau|_B$ -sheaf on B, then i_*F is a τ -sheaf on C. Let $c \in C$ and let $S_C \subset C_{/c}$ be a τ -covering sieve of c. Define

$$S_B \coloneqq S \times_C C_{/c} \subset B_{/c}$$

We need to show that the top horizontal map in the commutative square

$$i_*F(c) \longrightarrow \lim_{c' \in S_C^{op}} i_*F(c')$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\lim_{b \in B_{lc}^{op}} i_*F(b) \longrightarrow \lim_{b \in S_R^{op}} i_*F(b)$$

is an equivalence. The vertical maps are equivalences because i_*F is the right Kan extension of its restriction to *B*; hence it suffices to show that the lower horizontal map is an equivalence. To see this, first note that the lower horizonal map can be rewritten as a limit of maps

(3.12.8)
$$\lim_{b \in B_{/c}^{\operatorname{op}}} \lim_{b' \in B_{/b}^{\operatorname{op}}} i_*F(b') \to \lim_{[f: b \to c] \in S_B^{\operatorname{op}}} \lim_{b' \in f^*S_B^{\operatorname{op}}} i_*F(b')$$

To conclude, note that since $i^*i_*F = F$ is a $\tau|_B$ -sheaf on B and B is a basis for (C, τ) , the morphism (3.12.8) is an equivalence.

For sheaves of sets, Lemma 3.12.7 admits a converse: a presheaf of sets *F* on *C* is a sheaf if and only if the restriction of *F* to *B* is a sheaf and *F* is the right Kan extension of its restriction. This *fails* for sheaves of spaces in general. The goal of the remainder of this chapter is to show that this is true if we restrict too *hyper* sheaves. The technique is to squeeze $\text{Sh}_{\tau}^{\text{hyp}}(C)$ between $\text{Sh}_{\tau}^{\text{hyp}}(B)$ and $\text{Sh}_{\tau}(B)$ and apply the following observation.

3.12.9 Lemma. Let X and Y be ∞ -topoi, and assume that there are fully faithful geometric morphisms

$$\boldsymbol{Y}^{\mathrm{hyp}} \stackrel{f_*}{\hookrightarrow} \boldsymbol{X} \stackrel{g_*}{\hookrightarrow} \boldsymbol{Y}$$

and the composite $g_*f_*: \mathbf{Y}^{\text{hyp}} \to \mathbf{Y}^{\text{hyp}}$ is the identity. Then $f_*: \mathbf{Y}^{\text{hyp}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{X}^{\text{hyp}}$ and $g_*: \mathbf{X}^{\text{hyp}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Y}^{\text{hyp}}$ are mutually inverse equivalences.

Proof. Immediate from the fact that f_* and g_* preserve hypercomplete objects Construction 3.11.7 and the assumption that $g_*f_* \simeq id_{\mathbf{Y}^{hyp}}$.

The key technical lemma we need to show that a hypersheaf on C is the right Kan extension of its restriction to B is a relative version of [SAG, Lemma 20.4.5.4]. It seems to have first been noticed by Aoki [6, Lemma A.10].

3.12.10 Lemma. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi and $B \subset Y$ a small full subcategory. Assume that for each object $Y \in Y$, there exists a morphism $e : \prod_{i \in I} U_i \to Y$ such that $U_i \in B$ for each $i \in I$ and $f^*(e)$ is an effective epimorphism in X. Then $f^*(\operatorname{colim}_{U \in B} U)$ is an ∞ -connective object of X.

Proof. Write $X := f^*(\operatorname{colim}_{U \in B} U)$. We prove that X is *n*-connective for each $n \ge 0$ by induction on *n*. For the base case, note that since f^* is a left exact left adjoint, the unique morphism $e : \prod_{U \in B} f^*(U) \to 1_X$ is an effective epimorphism. The effective epimorphism *e* factors as a composite

$$\prod_{U \in B} f^*(U) \longrightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{U \in B} f^*(U) \longrightarrow 1_X,$$

hence the unique morphism $X \to 1_X$ is an effective epimorphism (i.e., X is 0-connective).

For the inductive step, we assume that X is (n-1)-connective and prove that X is (n-1)-connective. That is, we need to show that the diagonal $\Delta_X : X \to X \times X$ is (n-1)-connective. Since f^* is a left exact left adjoint and colimits in an ∞ -topos are universal, we can rewrite $X \times X$ as the colimit

$$X \times X \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{(U,U') \in B \times B} f^*(U) \times f^*(U')$$
.

Rewriting X as an iterated colimit

$$X \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{(U,U') \in B \times B} \operatorname{colim}_{V \in B_{/(U \times U')}} f^*(V) ,$$

we see that we can rewrite the diagonal Δ_X as a colimit of maps

$$\delta_{U,U'}: \operatorname{colim}_{V \in B_{/(U \times U')}} f^*(V) \to f^*(U) \times f^*(U') .$$

Thus it suffices to show that each of the maps $\delta_{U,U'}$ is (n-1)-connective. This follows from the inductive hypothesis applied to the geometric morphism

$$X_{/(f^*(U) \times f^*(U'))} \to Y_{/(U \times U')}$$

whose left exact left adjoint is given by

$$f^*: \mathbf{Y}_{/(U \times U')} \to \mathbf{X}_{/(f^*(U) \times f^*(U'))}.$$

We are finally ready to prove the main result of this section. The following result has appeared in work of Porta–Yue Yu under the additional assumption that representable presheaves are already hypersheaves [103, Proposition 2.22]. We learned of the present proof from Aoki [6, Appendix A].

3.12.11 Proposition. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site and $i : B \hookrightarrow C$ a basis for the topology τ . Then:

- (3.12.11.1) If F is a τ -hypersheaf on C, then F is the right Kan extension of its restriction i*F to B.
- (3.12.11.2) Right Kan extension defines an equivalence of hypercomplete ∞ -topoi

$$i_*: \operatorname{Sh}^{\operatorname{hyp}}_{\tau}(B) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sh}^{\operatorname{hyp}}_{\tau}(C)$$

with inverse given by presheaf restriction i*.

(3.12.11.3) A presheaf $F: \mathbb{C}^{\text{op}} \to \mathbb{S}$ is a τ -hypersheaf if and only if i^*F is a $\tau|_{B^-}$ hypersheaf on B and F is the right Kan extension of i^*F .

Proof. Write L_{τ} : PSh(*C*) \rightarrow Sh_{τ}(*C*) for the τ -sheafification functor and \downarrow : *C* \hookrightarrow PSh(*C*) for the Yoneda embedding.

First we prove (3.12.11.1). Let *F* be a τ -hypersheaf on *C*; we prove that the unit $F \rightarrow i_*i^*F$ is an equivalence. By the formula for right Kan extension, for each object $c \in C$, the unit $F(c) \rightarrow i_*i^*(F)(c)$ is given by applying the functor $\operatorname{Map}_{PSh(C)}(-, F)$ to the natural morphism

$$e_c: \operatorname{colim}_{b \in B^{\operatorname{op}}_{/c}} \sharp(b) \to \sharp(c)$$

in PSh(*C*). Since *F* is a hypercomplete object of $\text{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$, to prove the claim it suffices to show that the morphism $L_{\tau}(e_c)$ is ∞ -connective for every object $c \in C$. Since $B \subset C$ is a basis for τ , this follows from Lemma 3.12.10 applied to the geometric morphism with left adjoint

$$\operatorname{PSh}(C_{/c}) \simeq \operatorname{PSh}(C)_{/\sharp(c)} \xrightarrow{L_{\tau}} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)_{/L_{\tau}\sharp(c)}$$

given by τ -sheafification.

Now we prove (3.12.11.2). By (3.12.11.1), Lemma 3.12.7, and the fact that the right adjoint in a geometric morphism preserves hypercomplete objects Construction 3.11.7, we have fully faithful functors

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(B) \stackrel{i_*}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(C) \stackrel{i^*}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B),$$

where the functor i_* : $\text{Sh}^{\text{hyp}}_{\tau}(B) \hookrightarrow \text{Sh}^{\text{hyp}}_{\tau}(C)$ is the right adjoint in a geometric morphism. Thus by Lemma 3.12.9 it suffices to show that the restriction functor

$$(3.12.12) i^* \colon \operatorname{Sh}^{\operatorname{nyp}}_{\tau}(C) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B)$$

admits a left exact left adjoint. Write $(-)^{\text{hyp}}$: $\text{Sh}_{\tau}(C) \to \text{Sh}_{\tau}^{\text{hyp}}(C)$ for the left adjoint to the inclusion $\text{Sh}_{\tau}^{\text{hyp}}(C) \to \text{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$. We claim that the composite

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(B) \xrightarrow{i_*} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C) \xrightarrow{(-)^{\operatorname{hyp}}} \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(C)$$

is left adjoint to the restriction (3.12.12). To see this, let $G \in Sh_{\tau}(B)$ and $F \in Sh_{\tau}^{hyp}(C)$ and note that since i_* is fully faithful, by (3.12.11.1) and the hypercompleteness of Fwe have natural equivalences

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B)}(G, i^*F) &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)}(i_*G, i_*i^*F) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)}(i_*G, F) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(C)}((i_*G)^{\operatorname{hyp}}, F) \,. \end{split}$$

Finally, (3.12.11.3) is immediate from (3.12.11.2) and Lemma 3.12.7.

3.12.13 Corollary. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site and $i : B \hookrightarrow C$ a basis for the topology τ . If $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$ is hypercomplete, then $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B)$ is hypercomplete and the geometric morphism $i_* : \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$ is an equivalence.

3.12.14 Corollary. Let (C, τ) be an ∞ -site, $i \colon B \hookrightarrow C$ a basis for the topology τ , and $n \ge 0$ be an integer. If $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$ and $\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B)$ are both n-localic, then the geometric morphism $i_* \colon \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(B) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(C)$ is an equivalence.

3.12.15 Example. Let *P* be a poset. From Example 3.12.6 we see that right Kan extension along the inclusion $P \subset \text{Open}(P)^{\text{op}}$ defined by $p \mapsto P_{\geq p}$ defines a fully faithful geometric morphism

$$\operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S}) \hookrightarrow P$$

that identifies $\operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S})$ with the hypercompletion of \widetilde{P} .

In particular, if P is a *finite* poset, then \tilde{P} is already hypercomplete [HTT, Remark 7.2.4.18; 27, Lemma 3.13], so right Kan extension defines an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{P}$$
.

See [9, Corollary 2.4] for a direct proof of this fact.

3.12.16 Warning. If *P* is an infinite poset, then \tilde{P} need not be hypercomplete; see [6, Example A.13] for a counterexample. Equivalently, if *P* is an infinite poset, then the ∞ -topos Fun(*P*, **S**) need not be *n*-localic for any $n \ge 0$.

3.12.17 Remark. See [60, Lemma C.3] for another very useful criterion for checking that the inclusion of a basis induces an equivalence after passage to sheaves of spaces.

4 Shape theory

This chapter is dedicated to shape theory for ∞ -topoi. The ideas of shape theory for higher topoi go back to Grothendieck's famous letter to Breen [46], and were later developed by Toën–Vezzosi [128; 129, §3.2; 130, §5.3] and Lurie [HTT, §7.1.6; HA, §A.1; SAG, §E.2]. We refer the reader to these sources for original accounts of the theory.

Section 4.1 establishes the basic material we'll need on protruncated objects. Section 4.2 recalls the definition of the shape and explains a few basic properties of the shape; one of the most important of these is that the protruncated shape of an ∞ -topos and its hypercompletion agree. Section 4.3 is devoted to proving that the protruncated shape commutes with inverse limits of bouded coherent ∞ -topoi (Corollary 4.3.7). This result provides a computational tool for shapes and will be used repeatedly throughout the text. Section 4.4 explains how to regard profinite spaces as ∞ -topoi following [SAG, Appendix E].

4.1 Protruncated objects

In this section, we recall some facts about protruncated objects that we'll need throughout the text. We also record an interesting observation which does not seem to be in the literature (Lemma 4.1.6).

4.1.1 Notation. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. For each integer $n \ge -2$, the *pro-n*-*truncation* functor $\tau_{\le n}$: $\operatorname{Pro}(C) \to \operatorname{Pro}(C_{\le n})$ is the unique extension of the *n*-truncation functor $\tau_{\le n}$: $C \to C_{\le n}$ to proöbjects that preserves inverse limits.

4.1.2. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. Then the extension to proöbjects of the functor $C \to \operatorname{Pro}(C_{<\infty})$ given by sending an object $X \in C$ to the inverse system given by its Postnikov tower $\{\tau_{\leq n}(X)\}_{n\geq -2}$ is left adjoint to the inclusion $\operatorname{Pro}(C_{<\infty}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(C)$. We call this left adjoint

$$\tau_{<\infty}$$
: $\operatorname{Pro}(C) \to \operatorname{Pro}(C_{<\infty})$

protruncation. A morphism of proöbjects $f : X \to Y$, regarded as left exact accessible functors $C \to S$, becomes an equivalence after protuncation if and only if for every truncated object $K \in C_{<\infty}$, the induced morphism $f(K) : X(K) \to Y(K)$ is an equivalence.

Since the truncation functors in an ∞ -topos preserve finite products [HTT, Lemma 6.5.1.2], if *C* is an ∞ -topos, then the protruncation functor $\tau_{<\infty}$ also preserves finite products

4.1.3 Remark. In the terminology of Artin–Mazur [8, Definition 4.2], morphisms in the ∞ -category Pro(S) of prospaces that induce equivalences after protruncation are precisely those morphisms that become \natural -*isomorphisms* in the category Pro(h₁S).

4.1.4 Remark. Isaksen's *strict model structure* on pro-simplicial sets [70] presents the ∞ -category Pro(**S**) of prospaces [63, Lemma 3.1]. The model structure that Isaksen defines in [68] is the left Bousfield localization of the strict model structure at the $\tau_{<\infty}$ -equivalences, hence presents the ∞ -category Pro($\mathbf{S}_{<\infty}$) of protruncated spaces [63,

Remark 3.2]. The latter model structure is what is often used étale homotopy theory, for example in the recent work of Schmidt–Stix [115] on the étale homotopy type and anabelian geometry.

4.1.5. Let *C* be a presentable ∞ -category. The unique functor

mat :
$$Pro(C) \rightarrow C$$

that preserves inverse limits and restricts to the identity $C \rightarrow C$ is right adjoint to the Yoneda embedding &: $C \hookrightarrow Pro(C)$ [SAG, Example A.8.1.7]. We call mat the *materialization* functor. Hence we have adjunctions

If Postnikov towers converge in C (Definition 3.2.11), then the composite left adjoint is also fully faithful:

4.1.6 Lemma. Let C be presentable ∞ -category. If Postnikov towers converge in C, the protruncation functor

$$\tau_{<\infty}: C \to \operatorname{Pro}(C_{<\infty})$$

is fully faithful. Moreover, the essential image of $\tau_{<\infty}$: $C \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(C_{<\infty})$ is the full subcategory spanned by those protruncated objects X such that for each integer $n \ge -2$, the pro-n-truncation $\tau_{\leq n}(X) \in \operatorname{Pro}(C_{\leq n})$ is a constant pröbject.

Proof. It suffices to show that for any object $X \in C$, the unit morphism $X \to \max \tau_{<\infty}(X)$ is an equivalence. This follows from the equivalence

$$\max \tau_{<\infty}(X) \simeq \lim_{n \ge -2} \tau_{\le n}(X)$$

and the assumption that Postnikov towers converge in C.

4.1.7. Composing the fully faithful functor $\tau_{<\infty} : \mathbf{S} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty})$ with the inclusion $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ gives another embedding of spaces into prospaces, different from the Yoneda embedding &: $\mathbf{S} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$: for a space *K*, the natural morphism of prospaces $\&(K) \to \tau_{<\infty}(K)$ is an equivalence if and only if *K* is truncated. Unlike the Yoneda embedding &, the functor $\tau_{<\infty} : \mathbf{S} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ is neither a left nor a right adjoint.

4.2 Shape theory

We now recall the basics of *shape theory* for ∞ -topoi. The shape is crucial to the study of *Stone* ∞ -*topoi* presented in §4.4. Both shape theory and Stone ∞ -topoi are key to our development of the *stratified shape* in Part III and *stratified étale homotopy type* in Part IV.

4.2.1 Definition. The *shape* Π_{∞} : **Top**_{∞} \rightarrow Pro(**S**) is the left adjoint to the extension to problects of the fully faithful functor **S** \hookrightarrow **Top**_{∞} given by

$$\Pi \mapsto \mathbf{S}_{/\Pi} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$$

[SAG, §E.2.2]. The shape admits two other useful descriptions:

- Let X be an ∞-topos, and write Γ_{X,!}: X → Pro(S) for the proëxistent left adjoint of Γ^{*}_X: S → X. The shape of X is equivalent to the prospace Γ_{X,!}(1_X) [HA, Remark A.1.10; 62, §2].
- (2) As a left exact accessible functor S → S, the prospace Π_∞(X) is the composite Γ_{*}Γ^{*} [HTT, §7.1.6; 62, §2]. Under this identification, the shape assigns to a geometric morphism f_{*}: X → Y with unit u: id_Y → f_{*}f^{*} the morphism of prospaces corresponding to

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*} u \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}}^* \colon \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}}^* \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*} f_* f^* \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}}^* \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X},*} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}}^*$$

in $Pro(\mathbf{S})^{op} \subset Fun(\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{S})$.

4.2.2. The functor λ : Pro(S) \rightarrow **Top**_{∞} given by extending the fully faithful functor S \hookrightarrow **Top**_{∞} to proöbjects is *not* itself fully faithful.

For our first example shape computation, please recall that we write ε : Cat_{∞} \rightarrow S for the left adjoint to the inclusion (Notation 2.2.1).

4.2.3 Example. If *C* is a small ∞ -category, then $\Gamma^* : \mathbf{S} \to \operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})$ admits a genuine left adjoint $\Gamma_1 : \operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S}) \to \mathbf{S}$ given by taking the colimit of a diagram $C \to \mathbf{S}$.²⁵ The shape of the ∞ -topos $\operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})$ is thus given by the colimit of the constant diagram at the terminal object of \mathbf{S} :

$$\Pi_{\infty}(\operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})) = \Gamma_{!}(1_{\operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})}) = \operatorname{colim}_{C} 1_{\mathbf{S}} \simeq \varepsilon(C) .$$

Moreover, the functor ε : Cat_{∞} \rightarrow S is equivalent to the composite

$$\mathbf{Cat}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Fun}(-,\mathbf{S})} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\Pi_{\infty}} \mathbf{S} \ .$$

4.2.4 Definition. A geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ of ∞ -topoi is a *shape equivalence* if the induced morphism

$$\Pi_{\infty}(f_*): \Pi_{\infty}(X) \to \Pi_{\infty}(Y)$$

is an equivalence in Pro(S). We say that an ∞ -topos X has *trivial shape* if $\Pi_{\infty}(X)$ is a terminal object of Pro(S).

4.2.5. Work of Hoyois [62, Proposition 2.6] shows that a geometric morphism f_* is a shape equivalence if and only if f_* induces an equivalence of ∞ -categories of space-valued torsors.

²⁵That is to say, presheaf ∞-topoi are *locally of constant shape* [HA, Definition A.1.5 & Proposition A.1.8].

4.2.6 Warning. The pullback (in \mathbf{Top}_{∞}) of a shape equivalence is not generally a shape equivalence, even when both morphisms are shape equivalences. As an example, consider the space X := [0, 1], and its closed subspace $Z := \{0\}$ and open complement U := (0, 1]. Then the ∞ -topoi \widetilde{X} , \widetilde{U} , and \widetilde{Z} all have trivial shape and the natural inclusions

$$\widetilde{Z} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}$$
 and $\widetilde{U} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{X}$

are both shape equivalences [HA, Example A.4.5], however the pullback $\widetilde{Z} \times_{\widetilde{X}} \widetilde{U}$ is the initial ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\emptyset}$, which has empty shape.

4.2.7 Notation. Let $n \ge -2$ be an integer. We write

$$\Pi_n \coloneqq \tau_{\leq n} \circ \Pi_\infty : \operatorname{Top}_\infty \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{\leq n})$$

for the pro-n-truncated shape (Notation 4.1.1). We write

$$\Pi_{<\infty} \coloneqq \tau_{<\infty} \circ \Pi_{\infty} : \operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty})$$

for the *protruncated shape* (4.1.2).

4.2.8 Example. Since truncated objects of an ∞ -topos are hypercomplete, for any ∞ -topos X, the natural geometric morphism $X^{\text{hyp}} \hookrightarrow X$ induces an equivalence

$$\Pi_{<\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}^{\mathrm{nyp}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Pi_{<\infty}(\boldsymbol{X})$$

on protruncated shapes.

4.3 Shapes of inverse limits

This section is dedicated to proving that the protruncated shape preserves limits of inverse systems of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms (Corollary 4.3.7).²⁶ This follows from the more general fact that the protruncated shape preserves limits of inverse systems of ∞ -topoi and geometric morphisms in which the pushforward preserve filtered colimits of uniformly truncated objects. We learned this from Chough [25, §3]; though Chough's paper only states this for the profinite shape, his proof works for the protruncated shape.

We first fix some useful notation for the next few results. Please also recall Definition 3.10.2.

4.3.1 Notation. Let $X : I \to \text{Top}_{\infty}$ be an inverse diagram of ∞ -topoi. For each morphism $\alpha : j \to i$ in I, we write

$$f_{\alpha,*}: \mathbf{X}_i \to \mathbf{X}_i$$

for the transition morphism. For each $i \in I$, we write

$$\pi_{i,*}: \lim_{i\in I} X_i \to X_i$$

for the projection. In addition, assume for each morphism $\alpha : j \to i$ the functor $f_{\alpha,*}$ almost preserves filtered colimits.

²⁶A proof of this can be found in work of the third-named author [49, Proposition 2.2], but we present a better proof here.

4.3.2 Proposition. Under the assumptions of Notation 4.3.1, for each $i \in I$ and truncated object $U \in X_{<\infty}$ we have

(4.3.3)
$$\pi_i^*(U) \simeq \left\{ \operatorname{colim}_{(\alpha,\beta) \in (I_{/i} \times_I I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\beta,*} f_{\alpha}^*(U) \right\}_{j \in I}$$

Proof. Since inverse limits in Top_{∞} are computed in $\text{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ (Theorem 3.1.10=[HTT, Theorem 6.3.3.1]), the assumption that each $f_{\alpha,*}$ almost preserves filtered colimits guarantees that the right-hand side of (4.3.3) is a well-defined object of $\lim_{i \in I} X_i$.

For each $i \in I$, the forgetful functor $I_{i} \to I$ is limit-cofinal [HTT, Example 5.4.5.9 & Lemma 5.4.5.12], so we may without loss of generality assume that $i \in I$ is a terminal object. For each $k \in I$, write $f_{k,*} : X_k \to X_i$ for the geometric morphism induced by the unique morphism $k \to i$. In this case, a simple cofinality argument shows that

$$\operatorname{colim}_{(\alpha,\beta)\in (I_{/i}\times_I I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\beta,*}f_{\alpha}^*(U) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{[\beta \colon k \to j] \in (I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\beta,*}f_k^*(U) \,.$$

By definition, for all $V \in X$ we have

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}\left(\left\{\operatorname{colim}_{[\beta:\ k\to j]\in (I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U)\right\}_{j\in I}, V\right) \simeq \lim_{j\in I} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{j}}\left(\operatorname{colim}_{\beta\in (I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U), \pi_{j,*}(V)\right)$$
$$\simeq \lim_{j\in I} \lim_{\beta\in I_{/j}} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{j}}(f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U), \pi_{j,*}(V))$$
$$\simeq \lim_{j\in I} \lim_{\beta\in I_{/j}} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{j}}(f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U), f_{\beta,*}\pi_{k,*}(V))$$

Rewriting the limit as a limit over $\beta \in Fun([1], I)$ and using the fact that the constant functor $I \rightarrow Fun([1], I)$ is limit-cofinal (since it is a left adjoint), we see that

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}\left(\left\{\operatorname{colim}_{[\beta:\ k\to j]\in(I_{/j})^{\operatorname{op}}}f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U)\right\}_{j\in I}, V\right) \simeq \lim_{\beta\in\operatorname{Fun}([1],I)}\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{j}}(f_{\beta,*}f_{k}^{*}(U), f_{\beta,*}\pi_{k,*}(V))$$
$$\simeq \lim_{k\in I}\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}_{k}}(f_{k}^{*}(U), \pi_{k,*}(V))$$
$$\simeq \lim_{k\in I}\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(\pi_{k}^{*}f_{k}^{*}(U), V)$$
$$\simeq \lim_{k\in I}\operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(\pi_{i}^{*}f_{k}^{*}(U), V)$$
$$= \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(\pi_{i}^{*}(U), V). \Box$$

4.3.4 Corollary. Keep the assumptions of Proposition 4.3.2. Then for each $i \in I$ and truncated object $U \in X_{i,<\infty}$, we have an equivalence

$$\pi_{i,*}\pi_i^*(U) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\alpha,*}f_{\alpha}^*(U)$$

of objects of X_i .

Proof. For each $i \in I$, the forgetful functor $I_{/i} \to I$ is limit-cofinal [HTT, Example 5.4.5.9 & Lemma 5.4.5.12], so we may without loss of generality assume that $i \in I$ is a terminal object. Then the claim is clear from Proposition 4.3.2 and the definition of $\pi_{i,*}$.

4.3.5 Proposition. Keep the assumptions of Proposition 4.3.2, and in addition assume that for each $i \in I$ the global sections functor $\Gamma_{X_{i},*} : X_i \to S$ almost preserves filtered colimits. Then the natural morphism

$$\Pi_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}) \to \lim_{i \in I} \Pi_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}_i)$$

becomes an equivalence after protruncation.

Proof. For each $i \in I$, the forgetful functor $I_{/i} \to I$ is limit-cofinal [HTT, Example 5.4.5.9 & Lemma 5.4.5.12], so we may without loss of generality assume that I admits a terminal object 1. Write $\Gamma_{i,*} \coloneqq \Gamma_{X_i,*}, f_{i,*} \colon X_i \to X_1$ for the geometric morphism induced by the unique morphism $i \to 1$ in I, and $\Gamma_* \colon \lim_{j \in I} X_j \to S$ for the global sections geometric morphism.

We want to show that the natural morphism

$$\operatorname{colim}_{i\in I^{\operatorname{op}}}\Gamma_{i,*}\Gamma_i^*\to\Gamma_*\Gamma^*$$

in Fun(\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{S}) is an equivalence when restricted to truncated spaces (4.1.2). For any truncated space K, we see that we have equivalences

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{colim}_{i\in I^{\operatorname{op}}} \Gamma_{i,*} \Gamma_{i}^{*}(K) &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{i\in I^{\operatorname{op}}} \Gamma_{1,*} f_{i,*}^{*} f_{i}^{*} \Gamma_{1}^{*}(K) \\ & \cong \Gamma_{1,*} \left(\operatorname{colim}_{i\in I^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{i,*} f_{i}^{*} \Gamma_{1}^{*}(K) \right) \qquad (\text{assumption on } \Gamma_{i,*}) \\ & \simeq \Gamma_{1,*} \circ \left(\operatorname{colim}_{i\in I^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{i,*} f_{i}^{*} \right) \circ \Gamma_{1}^{*}(K) \\ & \cong \Gamma_{1,*} \circ \pi_{1,*} \pi_{1}^{*} \circ \Gamma_{1}^{*}(K) \qquad (\text{Proposition 4.3.2}) \\ & \simeq \Gamma_{*} \Gamma^{*}(K) . \qquad \Box \end{aligned}$$

4.3.6. In particular, the assumptions of Proposition 4.3.5 are satisfied for inverse systems of coherent ∞ -topoi where the transition morphisms almost preserve filtered colimits [SAG, Theorem A.2.3.1].

From Corollary 3.10.5 and Proposition 4.3.5 we deduce:

4.3.7 Corollary. The protruncated shape

$$\Pi_{<\infty}: \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty})$$

preserves inverse limits.

4.4 Profinite spaces & Stone ∞-topoi

In this section we discuss profinite spaces and their relation to ∞ -topoi, as developed in [SAG, Appendix E]. Recall that we write $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ for the ∞ -category $\text{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi})$ of profinite spaces (Recollection 2.8.2).

4.4.1. The restriction of the materialization functor mat : $Pro(S) \rightarrow S$ to S_{π}^{\wedge} is right adjoint to the composite

$$\mathbf{S} \stackrel{\overset{}{\longleftrightarrow}}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}) \stackrel{(-)^{\wedge}_{\pi}}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$$

of the Yoneda embedding $S \subset Pro(S)$ followed by profinite completion.

4.4.2 Definition. The profinite shape functor is the composite

9

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty} \coloneqq (-)_{\pi}^{\wedge} \circ \Pi_{\infty} : \operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$$

of the shape functor Π_{∞} with the profinite completion functor $(-)_{\pi}^{\wedge}$: Pro(S) \rightarrow S_{π}^{\wedge}.

4.4.3 Theorem ([SAG, Theorem E.2.4.1]). The composite

$$\lambda_{\pi}: \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}) \xrightarrow{\lambda} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$$

of the inclusion $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi} \subset \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ with the functor λ of (4.2.2) is fully faithful and right adjoint to the profinite shape functor $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}$.

4.4.4 Definition. An ∞ -topos X is $Stone^{27}$ if X lies in the essential image of the fully faithful functor $\lambda_{\pi} : \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$. We write $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{Stn}} \subset \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the Stone ∞ -topoi.

Consequently, the inclusion $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{Stn}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$ admits a left adjoint

$$(-)^{\operatorname{Stn}}$$
: $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{Stn}}$

which we refer to as the Stone reflection.

4.4.5. Since bounded coherent ∞ -topoi are closed under inverse limits in **Top**_{∞} (Corollary 3.9.4=[SAG, Corollary A.8.3.3]), Example 3.3.5 shows that Stone ∞ -topoi are bounded coherent.

4.4.6 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition E.3.1.4]). Let X and Y be ∞ -topoi. If Y is Stone, then the ∞ -category Fun_{*}(X, Y) is a (small) ∞ -groupoid.

4.4.7. If *Y* is a Stone ∞ -topos, then since **S** is Stone and λ_{π} is fully faithful with left adjoint given by the profinite shape, we see that

$$\operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{Y}) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}}(\boldsymbol{S}, \boldsymbol{Y}) \simeq \operatorname{mat} \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{Y}).$$

Since Stone ∞ -topoi are bounded coherent, (4.4.7) combined with Conceptual Completeness (Theorem 3.11.2=[SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]) imply the following 'Whitehead Theorem' for profinite spaces.

4.4.8 Theorem (Whitehead Theorem for profinite spaces; [SAG, Theorem E.3.1.6]). *The materialization functor* mat : $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \rightarrow \mathbf{S}$ *is conservative.*

²⁷Lurie calls these ∞-topoi *profinite*.

4.4.9 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition E.4.6.1]). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A morphism f in $\mathbb{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ is *n*-truncated if and only if $\operatorname{mat}(f)$ is an *n*-truncated morphism of \mathbb{S} .

Stone ∞ -topoi have a number of useful alternative characterizations. The first is that, under the assumption of bounded coherence, the conclusion of Proposition 4.4.6= [SAG, Proposition E.3.1.4] actually characterizes Stone ∞ -topoi.

4.4.10 Theorem ([SAG, Theorem E.3.4.1]). Let X be an ∞ -topos. Then X is Stone if and only if both of the following conditions are satisfied:

- The ∞ -topos **X** is bounded and coherent.
- The ∞ -category of points $Pt(\mathbf{X})$ of \mathbf{X} is an ∞ -groupoid.

The next characterization is that bounded coherent objects are in fact *lisse*. First we recall the definition of lisse sheaves as well as some material on lisse sheaves that we'll utilize later on.

4.4.11 Recollection. Let X be an ∞ -topos. An object $F \in X$ is called a *locally constant* if and only if there exists a cover $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of the terminal object of X, a corresponding family $\{K_i\}_{i \in I}$ of spaces, and an equivalence

$$F \times U_i \simeq \Gamma^*_{\mathbf{Y}}(K_i) \times U_i$$

in $X_{/U_i}$ for each $i \in I$.

We say that a locally constant object F as above is $lisse^{28}$ if, in addition, the set I can be chosen to be finite, and the spaces K_i can be chosen to be π -finite.

We write

$$X^{\text{lc}} \subseteq X$$
 and $X^{\text{lisse}} \subseteq X$

for the full subcategories spanned by the locally constant objects and lisse objects, respectively. Please note that for any geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi $f_*: X \to Y$, the pullback $f^*: Y \to X$ preserves lisse objects.

Later we'll find the following simple characterization of lisse sheaves as a single pullback very useful:

4.4.12 Lemma ([SAG, Proposition E.2.7.7]). Let X be an ∞ -topos. Then an object F of X is lisse if and only if there exist: a full subcategory $G \subset iS_{\pi}$ spanned by finitely many objects, an unique geometric morphism $g_* \colon X \to S_{/G}$, and an unique equivalence $F \simeq g^*(I)$, where I classifies the inclusion functor $G \to S$.

The following useful fact is equivalent to the fact that the profinite shape

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}: \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}} \to \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$$

preserves inverse limits (see Corollary 4.3.7).

²⁸Lurie uses the phrase *locally constant constructible*.

4.4.13 Lemma. For any π -finite space G, the ∞ -topos $\mathbf{S}_{/G}$ is cocompact in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}$. That is, for any inverse system $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi with limit X, the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}_*(X, \mathbf{S}_{/G}) \to \lim_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}_*(X_\alpha, \mathbf{S}_{/G})$$

is an equivalence.

Now we turn to the important characterization of Stone ∞ -topoi in terms of lisse sheaves and its consequences.

4.4.14 Proposition ([SAG, Proposition E.3.1.1]). *Let* X *be* ∞ *-topos. Then* X *is Stone if and only if both of the following conditions are satisfied.*

- The ∞ -topos **X** is bounded and coherent.
- Every truncated coherent object of X is lisse.

4.4.15 Corollary ([SAG, Corollary E.3.1.2]). Let $f_*: X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism between coherent ∞ -topoi. If Y is Stone, then f_* is coherent.

By the characterization of Stone ∞ -topoi in terms of lisse sheaves, it is not surprising that the Stone reflection of an ∞ -topos X can be written as sheaves on X^{lisse} with respect to the effective epimorphism topology:

4.4.16 Theorem ([SAG, Theorem E.2.3.2]). Let X be an ∞ -topos. Then:

- The ∞ -category X^{lisse} is a bounded ∞ -pretopos and the inclusion $X^{\text{lisse}} \hookrightarrow X$ is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi.
- The inclusion $X^{\text{lisse}} \hookrightarrow X$ induces a geometric morphism $X \to \text{Sh}_{\text{eff}}(X^{\text{lisse}})$ which exhibits $\text{Sh}_{\text{eff}}(X^{\text{lisse}})$ as the Stone reflection of X.

Now we assemble all of the ways we can check that a geometric morphism induces an equivalence on Stone reflections.

4.4.17 Corollary ([SAG, Corollary E.2.3.3]). Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. The following are equivalent:

- The induced geometric morphism f_*^{Stn} : $X^{\text{Stn}} \to Y^{\text{Stn}}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi.
- The geometric morphism f_* is a profinite shape equivalence.
- The morphism $Pt(f_*^{Stn})$ is an equivalence of ∞ -groupoids.
- The pullback functor f^* restricts to an equivalence of ∞ -categories $\mathbf{Y}^{\text{lisse}} \simeq \mathbf{X}^{\text{lisse}}$.

Putting together the basics about Stone ∞ -topoi gives an alternative proof of the monodromy equivalence for lisse sheaves proven by Bachmann and Hoyois [11, Proposition 10.1].

4.4.18 Proposition. Let X be an ∞ -topos the unit $X \to X^{\text{Stn}}$ of the adjunction to Stone ∞ -topoi restricts to an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq X^{\operatorname{lisse}}$$

Proof. Represent the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$ by an inverse system $\{\Pi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of π -finite spaces so that

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) = \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\boldsymbol{\Pi}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \,.$$

By Example 3.3.5 and (3.3.7), for any π -finite space Π we have Fun $(\Pi, \mathbf{S})_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}} =$ Fun (Π, \mathbf{S}_{π}) , so

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) &= \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S})_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} \\ &\simeq \left(\lim_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, \mathbf{S}) \right)_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} & (\operatorname{Proposition} 3.9.2) \\ &\simeq \left(X^{\operatorname{Stn}} \right)_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} & (\operatorname{Definition} 4.4.4) \\ &\simeq X^{\operatorname{lisse}} & (\operatorname{Theorem} 4.4.16) . \end{aligned}$$

4.4.19 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme, and write $X^{\text{fét}}$ for the *finite étale site* of X: the full subcategory of the étale site $X^{\text{ét}}$ spanned by the finite étale X-schemes, with the induced topology (see [1, §VI.9]). Since the finite étale site is a finitary site, the 1-localic finite étale ∞ -topos $X_{\text{fét}} := \text{Sh}(X^{\text{fét}})$ is coherent (Proposition 3.3.10=[SAG, Proposition A.3.1.3]). The finite étale ∞ -topos $X_{\text{fét}}$ is the classifying ∞ -topos of the profinite étale fundamental groupoid of X (cf. [SGA 1, Exposé V, Proposition 5.8; 1, Lemma VI.9.11]). In particular, the finite étale ∞ -topos $X_{\text{fét}}$ is Stone.

4.4.20 Notation. Let k be a field and $k^{\text{sep}} \supset k$ a separable closure of k. We write G_k for the absolute Galois group of k with respect to k^{sep} .

4.4.21 Example. Let *k* be a field and $k^{\text{sep}} \supset k$ a separable closure of *k*. This choice of separable closure provides an identification $(\text{Spec } k)_{\text{ét}} \simeq \widetilde{\text{BG}}_k$ of the étale ∞ -topos of Spec *k* with the classifying ∞ -topos of the profinite group G_k . In particular, $(\text{Spec } k)_{\text{ét}}$ is a Stone ∞ -topos.

5 Oriented pushouts & oriented fiber products

This chapter is dedicated to the study of squares of ∞ -topoi that commute up to a natural transformation. We are particularly interested in the two universal examples of these oriented squares: *recollements* or *oriented pushouts*, and *oriented fiber products*. Recollements are integral to the theory of stratified higher topoi that we present in Part III. In the most basic example, an ∞ -topos stratified over the poset [1] is equivalent to the data of a recollement of ∞ -topoi. Moreover, the whole theory of stratified ∞ -topoi is really a generalization of this example. Oriented fiber products appear in a two ways in this text. The primary way is in the décollage approach to stratified ∞ -topoi that we present in Part III; this is the topos-theoretic analogue of the approach to stratified spaces presented in Sections 2.6 to 2.8. More precisely, the link between two strata in a stratified ∞ -topos (satisfying suitable finiteness hypotheses) is their oriented fiber product.

Since they are the technically more challenging of the two, the majority of the chapter is dedicated to the study of oriented fiber products of ∞ -topoi. Deligne originally considered oriented fiber products of 1-topoi in order to construct the natural target for the nearby cycles functor [SGA 7_{II}, Exposé XIII; 83]²⁹ and work with nearby cycles over more general bases (see also the works of Gabber, Orgogozo, and Saito [66; 67, Exposé XII; 83; 101; 111]). This target for the nearby cycles functor is known as the *vanishing* topos. Vanishing ∞ -topoi play an important role in this text as well: Chapter 6 is dedicated to the study of a special class of vanishing ∞ -topoi that play the role of local rings in higher topos theory. These *local* ∞ -*topoi* are a key tool that we use to reduce many questions about ∞ -topoi with enough points to questions about local ∞ -topoi.

The existence of oriented fiber products of 1-topoi was first proven by Giraud [42]; in order to prove properties of oriented fiber products, Deligne provided a description in terms of generating sites. The bulk of the technical work in this chapter is in showing that Deligne's generating site also works in the setting of ∞ -topoi. The payoff is that this description allows us to easily see that the oriented fiber product of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi is again bounded coherent.

In §5.1 we review recollements of ∞ -topoi. The recollement of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi is generally neither bounded nor coherent; Construction 5.1.13 explains how to fix this. Section 5.2 discuesses squares of ∞ -topoi that commute up to a natural transformation and the definition of *oriented pushouts*. Section 5.3 discusses internal Homs in **Top**_{∞} and *path* ∞ -topoi. In §5.4 we introduce the oriented fiber product of ∞ -topoi as an iterated pullback involving path ∞ -topoi. In Section 5.5 we give a site-theoretic description of the oriented fiber product and use it to prove that the oriented fiber product of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi is again bounded coherent (Lemma 5.5.19). Section 5.6 proves a compatibility between étale geometric morphisms and oriented fiber products (Proposition 5.6.5) that we'll need to prove a basechange theorem for oriented fiber products in Chapter 7.

²⁹The latter text was written by Gérard Laumon.

5.1 Recollements of higher topoi

We begin with open and closed subtopoi.

5.1.1. Let X is an ∞ -topos and $U \in X$. Recall that the overcategory $X_{/U}$ is an ∞ -topos, and the forgetful functor $j_1 \colon X_{/U} \to X$ admits a right adjoint j^* , which itself admits a right adjoint j_* (Recollection 3.1.8). If U is an open of X, the functor j_* is fully faithful.

In this case, we write $X_{\setminus U}$ for the full subcategory of X spanned by those objects F such that the projection $\operatorname{pr}_2: F \times U \to U$ is an equivalence. The inclusion $X_{\setminus U} \subset X$ is accessible and admits a left exact left adjoint, so that $X_{\setminus U}$ is an ∞ -topos [HTT, Proposition 7.3.2.3]. We call the ∞ -topos $X_{\setminus U}$ the *closed complement* of $X_{/U}$, and $i_*: X_{\setminus U} \hookrightarrow X$ for the inclusion.

In this case, **X** is a recollement (0.11.12) of $X_{\setminus U}$ and $X_{/U}$ with gluing functor $i^* j_*$, *viz.*,

$$X \simeq X_{\setminus U} \,\overline{\cup}^{l^* J_*} X_{/U}$$

5.1.2. Let *X* be an ∞ -topos, and let

$$i_*: Z \hookrightarrow X$$
 and $j_*: U \hookrightarrow X$

be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi that exhibit X as the recollement $Z \bigcup^{i^* j_*} U$. Then since i^* and j^* are left exact left adjoints, the natural conservative functor

$$(i^*, j^*) \colon X \to Z \sqcup U$$

preserves and reflects colimits and finite limits. (Here $Z \sqcup U$ denotes the coproduct of Z and U in Top_{∞} , which is the *product* of Z and U in $\text{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$.) In particular, a morphism f in X is:

- (5.1.2.1) an effective epimorphism if and only if both $i^*(f)$ and $j^*(f)$ are effective epimorphisms.
- (5.1.2.2) *n*-connective for $n \in \mathbb{N}^{\triangleright}$ if and only if both $i^*(f)$ and $j^*(f)$ are *n*-connective.
- (5.1.2.3) *n*-truncated for some integer $n \ge -2$ if and only if both $i^*(f)$ and $j^*(f)$ are *n*-truncated.

See (0.11.13).

5.1.3. From (5.1.2.2) we see that if an ∞ -topos X is the recollement of Z and U and both Z and U are hypercomplete, then X is also hypercomplete.

5.1.4. A recollement of ∞ -topoi is tantamount to a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi $X \to [\widetilde{1}]$. Indeed, if Z and U are ∞ -topoi, and $\phi : U \to Z$ is a left exact accessible functor, then the recollement $X := Z \bigcup^{\phi} U$ is an ∞ -topos [HA, Proposition A.8.15], and the global sections geometric morphisms $Z \to S$ and $U \to S$ induce a geometric morphism

$$X \to \mathbf{S} \,\overline{\cup}^{\mathrm{Id}_{\mathbf{S}}} \, \mathbf{S} \simeq [\widetilde{1}]$$

In the other direction, given a geometric morphism $X \to [\widetilde{1}]$, the closed subtopos

$$\boldsymbol{X}_0 \coloneqq \{\widetilde{0}\} \times_{\widetilde{[1]}} \boldsymbol{X} \subset \boldsymbol{X}$$

and the open subtopos

$$\boldsymbol{X}_1 \coloneqq \{\widetilde{1}\} \times_{[\widetilde{1}]} \boldsymbol{X} \subset \boldsymbol{X}$$

form a recollement of X.

In a strong sense, the entire theory of stratified ∞ -topoi (Chapter 8) is a generalization of this observation.

Since *n*-localic and bounded ∞ -topoi (Definition 3.2.3 & Construction 3.2.10) are each closed under limits in **Top**_{∞}, we deduce the following.

5.1.5 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let X be an ∞ -topos, and let $i_* : Z \hookrightarrow X$ and $j_* : U \hookrightarrow X$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi that exhibit X as the recollement of Z and U along i^*j^* . If X is n-localic (respectively, bounded), then both Z and U are n-localic (resp., bounded).

5.1.6 Warning. We caution, however, that there isn't a simple converse to Lemma 5.1.5: the recollement of two bounded ∞ -topoi is not necessarily bounded. To ensure boundedness, we need a condition on the gluing functor.

5.1.7 Definition. Let Z and U be two bounded ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ be a left exact accessible functor. We say that ϕ is a *bounded gluing functor* if and only if the recollement $X := Z \ \overline{\cup}^{\phi} U$ is bounded.

5.1.8 Question. Do bounded gluing functors admit a simple or useful intrinsic characterization?

Let us now turn to the coherence of recollements (Definition 3.3.1). We can easily chracterize the coherent objects of a coherent recollement.

5.1.9 Proposition ([DAG XIII, Proposition 2.3.22]). Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let X be an (n + 1)-coherent ∞ -topos, and let $i_* : Z \hookrightarrow X$ and $j_* : U \hookrightarrow X$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi that exhibit X as the recollement of Z and U along i^*j^* . If U is 0-coherent, then an object $F \in X$ is n-coherent if and only if both $i^*(F)$ and $j^*(F)$ are n-coherent. In particular, the ∞ -topoi Z and U are n-coherent.

5.1.10 Warning. We caution again that there isn't a simple converse to Proposition 5.1.9: as with boundedness, the recollement of two coherent ∞ -topoi is not necessarily coherent.

5.1.11 Definition. Let Z and U be coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ be a left exact accessible functor. We say that ϕ is a *coherent gluing functor* if and only if the recollement $X := Z \,\overline{\cup}^{\phi} U$ is coherent.

5.1.12. Let Z and U be coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ be a left exact accessible functor. Write $i_* : Z \hookrightarrow X$ and $j_* : U \hookrightarrow X$ for the fully faithful functors defining the recollement. Then one can show that the gluing functor ϕ is coherent if the following conditions are satisfied.

- The functor j_* is quasicompact in the sense that for every quasicompact object $F \in X$, the object $j^*(F) \in U$ is also quasicompact.
- For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, every object $F \in U$ admits a family $\{G_{\alpha} \to F\}_{\alpha \in A}$ in which each G_{α} is *n*-coherent, and the family $\{\phi(G_{\alpha}) \to \phi(F)\}_{\alpha \in A}$ is a covering in \mathbb{Z} .

5.1.13 Construction (bounded coherent recollement). Let *Z* and *U* be bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ be a left exact accessible functor. Form the recollement

$$X'\coloneqq Z\,\,\overline{\cup}^{\,\varphi}\,U\,,$$

and write $i_* : \mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{X}'$ and $j_* : \mathbb{U} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{X}'$ for the induced closed and open embeddings. Consider the full subcategory $X_0 \subseteq \mathbb{X}'$ spanned by those objects F such that both $i^*(F)$ and $j^*(F)$ are each truncated coherent, so that X_0 is the oriented fiber product (0.11.10) in $\mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$:

$$X_0 = \mathbf{Z}_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} \downarrow_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{U}_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$$

Then since $X_0 \subset \mathbf{X}'$ is closed under finite limits, finite coproducts, and the formation of geometric realizations of groupoid objects, the ∞ -category X_0 is an ∞ -pretopos and the inclusion $X_0 \hookrightarrow \mathbf{X}'$ is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi (Definition 3.8.2). Moreover, by (5.1.2) every object of X_0 is truncated and by (0.11.11) the ∞ -category X_0 is δ_0 -small, hence X_0 is a bounded ∞ -pretopos (Definition 3.8.8). Consequently, the ∞ -topos

$$Z \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi} U \coloneqq \mathrm{Sh}_{\mathrm{eff}}(X_0)$$

is bounded coherent (Notation 3.8.6). By [SAG, Proposition A.6.4.4], we see that the inclusion $X_0 \hookrightarrow X'$ extends (uniquely) to a comparison geometric morphism

$$r_*: X' \to Z \,\overline{\cup}_{\mathrm{hc}}^{\varphi} U$$
.

The geometric morphism r_* is not generally an equivalence; however, r^* restricts to an equivalence

$$r^*: (\mathbf{Z} \overleftarrow{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi} \mathbf{U})_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}} \xrightarrow{\sim} X_0$$

The geometric morphisms r_*i_* and r_*j_* are both coherent by construction. We therefore call $\mathbf{Z} \, \overline{\cup}_{h_c}^{\phi} \mathbf{U}$ the *bounded coherent recollement* of \mathbf{Z} and \mathbf{U} along ϕ .

5.1.14 Lemma. *Keep the notations of Construction 5.1.13. Then the natural geometric morphism*

$$Z \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{i^*r^*r_*j_*} U \to Z \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{\phi}_{\mathrm{bc}} U$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. Write $X := Z \bigcup_{b=1}^{\phi} U$. To prove the claim, we show that we have equivalences

$$r_*j_*: U \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{j_!(1_U)}$$
 and $i_*r_*: Z \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{j_!(1_U)}$.

The object $j_1(1_U) \in X$, is the object

$$(\emptyset_{\mathbb{Z}}, 1_{\mathbb{U}}, \emptyset_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \phi(1_{\mathbb{U}}))$$
.

From this description it is clear that $j_!(1_U)$ is an object of the ∞ -pretopos $X_0 \subset X$ of Construction 5.1.13 and that $j_!(1_U)$ is an open of X. Thus j^*r^* restricts to an equivalence

$$(\mathbf{X}_{/j_!(1_U)})^{\operatorname{coh}}_{<\infty} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{U}^{\operatorname{coh}}_{<\infty}$$
.

Hence the functor $r_*j_*: U \to X_{/j_!(1_U)}$ is an equivalence. The truncated coherent objects of the closed subtopos $X_{j_!(1_U)}$ are precisely those of the form $(F_Z, 1_U, F_Z \to \phi(1_U))$ for some truncated coherent object F_Z of Z. Hence i^*r^* restricts to an equivalence

$$(\boldsymbol{X}_{j!(1_U)})_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}} \cong \boldsymbol{Z}_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}}$$

Thus the functor $i_*r_*: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{X}_{(1_n)}$ is an equivalence.

5.1.15 Lemma. Let Z, and U be bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ be a bounded coherent gluing functor. Then $Z \stackrel{\frown}{\cup}^{\phi} U$ is the bounded coherent recollement $Z \stackrel{\frown}{\cup}^{\phi} U$.

Proof. This follows from Proposition 5.1.9=[DAG XIII, Proposition 2.3.22] combined with Theorem 3.8.9=[SAG, Theorem A.7.5.3].

The critical point that we use repeatedly in the sequel is the observation that the bounded coherent recollement depends only upon the restriction of the gluing functor to truncated coherent objects. More precisely, let Z and U be bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi : U \to Z$ and $\phi' : U \to Z$ be left exact accessible functors. Let $\eta : \phi \to \phi'$ be a natural transformation. Now η induces a functor

$$\eta^*: Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi} \, U o Z \,\overline{\upsilon}^{\phi'} \, U$$

given by the assignment

$$(z, u, \alpha : z \to \phi(u)) \mapsto (z, u, \eta_u \alpha : z \to \phi'(u))$$

The functor η^* preserves colimits and finite limits; consquently, η^* is the left adjoint of a geometric morphism η_* . Note that η^* restricts to a functor

$$\eta^*: \ Z^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty}\downarrow_{Z,\phi} U^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} \simeq X^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} \to (X')^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} \simeq Z^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty}\downarrow_{Z,\phi'} U^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty}$$

i.e., η^* preserves truncated coherent objects. Hence η^* induces a geometric morphism

$$\eta_*: Z \,\overline{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi'} U \to Z \,\overline{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi} U$$

on bounded coherent recollements.

5.1.16 Proposition. Let Z and U be bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $\phi: U \rightarrow Z$ and $\phi': U \rightarrow Z$ be left exact accessible functors. Let $\eta: \phi \rightarrow \phi'$ be a natural transformation. If $\eta|_{U^{\text{coh}}}$ is an equivalence, then η induces an equivalence

$$\eta_*: Z \,\overline{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi'} U \xrightarrow{\sim} Z \,\overline{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\phi} U$$

5.1.17 Question. As a result of Proposition 5.1.16, the restriction functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(U, Z) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(U_{\leq \infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}, Z)$$

is fully faithful on bounded coherent gluing functors. What is the essential image of the bounded coherent gluing functors? It might be helpful to have a simple intrinsic characterization.

5.2 Oriented squares & oriented pushouts

To speak of oriented pullbacks of ∞ -topoi without finding ourselves buried under a mass of pernicious details (or unproved claims) about double ∞ -categories or (∞ , 2)-categories, we express the universal property of the oriented pushout in simple terms. The key kind of square we will have to contemplate is the following.

5.2.1 Notation. We exhibit data of geometric morphisms $f_* : X \to Z$, $g_* : Y \to Z$, $p_* : W \to X$, and $q_* : W \to Y$, along with a (not necessarily invertible) natural transformation $\sigma : g_*q_* \to f_*p_*$ by the single square

(5.2.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} W \xrightarrow{q_*} Y \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ X \xrightarrow{f_*} Z . \end{array}$$

5.2.3 Warning. It seems that this convention for writing 2-cells is the *opposite* of what's written in some of the 1-topos theory literature [72; 93; 94], but it agrees with of the algebro-geometric literature [SGA 7_{II} , Exposé XIII; 83]. We therefore emphasize that our 2-morphisms are natural transformations between the *right* adjoints.

The oriented fiber product in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ of a diagram of ∞ -topoi does not recover the oriented fiber product in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$, but rather the *oriented pushout* in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$. We shall also have to contemplate the oriented pushout in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{bc}$.

5.2.4 Construction (oriented pushout). The ∞ -category $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ is *tensored* over the ∞ -category $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_0}$. If W an ∞ -topos and C is a δ_0 -small ∞ -category, then the ∞ -category Fun(C, W) is an ∞ -topos. Moreover, the functor $C \to \operatorname{Fun}_*(W, \operatorname{Fun}(C, W))$ that carries an object $c \in C$ to the right adjoint of the functor $\operatorname{Fun}(C, W) \to W$ given by evaluation at c induces an equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\operatorname{Fun}(C, W), Z) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}(C, \operatorname{Fun}_{*}(W, Z))$$

for any ∞ -topos Z.

Let W, Z, and U be ∞ -topoi, and let $p_* : W \to Z$ and $q_* : W \to U$ be geometric morphisms. Note that the recollement $Z \cup_{p*q}^{p_*q^*} U$ is the oriented fiber product $Z \downarrow_W U$ formed in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ with respect to the *left* adjoints p^* and q^* . This ∞ -topos enjoys the following universal property: specifying a geometric morphism

$$\omega(f,g,\sigma)_*: \mathbf{Z} \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{p_*q^*} \mathbf{U} \to \mathbf{X}$$

is equivalent to specifying an oriented square

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \boldsymbol{U} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \boldsymbol{\sigma} \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ \boldsymbol{Z} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{X} . \end{array}$$

This universal property specifies the ∞ -topos $Z \overline{\cup}^{p_*q^*} U$ uniquely. We write

$$Z \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{W} U \coloneqq Z \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{p_{*}q^{*}} U$$

and we call the ∞ -topos $Z \cup^W U$ the *oriented pushout* of p_* and q_* . In this case, we write

$$i_*: Z \hookrightarrow Z \overline{\bigcup}^W U$$
 and $j_*: U \hookrightarrow Z \overline{\bigcup}^W U$

for the closed embedding and its open complement, respectively.

5.2.5 Warning. If Z, U, and W are all bounded coherent, and if p_* and q_* are both coherent geometric morphisms, Warning 5.1.6 & Warning 5.1.10 still apply: we generally cannot ensure that the oriented pushout $Z \overline{\cup}^{\phi} U$ is either bounded or coherent (cf. [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, §4]).

5.2.6 Construction (bounded coherent oriented pushout). Consider an oriented square

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \boldsymbol{U} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma & \downarrow^{g_*} \\ \boldsymbol{Z} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{X} \end{array}$$

where all ∞ -topoi are bounded coherent and all geometric morphisms are coherent. For any truncated coherent object $G \in X$, the object $\omega(f, g, \sigma)^* G$ is truncated, and the objects

$$i^*\omega(f,g,\sigma)^*G \simeq f^*G$$
 and $j^*\omega(f,g,\sigma)^*G \simeq g^*G$

are each truncated coherent. Hence $\omega(f, g, \sigma)_*$ factors through the bounded coherent recollement $Z \,\overline{U}_{bc}^{p_*q^*} U$ (Construction 5.1.13) in a unique manner. Consequently, we write

$$\boldsymbol{Z} \: \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\cup}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{W}} \: \boldsymbol{U} \coloneqq \boldsymbol{Z} \: \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\cup}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{p_{*}q^{*}} \: \boldsymbol{U}$$

and call this ∞ -topos the *bounded coherent oriented pushout*. This is the oriented pushout that is correct in **Top**^{bc}_{∞}. Accordingly, one has an equivalence of ∞ -pretopoi

$$(Z \stackrel{\sim}{\cup}^{W}_{\mathrm{bc}} U)^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} \simeq Z^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} \downarrow_{W^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty}} U^{\mathrm{coh}}_{<\infty} .$$

Please observe that, by construction, in the square

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} & \stackrel{\boldsymbol{q}_{*}}{\longrightarrow} & \boldsymbol{U} \\ \downarrow & \swarrow_{\sigma} & \downarrow^{j_{*}} \\ \boldsymbol{Z} & \stackrel{\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{\sigma}}{\longleftarrow} & \boldsymbol{Z} \stackrel{\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{bc}}{\bigcup_{bc}} \boldsymbol{U} \end{array}$$

the natural basechange morphism

$$BC_{\sigma}: i^*j_* \to p_*q^*$$

becomes an equivalence after restriction to $U_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}}$. A thorough study of basechange morphisms will occupy Chapter 7.

5.3 Internal Homs & path ∞-topoi

We now begin to study *oriented fiber products* of ∞ -topoi. Oriented fiber products have the universal property that is dual to that of oriented pushouts. In order to define oriented fiber products, we must identify the *cotensor* of **Top**_{∞} over **Cat**_{∞,δ_0}, or at least over **Pos**. Partly in order to define oriented fiber products of ∞ -topoi now and partly to define the nerve construction for stratified ∞ -topoi later (**Construction 8.7.1**), we recall some facts about the internal Hom in ∞ -topoi.

The first point to be made about the internal Hom is that it doesn't always exist.

5.3.1 Recollection. Recall [SAG, Theorem 21.1.6.11] that an ∞ -topos W is *exponentiable* if and only if the functor $- \times W$: $Top_{\infty} \to Top_{\infty}$ admits a right adjoint Hom(W, -). If W is exponentiable, then for any ∞ -topos Z, we have a natural equivalence

$$Pt(Hom(\boldsymbol{W}, \boldsymbol{Z}))^{op} \simeq Fun_*(\boldsymbol{S}, Hom(\boldsymbol{W}, \boldsymbol{Z})) \cong Fun_*(\boldsymbol{W}, \boldsymbol{Z}).$$

We thus call Hom(W, Z) the *mapping* ∞ -topos. Any compactly generated ∞ -topos is exponentiable, and exponentiable ∞ -topoi admit several useful characterizations; see [SAG, Theorem 21.1.6.12].

5.3.2 Example. Let *S* be spectral topological space *S*. Then \tilde{S} is compactly generated [HTT, Proposition 6.5.4.4; SAG, Proposition 21.1.7.8], so for any ∞ -topos *Z*, there exists a mapping ∞ -topos Hom(\tilde{S}, Z). Each point $s \in S$ induces a geometric morphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{S}, \mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{s}, \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$$

5.3.3 Example. If *P* is a finite poset, then the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{P}, -)$: $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ can be identified with the unique limit-preserving endofunctor of $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ such that, for any small ∞ -category *C*, the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Hom}(P, \operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Fun}(P, C), \mathbf{S})$$

is an equivalence. In particular, if P and Q are finite posets, then

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{P},\widetilde{Q})\simeq \widetilde{\operatorname{Fun}(P,Q)}$$

5.3.4 Definition ([SAG, Definition 21.3.2.3]). For any ∞ -topos X, we call the ∞ -topos Hom((1), X) the *path* ∞ -*topos* of X. We write

$$\operatorname{Path}(X) \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}([1], X)$$
.

5.3.5 Example. As a special case of Example 5.3.3, for any δ_0 -small ∞ -category *C*, there is a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Path}(\operatorname{Fun}(C, \mathbf{S})) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Fun}([1], C), \mathbf{S})$$
.

We often make use of the fact that the path ∞ -topos of an *n*-localic ∞ -topos is *n*-localic:

5.3.6 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let \mathbb{Z} be an n-localic ∞ -topos. Then the path ∞ -topos Path(\mathbb{Z}) is n-localic.

Proof. This is a special case of [SAG, Lemma 21.1.7.3].

5.4 Oriented fiber products

We are now ready to construct the oriented fiber product of ∞ -topoi and to relate it to the classical oriented fiber product of 1-topoi (Lemma 5.4.13).

5.4.1 Definition. If $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ are two geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi, then the *oriented fiber product* is the pullback

$$X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y \coloneqq X \underset{\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{\{0\}},Z)}{\times} \operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{[1]},Z) \underset{\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{\{1\}},Z)}{\times} Y$$

in **Top**_{∞}. We write pr_{1,*}: $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \rightarrow X$ and pr_{2,*}: $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \rightarrow Y$ for the natural geometric morphisms.

Thus a geometric morphism

$$\psi(p,q,\sigma)_*: W \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$$

determines and is determined by a square (5.2.2). This universal property specifies the ∞ -topos $X \stackrel{_{\sim}}{\times}_Z Y$ uniquely.

5.4.2 Warning. Please note that the oriented fiber product in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} is *not* the oriented/lax pullback in $\mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$; we will therefore take pains to express clearly where the oriented fiber product is taking place.

Additionally, in this paper, the symbol ' $\overline{\times}$ ' is only ever used for the oriented fiber product in **Top**_{∞}; conversely, we only use the notation $X \downarrow_Z Y$ for the oriented fiber product in some **Cat**_{∞,δ} (see (0.11.10)).

5.4.3. Please observe that since the exponential functor Path(-): $Top_{\infty} \rightarrow Top_{\infty}$ is a right adjoint and limits in $Fun(\Lambda_2^2, Top_{\infty})$ are computed pointwise, the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Lambda_2^2, \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}) \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$$

given by the formation of the oriented fiber product preserves limits.

5.4.4 Example. When Z = S is the terminal ∞ -topos, the oriented fiber product reduces to the product in Top_{∞}:

$$X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{S} Y \simeq X \times Y$$
.

5.4.5. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. Then under the identifications $X \simeq X \times_S S$ and $Y \simeq S \times_S Y$, the projections

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to X$$
 and $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to Y$

are equivalent to $\operatorname{id}_{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\Gamma_{Z,*}} \Gamma_{Y,*}$ and $\Gamma_{X,*} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\Gamma_{Z,*}} \operatorname{id}_{Y}$, respectively (Notation 3.1.6).

5.4.6 Example. For any ∞ -topos X, the oriented fiber product $X \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\times}_X X$ is canonically identified with the path ∞ -topos Path(X).

The next thing to notice is that the points of an oriented fiber product of ∞ -topoi are the oriented fiber product of the corresponding ∞ -categories of points.

5.4.7. For any ∞ -topos *E*, the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(E,-)^{\operatorname{op}}:\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}\to\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_{1}}$$

commutes with cotensors with $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ (in particular, cotensoring with [1]) and pullbacks of ∞ -topoi. Hence $\operatorname{Fun}_*(E, -)^{\operatorname{op}}$ carries oriented fiber products in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ to oriented fiber products in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$.

Specalising to the case $\vec{E} = S$, we deduce the following.

5.4.8 Lemma. The functor $Pt: Top_{\infty} \to Cat_{\infty,\delta_1}$ carries oriented fiber products in Top_{∞} to oriented fiber products in Cat_{∞,δ_1} . That is, if $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ are geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi, then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Pt}(X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y) \to \operatorname{Pt}(X) \downarrow_{\operatorname{Pt}(Z)} \operatorname{Pt}(Y)$$

is an equivalence.

5.4.9 Example. There is a canonical geometric morphism

$$\psi(\mathrm{pr}_1, \mathrm{pr}_2, \mathrm{id})_* \colon X \times_Z Y \to X \times_Z Y$$
.

5.4.10 Example. The ∞ -topos $X \times_Z Z$ is called the *evanescent* (or *vanishing*) ∞ -topos of f_* , and the natural functor

$$\Psi_{f,*} \coloneqq \psi(\mathrm{id}_X, f, \mathrm{id})_* \colon X \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z$$

is called the *nearby cycles functor*. Dually, the ∞ -topos $Z \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\times}_Z Y$ is called the *coëvanes-centcoëvanescent* (or *covanishing*)*covanishing* ∞ -topos of g_* , and the natural functor

$$\Psi^{g}_{*} \coloneqq \psi(g, \mathrm{id}_{Y}, \mathrm{id})_{*} \colon Y \to Z \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y$$

is called the *conearby cycles functor*.

The oriented fiber product can be decomposed into fiber products in Top_{∞} involving the evanescent and coëvanescent ∞ -topoi as follows: we have equivalences

$$X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \simeq (X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z) \times_Z Y$$
 and $X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \simeq X \times_Z (Z \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y)$,

and, more symmetrically,

$$X \stackrel{\scriptstyle\leftarrow}{\times}_Z Y \simeq (X \stackrel{\scriptstyle\leftarrow}{\times}_Z Z) \underset{\text{Path}(Z)}{\times} (Z \stackrel{\scriptstyle\leftarrow}{\times}_Z Y).$$

5.4.11 Example. Keep the notations of Definition 5.4.1, and let $p_* : Z \hookrightarrow Z'$ be a fully faithful geometric morphism. Then p_* induces an equivalence of ∞ -topoi

$$X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \stackrel{\sim}{\rightarrow} X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{Z'} Y$$
.

To see this, simply note that $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ and $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{Z'} Y$ have the same universal property since p_* is fully faithful. Hence for the purpose of computing oriented fiber products, we may assume that Z is a presheaf ∞ -topos.

We're mostly interested in working with 1-localic ∞ -topoi or more generally bounded ∞ -topoi. The following lemma says that taking oriented fiber products doesn't take us out of these subcategories of all ∞ -topoi.

5.4.12 Lemma. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. If X, Y, and Z are n-localic (Definition 3.2.3), so is the oriented fiber product $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$. Moreover, if X, Y, and Z are bounded (Construction 3.2.10), so is the oriented fiber product $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$.

Proof. For the first assertion, by Lemma 5.3.6 the oriented fiber product is a limit of *n*-localic ∞ -topoi, hence *n*-localic. The second claim follows from the fact that formation of the oriented fiber product preserves limits (5.4.3).

The 1-toposic oriented fiber product [66; 67; 83; 93; 101] is related to the oriented fiber product of corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topoi via the following easy result.

5.4.13 Lemma. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of 1-topoi, and write X', Y', and Z' for the corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topoi associated to X, Y, and Z, respectively. Then the oriented fiber product of 1-topoi $X \times_Z Y$ is canonically equivalent to the 1-topos of 0-truncated objects of $X' \times_{Z'} Y'$.

Proof. As a consequence of Lemma 5.4.12, the equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$(-)_{\leq 0}$$
: $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^1 \cong \mathbf{Top}_1$

from 1-localic ∞ -topoi to 1-topoi (Definition 3.2.3) respects cotensors by the 1-category [1]. The claim now follows from the definitions of the oriented fiber product in the setting of ∞ -topoi and 1-topoi.

5.5 Generating ∞ -sites for oriented fiber products

We now describe a generating ∞ -site for the oriented fiber product in the setting of sheaf ∞ -topoi. This description is adapted from Deligne's site-theoretic description [67, Exposé XI, §1; 83, 3.1.3]. We employ this generating ∞ -site to deduce that the oriented fiber product of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms is bounded coherent (Lemma 5.5.19).

We begin with oriented fiber products of presheaf ∞ -topoi. To do this, we first need to identify the oriented pushout in the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories with finite limits and left exact functors between them (Lemma 5.5.8). The notation below will follow us throughout this section.

5.5.1 Construction. Let *X*, *Y*, and *Z* be δ_0 -small ∞ -categories with finite limits, and let $f^* : Z \to X$ and $g^* : Z \to Y$ be left exact functors.

Appealing to the straightening/unstraightening equivalence, let $m : M(f,g) \to \Lambda_2^2$ denote the cartesian fibration classified by the span

$$X \xleftarrow{f^*} Z \xrightarrow{g^*} Y$$
.

Note that the fibers of m over the vertices 0, 1, and 2 are X, Y, and Z, respectively. Write

$$\begin{split} \overline{W}(f,g) &\coloneqq \operatorname{Fun}_{\Lambda_2^2}(\Lambda_2^2, \operatorname{M}(f,g)) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\{0 < 2\}, X) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}(\{2\}, X)}{\times} Z \underset{\operatorname{Fun}(\{2\}, Y)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}(\{1 < 2\}, Y) \end{split}$$

for the ∞ -category of sections of *m*. Let us write K_Y for the set of those morphisms $\phi : [1] \times \Lambda_2^2 \to M(f,g)$ in $\overline{W}(f,g)$ of the form

$$(5.5.2) \qquad \begin{array}{c} v_X \longrightarrow v_Z \longleftarrow v_Y \\ \phi_X \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \phi_Z \qquad \qquad \downarrow \phi_Y \\ u_X \longrightarrow u_Z \longleftarrow u_Y \end{array},$$

in which ϕ_X is an equivalence, and the diagram (5.5.2) exhibits ϕ_Y as the pullback of $g^*\phi_Z$. Dually, let us write K_X for those morphisms ϕ in which ϕ_Y is an equivalence, and the diagram (5.5.2) exhibits ϕ_X as the pullback of $f^*\phi_Z$.

We now define two new ∞ -categories by formally inverting these morphisms (0.11.3):

$$\overline{W}(f,g) \coloneqq K_Y^{-1} \overline{W}(f,g)$$
 and $W(f,g) \coloneqq K_X^{-1} \overline{W}(f,g)$

5.5.3. The ∞ -category $\overrightarrow{W}(f,g)$ admits finite limits, which are computed pointwise. The sets K_Y and K_X are stable under composition and pullback. It follows that the sets K_Y and K_X each give rise to right calculi of fractions on $\overleftrightarrow{W}(f,g)$ in the sense of Cisinski's book [26, Theorem 7.2.16].

Consequently, the mapping spaces in $\overline{W}(f, g)$ admit a very simple description: for any objects $u, v \in \overline{W}(f, g)$, write

$$\mathbf{S}_Y(u,v) \subseteq \overleftarrow{\mathbf{W}}(f,g)_{/u} \underset{\overrightarrow{\mathbf{W}}(f,g)}{\times} \overleftarrow{\mathbf{W}}(f,g)_{/v}$$

for the full subcategory spanned by those diagrams $u \leftarrow w \rightarrow v$ in which the morphism $u \leftarrow w$ lies in K_Y . Then one can compute the mapping spaces in $\overline{W}(f,g)$ as the classifying ∞ -groupoids of these ∞ -categories:

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{\widetilde{W}}(f,g)}(u,v) \simeq \varepsilon \operatorname{S}_{Y}(u,v)$$

Furthermore, the ∞ -categories $\overline{W}(f,g)$ and W(f,g) admit finite limits, and the localizations

 $\overleftarrow{\mathrm{W}}(f,g) \to \overleftarrow{\mathrm{W}}(f,g) \qquad \mathrm{and} \qquad \overleftarrow{\mathrm{W}}(f,g) \to W$

each preserve finite limits [26, Corollary 7.1.16 & Theorem 7.2.25].

We now work toward showing that the ∞ -category $\overline{W}(f,g)$ is the oriented pushout of the span $X \leftarrow Z \rightarrow Y$ in the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories with finite limits. This immediately implies that the ∞ -topos of presheaves on $\overline{W}(f,g)$ is the oriented fiber product

$$PSh(X) \underset{PSh(Z)}{\overleftarrow{\times}} PSh(Y)$$
.

5.5.4 Construction. Keep the notations of Construction 5.5.1. Write

$$p^*: X \to \overleftrightarrow{W}(f,g)$$
 and $q^*: Y \to \overleftrightarrow{W}(f,g)$

for the left exact functors defined by the assignments

$$x \mapsto [x \to 1 \leftarrow 1]$$
 and $y \mapsto [1 \to 1 \leftarrow y]$.

We also regard the left exact functors p^* and q^* as landing in $\overline{W}(f,g)$ and W(f,g) by composing with the relevant localizations.

Write $s^* : Z \to \overline{W}(f, g)$ for the section of the natural projection $\overline{W}(f, g) \to Z$ defined be sending an object $z \in Z$ to the cartesian section $f^*(z) \to z \leftarrow g^*(z)$. Define natural transformations θ and ξ fitting into a span

$$p^*f^* \xleftarrow{\theta} s^* \xrightarrow{\xi} q^*g^*$$

as follows: for any $z \in Z$, the components $\theta(z)$ and $\xi(z)$ are given by the diagram



In particular, note that $\theta(z) \in K_Y$ and $\xi(z) \in K_X$. Hence the natural transformation θ becomes an equivalence after postcomposition with the localization $\overline{W}(f,g) \to \overline{W}(f,g)$ at K_Y . Write

$$\hat{\sigma} \coloneqq \xi \theta^{-1} : p^* f^* \to q^* g^*$$

for the resulting natural transformation of functors $Z \to \widetilde{W}(f, g)$. Note that the natural transformation $\hat{\sigma}$ becomes an equivalence upon postcomposition with the localization to $\widetilde{W}(f,g) \to W(f,g)$ at K_X .

In other words, these data specify the following three diagrams of ∞ -categories with finite limits and left exact functors between them:

(5.5.5)

$$Z \xrightarrow{g^*} Y$$

$$f^* \downarrow \xrightarrow{s^*} \overbrace{\mathcal{J}}_{\xi} \downarrow q^*$$

$$X \xrightarrow{p^*} \widetilde{W}(f,g)$$

$$Z \xrightarrow{g^*} Y$$

$$f^* \downarrow \xrightarrow{g^*} \overbrace{\mathcal{J}}_{\hat{\sigma}} \downarrow q^*$$

$$X \xrightarrow{p^*} \widetilde{W}(f,g),$$

(5.5.7)
$$Z \xrightarrow{g^*} Y$$

$$f^* \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow q^*$$

$$X \xrightarrow{p^*} W(f,g).$$

5.5.8 Lemma. Keep the notations of Construction 5.5.4. The squares (5.5.5), (5.5.6), and (5.5.7) exhibit $\widetilde{W}(f,g)$, $\widetilde{W}(f,g)$, and W(f,g) as universal among ∞ -categories with finite limits completing these diagrams. More precisely, if *E* is an ∞ -category with finite limits, then the induced functors

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(\overleftrightarrow{W}(f,g),E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(X,E) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{(\Lambda_2^2,\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E))} \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Y,E),$$

 $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(\overleftarrow{\operatorname{W}}(f,g),E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(X,E) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}([1],\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Y,E) ,$

and

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(\operatorname{W}(f,g),E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(X,E) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Y,E)$$

are equivalences.

Proof. The last two equivalences follow from the first by the universal properties of the localizations of $\overline{W}(f,g)$ at K_Y and $\overline{W}(f,g)$ at K_X ; hence we focus on the first equivalence.

Let

(5.5.9)
$$Z \xrightarrow{g^*} Y$$

$$f^* \downarrow \xrightarrow{s^*} \overbrace{\ell_{\theta'}}^{\xi'} \downarrow_{q'}$$

$$X \xrightarrow{p'} E$$

be a diagram of ∞ -categories with finite limits and left exact functors between them. Define a functor $F : \overrightarrow{W}(f,g) \to E$ by the formula

$$F(v_X \leftarrow v_Z \rightarrow v_Y) \coloneqq s^*(v_Z) \underset{(p'f^*(v_Z) \times q'g^*(v_Z))}{\times} (p'(v_X) \times q'(v_Y))$$

The functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(X,E) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\Lambda^2_2}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Y,E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(\overline{W}(f,g),E) ,$$

given by sending the object defined by the diagram (5.5.9) to the functor F is then easily seen to be inverse to the induced functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(\overrightarrow{W}(f,g),E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(X,E) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{Lex}}(\Lambda_2^2,\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)) \underset{\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Z,E)}{\times} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{lex}}(Y,E) .$$

5.5.10. Keep the notations of Construction 5.5.4. Write $\hat{\sigma}^* : p^* f^* \to q^* g^*$ for the natural transformation of functors $PSh(Z) \to PSh(\overline{W}(f,g))$ given by extending the natural transformation $\hat{\sigma}$ to presheaves. We write σ for the natural transformation adjoint to $\hat{\sigma}^*$, so that σ fits into an oriented square

We write

$$c_*$$
: $PSh(\overleftarrow{W}(f,g)) \rightarrow PSh(X) \underset{PSh(Z)}{\overleftarrow{X}} PSh(Y)$

for the geometric morphism specified by the square (5.5.11).

The following is now immediate from Lemma 5.5.8 and the universal property of the ∞ -category of presheaves.

5.5.12 Lemma. With the notations of Construction 5.5.4, the geometric morphism

$$c_*: \operatorname{PSh}(\overleftarrow{\operatorname{W}}(f,g)) \to \operatorname{PSh}(X) \underset{\operatorname{PSh}(Z)}{\overleftarrow{\times}} \operatorname{PSh}(Y).$$

is an equivalence.

5.5.13. In the same manner, we obtain an identification of the fiber product of presheaf ∞ -topoi: there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -topoi

$$PSh(W(f,g)) \cong PSh(X) \underset{PSh(Z)}{\times} PSh(Y)$$
.

Now we explain how to introduce a topology into Construction 5.5.4 to give a generating ∞ -site for the oriented fiber product of sheaf ∞ -topoi.

5.5.14 Construction (topology on $\overline{W}(f,g)$). Let (X, τ_X) , (Y, τ_Y) , and (Z, τ_Z) be δ_0 -small ∞ -sites with finite limits (Definition 3.3.9). Write

$$X \coloneqq \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_X}(X), \quad Y \coloneqq \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Y}(Y), \text{ and } Z \coloneqq \operatorname{Sh}_{\tau_Z}(Z).$$

Let $f^*: Z \to X$ and $g^*: Z \to Y$ be left exact morphisms of ∞ -sites, so that f^* and g^* induce geometric morphisms

$$f_*: X \to Z$$
 and $g_*: Y \to Z$.

Let $\overline{\tau}$ denote the topology on the ∞ -category $\overline{W}(f, g)$ (Construction 5.5.1) generated by the families $\{\phi_i : v_i \to u\}_{i \in I}$, such that for each $i \in I$, the morphism ϕ_i is the image of a morphism of $\overline{W}(f, g)$ of the form

such that one of the following conditions holds:

- The family $\{\phi_{i,X} : v_{i,X} \to u_X\}_{i \in I}$ generates a τ_X -covering sieve, and for all $i \in I$, the morphisms $\phi_{i,Z}$ and $\phi_{i,Y}$ are equivalences.
- The family $\{\phi_{i,Y}: v_{i,Y} \to u_Y\}_{i \in I}$ generates a τ_Y -covering sieve, and for all $i \in I$, the morphisms $\phi_{i,Z}$ and $\phi_{i,X}$ are equivalences.

The following is now a consequence of Lemma 5.5.12 along with the universal property of localizations:

5.5.15 Lemma. *Keep the notations of Construction 5.5.14. Then there is a natural equivalence of* ∞ *-topoi*

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\overline{\tau}}(W(f,g)) \cong X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$$

5.5.16. Observe that the topology τ_Z is irrelevant here, as we should expect, since

$$X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{Z} Y \simeq X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{\mathrm{PSh}(Z)} Y$$

(Example 5.4.11).

5.5.17. In the same vein, the topology τ on W(*f*, *g*) generated by these same families produces the usual (unoriented) fiber product of ∞ -topoi: there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -topoi

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\tau}(\operatorname{W}(f,g)) \xrightarrow{\sim} X \times_{\mathbb{Z}} Y$$
.

5.5.18. If all of the topologies τ_X , τ_Y , and τ_Z are finitary, then the ∞ -sites ($\overline{W}(f, g), \overline{\tau}$) and ($W(f, g), \tau$) are finitary. This lets us deduce that the oriented fiber product preserves coherence properties.

We conclude this section with the fundamental coherence results for oriented fiber products that we'll need.

5.5.19 Lemma. Keep the notations of Construction 5.5.14. If the topologies τ_X , τ_Y , and τ_Z are all finitary, then:

(5.5.19.1) The oriented fiber product $X \times_Z Y$ is coherent and locally coherent, and the projections

 $\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to X$ and $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to Y$

are coherent geometric morphisms.

(5.5.19.2) The pullback $X \times_Z Y$ is coherent and locally coherent, and the projections

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}: X \times_Z Y \to X$$
 and $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}: X \times_Z Y \to Y$

are coherent geometric morphisms.

Proof. Since the topology $\overline{\tau}$ is finitary, Proposition 3.3.10=[SAG, Proposition A.3.1.3] ensures that the ∞ -topoi $X \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\times}_Z Y$ and $X \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\times}_Z Y$ are coherent and locally coherent. Since $\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}$ and $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}$ are induced by the morphisms of finitary ∞ -sites

$$(X, \tau_X) \to (\overline{W}(f, g), \overline{\tau})$$
 and $(Y, \tau_Y) \to (\overline{W}(f, g), \overline{\tau})$,

the remainder of (5.5.19.1) follows from Corollary 3.6.8. The proof of (5.5.19.2) is the same as the proof of (5.5.19.1), replacing the finitary ∞ -site ($\overline{W}(f,g),\overline{\tau}$) by the finitary ∞ -site ($W(f,g),\tau$).

Conceptual Completeness now implies that the oriented fiber product of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi is *controlled* by its ∞ -category of points in the following sense.

5.5.20 Proposition. An oriented square

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \boldsymbol{Y} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \boldsymbol{\sigma} \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ \boldsymbol{X} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} , \end{array}$$

of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms is an oriented fiber product square if and only if the induced oriented square

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{W}) & \xrightarrow{q_*} & \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{Y}) \\ \hline & & p_* & & p_* \\ p_* & & p_\sigma & & p_* \\ \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X}) & \xrightarrow{f_*} & \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{Z}) \end{array}$$

in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ exhibits $\operatorname{Pt}(W)$ as the oriented fiber product $\operatorname{Pt}(X) \downarrow_{\operatorname{Pt}(Z)} \operatorname{Pt}(Y)$ (0.11.10).

Proof. This follows from Conceptual Completeness (Theorem 3.11.2=[SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]), along with the fact that the functor Pt : $Top_{\infty} \rightarrow Cat_{\infty,\delta_1}$ preserves oriented fiber product squares (Lemma 5.4.8).

5.6 Compatibility of oriented fiber products & étale geometric morphisms

The goal of this section is to prove that oriented fiber products are compatible with étale geometric morphisms in an appropriate sense (Proposition 5.6.5). This compatibility is a key technical ingredient in the proof of our basechange result for oriented fiber products in Chapter 7 (Theorem 7.1.7). Inspired by Illusie's discussion [67, Exposé XI, 1.10(b)], to prove the relevant compatibility, we decompose the oriented fiber product $X \times_Z Y$ as the iterated pullback

$$X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \simeq X \times_Z \operatorname{Path}(Z) \times_Z Y$$

and treat the compatibility with pullbacks and path ∞ -topoi separately.

We begin with what must be a standard fact about the compatibility of ordinary pullbacks and étale geometric morphisms (Lemma 5.6.2). However, we could not locate the following in the existing literature.

5.6.1 Notation. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi, and suppose we are given objects $X \in X, Y \in Y$, and $Z \in Z$, along with morphisms $\phi: X \to f^*(Z)$ and $\psi: Y \to g^*(Z)$. We write

$$X \times_Z Y \coloneqq \operatorname{pr}_1^*(X) \underset{\operatorname{pr}_1^* f^*(Z)}{\times} \operatorname{pr}_2^*(Y) \in X \times_Z Y$$

for the pullback of $\operatorname{pr}_1^*(X)$ and $\operatorname{pr}_2^*(Y)$ over $\operatorname{pr}_1^* f^*(Z) \simeq \operatorname{pr}_2^* g^*(Z)$ formed in the (unoriented) pullback ∞ -topos $X \times_Z Y$.

5.6.2 Lemma. Keep the notations of Notation 5.6.1. Then the natural geometric morphism $p_*: X_{/X} \times_{Z_{/Z}} Y_{/Y} \to X \times_Z Y$ is étale and $p_!(1) \simeq X \times_Z Y$.

Proof. First note that the commutative square



defines a geometric morphism $e_*: (X \times_Z Y)_{/(X \times_Z Y)} \to X_{/X} \times_{Z/Z} Y_{/Y}$. We claim that e_* is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi. To see this, we show that for any ∞ -topos E, the induced functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*((X \times_Z Y)_{/(X \times_Z Y)}, E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^*(X_{/X} \times_{Z_{/Z}} Y_{/Y}, E)$$

is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

Indeed, for any ∞ -topos *E*, consider the commutative square

It follows from Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6] that the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*(X_{/X} \times_{Z_{/Z}} Y_{/Y}, E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^*(X \times_Z Y, E)$$

is a left fibration whose fiber over a left exact left adjoint $h^*: X \times_Z Y \to E$ is the space

$$\operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}(X)) \underset{\operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}f^{*}(Z))}{\times} \operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(Y)) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}(X \times_{Z} Y)).$$

On the other hand, again by Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6], the natural geometric morphism $(X \times_Z Y)_{/(X \times_Z Y)} \to X \times_Z Y$ induces a left fibration

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*((X \times_Z Y)_{/(X \times_Z Y)}, E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^*(X \times_Z Y, E)$$

whose fiber over h^* is the space Map_E(1, $h^*(X \times_Z Y))$). Thus the geometric morphism e_* induces a fiberwise equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*((X \times_Z Y)_{/(X \times_Z Y)}, E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^*(X_{/X} \times_{Z_{/Z}} Y_{/Y}, E)$$

of left fibrations over $\operatorname{Fun}^*(X \times_Z Y, E)$, hence an equivalence

Now we turn to the compatibility of oriented fiber products and étale geometric morphisms. We treat the path ∞ -topos first, and then apply Lemma 5.6.2 to deduce the general result by expressing the oriented fiber product as an iterated pullback.

5.6.3 Lemma. Let Z be an ∞ -topos, and let $Z \in Z$ be an object. Then the natural geometric morphism p_* : Path $(Z_{/Z}) \rightarrow$ Path(Z) is étale and $p_!(1) \simeq \text{pr}_1^*(Z)$.

Proof. We have two geometric morphisms

$$p_*: \operatorname{Path}(Z)/\operatorname{pr}_1^*(Z) \to Z/Z$$
 and $q_*: \operatorname{Path}(Z)/\operatorname{pr}_1^*(Z) \to \operatorname{Path}(Z)/\operatorname{pr}_2^*(Z) \to Z/Z$

along with a natural transformation γ : $q_* \rightarrow p_*$. These define a geometric morphism

$$e_*$$
: Path(\mathbf{Z})/ $\mathrm{pr}_1^*(Z) \to \mathrm{Path}(\mathbf{Z}_{/Z})$

over Path(Z). We claim that e_* is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi.

First, for any ∞ -topos *E*, consider the commutative square

It follows from [HTT, Corollaries 2.1.2.9 & 6.3.5.6] that the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{*}(\operatorname{Path}(\mathbb{Z}_{/Z}), \mathbb{E}) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{*}(\operatorname{Path}(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{E})$$

is a left fibration whose fiber over h^* is the space

$$\operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}(Z)) \underset{\operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(Z))}{\times} \operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(Z)) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^{*}\operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}(Z)) .$$

Here the map $\operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^* \operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}(Z)) \to \operatorname{Map}_{E}(1, h^* \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(Z))$ is induced by the natural transformation $\hat{\sigma} : \operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*} \to \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}$ adjoint to the natural transformation $\sigma : \operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \to \operatorname{pr}_{1,*}$ defining the path ∞ -topos Path(Z).

On the other hand, by Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6] for any ∞ -topos E, the natural geometric morphism $\operatorname{Path}(Z)_{/\operatorname{pr}_1^*(Z)} \to \operatorname{Path}(Z)$ induces a left fibration

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{*}(\operatorname{Path}(Z)/\operatorname{pr}_{1}^{*}(Z), E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{*}(\operatorname{Path}(Z), E)$$

whose fiber over h^* is the space $\operatorname{Map}_E(1, h^* \operatorname{pr}_1^*(Z))$. Thus for any ∞ -topos E, the geometric morphism e_* induces a fiberwise equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^*(\operatorname{Path}(Z)/\operatorname{pr}^*_1(Z), E) \to \operatorname{Fun}^*(\operatorname{Path}(Z/Z), E)$$

of left fibrations over $\operatorname{Fun}^*(\operatorname{Path}(Z), E)$.

Now we define an object $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \in X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ and prove that

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{/X} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{Z/Z} \boldsymbol{Y}_{/Y} \simeq (\boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{Z} \boldsymbol{Y})_{X \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{Z} \boldsymbol{Y}}$$

5.6.4 Construction. Let $f_* : X \to Z$ and $g_* : Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi, and let $X \in X$, $Y \in Y$, and $Z \in Z$ be objects, and let $\phi : X \to f^*(Z)$ and $\psi : Y \to g^*(Z)$. Form the oriented fiber product

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y} & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}} \boldsymbol{Y} \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \boldsymbol{X} & \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} \end{array} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} .$$

Define an object $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ of $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ by the pullback square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X \,\bar{\times}_Z \, Y & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{pr}_2^*(Y) \\ & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{pr}_1^*(X) & & & & \\ \hline \hat{\sigma}(Z) \circ \operatorname{pr}_1^*(\phi) & \operatorname{pr}_2^* g^*(Z) \, , \end{array}$$

where

$$\hat{\sigma}$$
: $\operatorname{pr}_1^* f^* \to \operatorname{pr}_2^* g^*$

is the natural transformation adjoint to the natural transformation σ : $g_* \operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \to f_* \operatorname{pr}_{1,*}$.

5.6.5 Proposition. Keep the notations of Construction 5.6.4. Then the natural geometric morphism $p_*: \mathbf{X}_{/X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}_{/Z}} \mathbf{Y}_{/Y} \to \mathbf{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{Y}$ is étale and $p_!(1) \simeq \operatorname{pr}_1^*(X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y)$.

Proof. The claim follows from Lemma 5.6.3 along with Lemma 5.6.2 applied to the
top right, top left, and bottom left cubes in the diagram



where the front and back faces of the bottom right cube are oriented fiber product squares, all other squares are commutative, and the front and back faces of each of the top right, top left, and bottom left cubes are pullback squares. \Box

5.6.6 Corollary. Keep the notations of Construction 5.6.4. If the morphism

$$\operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(\psi) \colon \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}(Y) \to \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}g^{*}(Z)$$

is an equivalence, then we have a natural equivalence

$$(X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y)_{/X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y} \simeq (X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y)_{/\operatorname{pr}_1^*(X)}$$

5.6.7. Keep the notations of Construction 5.6.4 and assume, in addition, that X, Y and Z are bounded coherent, the geometric morphisms f_* and g_* are coherent, and the objects X, Y, and Z are all truncated coherent. Then the object $X \boxtimes_Z Y \in X \boxtimes_Z Y$ is the image under the Yoneda embedding &: $\overline{W}(f,g) \hookrightarrow X \boxtimes_Z Y$ of the object of $\overline{W}(f,g)$ given by $X \to Z \leftarrow Y$ (Construction 5.5.14).

6 Local ∞-topoi & localizations

In this chapter we generalize the basic theory of what are usually called *local geometric* morphisms and *local topoi* to the setting of ∞ -topoi [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé IV, §8; 71, §C.3.6; 72]. Local ∞ -topoi play the role of local rings in topos theory: one can *localize* an ∞ topos X at a point $x_*: S \to X$ and this construction has the property that the stalk x^*U of an object $U \in X$ is computed by first pulling back to the localization of X at x_* and then taking global sections on the local ∞ -topos. The chief example of a local ∞ -topos is the étale ∞ -topos of a strictly henselian local ring (Example 6.7.4). As with local rings in algebraic geometry, often questions about ∞ -topoi with enough points can be reduced to problems about local ∞ -topoi. This is the main reason we need the theory of local ∞ -topoi; to prove a basechange theorem for oriented fiber products (Theorem 7.1.7) in Chapter 7 by reduction to the local case.

The ∞ -toposic theory follows the 1-toposic story very closely; as such, a number of items in this chapter are likely known to experts. Notably, Schreiber has studied local ∞ -topoi [120, §3.2].

In §6.1 we begin by discussing a more general class of geometric morphisms that contains the global sections geometric morphism of a local ∞ -topos. Section 6.2 then specializes to the study of local ∞ -topoi. Section 6.3 explains how to to use oriented fiber products to localize an ∞ -topos at a point. In Section 6.4 we prove a compatibility between oriented fiber products and localizations. In algebraic geometry, the spectrum of the strictly henselian local ring $O_{X,x}^{sh}$ of a scheme X at a geometric point $\bar{x} \to X$ can be written as a limit over all étale neighborhoods of \bar{x} ; Section 6.5 proves that the localization of an ∞ -topos at a point can be described in exactly the same way (Proposition 6.5.3). Using this description, in Section 6.6 we show that the localization of a bounded coherent ∞ -topos at a point is coherent (Lemma 6.6.4). Section 6.7 concludes by collecting geometric examples of localizations.

6.1 Quasi-equivalences

As a precursor, we begin by discussing the ∞ -toposic generalization of the notion of a *connected* geometric morphism [71, p. 525]. In the homotopical setting, the term 'connected' (and its variants) doesn't seem appropriate. Instead, we elect for the distinct term *quasi-equivalence*.

6.1.1 Definition. A geometric morphism $f_* : X \to Y$ of ∞ -topoi is a *quasi-equivalence* if the pullback functor f^* is fully faithful.

6.1.2. Every geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi factors as the composite of a quasi-equivalence followed by an *algebraic* geometric morphism [HTT, Proposition 6.3.6.2]. Moreover, this factorization is unique up to (canonical) equivalence.

If f_* is a quasi-equivalence, then f^* is fully faithful, whence we deduce the following.

6.1.3 Lemma. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a quasi-equivalence of ∞ -topoi. Write $u : \operatorname{id}_Y \to f_* f^*$ for the unit of the adjunction $f^* \dashv f_*$. Then the canonical natural transformation

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}\boldsymbol{u}: \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*} \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}\boldsymbol{f}_*\boldsymbol{f}^* \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X},*}\boldsymbol{f}^*$$

is an equivalence (Notation 3.1.6).

6.1.4. If $f_*: X \to Y$ is a quasi-equivalence of ∞ -topoi, then by composing the canonical natural transformation $\Gamma_{Y,*} \to \Gamma_{X,*} f^*$ with Γ_Y^* , Lemma 6.1.3 ensures that the canonical natural transformation

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{Y},*} u \Gamma_{\mathbf{Y}}^* \colon \Gamma_{\mathbf{Y},*} \Gamma_{\mathbf{Y}}^* \to \Gamma_{\mathbf{Y},*} f_* f^* \Gamma_{\mathbf{Y}}^* \simeq \Gamma_{\mathbf{X},*} \Gamma_{\mathbf{X}}^*$$

is an equivalence in $Pro(S)^{op} \subset Fun(S, S)$. In particular, f_* is a shape equivalence (Definition 4.2.4).

6.1.5. As noted in [HTT, Remark 7.1.6.12], an ∞ -topos X has trivial shape if and only if the geometric morphism $X \to S$ is a quasi-equivalence. However, in general a shape equivalence of ∞ -topoi need not be a quasi-equivalence.

6.1.6 Example. Let *X* be a scheme. By [17, Lemma 5.1.2], the natural geometric morphism $X_{\text{pro\acute{e}t}} \rightarrow X_{\acute{e}t}$ from the proétale ∞ -topos of *X* to the étale ∞ -topos of *X* is a quasi-equivalence, hence a shape equivalence.

6.2 Local ∞ -topoi

Now we specalize to local ∞ -topoi. Recall that a geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ is *essential* if f^* admists a left adjoint $f_1: X \to Y$.

6.2.1 Definition. We say that a geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ of ∞ -topoi is *coëssential* if f_* admits a right adjoint $f^!: Y \to X$. In this case, the functor $f^!$ and its left adjoint f_* define a geometric morphism $f^!: Y \to X$ called the *center* of f_* .

The next definition generalizes what are sometimes called *local geometric morphisms* in the 1-topos theory literature [71, §C.3.6; 72]. We instead choose terminology that syncs with the algebro-geometric terminology for local rings and doesn't conflict with other uses of the term 'local' in higher category theory.

6.2.2 Definition. We say that geometric morphism $f_* : X \to Y$ of ∞ -topoi *exhibits* X *as local over* Y if f_* is both coëssential and a quasi-equivalence.

An ∞ -topos X is *local* if X is local over S. In this case we simply call $\Gamma_X^!$: $S \to X$ the *center* of X.

6.2.3. Please observe that a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi $f_*: X \to Y$ exhibits X as local over Y if and only if the functor f_* admits a *fully faithful* right adjoint $f^!$. Equivalently, X is local over Y if and only if f_* admits a section $f^!$ in the $(\infty, 2)$ -category of ∞ -topoi.

6.2.4. Let *X* be an ∞ -topos. Note that if the global sections functor $\Gamma_* : X \to S$ admits a right adjoint $\Gamma' : S \to X$, then Γ' is automatically fully faithful, whence *X* is local.

Consequently, by the Adjoint Functor Theorem and (6.2.4), an ∞ -topos X is local if and only if the terminal object $1_X \in X$ is completely compact.

6.2.5 Remark. Let *X* be a 1-topos with corresponding 1-localic ∞ -topos *X'*. Then *X'* is local over **S** if and only if the global sections functor $(X')_{\leq 0} \simeq X \rightarrow \text{Set}$ admits a right adjoint.

6.2.6 Lemma. Let X be a local ∞ -topos. Then X has homotopy dimension ≤ 0 . In particular, X has cohomological dimension ≤ 0 .

Proof. By [HTT, Lemma 7.2.1.7], it suffices to show that $\Gamma_{X,*}: X \to S$ preserves effective epimorphisms; this follows from the assumption that $\Gamma_{X,*}$ is a left adjoint. The second statement is a consequence of [HTT, Corollary 7.2.2.30].

6.2.7 Definition. Let X and Y be local ∞ -topoi with centers $\Gamma_X^!$ and $\Gamma_Y^!$, respectively. A geometric morphism $f_* \colon X \to Y$ is a *local geometric morphism* if the canonical natural morphism

$$f_*\Gamma^!_X \to \Gamma^!_Y$$

adjoint to $\Gamma_{Y,*}u \colon \Gamma_{Y,*} \to \Gamma_{X,*}f^*$ is an equivalence. Write $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{loc}} \subset \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$ for the (non-full) subcategory whose objects are local ∞ -topoi and whose morphisms are local geometric morphisms.

If X is a local ∞ -topos, then the center of X is an initial object of the ∞ -category Pt(X); in fact, more is true.

6.2.8 Notation. Let $f_*: X \to Y$ and $f'_*: X' \to Y$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. Write

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{X}')\coloneqq\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{X}')\underset{\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{Y})}{\times}\{f_{*}\}$$

for the ∞ -category of geometric morphisms $X \to X'$ over Y.

6.2.9 Lemma. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a geometric morphism that exhibits X as local over Y with center $f^!$. Then $f^!$ is a terminal object of the ∞ -category Fun $_{Y,*}(Y, X)$.

Proof. Let $g_*: Y \to X$ be a geometric morphism over Y. Then

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}(\boldsymbol{Y},\boldsymbol{X})}(g_*,f^{\,!}) &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}(\boldsymbol{Y},\boldsymbol{Y})}(f_*g_*,\operatorname{id}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}(\boldsymbol{Y},\boldsymbol{Y})}(\operatorname{id}_{\boldsymbol{Y}},\operatorname{id}_{\boldsymbol{Y}}) \simeq * \quad . \end{split}$$

Like local rings in algebraic geometry, local ∞ -topoi provide a convenient way to compute stalks: take global sections after pulling back to an appropriate local ∞ -topos.

6.2.10 Lemma. Let $p_* : W \to X$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Assume that where W is local with center w_* , and write $x_* := p_*w_*$. Then $x^* \simeq \Gamma_{W,*}p^*$.

Proof. Since $w^* \simeq \Gamma_{W,*}$ we see that

$$x^* \simeq (pw)^* \simeq w^* p^* \simeq \Gamma_{W *} p^* . \qquad \Box$$

We shall soon see (Definition 6.3.7 and (6.3.8)) that for any ∞ -topos X and any point $x_* \in Pt(X)$, there is a geometric morphism $p_* : W \to X$ in which W is local with center w_* and $x_* \simeq p_* w_*$ (and is, moreover, universal with this property).

Local geometric morphisms are also stable under pullback, though we do not use this fact in an integral way in the present paper. **6.2.11.** Consider a pullback square of ∞ -topoi

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X \times_Z Y & \xrightarrow{\tilde{f}_*} & Y \\ & g_* & \downarrow & & \downarrow g_* \\ & X & \xrightarrow{f_*} & Z \end{array}$$

where g_* exhibits Y as local over Z with center g'. By the universal property of the pullback, the identity on X and the geometric morphism $g'f_* \colon X \to Y$ induce a geometric morphism

$$\bar{g}^! \coloneqq (\mathrm{id}_X, g^! f_*) \colon X \to X \times_Z Y$$

such that $\bar{g}_*\bar{g}^! \simeq \operatorname{id}_X$ and $\bar{f}_*\bar{g}^! \simeq g^! f_*$. Using the universal property of the pullback and the fact that g_* is exhibits Y as local over Z, one easily checks that the functor $\bar{g}^!$ is right adjoint to \bar{g}_* , so that \bar{g}_* exhibits $X \times_Z Y$ as local over X with center $\bar{g}^!$.

6.3 Nearby cycles & localizations

We now show that the evanescent ∞ -topos (Example 5.4.10) provides a wealth of local ∞ -topoi. Then, following Deligne as well as Johnstone–Moerdijk [72, Definition 3.1], we use the evanescent ∞ -topos to construct the localization of an ∞ -topos at a point.

A site-theoretic proof of the following result (originally stated without proof by Laumon [83, 3.2]) is given in [67, Exposé XI, Proposition 4.4]. The reliance on sites renders the proof given in [67, Exposé XI] inadequate in the context of ∞ -topoi; luckily the work of Riehl–Verity [108] permits us to employ simple 2-categorical arguments.

6.3.1 Proposition. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Then:

- (6.3.1.1) The nearby cycles functor $\Psi_{f,*}: X \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z$ is right adjoint to the projection $\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z \to X$.
- (6.3.1.2) The functor $\Psi_{f,*}$ is fully faithful. Hence the geometric morphism $\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}$ exhibits $X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z$ as local over X with center $\Psi_{f,*}$.

Proof. Recall that for any ∞ -topos E, the functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(E,-)^{\operatorname{op}}$$
: $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_{1}}$

carries oriented fiber products in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} to oriented fiber products in $\mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ (5.4.7). Thus the proof of [108, Proposition 3.4.6] works perfectly, giving the oriented fiber product in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} the necessary 'weak universal property' (as Riehl and Verity call it) to apply [108, Lemma 3.5.9], proving both (6.3.1.1) and (6.3.1.2).

The dual notion to being local over an ∞ -topos naturally appears as the property satisfied by the second projection from the coëvanescent ∞ -topos.

6.3.2 Definition. A geometric morphism $f_* \colon X \to Y$ of ∞ -topoi exhibits X as *colocal* over Y if f_* is a quasi-equivalence and f^* admits a left exact left adjoint $f_! \colon X \to Y$. In this case, the functor f^* and its left adjoint $f_!$ define a geometric morphism $f^* \colon Y \to X$ called the *cocenter* of f_* .

6.3.3. In the setting of 1-topoi, Johnstone [71, Theorem C.3.6.16] uses the term *totally connected* for what we call colocal. Again, such lingo is inapt in our context.

The following is dual to Proposition 6.3.1.

6.3.4 Proposition. Let $g_* : Y \to Z$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Then:

- (6.3.1.1) The conearby cycles functor $\Psi^g_*: \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{Z} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{Y}$ is left adjoint to the projection $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}: \mathbf{Z} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{Y}$.
- (6.3.1.2) The functor $\Psi_*^g \simeq \operatorname{pr}_2^*$ is fully faithful. Hence the geometric morphism $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}$ exhibits $\mathbf{Z} \stackrel{\times}{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{Y}$ as colocal over \mathbf{Y} with cocenter Ψ_*^g .

6.3.5. A geometric morphism $f_* \colon X \to Y$ that exhibits X as colocal over Y always satisfies the *étale projection formula*

$$f_!(f^*(X) \times_{f^*(Z)} Y) \simeq X \times_Z f_!(Y)$$

of [HTT, Proposition 6.3.5.11]. However, the geometric morphism f_* will almost never be étale; f_1 is conservative if and only if f_* is an equivalence.

6.3.6 Example. For any ∞ -topos **X** the diagonal functor

$$\psi(\mathrm{id}_X,\mathrm{id}_X,\mathrm{id})_*: X \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_X X \simeq \mathrm{Path}(X)$$

is both the nearby and conearby cycles functor. Combining Propositions 6.3.1 and 6.3.4, we deduce that we have a chain of (left exact) adjoints

$$\operatorname{Path}(\boldsymbol{X}) \xrightarrow[\operatorname{pr}_{1*}]{} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{1*}} \boldsymbol{X}$$

In particular, the geometric morphisms $pr_{1,*}, pr_{2,*}$: Path(X) $\rightarrow X$ are shape equivalences.

Now we define the *localization* of an ∞ -topos at a point as a evanescent ∞ -topos; for this please recall Notation 3.1.6.

6.3.7 Definition. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $x_* : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{X}$ a point of X. The *localization* of X at x_* is the evanescent ∞ -topos

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)} \coloneqq \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}} \times_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}$$

We write $\ell_{x,*}: X_{(x)} \to X$ for the second projection $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}: \widetilde{x} \times X \to X$.

6.3.8. Let X be an ∞ -topos and x_* a point of X. By Proposition 6.3.1, the ∞ -topos $X_{(x)}$ is local with center $\Psi_{x,*}$: $S \to X_{(x)}$. By Lemma 6.2.10, for every object $F \in X$ we can compute the stalk at x via the familiar formula

$$x^* F \simeq \Gamma(\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)}; \boldsymbol{\ell}_x^* F) \,.$$

6.3.9 Notation. Write $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,*} := \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,S/}$ for the ∞ -category of ∞ -topoi equipped with a topos-theoretic point. The assignment $(X, x_*) \mapsto X_{(x)}$ defines a functor

$$\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,*} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{loc}}$$

In the other direction, the assignment $X \mapsto (X, \Gamma_X^!)$ defines a fully faithful functor

$$\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{loc}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,*}$$
.

6.3.10 Proposition. Let X be a local ∞ -topos with center x_* . Then the geometric morphism $\ell_{x,*} : X_{(x)} \to X$ is an equivalence.

Proof. Let $u : id_X \to x_* \Gamma_{X,*}$ be the unit of the adjunction $\Gamma_{X,*} \dashv x_*$. Then the oriented square

$$\begin{array}{c} X = X \\ \Gamma_{X,*} \downarrow \qquad \swarrow_{u} \\ \widetilde{x} \longrightarrow X \end{array}$$

exhibits **X** as the oriented fiber product $\widetilde{x} \times_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{X}$.

6.3.11 Corollary. The fully faithful functor $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{loc}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,*}$ admits a right adjoint given by the assignment $(X, x_*) \mapsto X_{(x)}$.

6.4 Compatibility of oriented fiber products with localizations

In this section we prove that the formation oriented fiber products is compatible with localizations of ∞ -topoi. First we note that taking path ∞ -topoi commutes with the formation of oriented fiber products.

6.4.1 Lemma. Let $f_* : X \to Z$ and $g_* : Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. Then we have a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Path}(X \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\times}_Z Y) \simeq \operatorname{Path}(X) \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(Z)}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(Z)}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(Z)}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(Z)}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(Y)}{\underset{\operatorname{Path}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{Pat}(X)}{\underset{\operatorname{Pat}(X)}{\underset{Pa$$

Proof. Since the path ∞ -topos construction is a right adjoint $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$, we have natural equivalences

$$Path(X \times_{Z} Y) = Path(X \times_{Z} Path(Z) \times_{Z} Y)$$

$$\simeq Path(X) \underset{Path(Z)}{\times} Path(Path(Z)) \underset{Path(Z)}{\times} Path(Y)$$

$$= Path(X) \underset{Path(Z)}{\times} Path(Y).$$

6.4.2 Proposition. Let $f_* : (X, x_*) \to (Z, z_*)$ and $g_* : (Y, y_*) \to (Z, z_*)$ be morphisms of pointed ∞ -topoi, so that there is an induced point

$$x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} y_* \colon \mathbf{S} \simeq \mathbf{S} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{S}} \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{Y}$$
.

Then we have a natural equivalence

$$(\boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y})_{(\boldsymbol{x}_{*} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{z}_{*}} \boldsymbol{y}_{*})} \simeq \boldsymbol{X}_{(\boldsymbol{x})} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{Z}_{(\boldsymbol{z})}} \boldsymbol{Y}_{(\boldsymbol{y})}$$

Proof. Consider the diagram $\Lambda_2^2 \to \operatorname{Fun}(\Lambda_2^2, \operatorname{Top}_{\infty})$ defined by the diagram



where we have displayed objects of $\operatorname{Fun}(\Lambda_2^2, \operatorname{Top}_{\infty})$ horizontally, and morphisms in $\operatorname{Fun}(\Lambda_2^2, \operatorname{Top}_{\infty})$ vertically. First taking the (vertical) limit of the diagram (6.4.3) in

$$Fun(\Lambda_2^2, \textbf{Top}_{\infty})$$

we obtain the cospan

$$X_{(x)} \xrightarrow{f_*} Z_{(z)} \xleftarrow{g_*} Y_{(y)}.$$

Then taking the oriented fiber product of the this cospan yields $X_{(x)} \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z_{(z)}} Y_{(y)}$. On the other hand, by Lemma 6.4.1, first forming the oriented fiber product horizontally then taking pullbacks vertically yields the localization

$$(\boldsymbol{X} \times_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y})_{(x_* \overleftarrow{\mathbf{X}}_{\tau}, y_*)}$$

The claim now follows from the fact that the formation of oriented fiber products commutes with limits (5.4.3).

6.5 Localization à la Grothendieck–Verdier

In order to get our hands on geometric examples of localized ∞ -topoi, we give another description of $X_{(x)}$ that is akin to Grothendieck and Verdier's original (1-toposic) definition of the localization as a limit over étale neighborhoods of x_* in X [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, 8.4.2].

6.5.1 Definition. Let (X, x_*) be a pointed ∞ -topos. The ∞ -category of étale neighborhoods of x_* is the pullback



formed in Cat_{∞,δ_1} .

By [HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6 & Remark 6.3.5.7] the ∞ -category Nbd(x) is equivalent to the full subcategory of $(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,*})_{/(X,x_*)}$ spanned by those objects $(E, e_*) \to (X, x_*)$ with the property that the geometric morphism $E \to X$ is étale.

Please note that Nbd(x) is an inverse ∞ -category.

To provide the limit description of the localization as well as the familiar colimit formula for the stalk x^* , we need to take limits of diagrams indexed by the (not necessarily δ_0 -small) ∞ -category Nbd(x). Happily the exact same cofinality argument given in [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé IV, 6.8] works in the setting of higher topoi, showing that Nbd(x) admits a limit-cofinal δ_0 -small subcategory.

6.5.2 Construction. Let *X* be a ∞ -topos and $x_* \in Pt(X)$. Then by the Yoneda lemma the stalk functor $x^* : X \to S$ can be computed as the filtered colimit

$$x^* \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{(U,u)\in\operatorname{Nbd}(x)^{\operatorname{op}}}\operatorname{Map}_X(U,-).$$

The assignment $(U, u) \mapsto X_{/U}$ defines a functor E_x : $Nbd(x) \to Top_{\infty,/X}$. Moreover, the natural forgetful functor

$$\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/E_x} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/X}$$

is a right fibration. We write $\lim_{(U,u)\in Nbd(x)} X_{/U}$ for the limit in $Top_{\infty,/X}$ (equivalently, in Top_{∞}) of the diagram E_x .

By Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6], specifying a geometric morphism

$$X' \to \lim_{(U,u) \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} X_{/U}$$

is equivalent to specifying a geometric morphism $p_*: X' \to X$ along with a global section

$$s \in \Gamma_{\mathbf{X}',*}\left(\lim_{(U,u)\in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} p^*U\right) \simeq \lim_{(U,u)\in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \Gamma_{\mathbf{X}',*}p^*U$$
.

Since $X_{(x)}$ is the localization of X at x_* , we have a natural equivalence $x^* \simeq \Gamma_{X_{(x)}*} \ell_x^*$ (6.3.8). Thus for $U \in X$, we obtain a natural equivalence

$$\lim_{(U,u)\in \operatorname{Nbd}(x)} x^*(U) \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \left(\lim_{(U,u)\in \operatorname{Nbd}(x)} \ell_x^*(U) \right)$$

The global sections $u \in x^*(U)$ for $(U, u) \in Nbd(x)$ together define a global section $s \in \lim_{(U,u)\in Nbd(x)} x^*(U)$. This provides a comparison geometric morphism

$$c_{x,*}: \mathbf{X}_{(x)} \to \lim_{(U,u) \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \mathbf{X}_{/U}$$

over X.

6.5.3 Proposition. Let X be an ∞ -topos and x_* a point of X. Then the comparison geometric morphism $c_{x,*}: X_{(x)} \to \lim_{(U,u) \in Nbd(x)} X_{/U}$ of Construction 6.5.2 is an equivalence.

Proof. We wish to show that $c_{x,*}: \mathbf{X}_{(x)} \to \lim_{(U,u) \in Nbd(x)} \mathbf{X}_{/U}$ induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/X_{(x)}} \cong \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/E_x}$$

Since both projections onto $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}$ are right fibrations, we are reduced to showing that for every object $p_* : X' \to X$ of $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}$ the induced map on fibers of these right fibrations is an equivalence. By Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6] the fiber of the right fibration $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/E_x} \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}$ over $p_* : X' \to X$ is given by

$$\{p_*\} \underset{\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}}{\times} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/E_x} \simeq \lim_{(U,u) \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \Gamma_{X',*} p^*(U) ,$$

On the other hand, we have equivalences

$$\begin{split} \{p_*\} &\underset{\text{Top}_{\infty,/X}}{\times} \text{Top}_{\infty,/X_{(x)}} \simeq \text{Map}_{\text{Fun}_*(X',X)}(p_*, x_*\Gamma_{X',*}) \\ & \simeq \text{Map}_{\text{Fun}(X,\mathbf{S})}(x^*, \Gamma_{X',*}p^*) \;. \end{split}$$

By the colimit formula for the stalk (Construction 6.5.2), we have natural equivalences

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}(\boldsymbol{X},\mathbf{S})}(x^*,\Gamma_*p^*) &\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Fun}(\boldsymbol{X},\mathbf{S})} \left(\operatorname{colim}_{(U,u)\in\operatorname{Nbd}(x)^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Map}_{\boldsymbol{X}}(U,-),\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}',*}p^* \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{(U,u)\in\operatorname{Nbd}(x)} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}',*}p^*(U) \,. \end{split}$$

Unwinding definitions, we see that the induced map on fibers

$$\{p_*\} \underset{\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}}{\times} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X_{(x)}} \to \{p_*\} \underset{\mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/X}}{\times} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty,/E_x}$$

is an equivalence.

6.6 Coherence of localizations

In this section we use the Grothendieck–Verdier description of the localization to deduce that $X_{(x)}$ is bounded coherent when X is. Please note that this is not automatic from Lemma 5.5.19, as points of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi need not be coherent in general.

6.6.1. Let $f: U \to V$ be a morphism between coherent objects of an ∞ -topos X. Then the geometric morphism $f_*: X_{/U} \to X_{/V}$ is coherent.

6.6.2 Lemma. Let X be a bounded ∞ -topos and $U \in X_{<\infty}$ a truncated object of X. Then the over ∞ -topos $X_{/U}$ is bounded.

Proof. Indeed, if *U* is *n*-truncated, and if *X* is *N*-localic for some $N \ge n$, then $X_{/U}$ in *N*-localic as well (Example 3.2.8). The claim now follows by exhibiting *X* as an inverse limit of localic ∞ -topoi.

6.6.3. Let **X** be a bounded coherent ∞ -topos and x_* a point of **X**. Then the full subcategory

$$\operatorname{Nbd}_{\leq \infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}(x) \subset \operatorname{Nbd}(x)$$

consisting of those neighborhoods (U, u) such that U is a truncated coherent object of X is limit-cofinal in Nbd(x). Thus Proposition 6.5.3, (6.6.1), and Lemma 6.6.2 together show that

$$\mathbf{X}_{(x)} \simeq \lim_{\substack{(U,u) \in \operatorname{Nbd}_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}(x)}} \mathbf{X}_{/U}$$

is an inverse limit in Top_{∞} of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morphisms.

From Corollary 3.9.4=[SAG, Corollary A.8.3.3] we deduce the following.

6.6.4 Lemma. Let X be a bounded coherent ∞ -topos and x_* a point of X. Then the localization $X_{(x)}$ is bounded coherent and the geometric morphism $\ell_{x,*}$: $X_{(x)} \to X$ is coherent.

6.7 Geometric examples of localizations

Now we turn to examples of local ∞ -topoi coming from algebraic geometry. For these examples, please recall Remark 6.2.5.

6.7.1 Example ([72, Example 1.2(a)]). Let W be a topological space and $s \in W$ a *special point* in the sense that the only open set of W containing s is W itself. Then it is immediate that the functor $\widetilde{W} \to \mathbf{S}$ given by taking the stalk at s is equivalent to the global sections functor. Hence the ∞ -topos \widetilde{W} is local with center $x_* : \mathbf{S} \to \widetilde{W}$.

6.7.2 Subexample ([SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, 8.4.6]). Let *A* be a local ring with maximal ideal **m**. Then the point **m** of the Zariski space Spec(*A*)^{zar} is special. Hence the Zariski ∞ -topos (Spec *A*)_{zar} is local. Moreover, if $\phi : A \to A'$ is a local homomorphism of local rings, then the induced geometric morphism of Zariski ∞ -topoi (Spec *A'*)_{zar} \to (Spec *A*)_{zar} is a local geometric morphism.

6.7.3 Example ([SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VI, 8.4.4]). Let X be a scheme and $x \in X$. Then the localization of the Zariski ∞ -topos of X at the point x is the Zariski ∞ -topos of the local ring $O_{X,x}$.

6.7.4 Example. Let X be a scheme, and let $x \to X$ be a point with image $x_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$. Suppose x is a *geometric point* in the sense that the residue field $\kappa(x)$ is a separable closure of $\kappa(x_0)$. Then the localization of the étale ∞ -topos of X at x is the étale ∞ -topos of the *strict localization* $X_{(x)} := \text{Spec } O_{X,x_0}^{\text{sh}}$. That is,

$$(X_{\text{\acute{e}t}})_{(x)} \simeq (X_{(x)})_{\text{\acute{e}t}} .$$

More generally, for any point $x \to X$, the evanescent ∞ -topos $x_{\text{ét}} \overleftarrow{x}_{X_{\text{ét}}} X_{\text{ét}}$ admits an analogous description. Write O_{X,x_0}^h for the hensilization of the local ring O_{X,x_0} , and let

 $A_x \supset O^{h}_{X,x_0}$

denote the unramified extension of O^h_{X,x_0} with residue field the separable closure of $\kappa(x_0)$ in $\kappa(x)$. Then there is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi

$$x_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \overleftarrow{\times}_{X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}} X_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \simeq (\operatorname{Spec} A_x)_{\text{\acute{e}t}} .$$

7 Basechange conditions for oriented fiber products

The goal of this chapter is to prove a basechange result for oriented fiber products of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi (Theorem 7.1.7). Our result provides a nonabelian refinement of a basechange result of Gabber [67, Exposé XI, Théorème 2.4] as well as one of Moerdijk–Vermeulen [93, Theorem 2(i)]. This basechange result is essential to our *décollage* approach to *stratified higher topoi* in Chapter 8. So that we can first introduce the basechange theorem in question, a detailed overview of this chapter appears at the end of §7.1.

7.1 Basechange transformations & basechange conditions

We begin by recalling the *basechange natural transformation* associated to an oriented square of ∞ -topoi. We are mostly concerned with the 'left' basechange transformation, but have one situation in which we need to consider the 'right' basechange transformation, so we introduce them both here.

7.1.1 Definition. Consider an oriented square of ∞ -categories:

(7.1.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} A \xrightarrow{q_*} C \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ B \xrightarrow{f_*} D \end{array}$$

(7.1.1.1) Assume that the functors f_* and q_* admit left adjoints f^* and q^* , respectively. Write $c_f : f^*f_* \to id_B$ for the counit and $u_q : id_C \to q_*q^*$ for the unit. The *left basechange transformation* associated to the oriented square (7.1.2) is the composition

$$\mathrm{BC}_{\sigma} \colon f^*g_* \xrightarrow{f^*g_*u_q} f^*g_*q_*q^* \xrightarrow{f^*\sigma q^*} f^*f_*p_*q^* \xrightarrow{c_f p_*q^*} p_*q^* \cdot$$

We say that the square (7.1.2) is *left adjointable* or *satisfies the left basechange condition* if the natural transformation $BC_{\sigma} f^*g_* \rightarrow p_*q^*$ is an equivalence.

(7.1.1.2) Assume that the functors p_* and g_* admit right adjoints p' and g', respectively. Write $c_p : p_*p' \to id_B$ for the counit and $u_g : id_C \to g'g_*$ for the unit. The *right basechange transformation* associated to the oriented square (7.1.2) is the composition

$$q_*p^! \xrightarrow{u_g q_*p^!} g^!g_*q_*p^! \xrightarrow{g^!\sigma p^!} g^!f_*p_*p^! \xrightarrow{g^!f_*c_p} g^!f_* \ .$$

7.1.3 Remark. In classical category theory, the adjointability of a commutative square of 1-categories is often referred to as the *Beck–Chevalley condition*, and the basechange trransformations are often referred to as *Beck–Chevalley transformations* [93; 94, Chapter I, §3].

7.1.4. Please observe that given oriented squares of ∞ -categories



in which the horizontal functors all admit left adjoints, the basechange morphism of the outer oriented rectangle is equivalent to natural transformation given by the composite of the basechange morphisms



The purpose of this chapter is to generalize the Theorem of Gabber–Illusie and Moerdijk–Vermeulen that oriented fiber product squares of coherent ordinary topoi satisfy the basechange condition. However, the ∞ -toposic generalization is a bit more subtle: exactly because coherent geometric morphisms between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi only preserve colimits of uniformly truncated filtered diagrams and not all filtered colimits (Corollary 3.10.5), oriented fiber product squares of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi only satisfy the weaker *truncated* basechange condition.

7.1.5 Definition. We say that an oriented square of ∞ -topoi and geometric morphisms

(7.1.6)
$$\begin{array}{c} W \xrightarrow{q_*} Y \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \downarrow g \\ X \xrightarrow{f_*} Z \end{array}$$

satisfies the *truncated basechange condition* if for every truncated object $F \in Y_{<\infty}$, the basechange morphism $BC_{\sigma}(F)$: $f^*g_*(F) \to pr_{1,*} pr_2^*(F)$ is an equivalence in X.

The following theorem the main result of this chapter:

7.1.7 Theorem. Let $f_* : X \to Z$ and $g_* : Y \to Z$ be coherent geometric morphisms between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi. Then the oriented fiber product square

(7.1.8)
$$\begin{array}{c} X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}} Y \\ pr_{1,*} \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \qquad \downarrow g_{*} \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z \end{array}$$

satisfies the truncated basechange condition.

By passing to 1-localic ∞ -topoi in Theorem 7.1.7, we deduce Moerdijk and Vermeulen's 1-toposic basechange condition [93, Theorem 2(i)].

7.1.9 Corollary. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be coherent geometric morphisms between coherent 1-topoi. Then the oriented fiber product square of 1-topoi

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y} & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_{2,*}} \boldsymbol{Y} \\ & & & & & \\ \mathrm{pr}_{1,*} & \swarrow & & & \\ \boldsymbol{X} & \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} \end{array}$$

satisfies the left basechange condition. That is, the basechange natural transformation $f^*g_* \rightarrow \mathrm{pr}_{1,*} \mathrm{pr}_2^*$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Write X', Y', and Z' for the 1-localic ∞ -topoi associated to X, Y, and Z, respectively. Combining the equivalence between coherent 1-localic ∞ -topoi and coherent 1-topoi (Proposition 3.6.11) with Theorem 7.1.7 shows that the oriented fiber product square of ∞ -topoi

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X' \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z'} Y' & \longrightarrow & Y' \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & \swarrow & & \downarrow \\ & X' & \longrightarrow & Z' \end{array}$$

satisfies the truncated basechange condition. We conclude by restricting to 0-truncated objects and applying Lemma 5.4.13.

We now give an overview of the rest of the chapter. The chapter is broken into two parts: §§7.2 to 7.4 provide examples and applications of Theorem 7.1.7 that do no require understanding its proof, and §§7.5 to 7.7 are dedicated to the proof of Theorem 7.1.7.

Section 7.2 provides some example situations where the basechange condition for oriented fiber products can be easily verified. Section 7.3 provides some example applications of Theorem 7.1.7; notably we generalize [SGA 1, Exposé X, Corollaire 1.7; 25, Theorem 5.3] by showing that if X and Y are coherent schemes over a separably closed field k and Y is proper, then the profinite étale homotopy type of $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} Y$ coincides with the product of the profinite étale homotopy types of X and Y. In §7.4 we investigate the stable consequences of Theorem 7.1.7 and deduce a generalization of the derived categories basechange theorem for oriented fiber products of Gabber–Illusie [67, Exposé XI, Théorème 2.4].

We then embark on our proof of Theorem 7.1.7, which is inspired by the proof of the Gabber–Illusie basechange theorem. Just like how the proof of the proper basechange theorem in étale cohomology reduces to the case where two of the schemes involved are spectra of local rings, our proof of Theorem 7.1.7 reduces to the case where the ∞ -topoi X and Z are local. In Section 7.5 we prove that fiber product squares obtained by pulling back along a localization $\ell_{x,*}: X_{(x)} \to X$ satisfy the truncated basechange condition (Proposition 7.5.1); this is one of the key ingredients that allows us to reduce the proof of Theorem 7.1.7 to the case where X and Z are local. Section 7.6 discusses the functoriality of oriented fiber products in oriented morphisms of cospans that we need to deduce Theorem 7.1.7 from the contents of Section 7.5. In Section 7.7 we put everything together and prove Theorem 7.1.7.

7.2 Examples of the basechange condition

In this section we provide a few examples of (oriented) squares that are easily seen to satisfy the basechange condition. None of these examples are used in the sequel. The first two examples are due to an observation of Gabber [67, Exposé XI, Remarque 4.9].

7.2.1 Example. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Then from the equivalence $\Psi_f^* \simeq \operatorname{pr}_{1,*}: X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Z \to X$ and the fact that $\operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \Psi_{f,*} \simeq f_*$ (Proposition 6.3.1), we have equivalences

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}\operatorname{pr}_2^* \simeq \Psi_f^* \operatorname{pr}_2^* \simeq f^*$$
.

From this we deduce the left basechange condition for the defining oriented square of the evanescent ∞ -topos:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Z \xrightarrow{\mu_{2,*}} Z \\ pr_{1,*} \downarrow & \swarrow & \parallel \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z \end{array}$$

7.2.2 Example. Dually, let $g_*: Y \to Z$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. From Proposition 6.3.4 we see that the defining oriented square of the coëvanescent ∞ -topos $Z \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ satisfies the left basechange condition.

As noted by Johnstone–Moerdijk [72, Remark 2.5], pullbacks along local geometric morphisms also satisfy the basechange condition.

7.2.3 Example. Consider a pullback square of ∞-topoi

(7.2.4)
$$\begin{array}{c} X \times_{Z} Y \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Y \\ & & \downarrow \\ g_{*} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z , \end{array}$$

where g_* exhibits Y as local over Z with center $g^!$. Then by (6.2.11) the geometric morphism \bar{g}_* exhibits $X \times_Z Y$ as local over X and the center $\bar{g}^!$ of \bar{g}_* satisfies $\bar{f}_* \bar{g}^! \simeq g^! f_*$. We have adjunctions

$$f^*g_* \dashv g^!f_*$$
 and $\bar{g}_*\bar{f}^* \dashv \bar{f}_*\bar{g}^!$

so the equivalence $\bar{f}_*\bar{g}^! \simeq g^! f_*$ shows that $f^*g_* \simeq \bar{g}_*\bar{f}^*$. From this equivalence which we deduce the left basechange condition for the square (7.2.4).

7.2.5 Example. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi.

Decompose the oriented fiber product $X \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\times}_Z Y$ as an iterated pullback

(7.2.6)
$$\begin{array}{c} X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y \longrightarrow Z \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y \longrightarrow Y \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Z \longrightarrow \operatorname{Path}(Z) \longrightarrow Z \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z \longrightarrow Z \longrightarrow Z. \end{array}$$

It follows from Example 7.2.3 that local geometric morphisms are *proper* [HTT, Definition 7.3.1.4]. Assume that g_* is a proper geometric morphism. Then by applying Example 7.2.1 to the lower right square of (7.2.6), Examples 6.3.6 and 7.2.3 to the lower left square of (7.2.6), and the properness of g_* to the top squares of (7.2.6), we deduce that the three pullback squares in (7.2.6) and the oriented square all satisfy the left basechange condition, and that $pr_{1,*}: X \overleftarrow{\succ}_Z Y \to X$ is a proper geometric morphism.

7.3 Applications of the basechange theorem for oriented fiber products

In this section we give a number of applications of our basechange theorem (Theorem 7.1.7).

7.3.1 Example. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi, and assume that X and Y are bounded coherent and Z is Stone. Then by Corollary 4.4.15=[SAG, Corollary E.3.1.2], f_* and g_* are automatically coherent. Since Z is Stone, Proposition 9.1.1 shows that

$$X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \simeq X \times_Z Y$$

Hence by Theorem 7.1.7 we see that the (unoriented) pullback square

satisfies the truncated basechange condition.

7.3.3 Subexample. Set Z = S in Example 7.3.1, so that $f_* = \Gamma_{X,*}$ and $g_* = \Gamma_{Y,*}$. Since left exact functors preserve truncated objects, we see that for any truncated space *K* the natural morphism

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X},*}\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}}^*\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*}\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}}^*(K) \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X},*}\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}\operatorname{pr}_2^*\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}}^*(K)$$

in S is an equivalence. Hence the natural morphism

$$\Pi_{\infty}(X) \circ \Pi_{\infty}(Y) \to \Pi_{\infty}(X \times Y)$$

of prospaces becomes an equivalence after protruncation. Since the composition monoidal structure and cartesian monoidal structre on Pro(S) coincide on the full subcategory S^{\wedge}_{π} of profinite spaces (Recollection 2.8.2), we deduce that

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X} \times \boldsymbol{Y}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}) \times \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{Y}) \,.$$

Combining this with Corollary 4.3.7 we see that the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}$: $Top_{\infty}^{bc} \to S_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ preserves both inverse limits and finite products.

7.3.4 Example. Let k be a separably closed field and let X and Y be k-schemes. Assume that X is coherent and Y is proper over k. Then combining Chough's work generalizing the proper basechange theorem in étale cohomology to the nonabelian setting [25, Theorem 5.3] with Subexample 7.3.3, we see that the natural geometric morphism

(7.3.5)
$$(X \times_{\operatorname{Spec} k} Y)_{\acute{e}t} \to X_{\acute{e}t} \underset{(\operatorname{Spec} k)_{\acute{e}t}}{\times} Y_{\acute{e}t} \simeq X_{\acute{e}t} \times Y_{\acute{e}t}$$

induces an equivalence on profinite shapes. Equivalently, the natural geometric morphism (7.3.5) induces an equivalence on lisse sheaves (Corollary 4.4.17=[SAG, Corollary E.2.3.3]).

7.4 Stable consequences of nonabelian basechange

Let *R* be a commutative ring and

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X \overleftarrow{\asymp}_{Z} Y & \xrightarrow{p_{1}_{2,*}} Y \\ & & & & \\ p_{r_{1,*}} \downarrow & \swarrow & & \\ & & & & \\ & X & \xrightarrow{f_{\sigma}} & Z \end{array}$$

nr.

an oriented fiber product square of coherent 1-topoi and coherent geometric morphisms. Gabber and Illusie proved the following stable variant of Theorem 7.1.7: for any object $F \in D(Y; R)$ that is bounded-above with respect to the natural t-structure on D(Y; R) (Recollection 7.4.9), the basechange morphism

$$f^*g_*(F) \rightarrow \operatorname{pr}_{1,*}\operatorname{pr}_2^*(F)$$

is an equivalence [67, Exposé XI, Théorème 2.4]. In this section, we explain how to deduce this result of Gabber–Illusie from Theorem 7.1.7. We also show that the result holds more generally when X, Y, and Z are bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and R is replaced by a connective E₁-ring spectrum (Proposition 7.4.11 and Example 7.4.13).

The proof ultimately reduces to the fact that the basechange morphisms are compatible with the forgetful functors from sheaves of R-module spectra to sheaves of spaces; this fact is elementary, but we could not locate it elsewhere in the literature. To explain this fact, we begin by recalling the basics of *stabilization* and sheaves of R-module spectra. The reader familiar with this basic fact or more interested in the stable consequences of Theorem 7.1.7 but not their proofs is encouraged to skip ahead to Proposition 7.4.11. **7.4.1 Recollection** (stabilization [HA, Definition 1.4.2.8]). Write $S^{fin} \subset S$ for the ∞ -category of *finite spaces*: the smallest full subcategory of S containing the terminal object and closed under finite colimits. Let C be an ∞ -category with finite limits. Recall that the *stabilization* of C is the full subcategory

$$\operatorname{Sp}(C) \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\mathbf{S}_*^{\operatorname{fin}}, C)$$

spanned by those functors that preserve the terminal object and carry pushout squares in S_*^{fin} to pullback squares in *C*. Also recall that the functor

$$\Omega_C^{\infty}$$
: Sp(C) \rightarrow C

is defined by evaluation on the 0-sphere $S^0 \in S_*^{fin}$.

Write $\mathbf{Sp} := \mathbf{Sp}(\mathbf{S})$ for the ∞ -category of *spectra*. If *C* is presentable, then the stabilization $\mathbf{Sp}(C)$ is equivalent to the tensor product of presentable ∞ -categories $C \otimes \mathbf{Sp}$ [HA, Example 4.8.1.23].

7.4.2 (functoriality of stabilization). Let $F: C \to D$ be a left exact functor between ∞ -categories with finite limits. Then post-composition with *F* defines a functor

$$\operatorname{Sp}(F) \coloneqq F \circ - \colon \operatorname{Sp}(C) \to \operatorname{Sp}(D)$$

on stabilizations. When it does not cause confusion, we simply denote this induced functor $\text{Sp}(C) \rightarrow \text{Sp}(D)$ by *F*. It is immediate from the definitions that the square



canonically commutes.

7.4.3 (stabilization of adjunctions). Let $F : C \rightleftharpoons D : G$ be an adjunction between ∞ categories with finite limits, and assume that the left adjoint *F* is left exact. Then the
functor $F : \operatorname{Sp}(C) \to \operatorname{Sp}(D)$ is left adjoint to $G : \operatorname{Sp}(D) \to \operatorname{Sp}(C)$.

Now let us explain the sense in which stabilization is compatible with basechange morphisms.

7.4.4 (stabilization of naural transformations). Let $F, F' : C \to D$ be left exact functors between ∞ -categories with finite limits, and let $\sigma : F \to F'$ be a natural transformation. Then pointwise appication of σ defines a natural transformation

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\sigma) \colon \operatorname{Sp}(F) \to \operatorname{Sp}(F')$$

When it does not cause confusion, we simply denote the natural transformation $Sp(\sigma)$ by σ .

It is immediate from the definitions that the natural transformation $\text{Sp}(\sigma)$ is compatible with σ in the following sense: we have a natural identification $\Omega_D^{\infty} \text{Sp}(\sigma) = \sigma \Omega_C^{\infty}$ of natural transformations

$$F\Omega_C^{\infty} = \Omega_D^{\infty} \operatorname{Sp}(F) \to \Omega_D^{\infty} \operatorname{Sp}(F') = F'\Omega_C^{\infty}$$

7.4.5 (compatibility of stabilization and basechange morphisms). Consider an oriented square of ∞ -categories and *left exact* functors:

$$\begin{array}{c} A \xrightarrow{q_*} C \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ B \xrightarrow{f_*} D \end{array}.$$

Assume that the functors f_* and q_* admit *left exact* left adjoints f^* and q^* , respectively. From (7.4.4) we see that we have a natural identification

$$\Omega^{\infty}_{B} \operatorname{BC}_{\operatorname{Sp}(\sigma)} = \operatorname{BC}_{\sigma} \Omega^{\infty}_{C}$$

of natural transformations

$$f^*g_*\Omega_C^{\infty} = \Omega_B^{\infty} \operatorname{Sp}(f^*) \operatorname{Sp}(g_*) \to \Omega_B^{\infty} \operatorname{Sp}(p_*) \operatorname{Sp}(q^*) = p_*q^*\Omega_C^{\infty}$$
.

Now we generalize to coefficients in any connective E₁-ring spectrum.

7.4.6 Notation. Let *X* be an ∞ -topos and *R* a connective E₁-ring spectrum. Write:

- LMod(R) for the ∞ -category of left R-module spectra. (Note that if R is an ordinary associative ring, then LMod(R) is the derived ∞ -category D(R) obtained from the category of chain complexes of R-modules by formally inverting the quasi-isomorphisms.)
- $D(X; R) := X \otimes LMod(R)$ for the ∞ -category of sheaves of (left) *R*-modules on *X*.
- U_{*X*} : D(*X*; *R*) → Sp(*X*) for the forgetful functor.

Given a geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Z$, we simply write

$$f_*: D(X; R) \to D(Z; R)$$

for the induced right adjoint functor with left exact left adjoint. Note that the induced functors on sheaves of R-module spectra commute with the forgetful functors in the sense that we have canonical identifications

$$U_Z f_* = f_* U_X$$
 and $U_Z f^* = f^* U_X$.

The analagoues of (7.4.4) and (7.4.5) remain true when we forget from sheaves of *R*-module spectra to sheaves of spectra. The important point is the following:

7.4.7. Given an oriented square of ∞ -topoi and geometric morphisms

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \boldsymbol{Y} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ \boldsymbol{X} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} , \end{array}$$

we have a natural identification

$$U_X BC_\sigma = BC_\sigma U_Y$$

of natural transformations

$$f^*g_* \operatorname{U}_{\mathbf{Y}} = \operatorname{U}_{\mathbf{X}} f^*g_* \to \operatorname{U}_{\mathbf{X}} p_*q^* = p_*q^* \operatorname{U}_{\mathbf{Y}}$$

Finally, to state the main results of this section, let us recall the natural t-structure on D(X; R).

7.4.8 Convention. We use *homological* indexing conventions for our t-structures. If *D* is a stable ∞ -category with a t-structure, then the shift $G \mapsto G[1]$ is suspension, and we write $D_{\geq n} \coloneqq D_{\geq 0}[n]$ and $D_{\leq n} \coloneqq D_{\leq 0}[n]$.

7.4.9 Recollection ([SAG, Proposition 1.3.2.7]). Let X be an ∞ -topos. Recall that the stabilization $\operatorname{Sp}(X)$ has a natural t-structure $(\operatorname{Sp}(X)_{\geq 0}, \operatorname{Sp}(X)_{\leq 0})$ defined by saying that $F \in \operatorname{Sp}(X)_{\leq 0}$ if and only if $\Omega_X^{\infty} F$ is a 0-truncated object of X. Consequently, for each integer $n \geq 0$, an object F of $\operatorname{Sp}(X)$ is in $\operatorname{Sp}(X)_{\leq n}$ if and only if $\Omega_X^{\infty} F$ is an *n*-truncated object of X.

Let *R* be a connective E_1 -ring spectrum. There is a natural t-structure on D(X; R) given by setting

$$\mathsf{D}(\boldsymbol{X};\boldsymbol{R})_{\geq 0}\coloneqq \mathsf{U}_{\boldsymbol{X}}^{-1}(\mathsf{Sp}(\boldsymbol{X})_{\geq 0}) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathsf{D}(\boldsymbol{X};\boldsymbol{R})_{\leq 0}\coloneqq \mathsf{U}_{\boldsymbol{X}}^{-1}(\mathsf{Sp}(\boldsymbol{X})_{\leq 0}) \;.$$

7.4.10 Notation. Let S be a stable ∞ -category with t-structure $(S_{\geq 0}, S_{\leq 0})$. We write

$$S_{<\infty} \coloneqq \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} S_{\leq n}$$

for the full subcategory of S spanned by the t-bounded-above objects.

We are now ready to prove our refinement of the basechange theorem of Gabber–Illusie. The proof proceeds in two steps. First we note that it suffices to check the claim in the 'universal' case where R is the sphere spectrum. We then show that, in this case, the claim follows from the truncated basechange condition at the level of ∞ -topoi.

a.

7.4.11 Proposition. Let

(7.4.12)

$$egin{array}{ccc} egin{array}{ccc} egin{array}{cccc} egin{array}{ccc} egin{array}{ccc} egin{arr$$

be an oriented square of ∞ -topoi. If (7.4.12) satisfies the truncated basechange condition, then for any E₁-ring spectrum **R**, the left basechange morphism associated to the oriented square

$$D(\boldsymbol{W}; \boldsymbol{R}) \xrightarrow{q_*} D(\boldsymbol{Y}; \boldsymbol{R})$$

$$p_* \downarrow \swarrow_{\sigma} \qquad \qquad \downarrow g_*$$

$$D(\boldsymbol{X}; \boldsymbol{R}) \xrightarrow{f_*} D(\boldsymbol{Z}; \boldsymbol{R}).$$

of stable ∞ -categories is an equivalence when restricted to $D(Y; R)_{<\infty} \subset D(Y; R)$.

Proof. Since the forgetful functor $U_X : D(X; R) \to Sp(X)$ is conservative, it suffices to show that for all $F \in D(Y; R)_{<\infty}$, the morphism

$$U_X \operatorname{BC}(F) \colon U_X f^* g_*(F) \to U_X p_* q^*(F)$$

is an equivalence. By (7.4.7), we see that the morphism $U_X BC(F)$ is equivalent to the morphism

BC(U_Y F):
$$f^*g_*(U_Y F) \rightarrow p_*q^*(U_Y F)$$

in $Sp(\boldsymbol{X})$.

To see that $BC(U_Y F)$ is an equivalence, we need to show that for each integer $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the morphism

$$\Omega_X^{\infty - n} \operatorname{BC}(\operatorname{U}_Y F) \colon \Omega_X^{\infty - n} f^* g_*(\operatorname{U}_Y F) \to \Omega_X^{\infty - n} p_* q^*(\operatorname{U}_Y F)$$

is an equivalence. Since both the left and right adjoint in a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi are left exact, applying (7.4.5) we see that the morphism $\Omega_X^{\infty - n} \operatorname{BC}(\operatorname{U}_Y F)$ is equivalent to the morphism

$$\operatorname{BC}(\Omega_Y^{\infty-n}\operatorname{U}_Y F): f^*g_*(\Omega_Y^{\infty-n}\operatorname{U}_Y F) \to p_*q^*(\Omega_Y^{\infty-n}\operatorname{U}_Y F) \,.$$

The assumption that $F \in D(Y; R)_{<\infty}$ is t-bounded-above guarantees that for all integers $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, the object $\Omega_Y^{\infty-n} U_Y F$ is truncated. Since the square (7.4.12) satisfies the truncated basechange condition, we see that $BC(\Omega_Y^{\infty-n} U_Y F)$ is an equivalence. This completes the proof.

7.4.13 Example. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ and $g_*: Y \to Z$ be coherent geometric morphisms between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and let *R* be a connective E₁-ring spectrum. Theorem 7.1.7 and Proposition 7.4.11 show that the left basechange morphism associated to the oriented square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y}; \boldsymbol{R}) & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_{2,*}} & \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{Y}; \boldsymbol{R}) \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{X}; \boldsymbol{R}) & \xrightarrow{f_*} & \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{Z}; \boldsymbol{R}) \end{array}$$

of stable ∞ -categories is an equivalence when restricted to $D(Y; R)_{<\infty} \subset D(Y; R)$.

7.5 Localizations & the truncated basechange condition

The remainder of the chapter is dedicated to actually proving Theorem 7.1.7. In this section we prove the following basechange result, which ultimately allows us to reduce to proving Theorem 7.1.7 in the case where X and Z are local and f_* is a local geometric morphism.

7.5.1 Proposition. Let $p_*: W \to X$ be a coherent geometric morphism between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi. Then for any point x_* of X, the pullback square

$$\widetilde{x} \stackrel{\widetilde{\times}_X W}{\downarrow} \stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow} \underset{X_{(x)} \xrightarrow{} \ell_{x,*}}{\longrightarrow} X$$

satisfies the truncated basechange condition.

To prove Proposition 7.5.1, we use the Grothendieck–Verdier description of the localization (Proposition 6.5.3) and the (obvious) fact that pullbacks along étale geometric morphisms satisfy basechange condition to reduce to a general result on inverse limits (Proposition 7.5.5).

7.5.2 Lemma. Let $f_* : E \to X$ and $p_* : W \to X$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. If f_* is étale, then the pullback square



satisfies the left basechange condition.

We fix some useful notation for the result.

7.5.3 Notation. Let $W, X : I \to \text{Top}_{\infty}$ be diagrams of ∞ -topoi. For each morphism $\alpha : j \to i$ in *I*, we write

$$e_{\alpha,*}: W_j \to W_i \text{ and } f_{\alpha,*}: X_j \to X_i$$

for the transition morphisms. For each $i \in I$, we write

$$\xi_{i,*}$$
: $\lim_{i \in I} W_i \to W_i$ and $\pi_{i,*}$: $\lim_{i \in I} X_i \to X_i$

for the projections. In addition, we assume that for each morphism $\alpha : j \rightarrow i$ in *I*, the functors

$$e_{\alpha,*}: W_j \to W_i$$
 and $f_{\alpha,*}: X_j \to X_i$

almost preserve filtered colimits (Definition 3.10.2).

7.5.4. Most importantly, the assumptions of Notation 7.5.3 are valid for inverse systems of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and coherent geometric morhisms (Corollary 3.10.5).

7.5.5 Proposition. Keep the assumptions of Notation 7.5.3. Let $p: W \to X$ be a natural transformation, each of whose components $p_{i,*}: W_i \to X_i$ is almost preserves filtered colimits. If for each morphism $\alpha : j \to i$ in I, the square

(7.5.6)
$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W}_{j} \xrightarrow{e_{\alpha,*}} \boldsymbol{W}_{i} \\ p_{j,*} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow p_{i,*} \\ \boldsymbol{X}_{j} \xrightarrow{f_{\alpha,*}} \boldsymbol{X}_{i} \end{array}$$

satisfies the truncated basechange condition, then for each $i \in I$ the induced square

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \lim_{i \in I} \boldsymbol{W}_{i} & \stackrel{\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{i,*}}{\longrightarrow} & \boldsymbol{W}_{i} \\ \lim_{i \in I} p_{i,*} & & \downarrow^{p_{i,*}} \\ \lim_{i \in I} \boldsymbol{X}_{i} & \stackrel{\boldsymbol{\pi}_{i,*}}{\longrightarrow} & \boldsymbol{X}_{i} \end{array}$$

satisfies the truncated basechange condition.

Proof. Since I is inverse, for each $i \in I$, the forgetful functor $I_{i} \to I$ is limit-cofinal [HTT, Example 5.4.5.9 & Lemma 5.4.5.12]. Thus we may without loss of generality assume that I admits a terminal object 1 and that i = 1. Writing $q_* := \lim_{i \in I} p_{i,*}$, we see that we have reduced to showing that the square

satisfies the truncated basechange condition.

Inverse limits in \mathbf{Top}_{∞} are computed in $\mathbf{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$ (Theorem 3.1.10=[HTT, Theorem 6.3.3.1]), so an object of the limit of a diagram $Y : I \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$ is specified by a compatible system $\{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of objects $U_i \in Y_i$ along with, for each $\alpha : j \to i$ in I, an equivalence ϕ_{α} : $g_{\alpha,*}(U_j) \simeq U_i$, where $g_{\alpha,*}$: $Y_j \to Y_i$ is the transition morphism. Thus for $U \in W_1$ we have

$$q_*\xi_1^*(U) \simeq \{p_{i,*}\xi_{i,*}\xi_1^*(U)\}_{i \in I}$$

and

$$\pi_1^* p_{1,*}(U) \simeq \{\pi_{i,*} \pi_1^* p_{1,*}(U)\}_{i \in I}$$

It therefore suffices to show that for each $i \in I$, the natural morphism

$$\pi_{i,*} \operatorname{BC} : \pi_{i,*} \pi_1^* p_{1,*} \to \pi_{i,*} q_* \xi_1^* \simeq p_{i,*} \xi_{i,*} \xi_1^*$$

induced by the basechange morphism BC: $\pi_1^* p_{1,*} \rightarrow q_* \xi_1^*$ is an equivalence when

restricted to $(W_1)_{<\infty}$. For $i \in I$ and $\alpha : i \to 1$ the unique morphism, we simply write $f_{i,*} := f_{\alpha,*}$ and $e_{i,*} := e_{\alpha,*}$. Note that for every truncated object $W \in (W_1)_{<\infty}$ we have equivalences

$$\pi_{i,*}\pi_1^*p_{1,*}(U) \simeq \pi_{i,*}\pi_i^*f_i^*p_{1,*}(U)$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\alpha,*}f_{\alpha}^*f_i^*p_{1,*}(U) \qquad \text{(Corollary 4.3.4)}$$

$$\Longrightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{[\alpha: \ j \to i] \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} f_{\alpha,*}p_{j,*}e_{\alpha}^*f_i^*(U)$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} p_{i,*}e_{\alpha,*}e_{\alpha}^*e_i^*(U) ,$$

where the third equivalence is by the assumption that the square (7.5.6) satisfies the truncated basechange condition. In addition, Corollary 4.3.4 and the fact that $\xi_i^* f_i^* \simeq \xi_1^*$ give equivalences

$$p_{i,*}\left(\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} e_{\alpha,*} e_{\alpha}^* e_i^*(U) \right) \simeq p_{i,*} \xi_{i,*} \xi_i^* f_i^* \simeq p_{i,*} \xi_{i,*} \xi_1^*(U)$$

for every truncated object $U \in (W_1)_{<\infty}$. As left exact functors preserve *n*-truncatedness for all $n \ge -2$, and each $p_{i,*}$ almost preserves filtered colimits by assumption, we see that for every truncated object U of W_1 , the natural morphism

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} p_{i,*}e_{\alpha,*}e_{\alpha}^{*}e_{i}^{*}(U) \to p_{i,*}\left(\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in (I_{/i})^{\operatorname{op}}} e_{\alpha,*}e_{\alpha}^{*}e_{i}^{*}(U)\right)$$

is an equivalence. This provides an equivalence

(7.5.8)
$$\pi_{i,*}\pi_1^*p_{1,*}(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} p_{i,*}\xi_{i,*}\xi_1^*(U)$$

To conclude, note that the equivalence (7.5.8) is homotopic to $\pi_{1,*}$ BC(U).

Proof of Proposition 7.5.1. Combine Lemma 7.5.2 and Proposition 7.5.5; note that the hypotheses of Proposition 7.5.5 are valid by (6.6.3) and Corollary 3.10.5 (cf. Corollary 3.9.4=[SAG, Corollary A.8.3.3]).

7.6 Functoriality of oriented fiber products in oriented diagrams

In this section we discuss the functoriality of the oriented fiber product in oriented diagrams of cospans. Then we use this additional functoriality to construct some unexpected extra adjoints to the second projection from the oriented fiber product (Proposition 7.6.6). In nice cases, this provides a way to check that the basechange morphism becomes an equivalence after passing to stalks (Lemma 7.6.9); this is key to our proof of Theorem 7.1.7.

The main results of this section generalize and refine results of Gabber–Illusie [67, Exposé XI, Proposition 2.3].

7.6.1. Suppose that we are given a diagram of ∞ -topoi and natural transformations

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \boldsymbol{X} & \stackrel{f_*}{\longrightarrow} & \boldsymbol{Z} & \stackrel{g_*}{\longleftarrow} & \boldsymbol{Y} \\ x_* & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \boldsymbol{X}' & \stackrel{\eta}{\longleftarrow} & & & \\ \boldsymbol{X}' & \stackrel{g_*}{\longrightarrow} & \boldsymbol{Z}' & \stackrel{g_*}{\longleftarrow} & \boldsymbol{Y}' \end{array}$$

Then by the universal property of the oriented fiber product $X' \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z'} Y'$, the diagram



$$x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} y_* \colon X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to X' \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z'} Y'$$

leaving the natural transformations η and θ implicit. Please note that the geometric morphism $x_* \overleftarrow{x}_{z_*} y_*$ satisfies the obvious relations

$$\operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \circ (x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} y_*) \simeq x_* \operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \circ (x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} y_*) \simeq y_* \operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \ .$$

7.6.2. Suppose that we are given a commutative diagram of ∞ -topoi

(7.6.3)
$$\begin{array}{c} X \xrightarrow{f_*} Z \xleftarrow{g_*} Y \\ x_* \downarrow & \downarrow \\ X' \xrightarrow{f_*} Z' \xleftarrow{g_*} Y', \end{array}$$

and assume that x_* , y_* , and z_* are coëssential with centers $x^!$, $y^!$, and $z^!$, respectively. Using the *right* basechange morphisms with respect to the adjunctions $x_* \dashv x^!$, $y_* \dashv y^!$, and $z_* \dashv z^!$ (7.1.1.2), we obtain a pair of oriented squares

(7.6.4)
$$\begin{array}{c} X' \xrightarrow{f'_{*}} Z' \xleftarrow{g'_{*}} Y' \\ x^{!} \downarrow & \swarrow & \downarrow \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z \xleftarrow{g_{*}} Y \\ \vdots \\ X \xrightarrow{f_{*}} Z \xleftarrow{g_{*}} Y \end{array}$$

Note that the natural transformation in the left-hand square of (7.6.4) points in the *wrong* direction to apply (7.6.1).

7.6.5. Keep the notations of (7.6.2), and additionally assume that the natural transformation in the left-hand square of (7.6.4) is an equivalence, so that $f_*x^! \approx z^! f'_*$. Then by the functoriality of the oriented fiber product in oriented diagrams (7.6.1), the diagram (7.6.4) defines a geometric morphism $x^! \overleftarrow{\times}_{z^!} y^! : X' \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z'} Y' \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z} Y$.

The following is now formal.

7.6.6 Proposition. With the notations and assumptions of (7.6.5), the geometric morphism

$$x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} y_* \colon X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y \to X' \overleftarrow{\times}_{Z'} Y'$$

is coëssential with center $x^! \stackrel{\scriptstyle \sim}{\times}_{z^!} y^! \colon X' \stackrel{\scriptstyle \sim}{\times}_{Z'} Y' \to X \stackrel{\scriptstyle \sim}{\times}_{Z} Y$.

We now explain a particular application of Proposition 7.6.6 that allows us to show that if $f_*: X \to Z$ is a local geometric morphism of local ∞ -topoi and $g_*: Y \to Z$ is *any* geometric morphism, then the second projection exhibits $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ as local over Y.

7.6.7. Let $f_*: X \to Z$ be a local geometric morphism of local ∞ -topoi with centers x_* and z_* , respectively, and let $g_*: Y \to Z$ be a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi. Note that all of the vertical geometric morphisms in the commutative diagram of ∞ -topoi



exhibit the top ∞ -topoi as local over the bottom ∞ -topoi. Since f_* is a local geometric morphism, applying the discussion of (7.6.2) shows that we are in the situation of (7.6.5). That is to say x_* , z_* , and id_Y induce a geometric morphism

$$x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} \operatorname{id}_Y \colon Y \simeq S \overleftarrow{\times}_S Y \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$$

The following is our generalization of [67, Exposé XI, Proposition 2.3]. Note that this generalization is not just ∞ -toposic: in our version we don't need to take stalks.

7.6.8 Lemma. With the notations of (7.6.7), the second projection $pr_{2,*}$: $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y \rightarrow Y$ exhibits $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ as local over Y with center

$$x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} \operatorname{id}_Y \colon Y \simeq S \overleftarrow{\times}_S Y \to X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$$

Proof. The fact that $pr_{2,*}$ is coëssential with center $x_* \overleftarrow{x}_{z_*} id_{\mathbf{Y}}$ is immediate from Proposition 7.6.6. The full faithfulness of $x_* \overleftarrow{x}_{z_*} id_{\mathbf{Y}}$ follows from the equivalence

$$\operatorname{pr}_{2,*} \circ (x_* \overleftarrow{\times}_{z_*} \operatorname{id}_Y) \simeq \operatorname{id}_Y .$$

In the setting of Lemma 7.6.8, we deduce that the basechange morphism becomes an equivalence after taking its stalk at the center of X.

7.6.9 Lemma. Consider an oriented square of ∞ -topoi

$$\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \boldsymbol{Y} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow \sigma \qquad \downarrow g_* \\ \boldsymbol{X} \xrightarrow{f_*} \boldsymbol{Z} , \end{array}$$

where q_* is a quasi-equivalence, X and Z are local with centers x_* and z_* , respectively, and f_* is a local geometric morphism. Then the natural transformation

$$x^* \operatorname{BC}_{\sigma} \colon x^* f^* g_* \to x^* p_* q^*$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. We prove the stronger claim that $x^*f^*g_* \simeq x^*p_*q^*$ and the space of natural transformations $x^*f^*g_* \rightarrow x^*p_*q^*$ is contractible. Since Z is local we have equivalences

$$x^* f^* g_* \simeq z^* g_* \simeq \Gamma_{Z,*} g_* \simeq \Gamma_{Y,*}$$

Since **X** is local and q_* is a quasi-equivalence, applying Lemma 6.1.3 we have equivalences

$$x^* p_* q^* \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X},*} p_* q^* \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{W},*} q^* \simeq \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y},*} \,.$$

Thus both $x^* f^* g_*$ and $x^* p_* q^*$ are equivalent to the global sections functor on Y. We are now done since $\Gamma_{Y,*}$ is corepresented by the terminal object of Y.

7.7 Proof of the basechange condition for oriented fiber products

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 7.1.7.

Proof of Theorem 7.1.7. Write BC: $f^*g_* \to \text{pr}_{1,*} \text{pr}_2^*$ for the left basechange natural transformation of the oriented fiber product square (7.1.8). Notice that since X is bounded coherent, left exact functors preserve truncated objects, and morphisms between truncated objects are truncated, Deligne Completeness (3.11.15) shows that to prove the claim it suffices to show that for every point $x_* \in \text{Pt}(X)$ and truncated object $F \in Y_{<\infty}$, the morphism

$$x^* BC(F) : x^* f^* g_*(F) \to x^* \operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \operatorname{pr}_2^*(F)$$

is an equivalence in S. We prove this by localizing X at the point x_* and reducing to the case where X and Z are local and f_* is a local geometric morphism; the claim then follows from Lemma 7.6.9.

To reduce to the local case, fix a point $x_* \in Pt(X)$, define $z_* \coloneqq f_*x_*$, and let $\bar{f}_* \colon X_{(x)} \to Z_{(z)}$ be the induced geometric morphism on localizations. To simplify notation we write

$$W \coloneqq X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$$
, $W_{(x)} \coloneqq X_{(x)} \times_X W$, and $Y_{(z)} \coloneqq Z_{(z)} \times_Z Y$.

Consider the cube



formed by pulling back the back vertical face along the bottom horizontal face. In the cube (7.7.1), the front vertical face is an oriented square, the back vertical face is an

oriented fiber product square, all other vertical faces are commutative, and the side faces are pullback squares. Moreover, the cube satisfies the following property:

(*) The natural transformation between the right adjoints given by the composite of the back and left faces of (7.7.1) is equivalent to the natural transformation given by the composite of the front and right faces of (7.7.1).

We claim that the front vertical face of (7.7.1) is an oriented fiber product square. To see this, note that by Proposition 6.5.3, the compatibility of the oriented fiber product with limits (5.4.3), the compatibility of oriented fiber products with étale geometric morphisms (Proposition 5.6.5), and Corollary 5.6.6, we have equivalences

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{X}_{(x)} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}_{(z)}} \, \boldsymbol{Y}_{(z)} &\simeq \left(\lim_{U \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \boldsymbol{X}_{/U} \right) \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\lim_{V \in \mathrm{Nbd}(z)} \boldsymbol{Z}_{/V}} \left(\lim_{V \in \mathrm{Nbd}(z)} \boldsymbol{Y}_{/g^{*}(V)} \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{U \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \lim_{V \in \mathrm{Nbd}(z)} \left(\boldsymbol{X}_{/U} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}_{/V}} \, \boldsymbol{Y}_{/g^{*}(V)} \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{U \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \lim_{V \in \mathrm{Nbd}(z)} (\boldsymbol{X} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \, \boldsymbol{Y})_{/U \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{V} g^{*}(V)} \\ &\simeq \lim_{U \in \mathrm{Nbd}(x)} \lim_{V \in \mathrm{Nbd}(z)} (\boldsymbol{X} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \, \boldsymbol{Y})_{/\mathrm{pr}_{1}^{*}(U)} \\ &\simeq \boldsymbol{X}_{(x)} \, \boldsymbol{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \, \boldsymbol{W} = \boldsymbol{W}_{(x)} \, . \end{split}$$

Also note that by applying Lemma 7.6.8 to the front face of (7.7.1), we deduce that $q_*: W_{(x)} \to Y_{(z)}$ exhibits $W_{(x)}$ as local over $Y_{(z)}$.

Now we define natural transformations

$$\alpha^R : x^* f^* g_* \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \bar{f}^* \bar{g}_* \bar{\ell}_z^* \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha^L : x^* \operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \operatorname{pr}_2^* \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} p_* q^* \bar{\ell}_z^* ,$$

which are both equivalences when restricted to $Y_{<\infty}$, as follows. Write BC^{*R*} for the basechange morphism of the right-hand vertical face of (7.7.1) and BC^L for the basechange morphism of the left-hand vertical face. Since the bottom horizontal face of (7.7.1)commutes, under identification of left adjoints, BC^R defines a natural transformation

$$\bar{f}^*\operatorname{BC}^R:\, \ell_x^*f^*g_*\simeq \bar{f}^*\ell_z^*g_*\to \bar{f}^*\bar{g}_*\bar{\ell}_z^*\,.$$

Let α^R be the composite

$$\alpha^{R}: x^{*}f^{*}g_{*} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*}\bar{f}^{*}\ell_{z}^{*}g_{*} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*}\bar{f}^{*}\operatorname{BC}^{R}} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*}\bar{f}^{*}\bar{g}_{*}\bar{\ell}_{z}^{*},$$

where the left-hand equivalence is by Lemma 6.2.10 and the fact that $z^* = x^* f^*$. By Proposition 7.5.1, BC^{*R*} is an equivalence when restricted to $Y_{<\infty}$; therefore α^{R} is also an equivalence when restricted to $Y_{<\infty}$. Similarly, since the top horizontal face of (7.7.1) commutes, under identification of left adjoints, BC^L defines a natural transformation

BC^L pr₂^{*}:
$$\ell_x^*$$
 pr_{1,*} pr₂^{*} $\to p_* \bar{\ell}_x^*$ pr₂^{*} $\simeq p_* q^* \bar{\ell}_z^*$.

Let α^L be the composite

$$\alpha^{L}: x^{*} \operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \ell_{x}^{*} \operatorname{pr}_{1,*} \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*} \xrightarrow{\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \operatorname{BC}^{L} \operatorname{pr}_{2}^{*}} \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} p_{*} q^{*} \bar{\ell}_{z}^{*},$$

where the left-hand equivalence is ensured by Lemma 6.2.10. By Proposition 7.5.1, the

where the fert-hand equivalence is ensured by Lemma 0.2.10. By Proposition 7.5.1, the natural transformation BC^L is an equivalence when restricted to $W_{<\infty}$. Since the functor pr_2^* is left exact we see that α^L is an equivalence when restricted to $Y_{<\infty}$. Write BC^F : $\bar{f}^*\bar{g}_* \to p_*q^*$ for the basechange morphism for the front vertical face of the cube (7.7.1). Since q_* : $W_{(x)} \to Y_{(z)}$ exhibits $W_{(x)}$ as local over $Y_{(z)}$, Lemma 7.6.9 shows that the natural transformation

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \operatorname{BC}^{F} \colon \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} \bar{f}^{*} \bar{g}_{*} \to \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*} p_{*} q^{*}$$

is an equivalence. Since α^R and α^L are equivalences when restricted to $Y_{<\infty}$, to complete the proof it suffices to show that the square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} x^*f^*g_* & \xrightarrow{\alpha^R} & \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*}\bar{f}^*\bar{g}_*\bar{\ell}_z^* \\ x^*\operatorname{BC} & & \downarrow \\ x^*\operatorname{BC} & & \downarrow \\ x^*\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}\operatorname{pr}_2^* & \xrightarrow{\alpha^L} & \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{(x)},*}p_*q^*\bar{\ell}_z^* \end{array}$$

commutes. This is immediate from the property (*) combined with (7.1.4).

Part III Stratified higher topos theory

In this part, we import the theory of stratifications into higher topos theory (Chapter 8). In Chapter 9 we introduce a class of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi called *spectral* ∞ -topoi. These are the bounded coherent stratified ∞ -topoi all of whose strata are Stone ∞ -topoi. The chief example of a spectral ∞ -topos is the étale ∞ -topos of a coherent scheme (Example 9.2.4). We then prove our ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 9.3.1) which shows that the ∞ -category of profinite stratified spaces is equivalent to the ∞ -category of spectral ∞ -topoi. In Chapter 10 we use ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality to provide a stratified refinement of the profinite shape – the *profinite stratified shape*, and provide stratified refinement of the main results on the profinite shape discussed in §4.4.

8 Stratified higher topoi

In this chapter we introduce the theory of stratifications for higher topoi. Much of the theory of stratified ∞ -topoi introduced here closely resembles the theory of stratified spaces introduced in Chapter 2. The main result of this chapter is to make this relationship precise: we prove that the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \text{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$ defines a fully faithful embedding of profinite stratified spaces into stratified ∞ -topoi (Proposition 8.8.6). In the following chapter, we provide an intrinsic characterization of the stratified ∞ -topoi that arise via this embedding.

Section 8.1 studies the ∞ -topos of sheaves on a spectral topological space. In §8.2 we introduce stratified ∞ -topoi and explore their basic properties. Section 8.3 explains why every coherent ∞ -topos is naturally stratified by its 0-localic reflection. Section 8.4 explains how stratified spaces give rise to stratified ∞ -topoi. In particular, we show that if $\Pi \rightarrow P$ is an *n*-truncated π -finite *P*-stratified space, then the ∞ -topos Fun(Π , **S**) is *n*-localic and coherent (Corollary 8.4.9). Section 8.5 introduces a key class of oriented squares of ∞ -topoi that are both oriented fiber product squares and oriented pushout squares. Section 8.6 uses these *gluing squares* to explain a décollage approach to stratified ∞ -topos and prove that the resulting nerve functor is an equivalence. In §8.8 we conclude the chapter by showing that profinite stratified spaces embed into stratified ∞ -topoi.

8.1 Higher topoi attached to finite posets & spectral topological spaces

8.1.1. A sheaf on a finite poset *P* (with its Alexandroff topology of Definition 1.1.2) is determined by its values on the principal open sets. These values coincide with the stalks of the sheaf. Precisely, the principal opens form a basis for the topology on *P*; moreover, and the assignment $p \mapsto P_{\geq p}$ defines a fully faithful functor $i_P : P \hookrightarrow \text{Open}(P)^{\text{op}}$, and restriction along i_P defines an equivalence

$$\widetilde{P} := \operatorname{Sh}(\operatorname{Open}(P)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S})$$

(Example 3.12.15). The inverse is given by right Kan extension. In particular, the ∞ -topos \tilde{P} is both 0-localic and Postnikov complete (Definition 3.2.11).

8.1.2. If *P* is a finite poset, then \tilde{P} is a coherent ∞ -topos (Example 3.7.1), and a sheaf *F* on *P* is *n*-coherent if and only if all of the stalks of *F* have finite homotopy sets in degrees $m \le n$. In particular, we have a natural identification

$$\widetilde{P}_{<\infty}^{\rm coh} \simeq {\rm Fun}(P, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$$

8.1.3 Remark. We work with *finite* posets here for a number of reasons. First, to guarantee that the ∞ -topos \tilde{P} is coherent, second, to guarantee that \tilde{P} can be expressed as the functor category Fun(P, **S**), and finally, because we are most interested in working with stratifications of ∞ -topoi over spectral topological spaces (i.e., profinite posets).

8.1.4. The functor (-): **Pos**^{fin} \mapsto **Top**_{∞} extends along inverse limits to a functor

$$\mathbf{TSpc}^{\mathrm{spec}} \simeq \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Pos}^{\mathrm{fin}}) \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}$$

which we also denote by $S \mapsto \widetilde{S}$. Thus if $S := \{P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ is an inverse system of finite posets, then

$$\widetilde{S} \simeq \lim_{\alpha \in A} \widetilde{P}_{\alpha}$$

in **Top**_{∞}. That is, by **Theorem 3.1.10=[HTT**, Theorem 6.3.3.1], \widetilde{S} is equivalent to the ∞ -category with objects collections $\{F_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of functors $F_{\alpha} : \widetilde{P}_{\alpha} \to \mathbf{S}$ along with compatible identifications of $F_{\alpha'}$ with the right Kan extension of F_{α} along $P_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha'}$ for any morphism $\alpha \to \alpha'$ in A. In particular, the ∞ -topos \widetilde{S} is 0-localic.

If we think of *S* as a spectral topological space, the 0-topos (locale) Open(*S*) is the limit of the 0-topoi Open(*P*) over the 1-category FC(*S*) of finite constructible stratifications $S \rightarrow P$ of *S*. Thus we have an equivalence of 0-localic ∞ -topoi

$$\widetilde{S} \simeq \lim_{P \in \mathrm{FC}(S)} \widetilde{P}$$

Since \widetilde{S} is coherent (Example 3.7.1), the ∞ -pretopos $\widetilde{S}_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}}$ of truncated coherent objects of \widetilde{S} can be identified with the filtered colimit

$$\widetilde{S}_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{P \in \operatorname{FC}(S)^{\operatorname{op}}} \widetilde{P}_{<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} ,$$

along the relevant restriction functors (§ 3.9).

Recall that if $f : S' \to S$ is a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, then the induced geometric morphism $f_* : \widetilde{S}' \to \widetilde{S}$ is coherent (Example 3.7.1).

8.1.5. If S is a spectral topological space, then the ∞ -category of points of \tilde{S} is equivalent to the materialization of S (regarded as a profinite poset):

$$\operatorname{Pt}(S) \simeq \operatorname{mat}(S)$$

~ .

Thus the points of \tilde{S} are precisely the points of S equipped with the specialization partial ordering (Definition 1.1.1).

8.2 Stratifications over spectral topological spaces

We now begin to study stratified ∞ -topoi. The definition is a straightforward generalization of the notion of a stratified topological space (Definitions 1.2.1 and 1.4.1).

8.2.1 Definition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. An *S*-stratified ∞ -topos is a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi $X \to \tilde{S}$. We write

$$\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S} \coloneqq \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/\widetilde{S}}$$

for the ∞ -category of S-stratified ∞ -topoi.

We define

$$\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty} \coloneqq \mathrm{Fun}([1], \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}) \underset{\mathrm{Fun}(\{1\}, \mathbf{Top}_{\infty})}{\times} \mathbf{TSpc}^{\mathrm{spec}} \ .$$

The fiber over a spectral topological space *S* is identified with the ∞ -category **StrTop**_{∞,S}. Since **Top**_{∞} admits fiber products, the projection **StrTop**_{∞} \rightarrow **TSpc**^{spec} is a bicartesian fibration.

8.2.2. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. Since \tilde{S} is 0-localic, it follows that an *S*-stratification of an ∞ -topos *X* is the same data as a morphism of 0-topoi (=locales)

$$\operatorname{Open}(X) \to \operatorname{Open}(S)$$
.

Thus there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,S} \simeq \mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \underset{\mathbf{Top}_{0}}{\times} \mathbf{Top}_{0,/\operatorname{Open}(S)} \ .$$

8.2.3 Notation. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let $f_* : X \to \widetilde{S}$ be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. For any open subset $U \subseteq S$, we abuse notation and write *U* also for the corresponding open of \widetilde{S} , and we write

$$X_U \coloneqq X_{/f^*U} \simeq X \underset{\widetilde{S}}{\times} \widetilde{U} \subseteq X$$

for the corresponding open subtopos. Dually, if $Z \subseteq S$ is closed, then we write

$$\pmb{X}_Z \coloneqq \pmb{X}_{\smallsetminus f^*(S \smallsetminus Z)} \simeq \pmb{X} \underset{\widetilde{S}}{\times} \widetilde{Z} \subseteq \pmb{X}$$

for the corresponding closed subtopos. If U and Z are complementary, then the ∞ -topos X is the recollement of X_Z and X_U along the gluing functor $i^*j_* : X_U \to X_Z$.

More generally, for any subspace $W \subset S$, we write

$$X_W \coloneqq X \underset{\widetilde{S}}{\times} \widetilde{W}$$
.

In particular, for any point $s \in S$ we define the *s*-th stratum as the fiber product in **Top**_{∞}:

$$\boldsymbol{X}_{s} \coloneqq \boldsymbol{X} \times \widetilde{\{s\}} \subseteq \boldsymbol{X}$$
.

8.2.4. Let *P* be a finite poset, and let *X* be a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. Note that for any point $p \in P$, the *p*-th stratum is the fiber product in **Top**_{∞}:

$$\boldsymbol{X}_p \coloneqq \boldsymbol{X}_{P_{\geq p}} \underset{\boldsymbol{X}}{\times} \boldsymbol{X}_{P_{\leq p}}$$

The stratum X_p is an open subtopos of the closed subtopos $X_{P_{\leq p}} \subseteq X$ as well as a closed subtopos of the open subtopos $X_{P_{\geq p}} \subseteq X$.

8.2.5 Example. A $\{0\}$ -stratified ∞ -topos is nothing more than an ∞ -topos.

8.2.6 Example. Rephrasing (5.1.4), a [1]-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to [\widetilde{1}]$ is the same data as a recollement of ∞ -topoi.

8.2.7 Remark. To generalize the previous example, let *P* be a finite poset. It appears that the data of a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos determines and is determined by a suitable colax functor from P^{op} to a double ∞ -category of ∞ -topoi and left exact functors.

To make a precise assertion, let us say that a locally cocartesian fibration $X \to P^{\text{op}}$ is *left exact* if each fiber X_p admits all finite limits, and for any $p \le q$ in P, the functor $X_q \to X_p$ is left exact. Left exact locally cocartesian fibrations $X \to P^{\text{op}}$ whose fibers are ∞ -topoi organize themselves into a ∞ -category **LocCocart**^{lex,top}_{pop}. It seems likely that one can produce an equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{LocCocart}_{P^{\operatorname{op}}}^{\operatorname{lex},\operatorname{top}} \simeq \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,P}$$
,

natural in *P*. To prove this would involve a diversion into a simplicial thicket that is unnecessary for our work here.

8.2.8 Example. Let S be a spectral topological space. The ∞ -topos \widetilde{S} equipped with the identity stratification is the terminal object of **StrTop**_{∞,S}.

8.2.9 Example. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. Write $\mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{sob}} \subset \mathbf{TSpc}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the sober topological spaces. Then the assignment $T \mapsto \widetilde{T}$ defines a fully faithful functor

$$\mathbf{TSpc}_{/S}^{\mathrm{sob}} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,S}$$

We now begin to investigate the basic properties of stratified ∞ -topoi. For the following result, please recall that the coproduct in **Top**_{∞} is computed as the *product* of ∞ -categories.

8.2.10 Lemma. Let P be a finite poset, and let $f_* : X \to \widetilde{P}$ be a P-stratified ∞ -topos. Then the pullback functor

$$(e_p^*)_{p\in P}: X \to \coprod_{p\in P} X_p$$

is conservative. That is, a morphism $\phi : F \to G$ of X is an equivalence if and only if, for all $p \in P$, the restriction $\phi|_{X_p} : F|_{X_p} \to G|_{X_p}$ is an equivalence.

Proof. If $P = \emptyset$, there is nothing to prove. If *P* is of rank 0, then *P* is discrete and the pullback functor above is an equivalence. Now we induct on the rank of *P*; assume the claim holds for all finite posets of rank $\leq n$. Let *P* be a finite poset of rank n + 1, and write $M \subset P$ for the full subposet spanned by the minimal elements of *P*. Then *M* is discrete and closed in *P*. Note that the open complement $U := P \setminus M$ of *M* is of rank *n*. Now if $\phi|_{X_p}$ is an equivalence for each $p \in P$, then $\phi|_{X_z}$ is an equivalence by the rank 0 case, and $\phi|_{X_U}$ is an equivalence by the rank *n* case. Since *X* is a recollement of X_Z and X_U , the pullback $X \to X_Z \sqcup X_U$ is conservative, so ϕ itself is an equivalence.

In a similar vein, the following useful hypercompleteness result follows from the fact that the recollement of hypercomplete ∞ -topoi is hypercomplete (5.1.3) and induction on the rank of the poset:

8.2.11 Lemma. Let P be a finite poset and $X \to \tilde{P}$ a P-stratified ∞ -topos. If for each $p \in P$ the stratum X_p is hypercomplete, then the ∞ -topos X is hypercomplete.

In almost all of the examples of stratified ∞ -topoi that we consider in this text, the total ∞ -topos is bounded coherent and the stratification is a coherent geometric morphism. We refer to such a stratified ∞ -topos as *bounded coherent constructible*:

8.2.12 Definition. Let X be an ∞ -topos and S a spectral topological space. A stratification $f_* : X \to \widetilde{S}$ is *constructible* if and only if, for any quasicompact open $U \subseteq S$ and any quasicompact open $V \in \text{Open}(X)$, the ∞ -topos

$$X_U \times_X X_{/V} \simeq X_{/(f^*(U) \times V)}$$

is coherent. We say that a constructible stratification $f_*: X \to \tilde{S}$ is coherent constructible if X is a coherent ∞ -topos, and we say that f_* is bounded coherent constructible if X is a bounded coherent ∞ -topos.

8.2.13 (constructibility for stratifications by finite posets). Let *P* be a finite poset. A *P*-stratified ∞ -topos $f_* : X \to \widetilde{P}$ is constructible if and only if for every point $p \in P$ and any quasicompact open $V \in \text{Open}(X)$, the ∞ -topos $X_{P_{>n}} \times_X X_{/V}$ is coherent.

8.2.14 Example. Let $X \to [1]$ be a [1]-stratified ∞ -topos. If X is coherent, the stratification is constructible if and only if the open subtopos X_1 is quasicompact (Proposition 5.1.9=[DAG XIII, Proposition 2.3.22]).

Coherent constructibility can be reformulated as the *a priori* stronger condition that the stratification be a coherent geometric morphism:

8.2.15 Lemma. Let *S* be a spectral topological space and $f_*: X \to \widetilde{S}$ be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. If X is coherent, then the stratification f_* is constructible if and only if f_* is a coherent geometric morphism.

Proof. If f_* is coherent, then since quasicompact opens in X are coherent [SAG, Remark A.2.3.5] and coherent objects of X are closed under finite products, f_* is a constructible stratification

For the other direction, assume that f_* is a constructible stratification. By Corollary 3.4.5, to show that f_* is coherent it suffices to show that f^* carries truncated coherent objects of \widetilde{S} to coherent objects of X. Let $F \in \widetilde{S}_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}}$ be a truncated coherent object; then there exists a finite constructible stratification $S \to P$ such that F is the pullback of a truncated coherent object of \widetilde{P} (8.1.4). Thus, for every point $p \in P$, the restriction $f^*(F)|_{X_p}$ is lisse. By Proposition 5.1.9=[DAG XIII, Proposition 2.3.22] it follows that F is coherent.

8.2.16 Notation. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. We define the ∞ -category of *coherent constructible S*-stratified ∞ -topoi as the overcategory

$$\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{cc}} \coloneqq \operatorname{Top}_{\infty,/\widetilde{S}}^{\operatorname{coh}}.$$
We write $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{bcc}} \subset \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{cc}}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *bounded coherent constructible S*-stratified ∞ -topoi.

More generally, we define

$$StrTop_{\infty}^{cc} \coloneqq Fun([1], Top_{\infty}^{coh}) \underset{Fun(\{1\}, Top_{\infty}^{coh})}{\times} TSpc^{spec};$$

the fiber over *S* is identified with $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{cc}}$. We write $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bcc}} \subset \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{cc}}$ for the full subcategory spanned by those objects $X \to \widetilde{S}$ where *X* is a bounded ∞ -topos.

8.3 The natural stratification of a coherent ∞ -topos

Every coherent ∞ -topos X has a canonical profinite stratification: the 0-topos (=locale) Open(X) is the locale of a spectral topological space. This provides a fully faithful embedding of the ∞ -category of coherent ∞ -topoi into that of coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topoi.

To explain this point, let us first recall the equivalence between coherent locales and spectral topological spaces.

8.3.1 Recollection. Let *A* be a locale. An object $a \in A$ is *quasicompact*³⁰ if and only if for every subset $S \subset A$ such that $\coprod_{s \in S} s = a$, there exists a finite subset $S_0 \subset S$ such that $\coprod_{s \in S_0} s = a$.

The locale *A* is *coherent* if and only if *A* is coherent in the sense of Definition 3.3.1. Proposition 3.5.6 shows that this is the case if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) The quasicompact elements of A form a *sublattice* of A: the maximal element $1_A \in A$ is quasicompact and binary products (=meets) of quasicompact elements are quasicompact.
- (2) The quasicompact elements of A generate A: every element a ∈ A can be written as a coproduct (=join) a = ∐_{s∈S} s, where S ⊂ A is a subset consisting of quasicompact elements of A.

A morphism $A \to A'$ between coherent locales is *coherent* if and only if the corresponding map of posets $A' \to A$ sends quasicompact elements to quasicompact elements.

We write $\mathbf{Top}_0^{\text{coh}}$ for the category of coherent locales and coherent morphisms between them (cf. Corollary 3.6.12).

8.3.2 Example. Let X be an ∞ -topos. Then an open $U \in \text{Open}(X)$ is a quasicompact element of the locale Open(X) if and only if U is a quasicompact (i.e., 0-coherent) object of the ∞ -topos X.

The following three results are immediate from the definitions and Example 8.3.2.

8.3.3 Lemma. For any 1-coherent ∞ -topos X, the locale Open(X) is coherent.

³⁰Such elements are sometimes called *finite*; see [73, Chapter II, §3.1].

8.3.4 Lemma. Let $f_* : X \to Y$ be a coherent geometric morphism between coherent ∞ -topoi. Then the induced morphism $\text{Open}(X) \to \text{Open}(Y)$ of coherent locales is coherent.

8.3.5 Corollary. Let *S* be a spectral topological space and $f_* : \mathbf{X} \to \tilde{S}$ an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. If \mathbf{X} is coherent, then f_* is a constructible stratification if and only if the induced morphism of coherent locales $\text{Open}(\mathbf{X}) \to \text{Open}(S)$ is coherent.

The following classical result is an important recognition principle for coherent locales.

8.3.6 Proposition ([73, Chapter II, §§3.3–3.4]). *The functor* Open : $\mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}} \rightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{0}$ given by sending a spectral topological space S to its locale of open subsets factors through $\mathbf{Top}_{0}^{\text{coh}}$ and defines an equivalence of categories

Open : **TSpc**^{spec}
$$\Rightarrow$$
 Top₀^{coh}.

8.3.7. The functor Open : $\mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}} \cong \mathbf{Top}_0^{\text{coh}}$ has an explicit inverse $\mathbf{Top}_0^{\text{coh}} \cong \mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}}$ given by taking the topological space of *points* of a locale; see [73, Chapter II, §1.3].

8.3.8 Notation. Lemma 8.3.4 and Proposition 8.3.6 provide a functor

$$\mathbf{S}: \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Open}} \mathbf{Top}_{0}^{\mathrm{coh}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{TSpc}^{\mathrm{spec}}$$

which we denote by S. By definition, the 0-localic reflection of a coherent ∞ -topos X is given by the ∞ -topos of sheaves on the spectral topological space S(X). Thus X comes equipped with a natural S(X)-stratification $X \to \widetilde{S(X)}$.

The localization $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty} \rightleftharpoons \mathbf{Top}_{0}$ thus restricts to a localization $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}} \rightleftharpoons \mathbf{Top}_{0}^{\mathrm{coh}}$.

8.3.9 Lemma. For any coherent ∞ -topos X, the natural stratification $f_* : X \to \widetilde{S(X)}$ is constructible (*Definition 8.2.12*).

Proof. Clear from Corollary 8.3.5 and the fact that $f_*: X \to \widetilde{S(X)}$ induces an equivalence of locales

$$\operatorname{Open}(X) \cong \operatorname{Open}(\widehat{S(X)}) = \operatorname{Open}(S(X))$$
.

8.3.10 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme. Write X^{zar} for the underlying Zariski spectral topological space of X, and $X_{\text{ét}}$ for the étale ∞ -topos of X. Recall that the ∞ -topos $X_{\text{ét}}$ is coherent (Proposition 3.7.3). Since

$$\operatorname{Open}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}) \cong \operatorname{Open}(X^{\operatorname{zar}}),$$

the natural stratification of the coherent ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t}$ is given by the natural geometric morphism $X_{\acute{e}t} \rightarrow X_{zar}$.

8.3.11. The source functor $\text{StrTop}_{\infty}^{cc} \to \text{Top}_{\infty}^{coh}$ admits a fully faithful left adjoint, given by the assignment

$$X \mapsto [X \to \mathrm{S}(X)]$$
.

The essential image of this left adjoint is the full subcategory spanned by those coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topoi $X \to \widetilde{S}$ such that the stratification induces an equivalence of locales $Open(X) \simeq Open(S)$.

The source functor $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{cc}} \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{cch}}$ also admits a fully faithful right adjoint, which carries a coherent ∞ -topos X to X equipped with the unique stratification over $S = \{0\}.$

8.4 Stratified ∞ -topoi attached to stratified spaces

In this section we investigate examples of stratified ∞ -topoi that arise from stratified spaces via the following construction. The main example of interest is when the stratified space is π -finite.

8.4.1 Construction (the stratified ∞ -topos of a stratified space). Let *P* be a finite poset, and $f: \Pi \to P$ a P-stratified space (Definition 2.1.5); i.e., f is a conservative functor of ∞ -categories. In light of the equivalence $\widetilde{P} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S})$, let us abuse notation slightly and write

$$\widetilde{\Pi} \coloneqq \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$$

for the ∞ -topos of functors $\Pi \rightarrow S$. Right Kan extension along f defines a geometric morphism of ∞-topoi

$$f_*: \Pi \to P$$
,

whence $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. For each point $p \in P$, the *p*-th stratum of $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is canonically identified with the ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\Pi_p} = \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_p, \mathbf{S})$. The assignment $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$ defines a functor $\mathbf{Str} \to \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}$ over $\mathbf{Pos}^{\text{fin}}$.

8.4.2 Example (exit-path ∞ -categories). Let *P* be a finite poset, and let *T* be a conically *P*-stratified topological space in the sense of [HA, Definition A.5.5]. The exit path ∞ category of T is the P-stratified space

$$\operatorname{Exit}^{P}(T) \coloneqq \operatorname{Sing}^{P}(T)$$

of [HA, Definition A.6.2 & Theorem A.6.4]. For each $p \in P$, the stratum Exit $P(T)_p$ is the fundamental ∞ -groupoid $\Pi_{\infty}(T_p)$ of the topological space T_p .

Assume that T is paracompact and the strata of $T \rightarrow P$ are locally of singular shape in the sense of [HA, Definition A.4.15]. Consider the *P*-stratified ∞ -topos

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Exit}}^{P}(T) \to \widetilde{P}$$

In light of [HA, Theorem A.4.19], for each point $p \in P$, stratum

$$\operatorname{Exit}^{P}(T)_{p} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\infty}(T_{p}), \mathbf{S})$$

is equivalent to the ∞ -category of locally constant sheaves on T_p . Moreover, [HA, Remark A.5.19 & Theorem A.9.3] shows that the ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\text{Exit}}^{P}(T)$ is equivalent to the ∞ -category of *formally constructible* sheaves on T, i.e., those sheaves whose restrictions to each stratum T_p are locally constant. (See Definition 9.4.2.)

The remainder of this section is dedicated to showing that if $f: \Pi \to P$ is an *n*-truncated π -finite *P*-stratified space, then the ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is *n*-localic and coherent, and the stratification $f_*: \widetilde{\Pi} \to \widetilde{P}$ is constructible (Corollary 8.4.9).³¹ To do this, we show that Π^{op} forms a basis for the bounded ∞ -pretopos Fun (Π, \mathbf{S}_{π}) , and that the ∞ -topos of sheaves on Fun (Π, \mathbf{S}_{π}) is already hypercomplete.

8.4.3 Construction (bases for Fun(Π , \mathbf{S}_{π})). Let Π be a π -finite stratified space. Then the ∞ -category Fun(Π , \mathbf{S}_{π}) is a bounded ∞ -pretopos (Lemma 3.8.12). Note that $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is generated under colimits by the essential image of the Yoneda embedding &: $\Pi^{\text{op}} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\Pi}$, the Yoneda embedding factors through Fun(Π , \mathbf{S}_{π}), and every object of Fun(Π , \mathbf{S}_{π}) is quasicompact. Hence, for every object $F \in \widetilde{\Pi}$ there exists a *finite* set of objects $\{x_i\}_{i \in I}$ of Π and an effective epimorphism

$$\coprod_{i\in I} \sharp(x_i)\twoheadrightarrow F$$

That is to say, $\sharp : \Pi^{\text{op}} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\Pi}$ is a basis for the effective epimorphism topology on the bounded ∞ -pretopos Fun(Π, \mathbf{S}_{π}) in the sense of Definition 3.12.2.

If Π is an *n*-category, then the Yoneda embedding factors through Fun(Π , $S_{\pi, \leq n-1}$). In particular, we have bases

$$\Pi^{\mathrm{op}} \stackrel{\mathfrak{c}}{\longleftrightarrow} \mathrm{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi, \leq n-1}) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}),$$

for the effective epimorphism topology on the ∞ -pretopos Fun(Π , S_{π}). Moreover, the middle ∞ -category is an *n*-category with finite limits. By Lemma 3.12.7 and Corollary 3.12.13 we see that right Kan extension defines fully faithful geometric morphisms

$$(8.4.4) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\Pi^{\operatorname{op}}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi, \leq n-1})) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}))$$

that become equivalences after hypercompletion. To see that $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is *n*-localic and coherent, we show that $\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\Pi^{\operatorname{op}}) = \widetilde{\Pi}$ and prove that the geometric morphisms (8.4.4) are equivalences. The latter amounts to showing that $\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}))$ is already hypercomplete.

First we analyze the restriction of the effective epimorphism topology to Π^{op} . Using the fact that every endomorphism in Π is an equivalence, it is easy to see that all presheaves are sheaves for this topology on Π^{op} .

8.4.5 Definition. Let *C* be an ∞ -category. The *chaotic topology* on *C* is the Grothendieck topology defined by declaring that a sieve $S \subset C_{/c}$ is covering if and only if *S* contains an object $s \in S$ such that the structure morphism $s \to c$ is an equivalence.

Note that a every presheaf on C is a sheaf for the chaotic topology.

8.4.6 Lemma. Let Π be a π -finite stratified space. The restriction of the effective epimorphism topology on Fun (Π, \mathbf{S}_{π}) to $\Pi^{\text{op}} \subset \text{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$ is the chaotic topology.

³¹Since the *n*-category Π need not have finite limits, it is not *a priori* obvious that the ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is *n*-localic (cf. Warning 3.12.16).

Proof. Let $y \in \Pi$ and suppose that we are given a finite set of objects $\{x_i\}_{i \in I}$ of Π and an effective epimorphism

$$e: \prod_{i\in I} \sharp(x_i) \twoheadrightarrow \sharp(y)$$

in the ∞ -pretopos Fun(Π , S_{π}). Since the Yoneda embedding is fully faithful, there exist morphisms $\{e_i : y \to x_i\}_{i \in I}$ in Π such that *e* is the induced morphism

$$e \simeq (e_i^*)_{i \in I} : \prod_{i \in I} \pounds(x_i) \to \pounds(y) .$$

We claim that there exists an index $i \in I$ such that the morphism e_i is an equivalence. Since Π is layered, it suffices to show that there exists an $i \in I$ and a morphism $x_i \to y$ in Π . To see this, note that since e is an effective epimorphism, the induced morphism

$$e(y)$$
: $\prod_{i \in I} \operatorname{Map}_{\Pi}(x_i, y) \to \operatorname{Map}_{\Pi}(y, y)$

is a π_0 -surjection of spaces. Since $\pi_0 : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{Set}$ preserves coproducts and $\pi_0 \operatorname{Map}_{\Pi}(y, y)$ is nonempty, we deduce that there exists an index $i \in I$ such that $\pi_0 \operatorname{Map}_{\Pi}(x_i, y)$ is nonempty, as desired.

Now we show that $Sh_{eff}(Fun(\Pi, S_{\pi}))$ is hypercomplete.

8.4.7. Let $f: \Pi \to P$ be a π -finite stratified space. Note that the pullback functor

$$f^*$$
: Fun $(P, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \to$ Fun (Π, \mathbf{S}_{π})

is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi, hence induces a natural bounded coherent constructible stratification

$$f_*: \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \to \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Fun}(P, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \simeq P$$

8.4.8 Proposition. Let P be a finite poset and $f : \Pi \to P \ a \pi$ -finite P-stratified space. Then the ∞ -topos Sh_{eff}(Fun(Π, \mathbf{S}_{π})) is hypercomplete.

Proof. By Lemma 8.2.11 it suffices to show that the strata of the natural stratification

$$f_*$$
: Sh_{eff}(Fun(Π , S _{π})) $\rightarrow P$

are hypercomplete. To see this, note that for each $p \in P$, we have equivalences

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{Sh}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathrm{Fun}(\Pi,\mathbf{S}_{\pi}))_{p} &\simeq \mathrm{Sh}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathrm{Fun}(\Pi_{p},\mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \\ &\simeq \mathrm{Sh}_{\mathrm{eff}}((\mathbf{S}_{\pi})_{/\Pi_{p}}) \simeq \mathbf{S}_{/\Pi_{p}} \ . \end{aligned}$$

Combining Lemma 8.4.6 with Proposition 8.4.8 and applying Corollary 3.12.13 to the bases

$$\Pi^{\mathrm{op}} \subset \mathrm{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi, \leq n-1}) \subset \mathrm{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}),$$

we conclude the following.

8.4.9 Corollary. Let P be a finite poset, $n \ge 0$ be an integer, and $\Pi \rightarrow P$ be an *n*-truncated π -finite P-stratified space. Then:

- (8.4.9.1) The ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is n-localic and coherent.
- (8.4.9.2) Then the stratification $\widetilde{\Pi} \to \widetilde{P}$ is bounded coherent constructible in the sense of Definition 8.2.12.
- (8.4.9.3) An object of $\tilde{\Pi}$ is truncated coherent if and only if all of its values are π -finite spaces. That is,

$$\widetilde{\Pi}_{\leq\infty}^{\rm coh} = {\rm Fun}(\Pi, {\bf S}_{\pi}).$$

Corollary 8.4.9 justifies the following notation:

8.4.10 Notation. Let *P* be a finite poset. Denote by

$$\lambda: \operatorname{Str}_{\pi} \to \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bcc}}|_{\operatorname{Pos}^{\operatorname{fin}}}$$

the functor over **Pos**^{fin} defined by the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$. For each finite poset *P*, we write $\lambda_P : \mathbf{Str}_P \to \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}$ for the induced functor on fibers over *P*.

8.5 Gluing squares

In this section we use the truncated basechange theorem for oriented fiber products (Theorem 7.1.7) to study oriented squares of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi that are both oriented fiber product squares and oriented pushouts. These *gluing squares* are essential to our décollage approach to stratified higher topoi in §8.6.

8.5.1 Definition. A gluing square is an oriented square of ∞-topoi

$$egin{array}{ccc} oldsymbol{W} & \stackrel{q_*}{\longrightarrow} oldsymbol{U} & \ egin{array}{ccc} & & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & Z & \stackrel{& & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & i_* \ \end{array} egin{array}{ccc} & & & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & & \ & & \ & & & \ & & \ & & \ & & & \ & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & \ & & \ & & \ & \ & \ & & \ & \ & \ & \ & & \$$

satisfying the following properties:

- (1) Every ∞ -topos is bounded coherent.
- (2) Every geometric morphism is coherent.
- (3) The natural geometric morphism $Z \stackrel{\leftarrow}{\cup}_{bc}^W U \rightarrow X$ is an equivalence (Construction 5.2.6).
- (4) The natural geometric morphism $W \to Z \overleftarrow{\times}_X U$ is an equivalence (Definition 5.4.1).

We call the oriented fiber product W the *link* of the gluing square, or the *deleted tubular neighborhood* of Z inside X.

8.5.2 Construction (gluing squares from recollements and spans). Let X be a bounded coherent ∞ -topos, $j_* : U \hookrightarrow X$ a quasicompact open subtopos, and write $i_* : Z \hookrightarrow X$ for the closed complement of U. Consider the oriented fiber product square

(8.5.3)
$$Z \stackrel{\mathbf{x}_{X}}{\sim} U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{2,*}} U$$
$$\underset{\mathcal{T}_{i,*}}{\operatorname{pr}_{1,*}} \swarrow \underset{\mathcal{T}_{i_{*}}}{\swarrow} \chi$$

The ∞ -topos X is the bounded coherent recollement $Z \overline{U}_{bc}^{\text{pr}_{1,*}\text{pr}_2^*} U$. Indeed, the truncated basechange theorem (Theorem 7.1.7) ensures that the basechange morphism

$$BC_{\sigma}: i^*j_* \to \operatorname{pr}_{1,*}\operatorname{pr}_2^*$$

becomes an equivalence after restriction to $U_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}}$. So Proposition 5.1.16 applies, whence (8.5.3) is a gluing square.

Dually, let W, Z, and U be bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, and let $p_* : W \to Z$ and $q_* : W \to U$ be geometric morphisms. Forming the bounded coherent oriented pushout $X := Z \overline{\cup}_{bc}^W U$, we obtain a square

 q_*

(8.5.4)
$$\begin{array}{c} W \longrightarrow U \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow_{\sigma} \qquad \int^{j_*} \\ Z \xleftarrow{_{i_*}} Z \stackrel{\smile}{\cup}^W_{bc} U . \end{array}$$

We thus obtain a geometric morphism $\psi(p, q, \sigma)_*$: $W \to Z \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_X U$, and if $\psi(p, q, \sigma)_*$ is an equivalence, then the square (8.5.4) is a gluing square.

8.5.5 Remark. The full subcategory of Fun([1] × [1], **Top**^{bc}_{∞}) spanned by the gluing squares is equivalent to the (non-full) subcategory of Fun([1], **Cat**_{∞,δ_1}) whose objects are bounded coherent gluing functors between bounded coherent ∞ -topoi and whose morphisms $\phi \rightarrow \phi'$ are squares

$$egin{array}{ccc} U & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} & Z \\ f_* & & & \downarrow^{g_*} \\ U' & \stackrel{\phi'}{\longrightarrow} & Z' \end{array}$$

in which f_* and g_* are coherent geometric morphisms.

8.5.6 Warning. If the coherence assumptions are removed, then Construction 8.5.2 does not recover X as an oriented pushout of Z and U along $Z \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_X U$. To see this, let X := [0, 1] be the usual closed interval, $Z := \{0\}$, and $U := X \setminus Z$ the open complement of Z. Then the oriented fiber product $\widetilde{Z} \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_{\widetilde{X}} \widetilde{U}$ is the initial ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\emptyset}$. The oriented pushout of \widetilde{Z} and \widetilde{U} along $\widetilde{\emptyset}$ is the coproduct $\widetilde{Z} \sqcup \widetilde{U}$ in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$, however the ∞ -topos $\widetilde{Z} \sqcup \widetilde{U}$ is not equivalent to \widetilde{X} . The main problem here is that the ∞ -topoi \widetilde{U} and \widetilde{X} are not coherent.

We finish this section with our key example of a gluing square.

8.5.7 Notation. Let *Y* be a profinite space. We write $\widetilde{Y} := \operatorname{Fun}(Y, \mathbf{S})$ for the corresponding Stone ∞ -topos (Definition 4.4.4).

8.5.8 Example (gluing squares of profinite [1]-stratified spaces). Let

be a span of profinite spaces, and write X for the profinite [1]-stratified space corresponding to the profinite spatial décollage (8.5.9). Write X for the form the bounded coherent oriented pushout of Stone ∞ -topoi:

(8.5.10)
$$\begin{array}{c} \widetilde{W} \xrightarrow{q_*} \widetilde{U} \\ p_* \downarrow \swarrow_{\sigma} \int_{j_*} \\ \widetilde{Z} \xleftarrow{i_*} X \end{array}.$$

Since \widetilde{X} is the recollement of \widetilde{Z} and \widetilde{U} with gluing functor that agrees with p_*q^* when restricted to truncated objects (Theorem 7.1.7), and \widetilde{X} is bounded coherent, the natural geometric morphism $X \to \widetilde{X}$ is an equivalence (Lemma 5.1.15 and Proposition 5.1.16). Now we compute the link:

$$\widetilde{Z} \stackrel{\sim}{\succ}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \widetilde{U} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{[1]}}(\widetilde{[1]}, \boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\widetilde{[1]}}(\widetilde{[1]}, \boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \widetilde{W}$$

Thus the square (8.5.10) is in fact a gluing square.

8.6 Toposic décollages

In analogy with the construction of the spatial décollage attached to a stratified space (Construction 2.7.1), we can attach to a stratified ∞ -topos what we call its (*toposic*) *décollage*. Whereas a stratified ∞ -topos consists of strata that are glued together, its décollage is the result of pulling these strata apart while retaining the linking information necessary to reconstruct the stratified ∞ -topos.

8.6.1 Definition. Let *P* be a finite poset. We say that a functor D: $sd^{op}(P) \rightarrow Top_{\infty}^{bc}$ is a *décollage over P* if and only if the following conditions are satisfied.

(1) If $p_0, p_1 \in P$ are elements such that $p_0 < p_1$, then the square

is a gluing square.

(2) For every chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_m\} \subseteq P$, the geometric morphism to the fiber product of ∞ -topoi

$$\boldsymbol{D}\{p_0 < \cdots < p_m\} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{D}\{p_0 < p_1\} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_1\}}{\times} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_1 < p_2\} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_2\}}{\times} \cdots \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_{m-1}\}}{\times} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_{m-1} < p_m\}$$

is an equivalence.

We write $\text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}}) \subseteq \text{Fun}(\text{sd}^{\text{op}}(P), \text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}})$ for the full subcategory spanned by the décollages over *P*.

8.6.2 Remark. It seems likely that a décollage over *P* can be thought of as a suitable category internal to $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc}$ along with a conservative functor to *P*. Making such an interpretation precise and helpful is a task that lies outside the scope of this work.

8.6.3 Notation. If D: $sd^{op}(P) \to Top_{\infty}^{bc}$ is a décollage over P, and if $p, q \in P$ are points with p < q, then for the sake of typographical brevity, we write

$$\boldsymbol{D}\{p\} \overleftarrow{\cup} \boldsymbol{D}\{q\} \coloneqq \boldsymbol{D}\{q\} \coloneqq \boldsymbol{D}\{q\} \overleftarrow{\cup}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{D}\{p < q\}} \boldsymbol{D}\{q\}.$$

The two conditions of Definition 8.6.1 specify, for each chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_m\} \subseteq P$, an equivalence

$$\boldsymbol{D}\{p_0 < \cdots < p_m\} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_0\} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_0\} \overleftarrow{\cup} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_1\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_1\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_1\} \overleftarrow{\cup} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_2\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \cdots \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_{m-1}\} \overleftarrow{\cup} \boldsymbol{D}\{p_m\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_m\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_m\}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_m\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_m\}}{\overleftarrow{\sum}} \underset{\boldsymbol{D}\{p_m}, \overbrace{\underline{D}\{p_m},$$

we call this the Segal equivalence.

8.6.4 Example. Let *P* be a finite poset. The terminal object of $\text{Déc}_P(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}})$ is the constant functor $\text{sd}^{\text{op}}(P) \to \text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}}$ whose value is the ∞ -topos **S**.

Recall that we write $\lambda_{\pi} : \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc}$ for the fully faithful embedding given by the assignment $Y \mapsto \widetilde{Y}$ (Definition 4.4.4).

8.6.5 Example (the toposic décollage of a spatial décollage). Let *P* be a finite poset and let *D* : sd^{op}(*P*) $\rightarrow \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ be a profinite spatial décollage (Construction 2.8.8). Since the functor

$$\lambda_{\pi}: \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}}$$

is left exact, Example 8.5.8 shows that the functor $sd^{op}(P) \rightarrow Top_{\infty}^{bc}$ defined by the assignment

$$\Sigma \mapsto \widetilde{D(\Sigma)}$$

is a toposic décollage over *P*. That is to say, objectwise application of λ_{π} defines a fully faithful functor

$$\lambda_{\pi} \circ - : \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}) \to \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}^{\mathrm{bc}}_{\infty})$$

The following is immediate from Example 8.6.5 and the fact that λ_{π} defines an equivalence between profinite stratified spaces and Stone ∞ -topoi.

8.6.6 Proposition. *Let P be a finite poset. Then the essential image of the fully faithful functor*

$$\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}})$$

given by the objectwise application of $\lambda_{\pi} : S_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc}$ is the full subcategory

$$\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{Stn}}) \subset \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}})$$

spanned by those décollages over P that carry each chain to a Stone ∞ -topos.

We finish this section by encoding the functoriality of the décollage construction as in Construction 2.6.5.

8.6.7 Construction (functoriality of toposic décollages). Write

(8.6.8)
$$\int_{\mathbf{Pos}^{\text{fin}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}) \to \mathbf{Pos}^{\operatorname{fin}}$$

for the cartesian fibration classified by the functor $(Pos^{fin})^{op} \rightarrow Cat_{\infty}$ given by the assignment

 $P \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}})$

with functoriality given by right Kan extension [HTT, Corollary 3.2.2.13]. Thus the objects of $\int_{\mathbf{Pos}^{\text{fin}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}})$ consist of pairs (P, F) of a finite poset P and a functor

$$F: \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P) \to \operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}$$
.

The fiber of (8.6.8) over a poset P is the ∞ -category Fun(sd^{op}(P), Top^{bc}_{∞}).

Let

$$D\acute{e}c(\mathbf{Top}^{bc}_{\infty}) \subset \int_{\mathbf{Pos}^{fin}} Fun(sd^{op}, \mathbf{Top}^{bc}_{\infty})$$

denote the full subcategory spanned by the pairs (P, D) in which D is a toposic décollage over P. Since $\text{Déc}(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}})$ contains all the cartesian edges, the functor

$$D\acute{e}c(Top^{bc}_{\infty}) \rightarrow Pos^{fir}$$

is a cartesian fibration.

8.7 The nerve of a stratified ∞ -topos

We now explain how to every *P*-stratified ∞ -topos gives rise to a toposic décollage over *P* and prove that the resulting *nerve functor*

$$\mathbf{N}_P$$
: $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{bcc}} \to \mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}})$

is an equivalence (Theorem 8.7.3).

8.7.1 Construction (the nerve of a stratified ∞ -topos). Let *P* be a finite poset, and let $f_*: X \to \widetilde{P}$ be a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. Then for any monotonic map $\phi: Q \to P$, we define the ∞ -topos of sections of *X* over *Q* as the pullback of ∞ -topoi

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{P}}(\widetilde{Q}, X) \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{Q}, X) \underset{\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{Q}, \widetilde{P})}{\times} \widetilde{\{\phi\}} \; .$$

The ∞ -topos Hom_{\widetilde{p}}(\widetilde{Q}, X) depends only on the pullback $X \times_{\widetilde{p}} \widetilde{Q}$:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{P}}(\widetilde{Q}, X) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{O}}(\widetilde{Q}, X \times_{\widetilde{P}} \widetilde{Q})$$

We thus obtain a functor $\mathbb{N}_P(X)$: $\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P) \to \mathrm{Top}_{\infty}$ that carries a chain $\Sigma \subseteq P$ to the ∞ -topos

$$\mathbf{N}_{P}(\mathbf{X})(\Sigma) \coloneqq \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{P}}(\Sigma, \mathbf{X})$$
.

For each chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_m\} \subseteq P$, we have a natural identification

$$\mathbf{N}_{P}(\boldsymbol{X})\{p_{0} < \cdots < p_{m}\} \simeq \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{0}} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \, \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{1}} \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \, \boldsymbol{\overleftarrow{\times}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \, \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{m}} \, .$$

In particular, if X is bounded coherent constructible (Definition 8.2.12), then the functor $N_P(X)$ is a décollage over P. We call $N_P(X)$ the *nerve* of the P-stratified ∞ -topos X, and we call the functor

N: StrTop^{bcc}_{$$\infty$$}|_{Pos^{fin}} \rightarrow Déc(Top^{bc} _{∞})

over **Pos**^{fin} the *nerve functor*.

8.7.2 Example (compatibility of nerves). Let *P* be a finite poset, and Π a π -finite *P*-stratified space. We have an identification

$$\mathbf{N}_{P}(\widetilde{\Pi}) \simeq \widetilde{\mathbf{N}_{P}(\Pi)}$$

natural in *P* and Π . To see this, note that for any chain $\Sigma \subseteq P$, the natural morphism

$$\operatorname{Map}_{P}(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \Pi) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{P}}(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \widetilde{\Pi})$$

is an equivalence.

We now proceed to demonstrate that the nerve is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

8.7.3 Theorem. For any finite poset P, the nerve functor \mathbf{N}_P : $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{bcc} \to \mathsf{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc})$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

Proof. We begin by reducing to the case in which *P* is a nonempty, finite, totally ordered set. To make this reduction, we note that $P \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}(P)} \Sigma$, whence \widetilde{P} is the limit $\widetilde{P} \simeq \lim_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P)} \widetilde{\Sigma}$ in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty, \delta_1}$ (which is the colimit in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$). Moreover,

$$\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}(P)} \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(\Sigma)$$

From this we deduce that

$$\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\operatorname{bcc}} \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}(P)} \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,\Sigma}^{\operatorname{bcc}} \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_P(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}(P)} \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{\Sigma}(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}) ,$$

which provides our reduction.

Let $P = [n] := \{0 < \dots < n\}$ be a nonempty totally ordered finite set. Define an inverse

$$\mathbf{U}_n$$
: $\mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_{[n]}(\mathbf{Top}^{\mathrm{bc}}_{\infty}) \to \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,[n]}$

to the nerve functor $\mathbf{N}_n := \mathbf{N}_{[n]}$ as follows. Write $\mathbf{U}_n(\mathbf{D})$ for the iterated bounded coherent oriented pushout

$$\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D}) \coloneqq \boldsymbol{D}\{0\} \,\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{D}\{0<1\}} \,\boldsymbol{D}\{1\} \,\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{D}\{1<2\}} \dots \,\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{D}\{n-1$$

equipped with its canonical geometric morphism to

$$[n] \simeq \mathbf{U}_n(\mathbf{S})$$
.

Note that it is immediate from the definition that the geometric morphism $U_n(D) \rightarrow [n]$ is coherent.

The universal properties of the iterated bounded coherent oriented pushout and the iterated oriented pullback provide natural transformations $\mathbf{U}_n \mathbf{N}_n \rightarrow \mathrm{id}$ and $\mathrm{id} \rightarrow \mathbf{N}_n \mathbf{U}_n$. We aim to show that these natural transformations are equivalences.

We prove that the natural morphisms $\mathbf{U}_n \mathbf{N}_n \to \operatorname{id} \operatorname{and} \operatorname{id} \to \mathbf{N}_n \mathbf{U}_n$ are equivalences by induction on *n*. The base case n = 0 is obvious. Now assume that $n \ge 1$ and that the natural morphism $\mathbf{U}_{n-1}\mathbf{N}_{n-1} \to \operatorname{id}$ is an equivalence; we prove that the natural morphism $\mathbf{U}_n\mathbf{N}_n \to \operatorname{id}$ is an equivalence. If \mathbf{X} is a bounded coherent ∞ -topos with a constructible stratification $\mathbf{X} \to [\widetilde{n}]$, then consider the recollement of \mathbf{X} given by $\mathbf{X}_{[n-1]}$ and \mathbf{X}_n . We thus have a gluing square

As a result, we compute:

$$\mathbf{U}_{n}\mathbf{N}_{n}(\boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \mathbf{U}_{n-1}\mathbf{N}_{n-1}(\boldsymbol{X}_{[n-1]})\,\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{X}_{[n-1]}\times_{\boldsymbol{X}}\boldsymbol{X}_{n}}\,\boldsymbol{X}_{n}$$
$$\simeq \boldsymbol{X}_{[n-1]}\,\overline{\mathbf{U}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\boldsymbol{X}_{[n-1]}\times_{\boldsymbol{X}}\boldsymbol{X}_{n}}\,\boldsymbol{X}_{n}$$
$$\simeq \boldsymbol{X},$$

as desired.

Now assume that the natural morphism $\mathrm{id} \to \mathbf{N}_{n-1}\mathbf{U}_{n-1}$ is an equivalence; we prove that the natural morphism $\mathrm{id} \to \mathbf{N}_n\mathbf{U}_n$ is an equivalence. Let \boldsymbol{D} : $\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}([n]) \to \mathrm{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}}$ be a toposic décollage; we need to show that for every chain $\Sigma \subset [n]$, the natural morphism $\boldsymbol{D}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{N}_n\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D})(\Sigma)$ is an equivalence. There are two cases to consider: $\Sigma \neq [n]$ and $\Sigma = [n]$. If $\Sigma \neq [n]$, then there exists an elment $k \in [n]$ such that $k \notin \Sigma$. Then applying the inductive hypothesis we see that the map $\boldsymbol{D}(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{N}_n\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D})(\Sigma)$ factors as a composite of equivalences

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{D}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}) &\simeq (\boldsymbol{D}|_{\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}([n] \setminus \{k\})})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}) \\ & \cong \mathbf{N}_{[n] \setminus \{k\}} \mathbf{U}_{[n] \setminus \{k\}} (\boldsymbol{D}|_{\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}([n] \setminus \{k\})})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}) \\ & \simeq \mathbf{N}_{n} \mathbf{U}_{n}(\boldsymbol{D})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}) \; . \end{split}$$

In the case that $\Sigma = [n]$, note that the morphism $D([n]) \to N_n U_n(D)([n])$ is homotopic to the Segal equivalence

$$\boldsymbol{D}\{0 < \cdots < n\} \cong \boldsymbol{D}\{0\} \underset{\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D})}{\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}} \boldsymbol{D}\{1\} \underset{\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D})}{\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}} \cdots \underset{\mathbf{U}_n(\boldsymbol{D})}{\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\Sigma}}} \boldsymbol{D}\{n\},$$

whence our claim.

8.8 Profinite stratified spaces as stratified
$$\infty$$
-topoi

In this section we extend the functor $\lambda: \mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{bcc}|_{\mathbf{Pos}^{fin}}$ given by $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$ (Notation 8.4.10) to a functor on profinite stratified spaces. By comparing to the décollage approach to stratified ∞ -topoi, we prove that the resulting functor $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{bcc}$ is fully faithful (Proposition 8.8.6)

8.8.1. In light of Example 8.7.2, for each finite poset *P*, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{Str}_{\pi,P} & \xrightarrow{\lambda_P} & \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{bcc}} \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$

commutes and the vertical functors are equivalences (Definition 2.4.3, (2.7.5), and Theorem 8.7.3). Since the functor $\text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \to \text{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}})$ given by composition with $\lambda_{\pi} : \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}}$ is fully faithful (Example 8.6.5), the functor λ_{P} is fully faithful.

8.8.2. The functor λ : $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bcc}}|_{\mathbf{Pos}^{\mathrm{fin}}}$ is left exact. To see this, we combine two facts. First, the functor $\mathbf{Pos}^{\mathrm{fin}} \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}}$ given by $P \mapsto \widetilde{P}$ is left exact. Second, for any finite poset P, the functor

$$\lambda_P : \operatorname{Str}_{\pi,P} \to \operatorname{Str}\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,P}^{\operatorname{bcc}},$$

when regarded as a functor $\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \to \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}})$, is equivalent to composition with $\lambda_{\{0\}}$, so it too is left exact.

8.8.3 Construction. Since bounded coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topoi are closed under the formation of inverse limits in **StrTop**_{∞} (Corollary 3.9.4=[SAG, Corollary A.8.3.3]), we can now apply (0.11.9) and extend λ to a functor

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: Str ^{\wedge} _{π} \rightarrow StrTop^{bcc} _{∞} .

over **TSpc**^{spec}. We denote this functor by the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$.

8.8.4 Warning. If S is a spectral topological space and Π is a profinite S-stratified space, then although S determines and is determined by the mat(S)-stratified space mat(Π), the ∞ -topoi $\widetilde{\Pi}$ and mat($\overline{\Pi}$) are quite different in general. The latter is always a presheaf ∞ -category, but the former is typically not.

8.8.5. Let *P* be a finite poset. We generalize (8.8.1) as follows. Combining Construction 2.8.8, Example 8.6.5, and Theorem 8.7.3, we see that the square

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,P} & \xrightarrow{\widehat{\lambda}_{P}} & \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,P} \\ \mathbb{N}_{P} & & & & \downarrow \mathbb{N}_{P} \\ \mathbb{D}\acute{\mathrm{ec}}_{P}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}) & \xleftarrow{}_{\lambda_{\pi} \circ -} & \mathrm{D}\acute{\mathrm{ec}}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}^{\mathrm{bc}}_{\infty}) \end{array}$$

commutes. Moreover, the vertical functors are equivalences and the bottom horizontal functor is fully faithful. Hence the functor $\hat{\lambda}_P : \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi_P} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}^{bcc}_{\infty_P}$ is fully faithful.

8.8.6 Proposition. The functor $\hat{\lambda}$ is fully faithful. In particular, for every spectral topological space *S*, the functor

$$\widehat{\lambda}_{S} : \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,S}$$

is fully faithful.

Proof. Note that we have natural identifications

$$\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S} \simeq \lim_{P \in \mathrm{FC}(S)} \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,P} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,S} \simeq \lim_{P \in \mathrm{FC}(S)} \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,P} \,,$$

the first of which is Proposition 2.5.11 and the latter of which is obvious. The claim now follows from the fact that for each finite poset *P*, the functor $\hat{\lambda}_P$ is fully faithful (8.8.5).

8.8.7. Let *P* be a finite poset. In light of Propositions 8.6.6 and 8.8.6 we see that an $X \to \widetilde{P}$ is in the essential image of

$$\widehat{\lambda}_P: \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,P} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{bcc}}_{\infty,P}$$

if and only if for every chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_n\} \subset P$, the iterated oriented fiber product

$$\mathbf{X}_{p_0} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\times}_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{X}_{p_1} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\times}_{\mathbf{X}} \cdots \stackrel{\scriptstyle \leftarrow}{\times}_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{X}_{p_m}$$

is a Stone ∞ -topos. In the next chapter, we will see that this is equivalent to the *a* priori weaker condition that the strata of **X** be Stone (Proposition 9.1.2). We will also characterize the essential image of the functor

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bcc}}$

in general, and provide a number of intrinsic descriptions of stratified ∞ -topoi in the essential image of $\hat{\lambda}$ (Lemma 9.2.7, Theorem 9.3.1, and Corollary 9.5.5).

We conclude this chapter with a few remarks describing stratified geometric morphisms $X \to \widetilde{\Pi}$ in a more familiar fashion. Let us begin with the case in which the base poset is trivial.

8.8.8. In light of Recollection 3.1.8=[HTT, Corollary 6.3.5.6], if Π is a δ_0 -small space, then for any ∞ -topos X there is a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})}(\Pi_{\infty}(X),\Pi) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fun}_{*}(X,\Pi).$$

Here $\Pi_{\infty}(X)$ is the shape prospace of Definition 4.2.1. In particular, Fun_{*}($X, \widetilde{\Pi}$) is a δ_0 -small ∞ -groupoid.

In particular, if Π , Π' are δ_0 -small spaces, then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{S}}(\Pi',\Pi) \to \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}}(\Pi',\Pi)$$

is an equivalence.

Now we extend this result to the context of *P*-stratified ∞ -topoi.

8.8.9 Notation. Let P be a finite poset, and let $f_*: X \to \widetilde{P}$ and $g_*: Y \to \widetilde{P}$ be P-stratified ∞ -topoi. Let us write

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{Y})\coloneqq\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\boldsymbol{X},\boldsymbol{Y})\underset{\operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\boldsymbol{X},\widetilde{P})}{\times}\{f_{*}\}$$

The mapping space $\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,P}}(X, Y)$ is the maximal sub- ∞ -groupoid of $\operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(X, Y)$.

If X and Y are bounded coherent and constructibly stratified, then in light of Theorem 8.7.3, there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(X,Y) \simeq \int_{\Sigma \in \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P)} \operatorname{Fun}_*(\mathbf{N}_P(X)(\Sigma), \mathbf{N}_P(Y)(\Sigma)) \, .$$

This implies the following.

8.8.10 Proposition. Let P be a finite poset and X a bounded coherent constructible P-stratified ∞ -topos. Then for any π -finite P-stratified space Π , there is a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(\boldsymbol{X},\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\Pi}}) \simeq \int_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma} \in \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P)} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})}(\Pi_{\infty}(\mathbf{N}_{P}(\boldsymbol{X})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma})), \operatorname{N}_{P}(\boldsymbol{\Pi})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}))$$

In particular, the ∞ -category $\operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(X, \widetilde{\Pi})$ is an ∞ -groupoid.

Additionally, Proposition 8.8.6 implies the following.

8.8.11 Corollary. For any finite poset P and π -finite P-stratified spaces Π and Π' , the functor

$$\operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Pi', \Pi) \to \operatorname{Fun}_{P,*}(\Pi', \Pi)$$

is an equivalence. That is, the functor λ_P is a fully faithful functor $\operatorname{Str}_{\pi,P} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Str}\operatorname{Top}_{\infty,P}^{\operatorname{bcc}}$.

9 Spectral higher topoi

In this chapter, we define the notion of a *spectral* ∞ -*topos*. The idea is that, on one hand, these are the kinds of ∞ -topoi that arise as the étale ∞ -topoi of coherent schemes, and on the other, these turn out to be precisely the ∞ -topoi that arise as $\widetilde{\Pi}$ for some profinite stratified space Π .

Section 9.1 begins by showing that in an oriented fiber product of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi $X \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\times}}{\times}_Z Y$, if X and Y are Stone, then $X \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\times}_Z Y$ is Stone; this is key to understand the links in our décollage approach to *spectral* ∞ -topoi developed in §9.2. Section 9.3 states and proves our ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 0.4.6). The ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem provides an equivalence between profinite stratified spaces and spectral ∞ -topoi. Section 9.4 is dedicated to the study of constructible sheaves in the setting of stratified ∞ -topoi. In Section 9.5 we show that spectral ∞ -topoi are characterized by the requirement that the constructible sheaves coincide with the truncated coherent objects.

9.1 Stone ∞-topoi & oriented fiber products

In this section we prove two useful facts about oriented fiber products involving Stone ∞ -topoi.

9.1.1 Proposition. Let $f_* : X \to Z$ and $g_* : Y \to Z$ be geometric morphisms of ∞ -topoi. If Z is Stone, then the natural geometric morphism $X \times_Z Y \to X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ is an equivalence.

Proof. It suffices to show that the projections $pr_{1,*}, pr_{2,*}$: Path(Z) $\rightarrow Z$ are equivalences. Since Z is Stone, by Lemma 5.5.19 the ∞ -topos Path(Z) is bounded coherent. Moreover, Theorem 4.4.10=[SAG, Theorem E.3.4.1] shows that the ∞ -category Pt(Z) is an ∞ -groupoid. Thus

$$Pt(Path(Z)) \simeq Fun([1], Pt(Z))$$

is an ∞ -groupoid as well. Again appealing to Theorem 4.4.10=[SAG, Theorem E.3.4.1] we conclude that Path(Z) is Stone. The claim now follows from the fact that pr_{1,*} and pr_{2,*} are shape equivalences (Example 6.3.6).

9.1.2 Proposition. Let X and Y be Stone ∞ -topoi, Z a bounded coherent ∞ -topos, and $f_* : X \to Z$ and $g_* : Y \to Z$ coherent geometric morphisms. Then the oriented fiber product $X \times_Z Y$ is a Stone ∞ -topos.

Proof. By Lemma 5.5.19 the ∞ -topos $X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y$ is bounded coherent, so by Theorem 4.4.10=[SAG, Theorem E.3.4.1] it suffices to prove that the ∞ -category $Pt(X \stackrel{\sim}{\times}_Z Y)$ is an ∞ -groupoid. In light of Lemma 5.4.8 there is an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{Z}} \boldsymbol{Y}) \simeq \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X}) \downarrow_{\operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{Z})} \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{Y}),$$

so the fact that Pt(X) and Pt(Y) are ∞ -groupoids implies that the ∞ -category $Pt(X \times_Z Y)$ is as well.

9.2 Spectral ∞-topoi & toposic décollages

In this section we define the ∞ -toposic generalization of spectral topological spaces relevant for our ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 9.3.1).

9.2.1 Definition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. An *S*-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \tilde{S}$ is a *spectral S*-stratified ∞ -topos if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- The ∞ -topos X is bounded and coherent.
- The stratification by S is constructible.
- For every point $s \in S$, the stratum $X_s := \tilde{s} \times_{\widetilde{S}} X$ is a Stone ∞ -topos.

We write $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{spec}} \subset \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\operatorname{bcc}}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the spectral *S*-stratified ∞ -topoi.

More generally, write

$$\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{spec}} \subset \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bcc}}$$

for the full subcategory whose objects are spectral ∞ -topoi and whose morphisms are squares



of coherent geometric morphisms. As a consequence of Lemma 5.5.19 we observe that the pullback of a spectral ∞ -topos along the geometric morphism induced by a quasicompact continuous map is again spectral. Hence the functor $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}} \rightarrow \mathbf{TSpc}^{\text{spec}}$ is a cartesian fibration.

9.2.2 Example. Let $\Pi \to S$ be a profinite stratified space (Definition 2.5.7). Since the fibers $\widetilde{\Pi}_s \simeq \widetilde{\Pi}_s$ are Stone ∞ -topoi, the *S*-stratified ∞ -topos $\widetilde{\Pi}$ is spectral.

9.2.3. In §9.3, we prove the central ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem, which states that *every* spectral ∞ -topos is of the form $\widetilde{\Pi}$ for some profinite stratified space.

The key example of a spectral ∞ -topos from algebraic geometry is the étale ∞ -topos of a coherent scheme.

9.2.4 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme. We claim that $X_{\text{ét}}$ is spectral with respect to the natural stratification $X_{\text{ét}} \rightarrow X_{\text{zar}}$ (Example 8.3.10).

To see this, we need to show that for any point $x_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$, the stratum $(X_{\text{ét}})_{x_0}$ is a Stone ∞ -topos. Combining the fact that the functor Pt : **Top** $_{\infty} \rightarrow$ **Cat** $_{\infty,\delta_1}$ preserves fiber products, with Conceptual Completeness (Theorem 3.11.2=[SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]), we see that the natural square



is a pullback square. To conclude, recall that a choice of separable closure of the residue field $\kappa(x_0)$ provides an identification of $(\text{Spec }\kappa(x_0))_{\text{ét}}$ with the Stone ∞ -topos $\widetilde{BG}_{\kappa(x_0)}$ associated to the absolute Galois group of $\kappa(x_0)$ (Example 4.4.21). Consequently $X_{\text{ét}}$ is a spectral ∞ -topos.

The following is a convenient reformulation of the condition that a stratified ∞ -topos be spectral.

9.2.5 Proposition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let *X* be a bounded coherent constructible *S*-stratifed ∞ -topos. Then *X* is spectral if and only if the functor

$$\operatorname{Pt}(X) \to \operatorname{Pt}(S) \simeq \operatorname{mat}(S)$$

exhibits Pt(X) as a mat(S)-stratified space.

Proof. This follows directly from Theorem 4.4.10=[SAG, Theorem E.3.4.1].

9.2.6 (spectral ∞ -topoi as décollages). Let *P* be a finite poset. We now consider the nerve of a spectral *P*-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \tilde{P}$. Since each stratum X_p is Stone, it follows from Proposition 9.1.2 that for any chain $\{p_0 < \cdots < p_n\} \subseteq P$, the value

$$\mathbf{N}_{P}(\boldsymbol{X})\{p_{0} < \cdots < p_{n}\} \simeq \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{0}} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{1}} \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{X}}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_{n}}$$

is a Stone ∞ -topos. Consequently, we deduce that the equivalence

$$\mathbf{N}_P$$
: $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{bcc}} \cong \mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}})$

restricts to an equivalence between the ∞ -category of spectral *P*-stratified ∞ -topoi and the full subcategory $\text{Déc}_P(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{Stn}}) \subset \text{Déc}_P(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}})$ spanned by those décollages over *P* that carry each chain to a Stone ∞ -topos (Proposition 8.6.6).

9.2.7 Lemma. Let P be a finite poset. Then the nerve equivalence

$$\mathbf{N}_P$$
: $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{bcc}} \cong \mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}})$

restricts to an equivalence $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty P}^{\operatorname{spec}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{Stn}}).$

9.3 Hochster duality for higher topoi

In (1.3.6) we described Hochster duality as a cube of dualities: the equivalence of 1categories between profinite posets and spectral topological spaces restricts on one hand to an equivalence between profinite sets and Stone spaces, and on the other to an equivalence between finite posets and finite topological spaces. Our objective now is to exhibit the analogous cube for higher topoi:



Here the vertical fully faithful functors are given by equipping an object with the trivial stratification. The top face of this cube was established by Lurie [SAG, Appendix E]. We now address the bottom face, more precisely the equivalence $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \simeq \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}}$.

9.3.1 Theorem (∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality). *Let S be a spectral topological space. Then the functor*

$$\widehat{\lambda}_{S} : \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S} \to \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{spec}}_{\infty,S}$$

given by the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories. Consequently, the functor

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: Str ^{\wedge} _{π} \rightarrow StrTop^{spec} _{∞}

is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

Proof. Since $\hat{\lambda}$ is fully faithful (Proposition 8.8.6) and preserves inverse limits, it suffices to prove that for any finite poset *P*, the fully faithful functor $\hat{\lambda}$: $\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,P} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{StrTop}^{\mathrm{spec}}_{\infty,P}$ is essentially surjective. This follows from the conjunction of Lemma 9.2.7 and Proposition 8.6.6.

The back face of the cube is just a restriction of the front face: we define $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{fin}}$ as the full subcategory of $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{Stn}}$ spanned by the essential image of the fully faithful functor $\mathbf{S}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{Stn}}$ given by $\Pi \mapsto \mathbf{S}_{/\Pi} \simeq \text{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S})$. Similarly, $\mathbf{Str}\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{fin}}$ is the ∞ -category of bounded coherent constructible ∞ -topoi over a finite poset *P* such that for every point $p \in P$, the ∞ -topos X_p is in $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{fin}}$.

9.4 Constructible sheaves

The truncated coherent objects of a Stone ∞ -topos are exactly the *lisse sheaves* (Recollection 4.4.11). This turns out to be a defining property of Stone ∞ -topoi (Proposition 4.4.14=[SAG, Proposition E.3.1.1]). In the same manner, the truncated coherent objects of a spectral ∞ -topos are exactly the *constructible sheaves*. In this section we introduce constructible sheaves for stratified ∞ -topoi; in the next section, we prove this characterization of spectral ∞ -topoi in terms of constructible sheaves.

9.4.1 Notation. Let *P* be a finite poset and *X* a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. For each $p \in P$, we write $e_{p,*}$: $X_p \hookrightarrow X$ for the inclusion of the *p*-th stratum.

9.4.2 Definition. Let *P* be a finite poset and *X* a *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. An object $F \in X$ is *formally constructible* (or *formally P-constructible* if disambiguation is called for) if and only if, for every point $p \in P$, the restriction $F|_{X_p} := e_p^* F \in X_p$ is locally constant.

We say that *F* is *constructible* (or *P*-*constructible*) if and only if the following pair of conditions is satisfied:

- The object F is formally constructible.
- For any point $p \in P$, the restriction $F|_{X_p} \in X_p$ is lisse.

We write $X^{P-\text{cons}} \subset X$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *P*-constructible sheaves.

9.4.3. This notion of constructibility depends upon the whole structure of the stratified ∞ -topos, not only upon the underlying ∞ -topos.

9.4.4. For any finite poset *P* and *P*-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \widetilde{P}$, the ∞ -category of *P*-constructible sheaves on *X* is given by the pullback of ∞ -categories:

where $\prod_{p \in P} X_p$ is the product in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$. Lemmas 3.8.4 and 3.8.5 now show that $X^{P-\operatorname{cons}}$ is an ∞ -pretopos (Definition 3.8.2) and the inclusion $X^{P-\operatorname{cons}} \hookrightarrow X$ is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi.

The pullback functor in a geometric morphism of ∞ -topoi preserves lisse objects (see Recollection 4.4.11); in the same manner, the pullback of a morphism of stratified ∞ -topoi preserves constructible objects.

9.4.5 Lemma. Let $f : P \to Q$ be a morphism of finite posets, and let $X \to \widetilde{P}$ and $Y \to \widetilde{Q}$ be stratified ∞ -topoi. Then for any geometric morphism $q_* : X \to Y$ over $f_* : \widetilde{P} \to \widetilde{Q}$, the pullback $q^* : Y \to X$ sends Q-constructible objects of Y to P-constructible objects of X. Hence q^* restricts to a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi

$$q^*: \mathbf{Y}^{Q\text{-cons}} \to \mathbf{X}^{P\text{-cons}}$$

Proof. Let $F \in Y^{Q\text{-cons}}$ be a Q-constructible object of Y. Then for any point $p \in P$, the restriction $F|_{Y_{f(p)}}$ is lisse. Since the pullback in a geometric morphism preserves lisse objects, we see that the object $a^*(F)|_Y$ is lisse. Hence $a^*(F)$ is P-constructible.

lisse objects, we see that the object $q^*(F)|_{X_p}$ is lisse. Hence $q^*(F)$ is *P*-constructible. The fact that $q^*: Y^{Q\text{-cons}} \to X^{P\text{-cons}}$ is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi is immediate from (9.4.4).

A key feature of ∞ -pretopos of constructible sheaves is that it is alway bounded. We make use of this fact repeatedly throughout the text.

9.4.6 Proposition. Let P be a finite poset and $X \to \tilde{P}$ a P-stratified ∞ -topos. Then the ∞ -pretopos $X^{P-\text{cons}}$ is bounded (Definition 3.8.8).

Proof. If $P = \emptyset$, then the claim is obvious, so assume that P is nonempty. We prove the claim by induction on the rank of P.

In the base case where *P* has rank 0, *P* is discrete, so *X* is finite the coproduct of ∞ -topoi $\coprod_{p \in P} X_p$ (which is the product $\prod_{p \in P} X_p$ in $\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty,\delta_1}$). Thus $X^{P-\operatorname{cons}}$ is the product of ∞ -categories:

$$X^{P-\mathrm{cons}} = \prod_{p \in P} X_p^{\mathrm{lisse}}$$
.

By Theorem 4.4.16=[SAG, Theorem E.2.3.2], for all $p \in P$ the ∞ -pretopos X_p^{lisse} is bounded; the finiteness of *P* and Lemma 3.8.11 now show that $X^{P\text{-cons}}$ is also bounded.

For the induction step, let $n \ge 0$ be a natural number and assume that the claim holds for all finite posets *P* of rank *n* and *P*-stratified ∞ -topoi $X \to \widetilde{P}$. Let *P* be a finite poset of rank n + 1, and write $M \subset P$ for the full subposet spanned by the minimal elements of *P*. Then *M* is discrete and closed in *P*. Write $U := P \setminus M$ for the open complement of *M* in *P*. Then *U* is a poset of rank *n*. Moreover, since \widetilde{P} is the recollement of \widetilde{M} and \widetilde{U} , the *P*-stratified ∞ -topos *X* is the recollement of X_M and X_U . An object $F \in X$ is *P*-constructible if and only if $F|_{X_M}$ and $F|_{X_U}$ are both constructible, from which we deduce that $X^{P-\text{cons}}$ is the oriented fiber product of ∞ -categories

$$X^{P-\mathrm{cons}} \simeq X_M^{M-\mathrm{cons}} \downarrow_{X_M} X_U^{U-\mathrm{cons}}$$
.

Since *M* is a poset of rank 0 and *U* is a poset of rank *n*, by the induction hypothesis both $X_M^{M-\text{cons}}$ and $X_U^{U-\text{cons}}$ are bounded ∞ -pretopoi. To conclude that the ∞ -pretopos $X^{P-\text{cons}}$ is a bounded, note that by (5.1.2) every object of $X^{P-\text{cons}}$ is truncated and by (0.11.11) the ∞ -category $X^{P-\text{cons}}$ is δ_0 -small.

Now we extend the definition of constructibility to ∞ -topoi stratified over a spectral topological space.

9.4.7 Definition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space and *X* an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. We say that an object $F \in X$ is *formally constructible* (or *formally S-constructible*) if and only if there exist a finite poset *P* and a constructible stratification $S \rightarrow P$ such that *F* is formally *P*-constructible. We say that *F* is *constructible* (or *S-constructible*) if and only if there exist a poset *P* and a finite constructible stratification $S \rightarrow P$ such that *F* is *P*-constructible.

We denote by $X^{S-\text{fcons}} \subset X$ (respectively, by $X^{S-\text{cons}} \subset X$) the full subcategory spanned by the formally constructible objects (respectively, the constructible objects).

9.4.8. For any spectral topological space S and S-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \tilde{S}$, the ∞ -category of constructible sheaves on X is thus a filtered colimit of ∞ -categories:

$$X^{S-\operatorname{cons}} \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{P \in \operatorname{FC}(S)^{\operatorname{op}}} X^{P-\operatorname{cons}}$$
.

Therefore Lemma 9.4.5 and Proposition 9.4.6 combined with Proposition 3.9.1=[SAG, Proposition A.8.3.1] show that $X^{S-\text{cons}}$ is a bounded ∞ -pretopos. Moreover, (9.4.4) shows that the inclusion $X^{S-\text{cons}} \hookrightarrow X$ is a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi.

From Lemma 9.4.5 we immediately deduce the following.

9.4.9 Lemma. Let $f : S \to T$ be a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, and let $X \to \tilde{S}$ and $Y \to \tilde{T}$ be stratified ∞ -topoi. Then for any geometric morphism $q_* : X \to Y$ over $f_* : \tilde{S} \to \tilde{T}$, the pullback $q^* : Y \to X$ sends *T*-constructible objects of *Y* to *S*-constructible objects of *X*. Hence q^* restricts to a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi

$$q^*: \mathbf{Y}^{T\text{-cons}} \to \mathbf{X}^{S\text{-cons}}$$

9.5 Coherence & constructibility

We now turn to the relationship between coherence and constructibility in ∞ -topoi stratified by a spectral topological space. The main result of this section is that a bounded coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topos is spectral if and only all of its truncated coherent objects are constructible (Corollary 9.5.5).

We begin by giving a characterization of constructibility in terms of local constancy over constructible subsets.

9.5.1 Recollection. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. The collection of *constructible* subsets of *S* is the smallest collection of subsets of *S* containing all quasicompact open subsets and closed under taking finite intersections and complements.

9.5.2 Lemma. Let S be a spectral topological space, and let X be an S-stratified ∞ -topos. Then an object F of X is constructible if and only if, for every point $s \in S$, there exists a constructible subset $W \subseteq S$ containing s such that $F|_{X_W}$ is lisse.

Proof. The 'only if' direction is clear. Conversely, assume that for every point $s \in S$, there exists a constructible subset $W \subseteq S$ containing s such that $F|_{X_W}$ is lisse. Then the collection $\{W_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of constructible subsets of S such that $F|_{X_W}$ is lisse is a cover of S by constructible subsets. Since the constructible topology on S is quasicompact, it follows that there exists a finite subcover $\{W_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A_0}$ of $\{W_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$. Select a finite constructible stratification $S \to P$ of S such that for every $p \in P$, there exists an $\alpha \in A_0$ such that $S_p \subseteq W_{\alpha}$. Then F is P-constructible, as desired.

9.5.3 Lemma. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and $X \to \tilde{S}$ a coherent constructible *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. Then:

- (9.5.3.1) Every constructible object of X is truncated coherent.
- (9.5.3.2) If **X** is also bounded and every truncated coherent object of **X** is constructible, then **X** is spectral.

Proof. For the first statement, let $F \in X^{S-\text{cons}}$, and let $S \to P$ be a finite constructible stratification such that for every point $p \in P$, the restriction $F|_{X_p}$ is lisse. By Proposition 5.1.9=[DAG XIII, Proposition 2.3.22] it follows that F is coherent. Moreover, if each $F|_{X_p}$ is *n*-truncated, then F is *n*-truncated.

For the second statement, if every truncated coherent object of X is constructible and X is bounded, then by (9.5.3.1) we have that $X^{S-\text{cons}} = X_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}}$. Hence by the classification of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi (Theorem 3.8.9=[SAG, Theorem A.7.5.3]) we see that

$$X \simeq \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X^{S-\operatorname{cons}})$$

For every point $s \in S$, we thus have an equivalence $X_s \simeq \text{Sh}_{\text{eff}}(X_s^{\text{lisse}})$. This shows that X_s is a Stone ∞ -topos, hence X is spectral.

9.5.4 Proposition. If S is a spectral topological space, and X is a spectral S-stratified ∞ -topos X, then every truncated coherent object of X is constructible.

Proof. Let *F* be a truncated coherent object of *X*, and $s \in S$ a point. We wish to show that there exists a constructible subset of $W \subset S$ containing *s* such that $F|_{X_W}$ is lisse (Lemma 9.5.2). Passing to the closure of *s*, it suffices to assume that *S* is irreducible, and *s* is its generic point.

Since $F|_{X_s}$ is lisse, it follows from Lemma 4.4.12=[SAG, Proposition E.2.7.7] that there exists a full subcategory $E \subset S_{\pi}$ spanned by finitely many π -finite spaces and a unique geometric morphism $g_* : X_s \to S_{/1E}$ and an equivalence $\varepsilon_s : F|_{X_s} \cong g^*(I)$, where *I* is the inclusion functor $E \hookrightarrow S$. Now since $S_{/1E}$ is cocompact as an object of $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}$ (Lemma 4.4.13) and X_s is identified with the limit $\lim_W X_W$ over constructible subsets $W \subset S$ containing *s*, it follows that for some such *W*, one may factor g_* through a geometric morphism $g_{W,*} : X_W \to S_{/1E}$. Now since $X_{s,<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}} \cong \operatorname{colim}_W X_{W,<\infty}^{\operatorname{coh}}$, we shrink *W* as needed to ensure that there exists an equivalence $\varepsilon_s : F|_{X_W} \cong g_W^*(I)$, and conclude that *F* is lisse on *W*.

Combining Propositions 9.2.5 and 9.5.4 and Lemma 9.5.3 we arrive at the following equivalent conditions for an ∞ -topos to be spectral.

9.5.5 Corollary. Let S be a spectral topological space. The following are equivalent for a bounded coherent constructible S-stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \widetilde{S}$:

- (9.5.5.1) The S-stratified ∞ -topos **X** is spectral.
- (9.5.5.2) The functor

$$\operatorname{Pt}(X) \to \operatorname{Pt}(\widetilde{S}) \simeq \operatorname{mat}(S)$$

exhibits $Pt(\mathbf{X})$ as a mat(S)-stratified space.

(9.5.5.3) Every truncated coherent object of X is S-constructible. That is, $X^{S-cons} = X^{coh}_{<\infty}$.

9.5.6 Example. If X is a coherent scheme, then the truncated coherent objects of $X_{\text{ét}}$ are precisely the constructible sheaves of spaces. This is the nonabelian analogue of the well-known result that for a finite ring R, the compact objects of the ∞ -category $D(X_{\text{ét}}; R)$ of étale sheaves of *R*-complexes on X coincide with the derived ∞ -category of constructible *R*-sheaves [40, Proposition 2.2.6.2].

We have shown that the ∞ -category $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ of profinite stratified spaces is equivalent to the ∞ -category $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}}$ (Theorem 9.3.1), which is in turn a full subcategory of $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{bcc}}$ of bounded coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topoi. However, the ∞ -category $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{bcc}}$ is a *non-full* subcategory of \mathbf{StrTop}_{∞} . Just as how every geometric morphism between Stone ∞ -topoi is coherent (Corollary 4.4.15=[SAG, Corollary E.3.1.2]), the subcategory

$$\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{spec}} \subset \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}$$

is full, as we shall now explain.

9.5.7 Proposition. Let $f : S \to T$ be a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, let $X \to \widetilde{S}$ be a coherent constructible stratified ∞ -topos, and let $Y \to \widetilde{T}$ be a spectral ∞ -topos. Then any geometric morphism $q_* : X \to Y$ over $f_* : \widetilde{S} \to \widetilde{T}$ is coherent.

Proof. By Corollary 3.4.5 it suffices to show that if $F \in X$ is truncated coherent, then p^*F is coherent. By Proposition 9.5.4 we have that

$$X^{S-\operatorname{cons}} = X^{\operatorname{coh}}_{<\infty}$$

so the claim now follows from the facts that q^* preserves constructibility (Lemma 9.4.9) and the S'-constructible objects of X' are truncated coherent (Lemma 9.5.3).

9.5.8 Corollary. The subcategory $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{spec}} \subset \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}$ is full.

We finish this section by explaining the generalization of the Stone reflection (Definition 4.4.4 and Theorem 4.4.16) to stratified ∞ -topoi.

9.5.9 Construction (spectrification). Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and *X* an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. By [SAG, Proposition A.6.4.4], the inclusion $X^{S-\text{cons}} \hookrightarrow X$ of ∞ -pretopoi extends (uniquely) to a geometric morphism $X \to \text{Sh}_{\text{eff}}(X^{S-\text{cons}})$ over \widetilde{S} . By construction, the *S*-stratified ∞ -topos

$$X^{S-\text{spec}} \coloneqq \text{Sh}_{\text{eff}}(X^{S-\text{cons}})$$

is spectral. Furthermore, $X^{S-\text{spec}}$ is the universal spectral *S*-stratified ∞ -topos receiving a morphism of *S*-stratified ∞ -topoi from *X*. Thus the assignment

$$X \mapsto X^{S-\text{spec}}$$

defines a relative left adjoint to the inclusion $\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{spec}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\wedge}$ over $\operatorname{TSpc}^{\operatorname{spec}}$. We call $X^{S-\operatorname{spec}}$ the *S-spectrification* of X.

9.5.10 Example. When S = [n], the spectrification of a bounded coherent ∞ -topos X equipped with a constructible stratification by [n] can be identified as an iterated bounded coherent oriented pushout:

$$\boldsymbol{X}^{[n]\text{-spec}} \simeq \boldsymbol{X}_0^{\text{Stn}} \, \overline{\boldsymbol{\bigcup}}_{\text{bc}}^{(\boldsymbol{X}_0 \times_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_1)^{\text{Stn}}} \cdots \overline{\boldsymbol{\bigcup}}_{\text{bc}}^{(\boldsymbol{X}_{n-1} \times_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_n)^{\text{Stn}}} \, \boldsymbol{X}_n^{\text{Stn}} \, .$$

9.5.11. Thanks to the existence of the spectrification functor, we deduce the forgetful functor **StrTop**^{spec}_{∞} \rightarrow **TSpc**^{spec} is a cocartesian fibration (as well as a cartesian fibration): for any quasicompact continuous map $f : S' \rightarrow S$ and any spectral S'-stratified ∞ -topos X, the stratified geometric morphism $X \rightarrow X^{S-\text{spec}}$ is a cocartesian edge over f.

9.5.12 Lemma. Let S be a spectral topological space. Then the natural functor

$$\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,S}^{\mathrm{spec}} \to \lim_{P \in \mathrm{FC}(S)} \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{spec}}$$

is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

Proof. The formation of the limit is an inverse.

10 Profinite stratified shape

In this chapter we investigate the inverse to the equivalence of ∞-categories

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: Str ^{\wedge} _{π} $\xrightarrow{\sim}$ StrTop^{spec} _{∞}

provided by ∞ -Categorical Hoschster Duality. This inverse equivalence provides a stratified refinement of the profinite shape (Example 10.1.7). We will even show that the inverse is a stratified refinement of the *protruncated* shape (Theorem 10.2.3).

In Section 10.1 we introduce this inverse, which we call the *profinite stratified shape*. To justify this language, Section 10.2 shows that, up to protruncation, the shape of a spectral ∞ -topos can be recovered from its profinite stratified shape by inverting all morphisms in the 'pro' sense. In §10.3 we show that the materialization of the profinite stratified shape of a spectral ∞ -topos X recovers the ∞ -category Pt(X) of points of X. We also prove stratified refinements of the basic results relating profinite spaces and Stone ∞ -topoi discussed in §4.4. Section 10.5 provides a van Kampen Theorem that expressed the profinite shape of a spectral ∞ -topos in terms of the profinite shapes of its strata and links.

10.1 The definition of the profinite stratified shape

10.1.1 Construction (profinite stratified shape). We have shown that the functor over **TSpc**^{spec}

$$\widehat{\lambda}$$
: Str ^{\wedge} _{π} $\xrightarrow{\sim}$ StrTop^{spec} _{∞}

given by the assignment $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories (Theorem 9.3.1). The further inclusion

$$StrTop^{spec}_{\infty} \hookrightarrow StrTop_{\infty}$$

admits a left adjoint, given by spectrification (Construction 9.5.9). We therefore obtain an adjunction

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)} \colon \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty} \rightleftarrows \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} : \widehat{\lambda}$$

The left adjoint $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}$ carries a stratified ∞ -topos $X \to \widetilde{S}$ to the profinite *S*-stratified space that as a left exact accessible functor $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{S}$ is given by the assignment

$$\Pi \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty}}(X, \widetilde{\Pi}) \,.$$

Over any spectral topological space S, this restricts to an adjunction

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)} \colon \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,S} \rightleftarrows \mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi,S} : \widehat{\lambda}_{S}$$

on fibers over S.

10.1.2 Example. For any spectral topological space *S* and any profinite *S*-stratified space Π , we have $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(\widetilde{\Pi}) \simeq \Pi$.

10.1.3 Example. The functor

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{\{0\}}: \operatorname{Top}_{\infty} \simeq \operatorname{StrTop}_{\infty,\{0\}} \to \operatorname{Str}_{\pi,\{0\}}^{\wedge} \simeq \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$$

is the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}$ of Definition 4.4.2.

10.1.4 Definition. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let $X \to \widetilde{S}$ be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. Then we call the profinite *S*-stratified space $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ the *profinite S*-stratified shape of *X*.

10.1.5. Let P be a finite poset. In light of (8.8.5), note that the square

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathbf{Str}_{\pi,P}^{\wedge} & \stackrel{\widehat{\lambda}_{P}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty,P}^{\mathrm{bcc}} \\
\mathbf{N}_{P} \downarrow & & \downarrow \mathbf{N}_{P} \\
\mathrm{Déc}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}) & \stackrel{}{\underset{\lambda_{\pi} \circ \neg}{\longrightarrow}} & \mathrm{Déc}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}})
\end{array}$$

commutes. Moreover, the vertical functors are equivalences and the horizontal functors are fully faithful right adjoints.

10.1.6 (pushing forward the profinite stratified shape). Let $\phi : S' \to S$ is a quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces, and write $\phi_1 : \operatorname{Str}_{\pi,S'}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Str}_{\pi,S}^{\wedge}$ be the pushforward functor of Construction 2.5.9. Since left adjoints compose, there is a natural equivalence

$$\phi_! \widehat{\Pi}^{S'}_{(\infty,1)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\Pi}^S_{(\infty,1)}$$
.

10.1.7 Example. As a special case of (10.1.6), we see that for any *S*-stratified ∞ -topos X, the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$ is the classifying profinite space of the profinite ∞ -category $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{S}(X)$. Thus the stratification on X gives rise to a delocalization of its profinite shape.

Combining ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality (Theorem 9.3.1) with Proposition 9.5.4 we deduce the *Exodromy Equivalence* stated as Theorem 0.4.7 in the introduction.

10.1.8 Theorem (Exodromy Equivalence for Stratified ∞ -Topoi). Let *S* be a spectral topological space and *X* an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. Then the unit

$$X \to \operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X), \mathbf{S})$$

of the adjunction to profinite stratified spaces restricts to an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq X^{S-\operatorname{cons}}$$

10.1.9. In Chapter 13 we investigate extensions of Theorem 10.1.8. In particular, we prove stable variant of Theorem 10.1.8 for constructible sheaves with coefficients in a finite ring.

10.2 Recovering the protruncated shape from the profinite stratified shape

In Example 10.1.7 we saw how to recover the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$ of a spectral stratified ∞ -topos X from its profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ by 'inverting all morphisms' in a suitable sense. This delocalization result comes for free from the functoriality of the profinite stratified shape. In this section prove a stronger delocalization result (Theorem 10.2.3): the profinite stratified shape is a delocalization of the *protruncated* shape.³²

The equivalence $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \simeq \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}}$ provided by ∞ -categorical Hochster Duality (Theorem 9.3.1) provides a way to recover the shape of a spectral ∞ -topos from its profinite stratified shape, via the composite

$$\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{~~} \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{spec}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}} \xrightarrow{~\Pi_{\infty}} \mathrm{Pro}(\mathbf{S}) \,,$$

where the middle functor functor forgets the stratification. There is another functor $\varepsilon \colon \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ that doesn't require the use of ∞ -topoi, namely, the extension to problects of the composite

$$\operatorname{Str}_{\pi} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} S$$
.

Here the first functor forgets the stratification and the second functor sends an ∞ -category *C* to the ∞ -groupoid $\varepsilon(C)$ obtained by inverting every morphism in *C* (Notation 2.2.1). It follows formally that these two functors agree on \mathbf{Str}_{π} :

10.2.1 Lemma. The square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{Str}_{\pi} & \stackrel{\widehat{\lambda}}{\longleftrightarrow} & \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}} \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & \mathbf{S} & \underbrace{\qquad}_{\mathbf{k}} & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\$$

commutes.

Proof. By the definition of the equivalence $\hat{\lambda}$: $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \simeq \mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}}$ (Theorem 9.3.1), the following square commutes

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Str}_{\pi} & \stackrel{\widetilde{\lambda}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Str}\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{spec}} \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty} & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Fun}(-,\mathbf{S})} & \operatorname{Top}_{\infty} & , \end{array}$$

where the vertical functors forget stratifications. Combining this with Example 4.2.3 proves the claim. \Box

³²The contents of this section originally appeared in a short preprint by the third-named author [49].

10.2.2. Since the functor ε : $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S})$ preserves inverse limits, Lemma 10.2.1 provides a natural transformation

$$\theta: \Pi_{\infty} \circ \widehat{\lambda} \to \varepsilon$$

10.2.3 Theorem (Homotopy). The natural transformation

$$\tau_{<\infty} \, \theta : \, \Pi_{<\infty} \circ \widehat{\lambda} \to \tau_{<\infty} \, \varepsilon$$

of functors $\operatorname{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Pro}(S_{<\infty})$ is an equivalence.

Proof. Since the forgetful functor $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}} \to \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{bc}}$ preserves inverse limits, Corollary 4.3.7 implies that the protruncated shape $\Pi_{<\infty}$: $\mathbf{StrTop}_{\infty}^{\text{spec}} \to \text{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty})$ preserves inverse limits. Both $\tau_{<\infty}$ and ε preserve inverse limits, hence their composite

$$\tau_{<\infty} \varepsilon \colon \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{S}_{<\infty})$$

preserves inverse limits. The claim now follows from the fact that θ is an equivalence when restricted to \mathbf{Str}_{π} (Lemma 10.2.1) and the universal property of the ∞ -category $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ of profinite stratified spaces.

10.3 Points & materialization

We now provide a stratified refinement of (4.4.7). This allows us to prove a 'Whitehead Theorem' for profinite stratified spaces (Theorem 10.3.3), and effectively speak of *n*-truncated profinite stratified spaces via materialization. In particular, we show that a spectral ∞ -topos is *n*-localic if and only if its ∞ -category of points is an *n*-category (Proposition 10.3.7).

10.3.1. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let *X* be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. The ∞ -category of points of *X* is given by

$$Pt(\boldsymbol{X}) = Fun_*(\boldsymbol{S}, \boldsymbol{X})^{op} \simeq Fun_{\boldsymbol{StrTop},..,*}(\{\bar{0}\}, \boldsymbol{X})^{op}.$$

Since $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\{\widetilde{0}\})\simeq *,$ applying $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}$ yields a natural functor

$$\operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X}) \to \operatorname{Fun}_{\operatorname{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}}(*,\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X})) \simeq \operatorname{mat}\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X})$$

In the case where X is a spectral ∞ -topos, then ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality (Theorem 9.3.1) implies the following stratified refinement of (4.4.7).

10.3.2 Lemma. If **X** is a spectral ∞ -topos, then the natural morphism

$$Pt(\boldsymbol{X}) \to mat \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty 1)}(\boldsymbol{X})$$

of stratified spaces is an equivalence.

Now we can deduce a stratified refinement of Whitehead's Theorem for profinite spaces (Theorem 4.4.8=[SAG, Theorem E.3.1.6]).

10.3.3 Theorem (Whitehead Theorem for profinite stratified spaces). *The materialization functor* mat : $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{Str}$ *is conservative.*

Proof. Let $f : \Pi \to \Pi'$ be a morphism in $\mathbf{Str}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ and assume that $\operatorname{mat}(f)$ is an equivalence in **Str**. Write $f_* : \widetilde{\Pi} \to \widetilde{\Pi'}$ for the induced morphism of spectral ∞ -topoi. From Lemma 10.3.2 we deduce that

$$\operatorname{Pt}(f_*): \operatorname{Pt}(\widetilde{\Pi}) \to \operatorname{Pt}(\widetilde{\Pi}')$$

is an equivalence of ∞ -categories. Conceptual Completeness (Theorem 3.11.2=[SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]) implies that f_* is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi. The full faithfulness of the functor $\Pi \mapsto \widetilde{\Pi}$ completes the proof.

We can employ the Whitehead Theorem for profinite stratified spaces to study the Postnikov tower of profinite stratified spaces.

10.3.4 Definition. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A profinite stratified space $\Pi \to S$ is *n*-truncated if and only if Π can be exhibited as an inverse limit of finite *n*-truncated π -finite stratified spaces. Equivalently, if we extend $h_n : \mathbf{Str}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}$ to an inverse-limit preserving functor $h_n : \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \to \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$, then an *n*-truncated profinite space is one in the essential image of h_n .

We write $(\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge})_{\leq n} \subset \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *n*-truncated profinite stratified spaces.

10.3.5 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let S be a spectral topological space. Then a profinite stratified space $\Pi \to S$ is n-truncated if and only if, for all $s, t \in \operatorname{mat}(S)$ such that $s \leq t$, the induced morphism

$$N_{\max(S)}(\Pi)\{s \le t\} \to \Pi_s \times \Pi_t$$

is an (n-1)-truncated morphism of $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$.

Proof. Exhibit Π as an inverse system $\{\Pi_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of *n*-truncated π -finite stratified spaces, and express *s* and *t* as inverse systems π -finite $\{s_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ and $\{t_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of points. Then the inverse system

$$\left\{ \mathrm{N}_{P_{\alpha}}(\Pi_{\alpha}) \{ s_{\alpha} \leq t_{\alpha} \} \to \Pi_{s_{\alpha}} \times \Pi_{t_{\alpha}} \right\}_{\alpha \in A}$$

exhibiting the morphism $N_{mat(S)}(\Pi) \{ s \le t \} \to \Pi_s \times \Pi_t$ of $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$, is an inverse system of (n-1)-truncated morphisms.

Conversely, assume that Π is exhibited as an inverse system $\{\Pi_{\alpha} \to P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of π -finite stratified spaces, and that for all $s, t \in \operatorname{mat}(S)$ such that $s \leq t$, the morphism of profinite spaces

$$N_{mat(S)}(\Pi) \{ s \le t \} \to \Pi_s \times \Pi_t$$

is (n-1)-truncated. Now consider $h_n \Pi := \{h_n \Pi_\alpha \to P_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in A}$ and the natural morphism $\Pi \to h_n \Pi$. To see that this morphism is an equivalence, we may pass to the materialization by Theorem 10.3.3, where it is obvious.

10.3.6 Lemma. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A profinite stratified space $\Pi \to S$ is *n*-truncated if and only if $mat(\Pi) \in \mathbf{Str}$ is *n*-truncated in the sense of Definition 2.3.4.

Proof. For all $s, t \in mat(S)$ such that $s \le t$, we have a natural identification

$$\max(N_{\max(S)}(\Pi)\{s \le t\}) \simeq N_{\max(S)}(\max(\Pi))\{s \le t\}.$$

By Proposition 4.4.9=[SAG, Proposition E.4.6.1], the fact that materialization is a right adjoint, and Lemma 10.3.5, we see that a profinite stratified space Π is *n*-truncated if and only if the morphism

$$N_{mat(S)}(mat(\Pi)) \{ s \le t \} \to mat(\Pi)_s \times mat(\Pi)_t$$

is an (n - 1)-truncated morphism of spaces. This is true if and only if mat(Π) is *n*-truncated in the sense of Definition 2.3.4.

Under ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality (Theorem 9.3.1) *n*-localic spectral stratified ∞ -topoi correspond to *n*-truncated profinite stratified spaces:

10.3.7 Proposition. Let X be a spectral ∞ -topos and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (10.3.7.1) The ∞ -topos X is n-localic.
- (10.3.7.2) The ∞ -category $Pt(\mathbf{X})$ of points of \mathbf{X} is an n-category.
- (10.3.7.3) The profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\mathbf{X})$ is an n-truncated profinite stratified space.

Proof. First we show that $(10.3.7.1) \Rightarrow (10.3.7.2) \Rightarrow (10.3.7.3)$. If **X** is *n*-localic, then the ∞ -category Pt(**X**) is an *n*-category, which shows that

$$\operatorname{mat}\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X})$$

is an *n*-category (Lemma 10.3.2). Applying Lemma 10.3.6 we see that $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ is an *n*-truncated profinite stratified space.

Now we show that $(10.3.7.3) \Rightarrow (10.3.7.1)$. If $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ is an *n*-truncated profinite stratified space, then $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ can be exhibited as an inverse system $\{\Pi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of *n*-truncated π -finite stratified spaces. Since *n*-localic ∞ -topoi are closed under limits in **Top**_{∞} and each $\widetilde{\Pi}_{\alpha}$ is *n*-localic (Corollary 8.4.9), we see that the ∞ -topos

$$\boldsymbol{X} \simeq \lim_{\alpha \in A} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\Pi}}_{\alpha}$$

is *n*-localic.

10.3.8. Combining the preceding with ordinary Stone Duality between profinite sets and Stone topological spaces, we see that the functor

Pt : StrTop^{spec,1}
$$\rightarrow$$
 Cat₁

factors through a fully faithful functor

StrTop^{spec,1}
$$\hookrightarrow$$
 CS(**TSpc**^{Stn})

from the 2-category of 1-truncated profinite stratified spaces to the 2-category of categories in the category of Stone topological spaces (cf. Definition 13.1.1). The essential image of this functor is spanned by the *layered* categories – i.e., the ones in which every endomorphism is an isomorphism.

10.4 Stratified homotopy types via décollages

Let *P* be a finite poset and *X* a spectral *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. In this section we give an explicit description of the profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}^{P}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ as a décollage involving the profinite shapes of the strat and links of *X*.

10.4.1 Construction (shapes of décollages). Let P be a finite poset. Recall that the functor

(10.4.2)
$$\widehat{\lambda}_P^{\text{dec}} \coloneqq \lambda_\pi \circ - : \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{S}_\pi^\wedge) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{Top}_\infty^{\text{bc}})$$

given by composition with $\lambda_{\{0\}}$ is fully faithful with essential image is $\text{D\acute{e}c}_P(\text{Top}_{\infty}^{\text{Stn}})$ (Proposition 8.6.6).

We construct a left adjoint to $\hat{\lambda}_{P}^{d\acute{e}c}$ as follows. Write

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{predéc},P}_{\infty} : \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Top}}^{\operatorname{bc}}_{\infty}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi})$$

for the functor given by composition with the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}$. Hence $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{predéc},P}$ sends a toposic décollage \boldsymbol{D} : $\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P) \to \mathrm{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}}$ to the functor $\Sigma \mapsto \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty} \boldsymbol{D}(\Sigma)$. Composing $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{predéc},P}$ with the left adjoint to the inclusion $\mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Fun}(\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge})$, we obtain a functor

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathrm{d\acute{e}c},P}_{\infty} \colon \mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{Top}^{\mathrm{bc}}_{\infty}) \to \mathrm{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi})$$

that is left adjoint to $\hat{\lambda}_P^{déc}$.

Because it involves applying the left adjoint $\operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}) \to \operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge})$, the functor $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{d\acute{e}c}, P}$ is very inexplicit in general. However, there are two cases in which applying this left adjoint is superfluous: if the poset has rank ≤ 1 , or if the décollage comes from a spectral ∞ -topos.

10.4.3 Theorem. Let P be a finite poset and let $X \to \tilde{P}$ be a bounded coherent constructible P-stratified ∞ -topos. Assume that either of the following conditions holds:

(10.4.3.1) The poset P has rank ≤ 1 .

(10.4.3.2) The P-stratified ∞ -topos X is spectral.

Then the functor $\Sigma \mapsto \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty} \mathbf{N}_{P}(\mathbf{X})(\Sigma)$ is already a profinite spatial décollage. That is, the natural Segalification morphism

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathrm{pred\acute{e}c},P}_{\infty}\mathbf{N}_{P}(X) \to \widehat{\Pi}^{\mathrm{d\acute{e}c},P}_{\infty}\mathbf{N}_{P}(X)$$

is an equivalence in Fun(sd^{op}(P), $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$).

Proof. The Segal condition is vacuous for posets of rank ≤ 1 , so (10.4.3.1) is clear.

For (10.4.3.2), it suffices to prove that for every chain $\Sigma := \{p_0 < \cdots < p_n\} \subset P$, the natural morphism of profinite spaces

$$f_{\Sigma} \colon \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}_{p_0} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_n}) = \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty} \operatorname{Mor}_{\widetilde{P}}(\widetilde{\Sigma}, \boldsymbol{X}) \to \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Sigma, \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty, 1)}(\boldsymbol{X}))$$

is an equivalence. By Whitehead's Theorem for profinite spaces (Theorem 4.4.8=[SAG, Theorem E.3.1.6]), it suffices to prove that the materialization $mat(f_{\Sigma})$ is an equivalence. Since X is spectral, we have a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{mat} \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}_{p_0} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_n}) \simeq \operatorname{Pt}(\boldsymbol{X}_{p_0} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_n})$$

((4.4.7) and Proposition 9.1.2). Similarly, since Σ is a constant problect and X is spectral, by Whitehead's Theorem for profinite stratified spaces (Theorem 10.3.3) we have natural equivalences

$$\operatorname{mat} \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Sigma, \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty, 1)}(X)) \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Sigma, \operatorname{mat} \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty, 1)}(X))$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Pt}(X)) .$$

By the universal property of the iterated oriented fiber product $X_{p_0} \overleftarrow{\times}_X \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_X X_{p_n}$, we have a natural identification

(10.4.4)
$$\operatorname{Map}_{P}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Pt}(X)) \cong \operatorname{Pt}(X_{p_{0}} \overleftarrow{\times}_{X} \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_{X} X_{p_{n}}).$$

To complete the proof, note that the materialization $mat(f_{\Sigma})$ is equivalent to the morphism (10.4.4).

10.4.5 Example. Let *P* be a finite poset, and let $X \to \tilde{P}$ be a spectral *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. It follows from Theorem 10.4.3 that, for any point $p \in P$, the *p*-th stratum $\widehat{\Pi}^P_{(\infty,1)}(X)_p$ is equivalent to the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_p)$ of X_p .

10.4.6 Example. Let *P* be a finite poset, and let $X \to \tilde{P}$ be a spectral *P*-stratified ∞ topos. It follows from Theorem 10.4.3 that, for any points $p, q \in P$ with p < q, the link $\operatorname{Map}_P(\{p < q\}, \widehat{\Pi}^P_{(\infty,1)}(X))$ between the *p*-th and *q*-th strata of $\widehat{\Pi}^P_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ is equivalent
to the profinite shape type $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_p \overleftarrow{\times}_X X_q)$ of the topos-theoretic link.

10.4.7 Example. Let *P* be a finite poset, and *X* a spectral *P*-stratified ∞ -topos. For any points $p, q \in P$ such that p < q, write

$$i_{pq,*}: X_p \hookrightarrow X_{\{p < q\}}$$
 and $j_{pq,*}: X_q \hookrightarrow X_{\{p < q\}}$

for the closed and open immersions of strata, respectively. Then the basechange Theorem for oriented fiber products (Theorem 7.1.7) ensures that the décollage

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathrm{dec},P}_{\infty}(X)$$
: $\mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P) \to \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$

carries any chain $\{p_0 < \dots < p_n\} \subseteq P$ to the left exact accessible functor $S_{\pi} \to S$ given by the composite

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{X}_{p_0},*}i^*_{p_0p_1}j_{p_0p_1,*}i^*_{p_1p_2}j_{p_1p_2,*}\cdots i^*_{p_{n-1}p_n}j_{p_{n-1}p_n,*}\Gamma^*_{\boldsymbol{X}_{p_n}}$$

10.5 The van Kampen Theorem

Let *P* be a poset. The 'invert everything' functor $\Pi \mapsto \varepsilon(\Pi)$ from *P*-stratified spaces to spaces, regarded as a functor from $\text{D\acute{e}c}_P(\mathbf{S}) \to \mathbf{S}$, is given by the formation of the colimit. That is, if $\Pi \to P$ is a *P*-stratified space, then there is a natural equivalence

$$\varepsilon(\Pi) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P)} \mathrm{N}_{P}(\Pi)(\Sigma) \,.$$

There is a variant of this formula for *profinite* stratified spaces. Let $\varepsilon_{\pi}^{\wedge}$: Pro(**Cat**_{∞}) \rightarrow **S**_{π^{\wedge}} denote the composite of the 'invert everything functor' ε : Pro(**Cat**_{∞}) \rightarrow Pro(**S**) with profinite completion $(-)_{\pi}^{\wedge}$: Pro(**S**) \rightarrow **S**_{π^{\wedge}}. For any profinite *P*-stratified space Π , there is a natural equivalence

$$\varepsilon^{\wedge}_{\pi}(\Pi) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\Sigma \in \mathrm{sd}^{\mathrm{op}}(P)} \mathrm{N}_{P}(\Pi)(\Sigma) .$$

The compatibility (10.1.6) combined with Example 10.1.3, (10.1.5), and Theorem 10.4.3 provide an analogous colimit formula for the profinite shape type of a spectral ∞ -topos:

10.5.1 Proposition (van Kampen Theorem). Let P be a finite poset and let $X \to \tilde{P}$ be a bounded coherent constructible P-stratified ∞ -topos. Assume that either of the following conditions holds:

(10.4.3.1) The poset P has rank ≤ 1 .

(10.4.3.2) The P-stratified ∞ -topos X is spectral.

Then the profinite shape of X is given by the colimit

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\boldsymbol{\Sigma} \in \operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}(P)} \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\mathbf{N}_{P}(\boldsymbol{X})(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}))$$

in the ∞ -category of profinite spaces.

10.5.2 Example. If *X* is a bounded coherent constructible [1]-stratified ∞ -topos exhibited as a recollement $Z \,\overline{\cup}^{\phi} U$ of bounded coherent ∞ -topoi *Z* and *U*, then the induced square

is a pushout square in the ∞ -category of profinite spaces.

10.5.3 Example. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $X \to [\widetilde{n}]$ be a spectral [n]-stratified ∞ -topos. Then $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X)$ can be exhibited as the colimit of a punctured (n+1)-cube sd^{op} $([n]) \to S_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ given by the assignment

$$\{p_0 < \cdots < p_k\} \mapsto \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(\boldsymbol{X}_{p_0} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_1} \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \cdots \overleftarrow{\times}_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{X}_{p_k}) \,.$$

Part IV Stratified étale homotopy theory

In this part we use the profinite stratified shape of Chapter 10 to give a refinement of the étale homotopy theory of Artin–Mazur–Friedlander. We first recall how to define the étale homotopy type from the ∞ -categorical perspective, as well as the main theorems in étale homotopy theory (Chapter 11). We then study the profinite stratified shape of the étale ∞ -topos of coherent schemes in detail (Chapter 12). In particular, we provide a concrete description in terms the *profinite Galois categories* introduced in the Introduction (preceding Theorem 0.0.5). We conclude with Chapter 14 where we discuss Grothendieck's anabelian conjectures and use a theorem of Voevodsky to prove a strong reconstruction theorem for schemes in characteristic 0 in terms of profinite Galois categories (Theorem 0.0.5=Theorem 14.4.7).
11 Aide-mémoire on étale homotopy types

In this chapter we recall how to situate the *étale homotopy type* of Artin–Mazur–Friedlander in the ∞ -categorical setting. We also provide some example computations of étale homotopy types.

Section 11.1 recalls the definition of the étale homotopy type via shape theory. In Section 11.2 we give some sample computations and uses of the étale homotopy type. Section 11.3 recalls the monodromy equivalence for lisse étale sheaves in terms of the profinite étale homotopy type. Section 11.4 explains how étale homotopy theory works for simplicial schemes. Section 11.5 recalls Artin and Mazur's formulation of the Riemann Existence Theorem in terms of the étale homotopy type, and § 11.6 gives a quick proof of the étale van Kampen Theorem.

11.1 Artin & Mazur's étale homotopy types of schemes

From an ∞ -categorical perspective, there are *a priori* four étale shapes to contemplate:

11.1.1 Definition. Let *X* be a scheme. We write:

- $\prod_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X) \coloneqq \prod_{\infty}(X_{\text{ét}})$ for the shape of the 1-localic étale ∞ -topos of X,
- $\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{\'et,hyp}}(X) \coloneqq \Pi_{\infty}(X_{\text{\'et}}^{\text{hyp}}) \text{ for the shape of the hypercomplete \'etale ∞-topos of X,}$
- $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(X) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_{\text{ét}})$ for the profinite shape of the 1-localic ∞ -topos of X, and
- $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\acute{e}t,hyp}}_{\infty}(X) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X^{\text{hyp}}_{\text{\acute{e}t}})$ for the profinite shape of the hypercomplete étale ∞ -topos of X.

11.1.2. As a special case of Example 4.2.8, we see that the natural morphism

$$\Pi^{\text{\acute{e}t},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(X) \to \Pi^{\text{\acute{e}t}}_{\infty}(X)$$

becomes an equivalence after protruncation. In particular, the natural morphism

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et,hyp}}_{\infty}(X) \to \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X)$$

is an equivalence. We simply write

$$\Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{<\infty}(X)\coloneqq \tau_{<\infty}\,\Pi^{\text{\'et},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(X)\simeq \tau_{<\infty}\,\Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X)$$

for the protruncated shape of the étale ∞ -topos.

For a locally noetherian scheme X, Artin and Mazur [8, §9] constructed a proöbject in the homotopy category of spaces called the *étale homotopy type* of X. Friedlander [39, §4] later refined this construction, producing a proöbject in simplicial sets called the *étale topological type* of X. The image of the étale topological type in $Pro(h_1S)$ agrees with the étale homotopy type of Artin–Mazur [39, Proposition 4.5]. Hoyois [62, §5] has shown that Friedlander's étale topological type corepresents the shape of the hypercomplete étale ∞ -topos of X: **11.1.3 Theorem** ([62, Corollary 5.6]). Let X be a locally noetherian scheme. Then the étale topological type of X corepresents the shape $\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{ét,hyp}}(X)$ of the hypercomplete étale ∞ -topos of X.

11.1.4. We refer to the shape $\Pi^{\acute{e}t}_{\infty}(X)$ of the étale ∞ -topos as the *étale shape*, call the protruncated shape $\Pi^{\acute{e}t}_{<\infty}(X)$ the *protruncated étale shape*, and call the profinite shape $\widehat{\Pi}^{\acute{e}t}_{\infty}(X)$ the *profinite étale shape*.

In many examples, the protruncated étale shape is already profinite:

11.1.5 Theorem ([DAG XIII, Theorem 3.6.5; 8, Theorem 11.1; 39, Theorem 7.3]). Let X be a connected noetherian scheme that is geometrically unibranch. Then the protruncated étale shape of X is profinite; that is, the natural morphism

$$\Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{<\infty}(X) \to \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X)$$

is an equivalence.

11.1.6 Question. Let X be a connected noetherian scheme that is geometrically unibranch. Even in simple cases, we do not at this point have a very good understanding of the kind of information that is contained in the étale shape $\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X)$ but not in the other invariants. In this paper, we are content to focus our attention on the profinite shapes types and their stratified variants.

11.1.7. Let X be a scheme and $x \to X$ a geometric point of X. Then x induces a point of the prospace $\prod_{m=1}^{e_1} (X)$. The *n*-th extended étale homotopy progroup of X is the progroup

$$\pi_n^{\text{\'et}}(X, x) \coloneqq \pi_n(\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{\'et}}(X), x) .$$

In particular, the progroup $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$ is the groupe fondamentale élargi of [SGA 3_{II}, Exposé X, §6]; see [8, Corollary 10.7]. The usual étale fundamenal group of [SGA 1, Exposé V, §7] is the profinite completion of $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$. Moreover, the usual étale fundamental group of X is isomorphic to the profinite fundamental group $\pi_1(\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X), x)$ [8, Corollary 3.9]. We denote the usual (profinitely complete) étale fundamental group by $\hat{\pi}_1^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$.

11.2 Examples

In this section we provide some example computations of étale shapes.

11.2.1 Example (fields). Let k be a field, and $k^{\text{sep}} \supset k$ a separable closure of k. Recall that we write G_k for the absolute Galois group of k (Notation 4.4.20). The choice of separable closure of k provides an identification

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{et}}_{\infty}(\operatorname{Spec} k) \simeq \operatorname{BG}_k$$
.

(See Section 3.7.)

11.2.2 Example. Since Spec Z has no unramified étale covers, the étale fundamental group of the Spec Z is trivial. Moreover, for all integers $i \ge 1$ and $n \ge 2$, the étale cohomology group H_{at}^{i} (Spec Z; Z/n) is trivial (see [89; 112]). The Universal Coefficient Theorem and Hurewicz Theorem imply that the profinite étale shape $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(\text{Spec } \mathbf{Z})$ of Spec Z is trivial (cf. [8, §4]). Since Z is a noetherian domain, Theorem 11.1.5 applies, hence the protruncated étale shape $\Pi_{<\infty}^{\acute{e}t}(\operatorname{Spec} Z)$ of $\operatorname{Spec} Z$ is trivial.

11.2.3 Example. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0 and

$$C = \text{Spec}(k[x, y]/(y^2 - x^3 - x^2))$$

the nodal cubic. Then there is a noncanoical identification $\Pi_{<\infty}^{\text{ét}}(C) \simeq B\mathbf{Z}$. Since the group \mathbf{Z} is *good* in the sense of Serre [123, p. 16], the profinite étale shape is given by $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(C) \simeq B\widehat{Z}$ [SAG, Warning E.4.3.4; 104, Theorem 3.14].

11.2.4 Example (curves). Let C be a smooth connected curve over a field. If C is affine or of positve genus, then the protruncated étale homotopy type $\Pi^{\text{ét}}_{<\infty}(X)$ is 1-truncated [114, Proposition 15; 115, Lemma 2.7(a)]. Thus we have a noncanonical identification

$$\Pi_{\leq \infty}^{\text{ét}}(C) \simeq B\hat{\pi}_1^{\text{ét}}(C)$$

11.2.5 Example (see Theorem 11.5.3). Let $S^2 \in S$ denote the 2-sphere. There an equivalence $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(\mathbf{P}^1_{\mathbf{C}}) \simeq (\mathbf{S}^2)^{\wedge}_{\pi}$.

11.2.6 Example ([59, Theorem 1]). Let k be an algebraically closed field of positive characteristic and let X be a smooth k-variety. Then $\prod_{<\infty}^{\acute{e}t}(X) \simeq *$ if and only if X is *isomorphic* to Spec *k*.

11.2.7 Example (Example 7.3.4). Let k be a separably closed field, and let X and Y be coherent k-schemes. If Y is proper, then the natural morphism of profinite spaces

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\acute{\text{e}t}}_{\infty}(X \times_{\operatorname{Spec} k} Y) \to \widehat{\Pi}^{\acute{\text{e}t}}_{\infty}(X) \times \widehat{\Pi}^{\acute{\text{e}t}}_{\infty}(Y)$$

is an equivalence.

The following two examples are from Achinger's remarkable work on $K(\pi, 1)$ schemes in positive characteristic [2].

11.2.8 Example (affine \mathbf{F}_p -schemes). Let *p* be a prime number. Achinger showed that if X is a connected affine \mathbf{F}_p -scheme, then the profinite étale homotopy type $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X)$ is 1-truncated [2, Theorem 1.1]. This is in stark contrast with the case of schemes in characteristic zero.

11.2.9 Example. Let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p > 0. By Raynaud's proof of Abhyankar's Conjecture [106], a finite group G arises as a quotient of the profinite group $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(\mathbf{A}_i^1)$ if and only if G is a *quasi-p-group* (i.e., G has no nontrivial quotient of order prime to p). More generally, it follows from Raynaud's work that for $n \ge 1$, a finite group G arises as a quotient of $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(\mathbf{A}_k^n)$ if and only if G is a quasi-p-group. Even though the étale fundamental groups of \mathbf{A}_k^1 and \mathbf{A}_k^n abstractly have the same finite quotients, Achinger showed that for positive integers $m \neq n$, the étale fundamental groups $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(\mathbf{A}_k^m)$ and $\pi_1^{\text{ét}}(\mathbf{A}_k^n)$ are *not* isomorphic as profinite groups [2, Proposition 7.6]. Example 11.2.9 demonstrates how 'large' étale fundamental groups of \mathbf{F}_p -schemes tend to be. One might interpret Examples 11.2.8 and 11.2.9 by saying that the étale fundamental group of a connected affine \mathbf{F}_p -scheme is so large that it contains all of the homotopical information of the scheme.

11.3 Monodromy

Specalising Proposition 4.4.18 to the case of the étale ∞ -topos of a scheme shows that lisse étale sheaves are the same as representations of the profinite étale shape:

11.3.1 Proposition. Let X be a scheme. The unit $X_{\text{ét}} \rightarrow X_{\text{ét}}^{\text{Stn}}$ restricts to an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq X^{\operatorname{lisse}}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}$$

This generalizes the classical fact that the profinite étale fundamental groupoid

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{1}^{\text{\'et}}(X) \simeq \tau_{\leq 1} \, \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{\'et}}(X)$$

classifies lisse étale sheaves of sets (see Example 4.4.19).

11.4 Friedlander's étale homotopy of simplicial schemes

Friedlander [39, §4] extended étale homotopy theory from schemes to simplicial schemes; he called the invariant he constructed the *étale topological type*. Friedlander's work was later refined by Cox [30], Isaksen [69], Barnea–Schlank [12], Carchedi [21], and Chough [23; 24]. Thanks to work of Cox [30, Theorem III.8], Isaksen [69, §3, Theorem 11], and Chough [24, Proposition 3.2.13], the étale topolocial type has the following simple description: if X_* is a simplicial scheme, then the étale topological type of X_* is the colimit of the simplicial prospace

$$[m] \mapsto \Pi^{\text{\acute{e}t,hyp}}_{\infty}(X_m)$$

Again, from an ∞-categorical perspective, there are variations on this notion:

11.4.1 Definition. Let X_* be a simplicial scheme. We define:

- The *étale shape* of X_* is the geometric realization

$$\Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X_*) \coloneqq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{[m] \in \Delta^{\operatorname{op}}} \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X_m)$$

of the simplicial prospace $[m] \mapsto \prod_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X_m)$.

- Friedlander's étale topological type of X_* is the geometric realization

$$\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{\acute{e}t,hyp}}(X_*) \coloneqq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{[m] \in \Delta^{\operatorname{op}}} \Pi_{\infty}^{\text{\acute{e}t,hyp}}(X_m)$$

of the simplicial prospace $[m] \mapsto \prod_{\infty}^{\text{ét,hyp}}(X_m)$.

11.4.2. Since protuncation is a left adjoint, from (11.1.2) we deduce that the natural morphism of prospaces

$$\Pi^{\text{\'et,hyp}}_{\infty}(X_*) \to \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X_*)$$

becomes an equivalence after protruncation. Hence after profinite completion as well.

11.4.3 (the étale ∞ -topos of a simplicial scheme). We can extend the functor that assigns a scheme its étale ∞ -topos to simplicial schemes by left Kan extension; then the étale ∞ -topos of a simplicial scheme X_* is given by the geometric realization

$$X_{*,\text{\acute{e}t}} \coloneqq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{[m] \in \mathbf{\Delta}^{\operatorname{op}}} X_{m,\text{\acute{e}t}}$$

in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$. Since the shape is a left adjoint, we see that the shape of the ∞ -topos $X_{*,\text{ét}}$ coincides with the étale shape $\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X_*)$. Since hypercomplete ∞ -topoi are closed under colimits in $\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}$, Friedlander's étale topological type coincides with the shape of the hypercomplete ∞ -topos given by the geometric realization of the simplicial hypercomplete ∞ -topos $[m] \mapsto X_{m,\text{ét}}^{\text{hyp}}$.

11.5 Riemann Existence Theorem

In this section we recall the Artin–Mazur–Friedlander Riemann Existence Theorem (Theorem 11.5.3); this states that the profinite étale shape of a scheme of finite type over the complex numbers agrees with the profinite completion of the homotopy type of its underlying analytic space.

11.5.1 Notation (analytification). Write C for the field of complex numbers and $\mathbf{Sch}_{C}^{\text{ft}}$ for category of schemes of finite type over C. We write

$$(-)^{an}$$
: Sch^{ft}_C \rightarrow TSpc

for the *analytification* functor: this carries a scheme X of finite type over C to X(C) equipped with the complex analytic topology.

We simply write $X_{an} := \widetilde{X^{an}}$ for the ∞ -topos of sheaves of spaces on the topological space X^{an} .

11.5.2 Recollection. Let *X* be a scheme finite type over **C**. In [SGA 4_{III} , Exposé XI, 4.0], Artin defines a natural geometric morphism of 1-topoi

$$\varepsilon_{X,*}: X_{\mathrm{an},\leq 0} \to X_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t},\leq 0}$$

from the 1-topos of sheaves of sets on X^{an} to the 1-topos of sheaves of sets on the étale site of X. The geometric morphism $\varepsilon_{X,*}$ extends to a natural geometric morphism of 1-localic ∞ -topoi

$$\varepsilon_{X,*}: X_{\mathrm{an}} \to X_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$$

The naturality can be encoded as a functor $\mathbf{Sch}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathrm{ft}} \to \mathrm{Fun}([1], \mathbf{Top}_{\infty})$: if $f : X \to Y$ is a morphism of finite type **C**-schemes, then there is a natural equivalence

$$f_*^{\text{\acute{e}t}} \varepsilon_{X,*} \simeq \varepsilon_{Y,*} f_*^{\text{an}}$$

In light of Theorem 11.1.3, the Riemann Existence Theorem proved by Artin–Mazur [8, Theorem 12.9] and later Friedlander [39, Theorem 8.6] asserts that X_{an} and $X_{\acute{e}t}$ have the same profinite shape, when regarded as proöbjects of the homotopy category of spaces. The Artin–Mazur–Friedlander equivalence refines to an equivalence in the ∞ -category of profinite spaces (cf. [21, Proposition 4.12; 24, §4]). Indeed, the Théorème de Comparaison [SGA 4_{III}, Exposé XI, Théorèmes 4.3 & 4.4] can be employed to provide an equivalence between the ∞ -category of lisse étale sheaves of spaces on X and that of lisse sheaves of spaces on X^{an} , whence we obtain the following.

11.5.3 Theorem (Riemann Existence). Let X be a scheme finite type over C. Then ε_X^* restricts to an equivalence $X_{\text{ét}}^{\text{lisse}} \cong X_{\text{an}}^{\text{lisse}}$ of ∞ -categories of lisse sheaves. Equivalently, $\varepsilon_{X,*}$ induces an equivalence of profinite spaces

$$(X^{\mathrm{an}})^{\wedge}_{\pi} \simeq \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_{\mathrm{an}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(X_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}).$$

11.6 A van Kampen Theorem for étale shapes

In this section we prove a van Kampen Theorem from étale shapes (Corollary 11.6.6). We deduce this from the fact that the functor that sends a scheme to its étale ∞ -topos satisfies *Nisnevich excision* (Proposition 11.6.3).

 \mathbf{v}'

11.6.1 Definition. We call a pullback square of schemes

(11.6.2)

111 .

an *elementary Nisnevich square* if *j* is an open immersion, *p* is étale, and *p* induces an isomorphism $p^{-1}(X \setminus U) \cong X \setminus U$. Here the closed complement $X \setminus U$ of *U* is given the reduced structure.

Rydh's general descent theorem [110, Theorem A] implies that the formation of the étale 1-topos sends elementary Nisnevich squares to pushout squares of 1-topoi. The same is true for étale ∞ -topoi, though this is not implied by Rydh's result because 1-localic ∞ -topoi are not closed under colimits in **Top**_{∞}. As in Rydh's theorem, this can be deduced from étale descent (combined with Morel and Voevodsky's theorem characterizing Nisnevich sheaves as presheaves satisfying Nisnevich excision [SAG, Theorem 3.7.5.1; 95, §3, Proposition 1.16]), but the following proposition provides an elementary proof.

11.6.3 Proposition. Given an elementary Nisnevich square of schemes (11.6.2), the induced square of étale ∞ -topoi

is a pushout square and pullback square in Top_{∞} . The same is true after passing to hypercomplete étale ∞ -topoi.

Proof. The fact that the (11.6.4) is a pullback is immediate from the fact that *j* is an open immersion; the same is true for hypercomplete étale ∞ -topoi since hypercompletion is a right adjoint.

Let $\sharp: X^{\text{ét}} \hookrightarrow X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}$ denote the Yoneda embedding of étale site of X to the étale ∞ -topos. Note that if $Y \in X^{\text{\acute{e}t}}$ is a scheme étale over X, then the natural geometric morphism $Y_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \to (X_{\text{\acute{e}t}})_{/ \sharp(Y)}$ is equivalence. Since colimits in an ∞ -topos are *van* Kampen³³ and $\sharp(X)$ is the terminal object of $X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}$, it thus suffices to prove that the pullback square



in $X_{\acute{e}t}$ is also a pushout. In this case, the fact that truncated objects are hypercomplete implies that the same is true in $X_{\acute{e}t}^{\rm hyp}$. The fact that (11.6.5) is a pullback square is immediate from [SAG, Proposition 2.5.2.1(3)], the hypotheses of which are valid because (11.6.2) is an elementary Nisnevich square.

Proposition 11.6.3 immediately implies the classicial 'excision' theorem in étale cohomology [90, Chapter III, Proposition 1.27]. Since the shape is a left adjoint, the following van Kampen Theorem for the étale shape is immediate. This generalizes a theorem of Isaksen [69, §2, Theorem 8].

11.6.6 Corollary (étale van Kampen Theorem). *Given an elementary Nisnevich square of schemes* (11.6.2), *the induced squares*

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(U') & \longrightarrow & \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X') & & \Pi^{\text{\'et},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(U') & \longrightarrow & \Pi^{\text{\'et},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(X') \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(U) & \longrightarrow & \Pi^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(X) & & & \Pi^{\text{\'et},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(U) & \longrightarrow & \Pi^{\text{\'et},\text{hyp}}_{\infty}(X) \end{array}$$

are pushout squares in Pro(S).

11.6.7. Since protruncation and profinite completion are left adjoints, Corollary 11.6.6 show that the protruncated and profinite étale shapes send elementary Nisnevich squares to pushout squares in $Pro(S_{<\infty})$ and S_{π}^{\wedge} , respectively. In particular, Proposition 11.6.3 (and [SAG, Proposition 2.5.2.1]) immediately imply Misamore's 'étale van Kampen Theorem' [91, Corollaries 6.5 & 6.6] in the case of schemes. See also [20; 125, §5; 135].

³³A colimit in an ∞ -category *C* with pullbacks is *van Kampen* if the functor $C^{\text{op}} \rightarrow \text{Cat}_{\infty}$ given by $c \mapsto C_{/c}$ transforms it into a limit in Cat_{∞} . A presentable ∞ -category *C* is an ∞ -topos if and only if colimits in *C* are van Kampen; see [HTT, Proposition 5.5.3.13, Theorem 6.1.3.9(3), & Proposition 6.3.2.3; 64].

12 Galois categories

This chapter is dedicated to studying the profinite stratified shape of étale ∞ -topoi of coherent schemes; we call this the *stratified étale homotopy type*. We also show that the stratified étale homotopy type of a coherent scheme *X* has a very explicit description as a profinite 1-category whose topology globalizes the topologies of the absolute Galois groups of the residue fields of the points of *X*. The stratified étale homotopy type is the profinite category Gal(*X*) from the Introduction. For this reason, we also call the profinite 1-category Gal(*X*) the *Galois category* of *X*.³⁴

Section 12.1 defines the stratified étale homotopy type and shows that it coincides with the 'Galois category' from the Introduction. Section 12.2 gives some sample computations of the stratified étale homotopy type. Section 12.3 demonstrates how some properties of schemes can be detected on the level of their Galois categories. Section 12.4 shows that the Galois category of the strict localization of a scheme at a point is an undercategory, and, dually, the Galois category of the strict *normalization* of a scheme at a point is an overcategory. Section 12.5 uses the material from § 10.2 to show that (up to protruncation), the étale homotopy type of a coherent scheme X can be recovered by Gal(X) by inverting all morphisms. In the setting of finite type schemes over the complex numbers, §12.6 provides a stratified refinement of the Riemann Existence Theorem (Theorem 11.5.3). In §12.7 we finish the chapter with a van Kampen Theorem for Galois categories.

12.1 Galois categories of schemes

12.1.1 Notation. Let *X* be a coherent scheme. We write FC(X) for the 1-category of nondegenerate, finite, constructible stratifications of the spectral topological space X^{zar} (Notation 1.3.1). Recall that the spectral topological space X^{zar} corresponds under Hochster Duality to the profinite poset $\{P\}_{P \in FC(X)}$ (§1.3).

12.1.2 Notation. We write Sch for the 1-category of *coherent* schemes (0.11.15).

12.1.3 Definition. Let X be a coherent scheme. Then we write

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{X^{\operatorname{zar}}}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}).$$

We call Gal(*X*) the *Galois category* of *X*.

Since the ∞ -topos $X_{\text{ét}}$ is 1-localic, the profinite stratifed space Gal(X) is 1-truncated (Proposition 10.3.7). Hence the formation of Galois categories defines a functor

Gal: Sch
$$\rightarrow$$
 (Str ^{\wedge} _{π}) _{≤ 1}

More generally, if $X^{zar} \rightarrow P$ is a nondegenerate, finite, constructible stratification of X, we define

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X/P) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}^P_{(\infty,1)}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}})$$
.

³⁴The term 'Galois category' already has a well-established meaning in Grothendieck's Galois theory [STK, Tag 0BMQ; SGA 1, Exposé V; 126]. We have chosen to use the term 'Galois category' for this distinct notion because Gal(X) really is a globalization of the absolute Galois group.

12.1.4. We obtain a diagram

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X/-)$$
: $\operatorname{FC}(X) \to \operatorname{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$

of localizations.

12.1.5 Construction (explicit description of Gal(X)). Let X be a coherent scheme. The X^{zar} -stratified ∞ -topos $X_{\text{ét}}$ is spectral. By Lemma 10.3.2 we have a natural equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{nat}(\operatorname{Gal}(X)) \simeq \operatorname{Pt}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}})$$

The Grothendieck School [SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VIII, Théorème 7.9] provides the following description of the category $Pt(X_{\acute{e}t})$ of points of the étale ∞ -topos of X: an object is a geometric point $x \to X$, and given geometric points $x \to X$ and $y \to X$, the set $Map_{Pt(X_{\acute{e}t})}(x, y)$ is identified with the set of lifts



of the geometric point y to the strict localization $X_{(x)}$ of X at x. In other words, the 1-category mat(Gal(X)) agrees with the underlying 1-category denoted Gal(X) in Construction 0.0.1.

Appealing to (10.3.8), we regard Gal(X) as a category object in the category of Stone topological spaces. Unwinding the definitions, we see that topology on Gal(X) is precisely the one described in Construction 0.0.2

Our ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality Theorem (Theorem 9.3.1) implies the following *Exodromy Equivalence* for schemes:

12.1.6 Theorem. Let X be a coherent scheme. Then there is a natural equivalence

$$X_{\text{ét}} \simeq \widetilde{\operatorname{Gal}(X)}$$
.

Equivalently, there is a natural equivalence

$$X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{\text{cons}} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Gal}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$$
.

12.1.7. If *X* and *Y* are coherent schemes, then the natural map

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Top}}_{\infty}}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}},Y_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}) \to \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Str}}_{\pi}^{\wedge}}(\operatorname{Gal}(X),\operatorname{Gal}(Y))$$

is an equivalence.

12.1.8. In Chapter 13 we prove a variant of the Exodromy Equivalence

$$X_{\Delta t}^{\mathrm{cons}} \simeq \mathrm{Fun}(\mathrm{Gal}(X), \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$$

for constructible sheaves with coefficients in a finite ring as well as ℓ -adic sheaves. We also extend the Exodromy Equivalence from coherent schemes to a large class of stacks.

12.2 Examples

We now provide some example computations of profinite Galois categories.

12.2.1 Example. Let X be a coherent scheme, and consider X with its trivial $\{0\}$ -stratification. As a special case of (10.1.6), $Gal(X/\{0\})$ recovers the usual profinite étale shape of X: there is a canonical equivalence

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X/\{0\}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\Pi}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}_{\infty}(X)$$
.

12.2.2 Example (DVRs). Let *A* be a discrete valuation ring, write *K* for the fraction field of *A*, and *k* for the residue field of *A*. Write *S* = Spec *A*, *s* = Spec *k* for the closed point of *S*, and η = Spec *K* for the generic point of *S*. Then $S^{\text{zar}} \cong [1]$, so $S_{\text{ét}}$ is a spectral ∞-topos that is naturally [1]-stratified, with closed stratum $s_{\text{ét}}$ and open stratum $\eta_{\text{ét}}$.

Fix a separable closure $k^{\text{sep}} \supset k$. Write $S^{\text{h}} = \text{Spec } A^{\text{h}}$ and write S^{sh} for the spectrum of the strict henselization A^{sh} of A with respect to k^{sep} . Write

$$\eta^{h} := \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Frac} A^{h})$$
 and $\eta^{sh} := \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Frac} A^{sh})$.

In this case, please observe that the evanescent ∞ -topos $s_{\acute{e}t} \times S_{\acute{e}t} S_{\acute{e}t}$ can be identified with the étale ∞ -topos $S_{\acute{e}t}^{h}$ (Example 6.7.4), and the oriented fiber product $s_{\acute{e}t} \times S_{\acute{e}t} \eta_{\acute{e}t}$ can be identified with the étale ∞ -topos $\eta_{\acute{e}t}^{h}$.

Fix a separable closure $K^{\text{sep}} \supset K$. Write G_k and G_K for the absolute Galois groups of k and K, respectively. Write $D_A \subseteq G_K$ for the decomposition group of A, and $I_A \subseteq D_A$ for the inertia group of A [STK, Tag 0BSD]. Recall that there is a canonical isomorphism $D_A / I_A \cong G_k$ [STK, Tag 0BSW; 19, §2.3, Proposition 11]. The choices of separable closures $k^{\text{sep}} \supset k$ and $K^{\text{sep}} \supset K$ provide the following identifications of profinite spaces:

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(\eta) \simeq \mathrm{BG}_K \ , \ \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(\eta^{\mathrm{h}}) \simeq \mathrm{BD}_A \ , \ \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(\eta^{\mathrm{sh}}) \simeq \mathrm{BI}_A \ , \ \mathrm{and} \quad \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(S^{\mathrm{h}}) \simeq \mathrm{BG}_k \ .$$

The choices of separable closures of *k* and *K* along with the quotient map $D_A \to G_k$ allow us to noncanonically identify the profinite décollage $N_{[1]}(Gal(S))$ as the functor $sd^{op}([1]) \to S^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ given by the diagram

$$\mathrm{BG}_k \leftarrow \mathrm{BD}_A \to \mathrm{BG}_K$$
.

12.2.3 Example (knots and primes). Let *K* be a number field, and write $O_K \subset K$ for the ring of integers of *K*. The profinite Galois category Gal(Spec O_K) has (isomorphism classes of) objects the prime ideals of O_K . For each nonzero prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \in \text{Spec } O_K$, the automorphisms of \mathfrak{p} can be identified with the absolute Galois group $G_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}$ of the finite field $\kappa(\mathfrak{p})$. Thus the profinite étale shape of $\text{Spec } O_K$ is stratified by the various closed strata, each of which is an embedded profinite circle – i.e., a knot $BG_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})} \simeq B\hat{\mathbf{Z}}$. The open complement of each $BG_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}$ is the profinite classifying space of the profinite group

$$G_{\mathfrak{p}} \coloneqq \hat{\pi}_{1}^{\acute{e}t}(\operatorname{Spec}(O_{K}) \setminus \mathfrak{p}).$$

Note that $G_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the automorphism group of the maximal Galois extension of *K* that is ramified at most only at \mathfrak{p} and the infinite primes. Enveloping each knot is a tubular neighborhood, given by Gal(Spec $A_{\mathfrak{p}}^{sh}$), so that the deleted tubular neighborhood of $BG_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}$ is a $BG_{K_{\mathfrak{p}}}$.

12.3 Sieves & cosieves of Galois categories

One can read off various facts about schemes from their Galois categories. In this section and the next, we begin to propose a dictionary between schemes and their profinite Galois categories.³⁵ We continue this endeavour in Chapter 14, as the dictionary is strongest between profinite Galois categories and schemes that admit no nontrivial universal homeomorphisms (Definition 14.2.2).

The following is immediate.

12.3.1 Proposition. A monomorphism $U \hookrightarrow X$ of coherent schemes is an open immersion if and only if the induced functor $Gal(U) \to Gal(X)$ is equivalent to the inclusion of a cosieve.

Dually, a monomorphism $Z \hookrightarrow X$ of coherent schemes is a closed immersion if and only if $Gal(Z) \to Gal(X)$ is equivalent to the inclusion of a sieve.

12.3.2 Recollection. An *interval* in an ∞ -category *C* is a full subcategory $D \subseteq C$ such that a morphism $d \rightarrow d'$ of *D* factors through an object *c* of *C* only if *c* lies in *D*.

12.3.3 Corollary. A monomorphism $W \hookrightarrow X$ of coherent schemes is a locally closed immersion if and only if the induced functor $Gal(W) \to Gal(X)$ is equivalent to the inclusion of an interval.

12.3.4 Recollection. Let *C* be an ∞ -category. An object $c \in C$ is *weakly initial* if for every object $c' \in C$, the space $\operatorname{Map}_C(c, c')$ is nonempty. An object $c' \in C$ is *weakly terminal* if *c* is weakly initial in C^{op} .

12.3.5 Corollary. A coherent scheme X is local if and only if Gal(X) contains a weakly initial object. Dually, a coherent scheme X is irreducible if and only if Gal(X) contains a weakly terminal object.

12.3.6. For any coherent scheme *X* and any point $x_0 \in X^{zar}$, the Galois category of the localization is the fiber product

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X_{(x_0)}) \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X) \underset{X^{\operatorname{zar}}}{\times} X_{x_0/}^{\operatorname{zar}}.$$

Dually, for any point $y_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$, the Galois category of the closure $X^{(y_0)}$ of y_0 (with the reduced subscheme structure, say) is the fiber product

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X^{(y_0)}) \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X) \underset{X^{\operatorname{zar}}}{\times} X^{\operatorname{zar}}_{/y_0}.$$

12.4 Undercategories & overcategories of Galois categories

In this section we extend our dictionary by showing that undercategories correspond to localizations, while overcategories correspond to normalizations (Corollary 12.4.5).

12.4.1 Notation (strict localization). Let X be a scheme and $x \to X$ a point of X. We write $x_0 \in X^{\text{zar}}$ for the image of x in the Zariski topological space of X Let

³⁵This dictionary first appeared in a preprint of the first-named author [13].

 $\kappa(x_0)^{\text{sep}} \supseteq \kappa(x)$ denote the separable closure of $\kappa(x_0)$ in $\kappa(x)$. We write O_{X,x_0}^h for the henselization of the local ring O_{X,x_0} , and write

$$O_{X,x}^h \supseteq O_{X,x_0}^h$$

for the unique extension of henselian local rings that on residue fields reduces to the field extension $\kappa(x_0)^{\text{sep}} \supseteq \kappa(x_0)$. We also write

$$X_{(x)} \coloneqq \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{O}_{X_x}^{h})$$
.

We call $X_{(x)}$ the *localization of X at x* (Example 6.7.4). The scheme $X_{(x)}$ is the limit of the diagram of étale X-schemes $U \to X$ equipped with a lift $x \to U$ of $x \to X$ to U.

If $x \to X$ is a geometric point, then $O_{X,x}^h$ is the strict henselization of O_{X,x_0} , and $X_{(x)}$ is the strict localization of X at x.

12.4.2 Notation (strict normalization). Let *X* be a scheme, let $y \to X$ is a geometric point, and let $\kappa(y)^{\text{alg}} \supset \kappa(y)$ be an algebraic closure of $\kappa(y)$. We write $X^{(y_0)} \subset X$ for the integral subscheme defined by the Zariski closure of $\{y_0\}$ with the reduced subscheme structure. We write $X^{(y)}$ for the normalization of $X^{(y_0)}$ under Spec $\kappa(y)^{\text{alg}}$. We call $X^{(y)}$ the *strict normalization of X at y*.

The strict normalization $X^{(y)}$ can be expressed as an inverse limit of schemes over $X^{(y_0)}$ as follows. For each intermediate field extension $\kappa(y_0) \subset k \subset \kappa(y)^{\text{alg}}$ finite over $\kappa(y_0)$, write $X^{(y_0),k} \to X^{(y_0)}$ for the normalization of $X^{(y_0)}$ under Spec *k*. Then $X^{(y)}$ is the inverse limit

$$X^{(y)} \simeq \lim_{\kappa(y_0) \subset k \subset \kappa(y)^{\text{alg}}} X^{(y_0),k}$$

of the resulting diagram of normalizations and finite surjective transition morphisms [121, §3].

12.4.3 Remark. Absolutely integrally closed schemes are integral normal schemes whose function field is algebraically closed. In other words, an absolutely integrally closed scheme is a strict normalization $X^{(y)}$ of a scheme at a geometric point $y \rightarrow X$ [7]. This class of schemes has a number of curious properties:

- If Z is absolutely integrally closed, then for any point $z_0 \in Z^{\text{zar}}$, the local ring O_{Z,z_0} is strictly henselian [121, Proposition 2.6].
- If Z is absolutely integrally closed, then the étale topos and the Zariski topos of Z coincide [121, Corollary 2.5]. Hence $Gal(Z) \simeq Z^{zar}$. In other words, Gal(Z) is a profinite poset with a terminal object.
- If Z is absolutely integrally closed and W is irreducible, then any integral morphism $W \rightarrow Z$ is radicial [121, Lemma 2.3]. Thus any integral surjection $W \rightarrow Z$ is a universal homeomorphism (Recollection 14.1.1).
- If Z is absolutely integrally closed, then the poset $Gal(Z) \simeq Z^{zar}$ has all finite nonempty joins [122, Theorem 2.1].

Here now is the basic observation, which follows more or less immediately from the limit descriptions of the strict localization and the strict normalization:

12.4.4 Proposition. Let X be a coherent scheme, and let $x^{alg} \to X$ and $y^{alg} \to X$ be points of X that correspond to algebraic closures of the residue fields of their image points. Write $x \to X$ and $y \to Y$ for the underlying geometric points of $x^{alg} \to X$ and $y^{alg} \to X$, respectively. Then the following profinite sets are in (canonical) bijection:

- The profinite set $\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Gal}(X)}(x, y)$ of morphisms $x \to y$ in $\operatorname{Gal}(X)$.
- The profinite set $Mor_X(y, X_{(x)})$ of lifts of y to the strict localization $X_{(x)}$.
- The profinite set $Mor_X(x^{alg}, X^{(y)})$ of lifts of x to the strict normalization $X^{(y)}$.

We may thus describe the over- and undercategories of Galois categories. The expression of the undercategory in terms of the strict localization is originally due to Grothendieck [SGA 4_{II} , Exposé VIII, Corollaire 7.6].

12.4.5 Corollary. Let X be a coherent scheme, and let $x \to X$ and $y \to X$ be geometric points of X. Then we have

 $\operatorname{Gal}(X)_{x/} \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X_{(x)})$ and $\operatorname{Gal}(X)_{/y} \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X^{(y)})$.

12.4.6 Corollary. Let X be a coherent scheme. Then Gal(X) is equivalent to both of the following full subcategories of X-schemes:

- The full subcategory spanned by the strict localizations of X.
- The full subcategory spanned by the strict normalizations of X.

Since $\operatorname{Gal}(X^{(y)}) \simeq X^{(y),\operatorname{zar}}$, it follows that Galois categories are of a very particular sort:

12.4.7 Corollary. Let X be a coherent scheme. For any geometric point $y \to X$, the overcategory $Gal(X)_{/y}$ is a profinite poset with all finite nonempty joins. In particular, every morphism of Gal(X) is a monomorphism.

12.5 Recovering the protruncated étale shape

Since Gal(X) is the profinite stratified shape of the spectral ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t}$, the fact that the profinite stratified shape is a delocalization of the protruncated shape (Theorem 10.2.3) immediately implies the following:

12.5.1 Theorem (Homotopy). *Let X be a coherent scheme. Then there is a natural natural map of prospaces*

$$\theta_X \colon \Pi^{\text{\acute{e}t}}_{\infty}(X) \to \varepsilon(\text{Gal}(X))$$
.

Moreover, θ_X induces an equivalence on protruncations.

As a consequence, for each integer $n \ge 1$ and geometric point $x \to X$, there is a natural isomorphisms of progroups

$$\pi_n^{\text{ét}}(X, x) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_n(\varepsilon(\text{Gal}(X)), x)$$
.

Here $\pi_n^{\text{ét}}(X, x)$ *is the n-th homotopy progroup of the étale shape* $\Pi_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X)$ *of* X (11.1.7).

12.6 Stratified Riemann Existence Theorem

We prove a stratified refinement of the Riemann Existence Theorem of Artin–Mazur– Friedlander (Theorem 11.5.3), giving a comparison between étale and analytic stratified homotopy types for schemes of finite type over the field \mathbf{C} of complex numbers (Corollary 12.6.6).

12.6.1 Construction. Let *X* be a scheme of finite type over **C**. Let us recall the geometric morphism $\varepsilon_* : X_{an} \to X_{\acute{e}t}$ of Recollection 11.5.2. We give X^{an} the profinite stratification $X^{an} \to X^{zar}$ of Example 1.4.4. With respect to this stratification, ε_* is an X^{zar} -stratified geometric morphism.

Let S be a spectral topological space and let $X^{zar} \rightarrow S$ be a quasicompact continuous map. We write

$$(X/S)_{an} \coloneqq \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X_{an}^{S-\operatorname{cons}})$$
 and $(X/S)_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}} \coloneqq \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(X_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{S-\operatorname{cons}})$

for the S-spectrifications of X_{an} and $X_{\acute{e}t}$, respectively. Since the geometric morphism $\varepsilon_* \colon X_{an} \to X_{\acute{e}t}$ is X^{zar} -stratified, the pullback functor ε^* restricts to a morphism of ∞ -pretopoi

$$X_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{S\text{-cons}} \to X_{\text{an}}^{S\text{-cons}}$$

(Lemma 9.4.9), hence induces an S-stratified geometric morphism

$$\varepsilon_* \colon (X/S)_{\mathrm{an}} \to (X/S)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$$

The inclusions $X_{an}^{S-cons} \hookrightarrow X_{an}$ and $X_{\acute{e}t}^{S-cons} \hookrightarrow X_{\acute{e}t}$ induce natural geometric morphisms

$$v_*^{S,\text{an}}: X_{\text{an}} \to (X/S)_{\text{an}}$$
 and $v_*^{S,\text{\acute{e}t}}: X_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \to (X/S)_{\text{\acute{e}t}}$

that exhibit $(X/S)_{an}$ and $(X/S)_{\acute{e}t}$ as the S-spectrifications of X_{an} and $X_{\acute{e}t}$. These functors are compatible with ε in the sense that the squares

commute, by construction.

12.6.2. Let $X^{\text{zar}} \to P$ be a finite constructible stratification. Then the topological space X^{an} also inherits a stratification $X^{\text{an}} \to P$, which is conical. The Exodromy Equivalence for stratified topological spaces (Example 8.4.2), provides an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Exit}^{P}(X^{\operatorname{an}})^{\wedge}_{\pi} \simeq \widehat{\Pi}^{P}_{(\infty,1)}((X/P)_{\operatorname{an}})$$

between the profinite completion (in the stratified sense) of the exit-path ∞ -category of X^{an} and the profinite stratified shape of $(X/P)_{\text{an}}$.

We now discuss a general nonabelian form of the results identified in [16, 6.1.2]. The key result, which seems to be well-known to experts, is the following 'nonabelian derived' form of the Artin Comparison Theorem [SGA 4_{III} , Exposé XVI, Théorème 4.1].

12.6.3 Theorem. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism of finite type **C**-schemes. Then the square



of ∞ -topoi satisfies the left basechange condition when restricted to constructible sheaves on $X_{\text{ét}}$. That is, for any constructible sheaf $F \in X_{\text{ét}}$, the natural basechange morphism

$$\varepsilon^* f_*^{\text{ét}} F \to f_*^{\text{an}} \varepsilon^* F$$

is an equivalence.

12.6.4 Proposition. Let X be a scheme of finite type over C. Then the pullback functor $\varepsilon^* : X_{\acute{e}t} \to X_{an}$ restricts to an equivalence on constructible sheaves.

Proof. We induct on the Krull dimension of X; the claim in obvious for dimension 0.

Let us assume that X is of dimension n, and that the claim is known for schemes of dimension < n. We may also assume that X is irreducible. In this case, we may write X^{zar} as the limit of stratifications of the form $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow S$, where

$$S = Z^{\operatorname{zar}} \cup \{\infty\} \simeq \lim_{P \in \operatorname{FC}(Z)} P^{\natural}$$

for some closed subscheme $Z \subset X$ of dimension < n. Hence it will suffice to show that for any such stratification $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow S$, the *S*-stratified geometric morphism

$$\varepsilon_* \colon (X/S)_{\mathrm{an}} \to (X/S)_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$$

is an equivalence. The source is a recollement of $(Z/Z^{\text{zar}})_{\text{an}}$ and $(U/\infty)_{\text{an}}$:

$$(Z/Z^{\operatorname{zar}})_{\operatorname{an}} \stackrel{i_*^{\operatorname{an}}}{\longleftrightarrow} (X/S)_{\operatorname{an}} \stackrel{j_*^{\operatorname{an}}}{\longleftrightarrow} (U/\infty)_{\operatorname{an}}.$$

Accordingly, the target is a recollement of $Z_{\text{ét}}$ and $(U/\infty)_{\text{ét}}$:

$$Z_{\text{\acute{e}t}} \stackrel{i^{\acute{e}t}}{\longrightarrow} (X/S)_{\acute{e}t} \stackrel{j^{\acute{e}t}}{\longleftarrow} (U/\infty)_{\acute{e}t}$$

Restricted to the closed piece of this recollement, ε_* is an equivalence by the induction hypothesis. Restricted to the open piece, ε_* is an equivalence by the *unstratified* Riemann Existence Theorem (Theorem 11.5.3).

It therefore suffices to prove that the gluing functors agree under these equivalences. In other words, it suffices to prove that for any lisse sheaf F on $U_{\text{ét}}$, the morphism

$$\varepsilon^* i^*_{\acute{e}t} j^{\acute{e}t}_* F \to i^*_{an} j^{an}_* \varepsilon^* F$$

is an equivalence (Proposition 5.1.16). Now Theorem 12.6.3 applies, completing the proof. $\hfill \Box$

12.6.5 Notation. Let *X* be a scheme of finite type over **C**. We write $\text{Gal}_{an}(X)$ for the profinite X^{zar} -stratified space

$$\operatorname{Gal}_{\operatorname{an}}(X) \coloneqq \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{X^{\operatorname{zar}}}(X_{\operatorname{an}}) \simeq \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{X^{\operatorname{zar}}}((X/X^{\operatorname{zar}})_{\operatorname{an}}) \ .$$

We write

 ε : $\operatorname{Gal}_{\operatorname{an}}(X) \to \operatorname{Gal}(X)$.

for the morphism of profinite X^{zar} -stratified spaces induced by the geometric morphism ϵ_* .

12.6.6 Corollary (Stratified Riemann Existence). *Let* X *be a scheme of finite type over* C. *Then the natural morphism* ε : $Gal_{an}(X) \rightarrow Gal(X)$ *is an equivalence.*

As a corollary, we also obtain:

12.6.7 Corollary. Let X be a scheme of finite type over **C** and let $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow P$ be a finite constructible stratification. Then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Exit}^{P}(X^{\operatorname{an}}) \to \operatorname{Gal}(X/P)$$

exhibits the profinite stratified space Gal(X/P) as the profinite completion of the exitpath ∞ -category of $X^{an} \rightarrow P$.

12.7 The van Kampen Theorem for Galois categories

For this section, we fix a coherent scheme X and a nondegenerate constructible stratification $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow [1]$. We write $Z \subset X$ for the closed stratum and $U \subset X$ for the quasicompact open complement of Z. The décollage associated to the profinite [1]stratified space Gal(X/[1]) is the functor $\text{sd}^{\text{op}}([1]) \rightarrow \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ given by the diagram

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(Z) \leftarrow \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(Z_{\text{\'et}} \overleftarrow{\times}_{X_{\text{\'et}}} U_{\text{\'et}}) \rightarrow \widehat{\Pi}^{\text{\'et}}_{\infty}(U) \,.$$

(Note that any subscheme structure on Z will do, as nilimmersions don't affect the étale ∞ -topos.) The profinite space $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}(Z_{\text{ét}} \overleftarrow{X}_{X_{\text{ét}}} U_{\text{ét}})$ is the *deleted tubular neighborhood* of $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(Z)$ in $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{ét}}(X)$.

12.7.1 Example. Suppose that $Z = \{z\}$ and $\kappa(z)$ is separably closed. Then the deleted tubular neighborhood of $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(Z) \simeq *$ in $\widehat{\Pi}^{\text{ét}}_{\infty}(X)$ is the profinite étale shape of the punctured Milnor tube $X_{(z)} \setminus \{z\}$.

12.7.2 Example. Suppose that *X* is a curve over a field *k* and $Z = \{z\}$ is a rational point. Then we obtain an identification of the deleted tubular neighborhood with the profinite classifying space of 'the' profinite decomposition group $D_z \subseteq \hat{\pi}_1^{\text{ét}}(U)$. In more general situations, this justifies thinking of the deleted tubular neighborhood $\hat{\Pi}_{\infty}(Z_{\text{ét}} \times_{X_{\text{ét}}} U_{\text{ét}})$ as a kind of 'decomposition homotopy type'.

Specializing Example 10.5.2 to the étale topology yields the following *étale van Kampen Theorem*:

12.7.3 Proposition. Let X be a coherent scheme and let $X^{\text{zar}} \rightarrow [1]$ be a nondegenerate constructible stratification with closed stratum Z and open stratum U. Then the square



is a pushout square in the ∞ -category of profinite spaces.

12.7.4. Proposition 12.7.3 functions in the same manner as Friedlander's van Kampen Theorem [39, Proposition 15.6].

Cox [28; 29] also developed a deleted tubular neighborhood for schemes, which is what appears in Friedlander's formulation of the van Kampen Theorem. It can be shown that Cox's deleted tubular neighborhood and our toposic version have equivalent protruncated shapes types.

13 Extending exodromy: coefficients, stacks, & *l*-adic sheaves

Let *X* be a coherent scheme. One limitation of our study of constructible sheaves thus far is that we have effectively restricted our attention to constructible sheaves on *X* with *nonabelian*, π -*finite* coefficients. The first goal of this chapter is to use Theorem 10.1.8 along with some basic facts about the compactness of certain ∞ -categories to extend our Exodromy Theorem to coefficients in a *finite* ring. Specifically, for any *finite* ring *R*, we provide an equivalence between the constructible derived ∞ -category of étale sheaves of *R*-modules on *X* and the ∞ -category of continuous representations of the profinite 1-category Gal(*X*) with values in Perf(*R*):

13.0.1 Theorem. Let X be a coherent scheme and let R be a finite ring. Then there is an equivalence of ∞ -categories

(13.0.2)
$$D_{cons}(X_{\acute{e}t}; R) \simeq Fun(Gal(X), Perf(R)).$$

See Theorem 13.2.11 for an even more general statement.

However, many of the serious applications of constructible sheaves and their cohomology arise with coefficients a more general *topological* ring, such as \mathbf{Z}_{ℓ} , \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} , or $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{\ell}$. Consequently, it is desirable to extend our Exodromy Theorem to include these topological rings. To do this, we have to solve two problems:

- (1) Given a topological ring A, it is not a priori clear how to incorporate the topology on A in the ∞-category Perf(A). We address this by introducing pyknotic structures called *condensed* structures by Clausen and Scholze. Pyknotic structures generalize common topological structures in a way that plays well with algebraic structures. Using this formalism, if C and D are pyknotic ∞-categories, we can meaningfully speak of the the ∞-category Fun^{cts}(C, D) of *continuous functors* C → D. Critically, this extends gives us a way of extending the right-hand side of the equivalence (13.0.2) to topological rings; see Lemma 13.6.1.
- (2) Constructible sheaves of Λ-modules are not generally sheaves for the étale topology, but the *proétale* topology of Bhatt and Scholze [17]. One expects a version of our Exodromy Theorem for ∞-topoi that closely resemble the proétale ∞-topos of a scheme; we have not been able to obtain such a result. Instead, we do something more modest: we identify situations in which the theorem can be extended along limits and filtered colimits.

The formulation and proof of the following pair of results occupies most of this chapter.

13.0.3 Notation. Let *X* be a coherent scheme.

- Let Λ be a noetherian ring that is complete with respect to the topology defined by an ideal $I \subset \Lambda$. We write $D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; \Lambda)$ for the constructible derived ∞ -category of proétale sheaves of Λ -modules on X [17, Definition 6.5.1]. - Let ℓ be a prime number and E an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . If X is topologically noetherian (thus automatically coherent), we write $D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; E)$ for the constructible derived ∞ -category of proétale sheaves of E-modules on X [17, Definition 6.8.8].

13.0.4 Theorem. Let X be a coherent scheme, Λ be a noetherian ring, and $I \subset \Lambda$ an ideal. Assume that Λ is complete with respect to the I-adic topology and that for each integer $n \ge 1$, the quotient ring Λ/I^n is finite. Then there is an equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; \Lambda) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(\Lambda))$$
.

For topologically noetherian schemes, we extend Theorem 13.0.4 to coefficients in \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} or $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{\ell}$:

13.0.5 Theorem. Let X be a topologically noetherian scheme, ℓ be a prime number, and E be an algebraic field extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . Then there is an equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; E) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(E))$$

13.0.6 Remark. We need X to be topologically noetherian in order to ensure that the standard notion of a constructible complex of Q_{ℓ} -sheaves is equivalent to the requirement that the sheaf is lisse over a finte stratification (see [17, §6.6]).

At end end of the chapter, we also explain how to extend these Exodromy Equivalences to a large class of stacks.

Section 13.1 sets up the background about category objects in ∞ -topoi that we need to prove our extensions of the Exodromy Equivalence. Section 13.2 uses the compactness results of category objects that we prove in § 13.1 to prove Theorem 13.0.1. Section 13.3 sets up the basics of pyknotic spaces and ∞-categories and explains what we mean by 'Fun^{cts'}. Armed with this, in Sections 13.4 and 13.5 we explain how to embed profinite spaces into pyknotic spaces, and profinite stratified spaces into pyknotic ∞ -categories. Section 13.6 shows that functors out of Gal(X) in the 'pro' sense agree with continuous functors in the pyknotic sense. This gives a reinterpretation of the Exodromy Theorem with finite coefficients in terms of the pyknotic formalism. With all of this in place, in Section 13.7 we explain how the Exodromy Theorem with profinite coefficients (Theorem 13.0.4) follows from Exodromy with finite coefficients (see Theorem 13.7.8). Section 13.8 is dedicated to extending Exodromy with profinite coefficients to coefficients in an algebraic extension of Q_{ℓ} (Theorem 13.0.5); this step is not entirely formal and involves an analysis of t-structures in the pyknotic world (see Theorem 13.8.8). Section 13.9 ends the chapter by extending the Exodromy Theorem to a large class of stacks (Proposition 13.9.17).

13.1 Category objects of higher topoi

In preparation for the results of this chapter, it is necessary to develop a little background on the (co)compactness of category objects in ∞ -topoi. First, the cocompactness results that we prove in this section are what allow us to extend the Exodromy Theorem to coefficients in a finite discrete ring (Theorem 13.0.1). Second, the compactness results that we prove are what allow us to regard Gal(X) as a pyknotic ∞ -category and extend the coefficients in the Exodromy Theorem from a finite ring to more general topological rings.

In order to prove the relevant (co)compactness results, it is technically convenient to use the formalism of *complete Segal objects*. The reason for this is that we can often formulate criteria for (co)compactness of simplicial objects in terms of the (co)compactness of their simplices; see Propositions 13.1.12 and 13.1.14.

13.1.1 Definition. Let *D* be an ∞ -category with finite limits. We say that a simplicial object *F* : $\Delta^{\text{op}} \rightarrow D$ is a *category object* of *D* if *F* satisfies the *Segal condition*:

(13.1.1.1) For every integer $k \ge 1$, the natural morphism

$$F_k \rightarrow F\{0 < 1\} \underset{F\{1\}}{\times} F\{1 < 2\} \underset{F\{2\}}{\times} \cdots \underset{F\{k-1\}}{\times} F\{k-1 < k\}$$

is an equivalence in D.

We say that a category object $F : \Delta^{op} \to D$ is a *complete Segal object* if, in addition, F satisfies the following *completeness condition*:

(13.1.1.2) The natural morphism

$$F_0 \rightarrow F_3 \underset{F\{0<2\} \times F\{1<3\}}{\times} F_1$$

is an equivalence in D.

Write $CO(D) \subset Fun(\Delta^{op}, D)$ for the full subcategory spanned by the category objects and $CS(D) \subset CO(D)$ for the full subcategory spanned by the complete Segal objects.

13.1.2. Joyal and Tierney [77] showed that the nerve construction defines an equivalence

$$N: Cat_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\sim} CS(S)$$

from the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories to the ∞ -category of complete Segal spaces. For each integer $n \ge 0$, the nerve restricts to an equivalence

N: Cat_n
$$\rightarrow$$
 CS(S₎

between *n*-categories and complete Segal objects in (n - 1)-truncated spaces.

13.1.3. See [SAG, §A.8.2] for more on category objects.

13.1.4. Let *D* be an ∞ -category with finite limits. Then the full subcategories

$$CS(D) \subset CO(D) \subset Fun(\Delta^{op}, D)$$

are closed under all limits that exist in D.

13.1.5. Let *X* be ∞ -topos. Since finite limits commute with filtered colimits in ∞ -topoi, the full subcategories

$$CS(X) \subset CO(X) \subset Fun(\Delta^{op}, X)$$

are closed under limits and filtered colimits. In particular CS(X) and CO(X) are presentable and the incluions into $Fun(\Delta^{op}, X)$ admit left adjoints.

For future use, we'll record a few facts about the interaction between ∞ -categories of product-preserving functors and complete Segal objects. We later use this to see that formation of pyknotic objects and complete Segal objects commute. All are immediate from the definitions.

13.1.6 Notation. Let *B* and *D* be ∞ -categories with finite products. We write

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, D) \subset \operatorname{Fun}(B, D)$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the functors that preserve finite products.

13.1.7 Lemma. Let *B*, *C*, and *D* be ∞ -categories, and assume that *B* and *D* have finite products. Then the natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}(B, \operatorname{Fun}(C, D)) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(C, \operatorname{Fun}(B, D))$$

restricts to an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, \operatorname{Fun}(C, D)) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(C, \operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, D))$$

13.1.8 Corollary. Let *B* be an ∞ -category with products and *D* an ∞ -category with finite limits. Then the natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\mathsf{x}}(B, \operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}}, D)) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}}, \operatorname{Fun}^{\mathsf{x}}(B, D))$$

restrict to equivalences

 $\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, \operatorname{CO}(D)) \simeq \operatorname{CO}(\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, D))$ and $\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, \operatorname{CS}(D)) \simeq \operatorname{CS}(\operatorname{Fun}^{\times}(B, D))$.

We now prove the relevant cocompactness result that we use in § 13.5 in order to see that profinite stratified spaces embed into pyknotic ∞ -categories. The main result we need is that category objects in π -finite spaces are cocompact as category objects in profinite spaces. We show this by combining the fact that $\mathbf{S}_{\pi} \subset \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ consists of cocompact objects with the fact that a category object in truncated spaces is always right Kanextended from a finite subcategory of $\boldsymbol{\Delta}^{\text{op}}$.

13.1.9 Notation. Let *m* be a positive integer. We write $\Delta_{\leq m} \subset \Delta$ for the full subcategory spanned by the objects [0], [1], ..., [*m*].

13.1.10 Definition. Let *D* be an ∞ -category with finite limits and $m \ge 1$ an integer. An *m*-skeletal category object of *D* is a functor $F : \Delta_{\le m}^{\text{op}} \to D$ satisfying the Segal condition: for every integer $0 \le k \le m$, the natural morphism

$$F_k \rightarrow F\{0 < 1\} \underset{F\{1\}}{\times} F\{1 < 2\} \underset{F\{2\}}{\times} \cdots \underset{F\{k-1\}}{\times} F\{k-1 < k\}$$

is an equivalence in D. We write

$$\operatorname{CO}_{\leq m}(D) \subset \operatorname{Fun}(\Delta^{\operatorname{op}}_{\leq m}, D)$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the *m*-skeletal category objects.

13.1.11. Let *X* be an ∞ -topos and $m \ge 1$ an integer. Then the restriction functor

$$(-)|_{\Delta^{\mathrm{op}}_{\leq m}}$$
: $\mathrm{CO}(X) \to \mathrm{CO}_{\leq m}(X)$

commutes with all limits and filtered colimits.

13.1.12 Proposition. Let X be an ∞ -category with finite limits, $n \ge -2$ an integer, and $C \in CO(X)$ a category object of X. If the natural map

$$C\{0 < 1\} \rightarrow C\{0\} \times C\{1\}$$

is n-truncated and for each $I \in \Delta$, the object C(I) of X is cocompact, then C is a cocompact object of CO(X).

Proof of Proposition 13.1.14. Let $D: A \to CO(X)$ be a cofiltered diagram. By [SAG, Proposition A.8.2.6], the object *C* is right Kan extended from $\Delta_{< n+2}^{op}$, hence we see that

$$\operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{\alpha\in A^{\operatorname{op}}}\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(\boldsymbol{X})}(D_{\alpha},C)\simeq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{\alpha\in A^{\operatorname{op}}}\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}_{\leq n+2}(\boldsymbol{X})}(D_{\alpha}|_{\boldsymbol{\Delta}^{\operatorname{op}}_{\leq n+2}},C|_{\boldsymbol{\Delta}^{\operatorname{op}}_{\leq n+2}})\,.$$

From the end description of mapping spaces in a functor category, the fact that finite limits commute with filtered colimits in **S**, and the cocompactness of C(I) for each $I \in \Delta^{\text{op}}$, we see that we have equivalences

$$\begin{split} \underset{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}}{\operatorname{colim}} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(D_{\alpha}, C) &\simeq \underset{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}}{\operatorname{colim}} \int_{I \in \mathbf{\Delta}_{\leq n+2}} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(D_{\alpha}(I), C(I)) \\ & \cong \int_{I \in \mathbf{\Delta}_{\leq n+2}} \underset{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}}{\operatorname{colim}} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(D_{\alpha}(I), C(I)) \\ & \cong \int_{I \in \mathbf{\Delta}_{\leq n+2}} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(\lim_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} D_{\alpha}(I), C(I)) \\ & \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(\lim_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} D_{\alpha}, C) . \end{split}$$

13.1.13 Corollary. Every object in the image of the Yoneda embedding $CO(S_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow CO(S_{\pi}^{\wedge})$ is cocompact.

We now turn to the compactness of category objects. The formal manipulations in the proof of the following proposition are very similar to those used in the proof of Proposition 13.1.12.

13.1.14 Proposition. Let X be an ∞ -topos and $C \in CO(X)$ a category object of X. If for each $I \in \Delta$, the object C(I) is almost compact (*Definition 3.10.2*), then for each integer $n \ge -2$ the functor

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(C, -) \colon \operatorname{CO}(X_{\leq n}) \to \mathbf{S}$$

preserves filtered colimits.

13.1.15. The hypotheses of Proposition 13.1.14 are satisfied if *X* is a locally coherent ∞-topos and for each $I \in \Delta$, the object *C*(*I*) is coherent [SAG, Corollary A.2.3.2].

Proof of Proposition 13.1.14. Let $D: A \to CO(X_{\leq n})$ be a filtered diagram. First note that by [SAG, Proposition A.8.2.6], for each $\alpha \in A$, the category object D_{α} is right Kan-extended from $\Delta_{\leq n+2}^{op}$. Moreover, since $X_{\leq n} \subset X$ is closed under filtered colimits, the colimit colim_{$\alpha \in A$} D_{α} is also right Kan extended from $\Delta_{< n+2}^{op}$. Thus we see that

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(\boldsymbol{X})}(C, D_{\alpha}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}_{\leq n+2}(\boldsymbol{X})}(C|_{\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\leq n+2}^{\operatorname{op}}}, D_{\alpha}|_{\boldsymbol{\Delta}_{\leq n+2}^{\operatorname{op}}})$$

From the end description of mapping spaces in a functor category and the fact that finite limits commute with filtered colimits in \mathbf{S} , we see that we have equivalences

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(C, D_{\alpha}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \int_{I \in \Delta_{\leq n+2}} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(C(I), D_{\alpha}(I))$$
$$\simeq \int_{I \in \Delta_{\leq n+2}} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(C(I), D_{\alpha}(I))$$

Since the object C(I) is almost compact for each $I \in \Delta$ and $\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} D_{\alpha}$ is right Kan extended from $\Delta_{\leq n+2}^{\operatorname{op}}$, we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \underset{\alpha \in A}{\operatorname{colim}} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(C, D_{\alpha}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} \int_{I \in \Delta_{\leq n+2}} \operatorname{Map}_{X}(C(I), \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} D_{\alpha}(I)) \\ & \simeq \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{CO}(X)}(C, \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} D_{\alpha}) . \end{aligned}$$

13.2 Exodromy with discrete coefficients

Let X be a coherent scheme. The original formulation of the Exodromy Theorem for schemes says that functors $Gal(X) \rightarrow S_{\pi}$ are the same things as constructible sheaves of spaces on X (Construction 12.1.5). We now prove the analagous claim where S_{π} is replaced by the ∞ -category of perfect complexes over a finite ring R. The important property shared by S_{π} and Perf(R) that allows us to reduce the claim to Proposition 13.1.12 is that all of the mapping spaces in these ∞ -categories are π -finite.

13.2.1 Definition. We say that an ∞ -category *C* is *locally* π -*finite* if for all objects $X, Y \in C$, the mapping space $\operatorname{Map}_{C}(X, Y)$ is π -finite. We say that a locally π -finite ∞ -category *C* is π -*finite* if *C* has finitely many objects up to equivalence.

13.2.2 Examples.

- The ∞ -category S_{π} of π -finite spaces is locally π -finite [SAG, Remark E.2.6.4].
- For any finite ring *R*, the ∞ -category Perf(*R*) of perfect complexes over *R* is locally π -finite.
- If Π is a π -finite stratified space, then the ∞ -category Π is π -finite

13.2.3 Notation. Let *C* be a locally π -finite ∞ -category. We denote by $\text{Sub}_{\pi}(C)$ the filtered poset of π -finite full subcategories of *C*. Note that *C* is the filtered union

$$C = \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} C_0 \ .$$

13.2.4. Note that if Π is a profinite stratified space and *C* is a locally π -finite ∞ -category, then any functor $\Pi \rightarrow C$ lands in a π -finite full subcategory of *C*. This is because the profinite set $\pi_0(\iota \Pi)$ is quasicompact, so its image in the discrete set $\pi_0(\iota C)$ is finite. In particular, the natural functor

$$\operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, C_0) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, C)$$

is an equivalence.

We now introduce the notion of a constructible sheaf with values in a general ∞ -category.

13.2.5 Recollection. Let Y be an ∞ -topos and D a presentable ∞ -category. A *D*-valued sheaf on Y is a limit-preserving functor $Y^{\text{op}} \rightarrow D$. We write $\text{Sh}(Y; D) \subset \text{Fun}(Y^{\text{op}}, D)$ for the full subcategory spanned by the *D*-valued sheaves. Note that Sh(Y; D) is equivalent to the tensor product of presentable ∞ -categories $Y \otimes D$ [SAG, §1.3.1].

13.2.6 Definition. Let Y be an ∞ -topos, and let C be a δ_0 -small ∞ -category. Then a sheaf F on Y with values in PSh(C) is said to be a *lisse sheaf valued in* C if and only if there exist a finite covering $\prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow 1_Y$, a collection $\{K_i\}_{i \in I}$ of objects of C, and equivalences between $F|_{U_i}$ and the constant sheaf on $Y_{/U_i}$ at K_i .

Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let *X* be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. A sheaf *F* on *X* valued in PSh(*C*) is said to be a *constructible sheaf valued in C* if and only if there exists a finite constructible stratification $S \rightarrow P$ such that for each element $p \in P$, the restriction $F|_{X_p}$ is a lisse sheaf valued in *C*. We write

$$\operatorname{Cons}^{S}(X; C) \subset \operatorname{Sh}(X; \operatorname{PSh}(C))$$

for the full subcategory spanned by the constructible sheaves valued in C.

13.2.7. By definition, the ∞ -category Cons^S(X; C) is the filtered colimit

$$\operatorname{Cons}^{S}(X;C) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{P \in \operatorname{FC}(S)} \operatorname{Cons}^{P}(X;C)$$

over the finite constructible stratifications $S \rightarrow P$.

Let *P* be a finite poset, $Z \subseteq P$ a closed subset, and $U \coloneqq P \setminus Z$ the open complement of *Z*. Then $\text{Cons}^P(X; C)$ is a recollement of $\text{Cons}^Z(X_Z; C)$ and $\text{Cons}^U(X_U; C)$:

$$\operatorname{Cons}^P(X;C) \simeq \operatorname{Cons}^Z(X_Z;C) \underset{\operatorname{Cons}^Z(X_Z;C)}{\downarrow} \operatorname{Cons}^U(X_U;C).$$

13.2.8 Example. Let *S* be a spectral topological space, and let *X* be an *S*-stratified ∞ -topos. Using the identification of the ∞ -category **S** of spaces as sheaves on \mathbf{S}_{π} with respect to the effective epimorphism topology, we see that we have a natural identification

$$X^{S-\text{cons}} = \text{Cons}^{S}(X; \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$$
.

13.2.9 Example. Let *X* be a coherent scheme and *R* a finite ring. Note that the derived ∞ -category D(*R*) is compactly generated by Perf(*R*) and D(*R*) \subset PSh(Perf(*R*)) is closed under limits. Hence we have a natural identification

$$D_{cons}(X_{\acute{e}t}; R) = Cons^{X^{2at}}(X_{\acute{e}t}; Perf(R))$$

of the constructible derived ∞ -category of étale sheaves of *R*-modules on *X* with the ∞ -category of constructible sheaves valued in Perf(*R*) introduced in Definition 13.2.6.

Now we turn to extending the Exodromy Theorem from constructible sheaves valued in π -finite spaces, to constructible sheaves valued in any locally π -finite ∞ -category.

13.2.10 Lemma. Let C be a δ_0 -small, locally π -finite ∞ -category. Let S be a spectral topological space, and let X be an S-stratified ∞ -topos. Then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{Cons}^{\mathcal{S}}(X; C_0) \to \operatorname{Cons}^{\mathcal{S}}(X; C)$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. Since both source and target are filtered colimits over finite constructible stratifications of S, we are free to assume that S = P is a finite poset. By inducting on the rank of P and using the recollement decomposition of the source and the target, we may also assume that P is the trivial poset. Now if F is a lisse sheaf in C on X, then select a finite covering $\prod_{i \in I} U_i \twoheadrightarrow 1_Y$, a collection $\{K_i\}_{i \in I}$ of objects of C, and equivalences between $F|_{U_i}$ and the constant sheaf on $X_{/U_i}$ at K_i . If $C_0 \subseteq C$ denotes the full subcategory spanned by the objects K_i , then the sheaf takes values in PSh(C_0) (embedded in PSh(C) via right Kan extension).

13.2.11 Theorem. Let C be a δ_0 -small, locally π -finite category. Let S be a spectral topological space, and X an S-stratified ∞ -topos. Then there is a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathcal{S}}_{(\infty 1)}(X), C) \simeq \operatorname{Cons}^{\mathcal{S}}(X; C).$$

Proof. In light of (13.2.4) and Lemma 13.2.10, we may assume that C is π -finite.

Let $\Pi := \widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}^{S}(X)$. By Proposition 13.1.14 and the fact that *C* is π -finite, it follows that for any integer $n \ge 0$, the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \operatorname{Fun}(C^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S}_{\pi, \leq n})) \to \operatorname{Fun}(C^{\operatorname{op}}, \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi, \leq n}))$$

is an equivalence. Passing to colimits over n, we conclude that the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \operatorname{Fun}(C^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \to \operatorname{Fun}(C^{\operatorname{op}}, \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}))$$

is an equivalence as well. Applying $Fun(C^{op}, -)$ to the Exodromy Equivalence of Theorem 10.1.8 to obtain an equivalence

Fun(
$$\Pi$$
, Fun(C^{op} , \mathbf{S}_{π})) $\simeq \text{Cons}^{S}(\mathbf{X}; \text{Fun}(C^{\text{op}}, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}))$.

Now we conclude by observing that the functors $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X) \to \operatorname{Fun}(C^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S}_{\pi})$ that land in the essential image of the Yoneda embedding correspond under this equivalence to the constructible sheaves valued in *C*. **13.2.12 Corollary.** Let X be a coherent scheme and R a finite ring. Then there is a natural equivalence

$$D_{cons}(X_{\acute{e}t}; R) \simeq Fun(Gal(X), Perf(R))$$
.

13.2.13. Attached to any constructible sheaf F of R-complexes on X, we have an associated *exodromy representation*

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(R)

that is sufficient to reconstruct F.

13.3 Pyknotic spaces & pyknotic higher categories

In order to upgrade the coefficients in Corollary 13.2.12 from a finite discrete ring to a more general topological ring, we make use of the pyknotic formalism. In this section, we briefly describe the describe elements of the pyknotic formalism that we need to extend our Exodromy Theorem to ℓ -adic sheaves. For more details on the pyknotic formalism, we refer the reader to [15; 117; 118; 119].

13.3.1 Construction. Stone duality identifies the category **Stn** of Stone topological spaces with the category $Pro(\mathbf{Set}^{fin})$ of profinite sets. The subcategory $E \subseteq \mathbf{Stn}$ consisting of effective epimorphisms is an 1-presite structure on **Stn**. We write eff := τ_E for the resulting finitary topology, the *effective epimorphism topology*.

13.3.2 Definition. A *pyknotic space* is a hypersheaf $\mathbf{Stn}^{op} \to \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}$ for the effective epimorphism topology. We write

$$Pyk(\mathbf{S}) \coloneqq Sh_{eff}^{hyp}(\mathbf{Stn}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

for the ∞ -category of pyknotic spaces.

13.3.3 Warning. The category **Stn** is δ_1 -small, but it is not δ_0 -small. Moreover, there does *not* exist a cofinal δ_0 -small set of covering sieves of an object for the effective epimorphism topology. Consequently, when we speak of hypersheaves on **Stn** for the effective epimorphism topology, we have to consider hypersheaves valued in δ_1 -small spaces. The result will be a *large* ∞ -*topos*, that is, a left exact δ_1 -accessible localization of an ∞ -category Fun(C^{op} , \mathbf{S}_{δ_1}) of presheaves of δ_1 -small spaces on a δ_1 -small ∞ -category *C*.

Large ∞ -topoi work exactly as do ∞ -topoi, except that everything has to be shifted one universe up. For example, if **X** is bounded and coherent as a large ∞ -topos, then $X_{<\infty}^{coh}$ is only δ_1 -small.

An alternative to working with large ∞ -topoi is considering instead only the accessible hypersheaves $\mathbf{Stn}^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbf{S}_{\delta_0}$. These are what Clausen and Scholze call *condensed* spaces. These do not form a ∞ -topos (large or small), but in many ways the ∞ -category of accessible sheaves is relatively well behaved.

13.3.4. The large ∞ -topos Pyk(S) is hypercomplete, coherent, and locally coherent [SAG, Propositions A.2.2.2 & A.3.1.3].

Let us identify two further generating sites for Pyk(S) – one larger and one smaller.

13.3.5 Notation. Define full subcategories

$$Proj \subset Comp \subset TSpc$$

as follows:

- Comp is spanned by the *compacta* i.e., compact Hausdorff topological spaces.
- Proj is spanned by the *projective compacta* i.e., compact Hausdorff topological spaces that are extremally disconnected [43; 73, Chapter III, §3.7].

Equivalently, a topological space is a projective compactum if and only if it can be exhibited as the retract of the Stone–Čech compactification $\beta(S)$ of some set *S*. In particular, **Proj** \subset **Stn**.

13.3.6. For every compactum *K*, there is a natural surjection $\beta(K^{\text{disc}}) \twoheadrightarrow K$ from the Stone–Čech compactification of the discrete topological space K^{disc} with underlying set *K* to *K* (cf. [116, Remark 2.8]). Hence the subcategories **Stn** \subset **Comp** and **Proj** \subset **Comp** are bases for the effective epimorphism topology on **Comp** (Definition 3.12.2). Therefore, restriction of presheaves defines equivalences of ∞ -categories

$$\mathrm{Sh}^{\mathrm{hyp}}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathbf{Comp};\mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Sh}^{\mathrm{hyp}}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathbf{Stn};\mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Sh}^{\mathrm{hyp}}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathbf{Proj};\mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

with inverses given by right Kan extension (Proposition 3.12.11).

13.3.7 Warning. Since the 1-sites **Comp** and **Stn** have finite limits and the inclusion **Stn** \hookrightarrow **Comp** preserves finite limits, **Corollary 3.12.14** shows that restriction defines an equivalence of 1-localic topoi

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Comp}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Stn}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

However, as pointed out to us by Clausen and Scholze, since the 1-site **Proj** of projective compacta does not have finite limits, and restriction only defines an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}^{\operatorname{nyp}}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Comp}}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}^{\operatorname{nyp}}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

on topoi of hypersheaves.

13.3.8. Since **Proj** \subset **Comp** consists of projective objects of **Comp**, the Čech nerve of any surjection in **Proj** is a split simplicial object. Hence by [SAG, Proposition A.3.3.1] we see that a functor

$$F: \operatorname{Proj}^{\operatorname{op}} \to \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}$$

is a sheaf with respect to the effective epimorphism topology if and only if *F* carries coproducts in **Proj** to products in **S**. That is to say, the category Pyk(S) is equivalent to the ∞ -category of functors $Proj^{op} \rightarrow S_{\delta_1}$ that carry finite coproducts of projective compacta to products.

From this description, it is essentially immediate that the ∞ -topos Sh_{eff}(**Proj**; S_{δ_1}) is Postnikov complete, whence we obtain an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}^{\operatorname{nyp}}(\operatorname{Comp}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1}) \simeq \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\operatorname{Proj}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

(cf. [15, §2.4]). That is to say, the ∞ -category Pyk(**S**) is the *nonabelian derived* ∞ -category or *animation* of the category **Proj** [HTT, §5.5.8; 22, §5.1]

This last description of the ∞ -category of pyknotic spaces lets us define pyknotic objects in any ∞ -category with finite products.

13.3.9 Definition. Let *C* be a ∞ -category with all finite products. The ∞ -category Pyk(*C*) of *pyknotic objects* of *C* is the full subcategory of Fun(**Proj**^{op}, *C*) spanned by those functors that carry finite coproducts of projective compact to products in *C*.

13.3.10 Construction (discrete & indiscrete objects). Let *C* be a δ_1 -small presentable ∞ -category. The global sections functor $Pyk(C) \rightarrow C$ is given by evaluation at the one-point compactum *. For any pyknotic object *Y*, we write $Y^{und} := Y(*)$. We call Y^{und} the *underlying object* of *Y*.

Left adjoint to this is the constant sheaf functor $C \to Pyk(C)$ that carries an object $X \in C$ to what we will call the *discrete pyknotic object* X^{disc} attached to X. This pyknotic object can be described explicitly: X^{disc} is given by the assignment

$$K \mapsto X^K \coloneqq \operatorname{colim}_{I \in \operatorname{Set}_{K/}^{\operatorname{fin}}} \prod_{i \in I} X$$

The underlying space functor also admits a *right* adjoint $X \mapsto X^{\text{indisc}}$. For an object $X \in C$, the sheaf X^{indisc} : **Proj**^{op} $\to C$ is given by the assignment

$$K \mapsto X^{|K|} \coloneqq \prod_{k \in |K|} X ,$$

i.e., the product of copies of X indexed by the underlying set |K| of the topological space K. We call X^{indisc} the *indiscrete pyknotic object* attached to X.

Both the discrete and indiscrete functors are fully faithful, so that

$$(X^{\text{disc}})^{\text{und}} = (X^{\text{indisc}})^{\text{und}} = X$$

Accordingly, we say that a pyknotic object in the essential image of $X \mapsto X^{\text{disc}}$ is *discrete*, and a pyknotic object in the essential image of $X \mapsto X^{\text{indisc}}$ is *indiscrete*.

13.3.11 Example. Let $\Pi \to P$ be a π -finite stratified space. Then the pyknotic ∞ -category Π^{disc} can be identified as above: $\Pi^{\text{disc}}(K) \simeq \Pi^{K}$. Since profinite stratified spaces embed fully faithfully into ∞ -topoi (Proposition 8.8.6 & (8.3.11)), one obtains an equivalence

$$\Pi^{\operatorname{disc}}(K) \simeq \Pi^K \simeq \operatorname{Fun}_*(K, \Pi),$$

natural in K and Π .

13.3.12 Warning. The center $X \mapsto X^{\text{indisc}}$ is *not* the only point of the ∞ -topos Pyk(**S**). Let *T* be a topological space. Define pyknotic set P_T by sending *K* to the quotient of the set continuous maps $K \to T$ by the locally constant maps:

$$P_T(K) \coloneqq \operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{TSpc}}(K, T) / \operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{TSpc}}^{\operatorname{lc}}(K, T)$$

If T is nonempty, then the pyknotic set P_T has underlying set *; thus if T is neither empty nor *, then P_T is a nontrivial pyknotic structure on the point. See [STK, Tag 0991].

13.3.13 Example. For any finite set J, the discrete pyknotic set J^{disc} is the sheaf

$$K \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Proi}}(J, K)$$

represented by J. If $\{J_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ is an inverse system of finite sets, then the limit

$$\lim_{\alpha \in \Lambda} J_{\alpha}^{\text{disc}}$$

is the sheaf represented by the Stone topological space $\lim_{\alpha \in \Lambda} J_{\alpha}$; this is not discrete. Cf. (13.4.11).

13.3.14 Example. Write **TSpc**^{cg} \subset **TSpc** for the full subcategory spanned by the *compactly generated* topological spaces. Then the functor **TSpc**^{cg} \rightarrow Pyk(**Set**) given by the assignment

$$T \mapsto [K \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{TSpc}}(K, T)]$$

is a fully faithful right adjoint. See [15, Example 2.1.6; 118, Proposition 1.7].

Now we may speak of pyknotic ∞ -*categories*, which are nothing more than functors $\operatorname{Proj}^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}$ that carry finite coproduts of projective compacta to the corresponding finite products of ∞ -categories. We can also interpret pyknotic ∞ -categories as complete Segal objects in pyknotic spaces:

13.3.15 Example. Corollary 13.1.8 provides equivalences

$$Pyk(CO(S)) \simeq CO(Pyk(S))$$
 and $Pyk(Cat_{\infty}) \simeq CS(Pyk(S))$

In light of (13.1.2), for each integer $n \ge 0$, Corollary 13.1.8 provides an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Pyk}(\operatorname{Cat}_n) \simeq \operatorname{CS}(\operatorname{Pyk}(\mathbf{S}_{< n-1}))$$
.

13.3.16 Definition. Let *C* and *D* be pyknotic ∞ -categories. The ∞ -category of *continuous functors* $C \rightarrow D$ is the end

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(C,D) \coloneqq \int_{K \in \operatorname{Proj}} \operatorname{Fun}(C(K),D(K)) \, .$$

This is part of the natural enrichment of $Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$ over Cat_{∞} .

13.3.17 Example. Let *C* and *D* be pyknotic ∞ -categories. As a complete Segal space, the ∞ -category Fun^{cts}(*C*, *D*) of continuous functors $C \rightarrow D$ is given by the assignment

$$[n] \mapsto \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Pyk}(\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty})}(C \times [n]^{\operatorname{disc}}, D) = \int_{K \in \operatorname{Proj}} \operatorname{Map}_{\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}}((C \times [n]^{\operatorname{disc}})(K), D(K)) .$$

13.4 Profinite spaces as pyknotic spaces

The goal of this section is to show that not only profinite *sets* embed into Pyk(S), but profinite spaces actually embed into Pyk(S). The first approach one might have to showing this is to try to show that π -finite spaces are cocompact when regarded as discrete pyknotic spaces, as this implies that the proëxtension of the discrete functor

$$(-)^{\text{disc}}$$
: $\mathbf{S}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \text{Pyk}(\mathbf{S})$

is fully faithful. Unfortunately, this approach is destined for failure: finite *sets* aren't even cocompact objects of Pyk(**S**), as the following counterexample shows.

13.4.1 Counterexample. The finite set $\{0, 1\}$ with two elements is not cocompact when regarded as a discrete pyknotic space. Since the embedding of compactly generated topological spaces into Pyk(**Set**) preserves limits, and the image of a finite set *S* under the Yoneda embedding Pro(**Set**^{fin}) \hookrightarrow Pyk(**Set**) coincides with its image under the embedding **TSpc**^{cg} \hookrightarrow Pyk(**Set**), to see that $\{0, 1\}$ is not cocompact in Pyk(**Set**), it suffices to prove that the discrete topological space $\{0, 1\}$ is not cocompact in **TSpc**^{cg}. To see this, let *s* : **N** \hookrightarrow **N** be the successor function $n \mapsto n + 1$ and consider the diagram of discrete topological spaces

$$\cdots \stackrel{s}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbf{N} \stackrel{s}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbf{N} \stackrel{s}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbf{N}.$$

We claim that the map of sets

(13.4.2)
$$\operatorname{colim}_n \operatorname{Map}(\mathbf{N}, \{0, 1\}) \to \operatorname{Map}(\operatorname{lim}_n \mathbf{N}, \{0, 1\})$$

is not a bijection. To see this, note that the limit $\lim_{n} \mathbf{N}$ empty, so $\operatorname{Map}(\lim_{n} \mathbf{N}, \{0, 1\})$ has cardinality 1. On the other hand, $\operatorname{Map}(\mathbf{N}, \{0, 1\})$ is the powerset $P(\mathbf{N})$ of \mathbf{N} , and the colimit $\operatorname{colim}_{n} P(\mathbf{N})$ along the inverse image maps s^{-1} : $P(\mathbf{N}) \rightarrow P(\mathbf{N})$ has infinite cardinality.

The approach we take to show that profinite spaces embed into Pyk(S) is somewhat indirect: we show that profinite sets form a basis for the effective epimorphism topology on S_{π}^{\wedge} , so that hypersheaves on $Pro(Set^{fin})$ and S_{π}^{\wedge} coincide (Proposition 3.12.11). The Yoneda embedding provides the desired embedding $S_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow Pyk(S)$.

In order to get this approach off the ground, we first need to talk about the effective epimorphism topology on S_{π}^{\wedge} . The existence of this topology is immediate from [SAG, Proposition A.3.2.1 & Theorem E.6.3.1].

13.4.3 Proposition. Write $E \subseteq \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ for the subcategory of those morphisms $e : X \to Y$ in $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ that can be written as an inverse limit of morphisms $e_{\alpha} : X_{\alpha} \to Y_{\alpha}$ where each e_{α} is an effective epimorphism of π -finite spaces. Then E defines a ∞ -presite structure on $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$. We write eff := τ_E for the resulting finitary topology, the effective epimorphism topology.

13.4.4. From [SAG, Proposition A.3.3.1] it follows that the effective epimorphism topology on S^{\wedge}_{π} is subcanonical. Moreover, since the Yoneda embedding

$$\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \mathrm{Sh}_{\mathrm{eff}}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$$

preserves δ_0 -small limits, truncated objects of a ∞ -topos are hypercomplete, and hypercomplete objects are closed under limits, the Yoneda embedding factors through $Sh_{eff}^{hyp}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}; \mathbf{S}_{\delta_1})$.

Now we show that $\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Set}^{\operatorname{fin}}) \subset \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ is a basis for the effective epimorphism topology (in the sense of Definition 3.12.2). In fact, we show that every object of $\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ admits an effective epimorphism from a profinite set. This requires a number of preliminaries.

13.4.5. Note that for every space *U* there exists an effective epimorphism $\pi_0(U) \twoheadrightarrow U$. In particular, **Set**^{fin} \subset **S**_{π} is a basis for the effective epimorphism topology and every object admits a cover by a single object of **Set**^{fin}.

Since we must contend with proöbjects, it isn't immediate from (13.4.5) that every profinite space admits an effective epimorphism from a profinite set. To show this, we'll use the fact that we can always arrange to index a proöbject by a particularly nice poset.

13.4.6 Definition. We say that a poset *A* is *down-finite* if for every element $\alpha \in A$, the set { $\beta \in A \mid \beta \le \alpha$ } is finite.

13.4.7 Lemma ([SAG, Lemma E.1.6.4]). Let A' be a filtered poset. Then there exists a colimt-cofinal map of posets $A \rightarrow A'$, where A is a down-finite filtered poset.

13.4.8 Construction (rank function). If *A* is a down-finite poset, then there exists a map of posets

$$\mathrm{rk}: A \to \mathbf{N}$$

called the *rank* which is determined by the following requirement: for each $\alpha \in A$, the number $rk(\alpha)$ is the smallest natural number not equal to $rk(\beta)$ for $\beta < \alpha$ (cf. [HA, Remark A.5.17]). In particular, $rk(\alpha) = 0$ if and only if α is a minimal element of *A*.

13.4.9 Proposition. For every object $X \in \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$, there exists an cover $Y \twoheadrightarrow X$ for the effective epimorphism topology on $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ for which $Y \in \operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Set}^{\operatorname{fin}})$. In particular, $\operatorname{Pro}(\mathbf{Set}^{\operatorname{fin}}) \subset \mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$ is a basis for the effective epimorphism topology on $\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}$.

Proof. To simplify notation, write $C := \mathbf{S}_{\pi}$ and $D := \mathbf{Set}^{\text{fin}}$. Let $\{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}}$ be an object of Pro(*C*). We without loss of generality assume that *A* is a down-finite filtered poset (Lemma 13.4.7). We construct a morphism $e : \{Y_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}} \to \{X_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}}$ in Pro(*C*) such that for each $\alpha \in A$, the morphism $e_{\alpha} : Y_{\alpha} \to X_{\alpha}$ is an effective epimorphism and $Y_{\alpha} \in D$. We construct this inductively on the rank of elements of *A*. For each $n \in \mathbf{N}$, write

$$A_{< n} \coloneqq \{ \alpha \in A \mid \mathrm{rk}(\alpha) \le n \} .$$

First, for each element $\alpha \in A$ with $rk(\alpha) = 0$ (i.e., minimal element of A), appealing to (13.4.5), choose an effective epimorphism $e_{\alpha} : Y_{\alpha} \twoheadrightarrow X_{\alpha}$ where $Y_{\alpha} \in D$.

For the induction step, suppose that we have defined a functor $Y : A_{\leq n}^{\text{op}} \to D$ along with a natural effective epimorphism $e : Y \twoheadrightarrow X|_{A_{\leq n}^{\text{op}}}$; we now extend Y to $A_{\leq n+1}^{\text{op}}$ as follows. For each $\alpha \in A$ with $\operatorname{rk}(\alpha) = n + 1$, consider the pulled-back effective epimorphism

$$\prod_{\substack{\beta < \alpha \\ \operatorname{rk}(\beta) = n}} X_{\alpha} \underset{X_{\beta}}{\times} Y_{\beta} \twoheadrightarrow X_{\alpha}$$

For each $\beta < \alpha$ with $\operatorname{rk}(\beta) = n$, appealing to (13.4.5) we choose an effective epimorphism $e'_{\beta} : Y'_{\beta} \twoheadrightarrow X_{\alpha} \times_{X_{\beta}} Y_{\beta}$, and define the effective epimorphism $e_{\alpha} : Y_{\alpha} \twoheadrightarrow X_{\alpha}$ as the composite

$$e_{\alpha}: Y_{\alpha} \coloneqq \coprod_{\substack{\beta < \alpha \\ \mathrm{rk}(\beta) = n}} Y'_{\beta} \xrightarrow{\coprod_{\beta} e'_{\beta}} \coprod_{\substack{\beta < \alpha \\ \mathrm{rk}(\beta) = n}} X_{\alpha} \underset{\mathrm{rk}(\beta) = n}{\times} Y_{\beta} \xrightarrow{\qquad } X_{\alpha}$$

Then by construction the functor $Y : A_{\leq n}^{\text{op}} \to D$ extends to a functor $Y : A_{\leq n+1}^{\text{op}} \to D$ equipped with a natural effective epimorphism $e : Y \twoheadrightarrow X|_{A_{\leq n+1}^{\text{op}}}$, as desired.

As an immediate consequence of Proposition 3.12.11, we obtain the desired equivalence on hypersheaves:

13.4.10 Corollary. Restriction of presheaves along the inclusion $Pro(\mathbf{Set}^{fin}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ defines an equivalence of large ∞ -topoi

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}^{\operatorname{hyp}}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge};\mathbf{S}_{\delta_{1}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Pyk}(\mathbf{S})$$

with inverse given by right Kan extension.

13.4.11. We finish this section by showing that the restricted Yoneda embedding

agrees with the discrete functor Γ^* : $S_{\pi} \hookrightarrow Pyk(S)$. To see this, first note that the global sections functor Γ_* : $Pyk(S) \to S$ is given by the composite

$$\operatorname{Pyk}(\mathbf{S}) \xrightarrow{(-)|_{\mathbf{S}_{\pi}}} \operatorname{Sh}_{\operatorname{eff}}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{S}$$

of restriction along the inclusion $S_{\pi} \hookrightarrow S_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ with evaluation at the terminal object. The inverse equivalence $S \cong Sh_{eff}(S_{\pi})$ is given by sending a space *Y* to the functor

$$\operatorname{Map}_{\mathbf{S}}(-, Y) \colon \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\operatorname{op}} \to \mathbf{S}$$
.

Hence we have natural equivalences

$$Map_{Pyk(S)}(\pounds(K), X) \simeq X(K) \simeq X|_{S^{op}_{\pi}}(K)$$
$$\simeq Map_{S}(K, \Gamma_{*}(X))$$
$$\simeq Map_{Pyk(S)}(\Gamma^{*}(K), X)$$

Since the Yoneda embedding $\mathfrak{L} : \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pyk}(\mathbf{S})$ preserves inverse limits, we see that the Yoneda embedding is the extension of the discrete functor $\Gamma^* : \mathbf{S}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pyk}(\mathbf{S})$ to proöbjects.

13.5 Profinite stratified spaces as pyknotic ∞ -categories

Our next goal is to show that profinite layered ∞ -categories embed into $Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$. We'll deduce this from the fact that profinite spaces embed into Pyk(S) by regarding profinite layered ∞ -categories as *complete Segal objects* of S_{π}^{\wedge} .

We consider a composite of three functors:

- (1) The nerve provides an embedding N : $Lay_{\pi} \hookrightarrow CS(S_{\pi})$ of π -finite layered ∞ -categories into complete Segal objects in π -finite spaces. Extending the nerve to proöbjects provides an embedding N : $Pro(Lay_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow Pro(CS(S_{\pi}))$.
- (2) The proëxtension of the Yoneda embedding $CS(S_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow CS(S_{\pi}^{\wedge})$ defines a functor

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{CS}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi})) \to \operatorname{CS}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge})$$

Since the image of Yoneda embedding $CS(S_{\pi}) \hookrightarrow CS(S_{\pi}^{\wedge})$ consists of cocompact objects (Corollary 13.1.13), applying [HTT, Proposition 5.3.5.11] we see that this functor is fully faithful.

(3) Corollary 13.4.10 proves an embedding S[∧]_π → Pyk(S). Passing to complete Segal objects, we obtain an embedding

$$CS(S_{\pi}^{\wedge}) \hookrightarrow CS(Pyk(S)) \simeq Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$$
.

We thus have fully faithful functors

(13.5.1)
$$\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi}) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{N}} \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{CS}(\operatorname{S}_{\pi})) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{CS}(\operatorname{S}_{\pi}^{\wedge}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Pyk}(\operatorname{Cat}_{\infty}).$$

Since the embedding (13.5.1) preserves inverse limits and agrees with the discrete functor $(-)^{\text{disc}}$: Lay_{π} \hookrightarrow Pyk(Cat_{∞}) when restricted to π -finite layered ∞ -categories (13.4.11), it is the extension to proöbjects of the discrete functor. Thus we have shown:

13.5.2 Proposition. The functor $Pro(Lay_{\pi}) \rightarrow Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$ defined by extending the discrete functor $(-)^{disc}$: $Lay_{\pi} \hookrightarrow Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$ to problects is fully faithful.

In particular, we may now deduce a key almost-cocompactness result for profinite stratified spaces, when regarded as pyknotic ∞ -categories. The following result plays an important role in the proof of Theorem 13.8.8.

13.5.3 Corollary. Let Π be a profinite layered ∞ -category, let $n \ge 0$ be an integer, and let $D: A \rightarrow \text{Pyk}(\text{Cat}_n)$ be a filtered diagram. Then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, D_{\alpha}) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} D_{\alpha})$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. In light of Example 13.3.17 and (13.1.15), note that both Π and $\Pi \times [1]$ satisfy the hypotheses of Proposition 13.1.14.

13.5.4 Example. Let Π be a profinite stratified space. We may now generalize Example 13.3.11 as follows. Again since profinite stratified spaces embed fully faithfully into ∞ -topoi, it follows that we obtain the following formula for Π as a pyknotic ∞ -category:

$$\Pi(K) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}_*(\widetilde{K}, \widetilde{\Pi})$$

for any projective compactum K, functorially in K and Π . Thus, if $X \to \widetilde{S}$ is a spectral ∞ -topos, then one has

$$\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X})(\boldsymbol{K}) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}_{*}(\widetilde{\boldsymbol{K}}, \boldsymbol{X}) ,$$

for any projective compactum K.

More generally, we may use this formula to define a more refined shape for any bounded coherent ∞ -topos X: the assignment

$$K \mapsto \operatorname{Fun}_*(K, X)$$

defines a pyknotic ∞ -category $\Pi_{(\infty,1)}^{pyk}(X)$ that we call the *pyknotic shape* of X. Following Lurie's work on ultracategories [86], it is reasonable to expect that the ∞ -topos X can itself be reconstructed from the ∞ -category of continuous functors

$$\Pi^{\mathrm{pyk}}_{(\infty,1)}(\boldsymbol{X}) \to \mathbf{S}^{\mathrm{u}}$$

where S^u denotes the pyknotic ∞ -category $K \mapsto \widetilde{K}$. We will not pursue such questions here, however.

13.6 Exodromy with discrete coefficients, revisited

Let X be a coherent scheme. The original formulation of the Exodromy Theorem for schemes says that if C is a locally π -finite ∞ -category, then functors $\operatorname{Gal}(X) \to C$ (in the 'pro' sense) are the same things as constructible sheaves of spaces on X (Theorem 13.2.11). The goal of this section is to give a pyknotic reformulation of this theorem. To do this, we show that functors $\operatorname{Gal}(X) \to C$ in the 'pro' sense are the same as continuous functors $\operatorname{Gal}(X) \to C^{\text{disc}}$ in the pyknotic sense; here we regarded $\operatorname{Gal}(X)$ as a pyknotic category under the embedding of Proposition 13.5.2.

13.6.1 Lemma. Let C be a locally π -finite ∞ -category and $\Pi = {\Pi_{\alpha}}_{\alpha \in A}$ a profinite layered ∞ -category. Then the natural functor

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, C) = \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, C) \to \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, C^{\operatorname{disc}})$$

is an equivalence.

Proof. Since the ∞ -category *C* is locally π -finite, *C* is the filtered union

$$C = \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} C_0$$

over the poset of π -finite full subcategories of *C* ordered by inlusion (Notation 13.2.3). Since the pyknotic set $\pi_0(\iota \Pi)$ is quasicompact and $\pi_0(\iota C)$ is discrete, we see that every continuous functor $\Pi \to C^{\text{disc}}$ factors through $C_0^{\text{disc}} \subset C^{\text{disc}}$ for some π -finite full subcategory $C_0 \subset C$. Hence we have an identification

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, C^{\operatorname{disc}}) = \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, C_0^{\operatorname{disc}}) \,.$$

Since each ∞ -category C_0 is π -finite, each Π_{α} has finitely many objects up to equivalence, and colimits commute, from Proposition 13.1.12 we see that

$$\begin{array}{l} \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, C_0^{\operatorname{disc}}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi_{\alpha}^{\operatorname{disc}}, C_0^{\operatorname{disc}}) \\ \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{C_0 \in \operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C)} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, C_0) \\ \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A^{\operatorname{op}}} \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi_{\alpha}, C) \\ = \operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, C) . \qquad \Box$$

13.6.2 Example. Let Π be a profinite layered ∞ -category. Lemma 13.6.1 provides an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, \mathbf{S}_{\pi}^{\operatorname{disc}})$$

Moreover, for any finite ring R, Lemma 13.6.1 provides an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}(\Pi, \operatorname{Perf}(R)) \simeq \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\Pi, \operatorname{Perf}(R)^{\operatorname{disc}})$$

We thus obtain the following reformulation of Theorem 13.2.11:

13.6.3 Corollary. Let C be a δ_0 -small, locally π -finite category. Let S be a spectral topological space, and X an S-stratified ∞ -topos. Then there is a natural equivalence

$$\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(\widehat{\Pi}^{\mathcal{S}}_{(\infty,1)}(X), C^{\operatorname{disc}}) \simeq \operatorname{Cons}^{\mathcal{S}}(X; C) \,.$$

13.7 Exodromy with profinite coefficients

In this section we extend the Exodromy Theorem from finite coefficients to coefficients in the ring of integers in a nonarchimedean local field. First we isolate the class of profinite rings that we're interested in.

13.7.1 Definition. Let Λ be ring and $I \subset \Lambda$ an ideal. We say that Λ is *I*-profinite if:

(13.7.1.1) the ring Λ is noetherian,

(13.7.1.2) the ring Λ is complete with respect to the topology defined by the ideal I,

(13.7.1.3) and for each integer $n \ge 1$, the quotient ring Λ/I^n is finite.

We simply say 'let Λ be an *I*-profinite ring' to mean 'let Λ be a ring with ideal $I \subset \Lambda$ satisfying (13.7.1.1)–(13.7.1.3)'.

13.7.2. The reason for the noetherian hypothesis is to apply results from [17, §§6.5-6.8]; these results use the noetherianity of Λ to apply the Artin–Rees Lemma. The requirement that the quotients Λ/I^n be finite is so that we have access to the Exodromy Theorem with coefficients in a finite discrete ring (Corollaries 13.2.12 and 13.6.3).

13.7.3 Example. Let *E* be a nonarchimedean local field with ring of integers O_E . Write $\mathfrak{m}_E \subset O_E$ for the maximal ideal. Then O_E is an \mathfrak{m}_E -profinite ring.

In particular, for any prime number ℓ and prime power q, the ring \mathbf{Z}_{ℓ} is (ℓ) -profinite and the ring $\mathbf{F}_{q}[t]$ is (t)-profinite.

13.7.4 Definition. Let Λ be an I-profinite ring. The pyknotic ∞ -category of *perfect* Λ -complexes is the limit

$$\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda) \coloneqq \lim_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^{\operatorname{disc}}$$

in $Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$.

13.7.5. Please observe that if Λ is an *I*-profinite ring, since the underlying functor preserves limits, the underlying ∞ -category Perf $(\Lambda)^{\text{und}}$ coincides with the usual ∞ -category of perfect complexes on Λ .

More generally, by Construction 13.3.10 we see that for any projective compactum K exhibited as a profinite set $\{K_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K) \simeq \lim_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^{K_{\alpha}}.$$

13.7.6 Remark. It is not necessary to give such an *ad hoc* definition of the pyknotic ∞ -category of perfect complexes on a profinite ring. There is an intrinsic definition for a general pyknotic ring, but to develop this material here would take us too far afield.

In the case of a *I*-profinite ring, the more intrinsic definition recovers the definition given here.

13.7.7 Recollection. Let *X* be a coherent scheme, and let Λ be an *I*-profinite ring. Recall [17, Definition 6.5.1] that the ∞ -category of constructible Λ -complexes on *X* can be identified as the limit of ∞ -categories

$$D_{\text{cons}}(X_{\text{pro\acute{e}t}};\Lambda) \simeq \lim_{n\geq 1} D_{\text{cons}}(X_{\acute{e}t};\Lambda/I^n)$$
.

In other words, a constructible Λ -complex on X is a prosystem $\{F_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ consisting of constructible (Λ/I^n) -complexes F_n on X along with coherent identifications

$$F_m \simeq F_n \otimes_{\Lambda/I^n} (\Lambda/I^m)$$

for all $m \leq n$.

13.7.8 Theorem. Let X be a coherent scheme, and let Λ be an I-profinite ring. Then there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t};\Lambda) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(\Lambda)).$$

Proof. This follows by taking limits over *n* of the equivalences

$$D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; \Lambda/I^n) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(\Lambda/I^n))$$

provided by Corollary 13.2.12.
13.7.9. Let X be a coherent scheme, and let Λ be an *I*-profinite ring. Attached to any constructible sheaf F of Λ -complexes on X, we have an associated *exodromy representation*

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(A)

that is sufficient to reconstruct F.

13.7.10 Warning. For an *I*-profinite ring Λ , the pyknotic ∞ -category Perf(Λ) is *not* generally discrete. Moreover, it is not generally the case that an exodromy representation ρ_F : Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(Λ) factors through a quotient of Gal(X) with only finitely many isomorphism types. For instance, Bhatt and Scholze give an example of a constructible \mathbb{Z}_{ℓ} -complex on a nonnoetherian scheme that is not lisse on the strata of any finite stratification [17, Example 6.6.12].

If X is a topologically noetherian scheme, Bhatt and Scholze demonstrate that this problem does not arise. To explain, this, let us briefly recall the basics of the *constructible topology* on a spectral topological space.

13.7.11 Recollection. Let *S* be a spectral topological space. The *constructible topology* on *S* is the topology on the underlying set of *S* generated by the constructible subsets of *S* (Recollection 9.5.1). We write S^c for the set *S* equipped with the constructible topology. The topological space S^c is a Stone topological space.

The constructible topology admits a description in terms of proöbjects: if we exhibit *S* as a profinite poset $\{P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$, then the profinite set *S^c* is given by the inverse system $\{\iota P_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ of the underlying sets of the posets P_{α} . In particular, the assignment $S \mapsto S^{c}$ is a right adjoint to the inclusion **Stn** \hookrightarrow **TSpc**^{spec}.

If X is a coherent scheme, then notice that the profinite set $\pi_0 \iota \text{Gal}(X)$ coincides with the set X^{zar} equipped with the constructible topology. If Λ is an *I*-profinite ring, then the exodromy representation ρ_F attached to a constructible Λ -complex on X induces a continuous map of pyknotic sets

$$\pi_0 \iota \rho_F : X^{\operatorname{zar}, c} = \pi_0 \iota \operatorname{Gal}(X) \to \pi_0 \iota \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda).$$

13.7.12 Lemma ([17, Proposition 6.6.11]). Let X be a topologically noetherian scheme, and let Λ be an *I*-profinite ring. Then for any constructible sheaf F of Λ -complexes on X, the continuous map

$$\pi_0 \iota \rho_F : X^{\operatorname{zar}, c} \to \pi_0 \iota \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)$$

factors through a finite (discrete) quotient of $X^{\text{zar,c}}$.

13.8 Exodromy with ℓ -adic coefficients

The goal of this section is to use the Exodromy Theorem with \mathbf{Z}_{ℓ} -coefficients (Theorem 13.7.8) to prove the Exodromy Theorem with \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} - or $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients. For this we begin by developing the basics of how to regard Perf(\mathbf{Z}_{ℓ}) as a pyknotic object in stable ∞ -categories with t-structure and t-exact functors. Recall that we use *homological* indexing conventions for our t-structures (Convention 7.4.8).

13.8.1 Recollection (t-structure on filtered colimits). Let $\{C_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ be a filtered diagram of stable ∞ -categories with t-structures and t-exact transition morphisms. Then the colimit $C \coloneqq \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} C_{\alpha}$ in **Cat**_{∞} admits a natural t-structure defined by

 $C_{\geq 0} \coloneqq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{\alpha \in A} C_{\alpha, \geq 0} \qquad \text{and} \qquad C_{\leq 0} \coloneqq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{\alpha \in A} C_{\alpha, \leq 0} \; .$

Moreover, if for each $\alpha \in A$ the t-structure on C_{α} is bounded, then the natural t-structure on *C* is bounded as well.

13.8.2 Recollection (t-structure on Perf(Λ)^{und}). Let Λ be an I-profinite ring. The stable ∞ -category Perf(Λ)^{und} carries its usual a bounded t-structure, defined as follows. Let $F = \{F_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ be a perfect Λ -complex. Then $F \in \text{Perf}(\Lambda)^{\text{und}}_{\geq 0}$ if and only if, for any $n \geq 1$, the perfect (Λ/I^n) -complex F_n lies in Perf $(\Lambda/I^n)_{\geq 0}$. On the other hand, $F \in \text{Perf}(\Lambda)^{\text{und}}_{\geq 0}$ if and only if, for all k > 0, the prosystem $\{H_k(F_n)\}_{n\geq 1}$ vanishes.

13.8.3 Construction (t-structure on Perf(Λ)). Now we extend this to a t-structure on all the values of the pyknotic ∞ -category Perf(Λ) on a projective compactum K. To this end, for any $n \ge 1$, and any finite set J, we endow the J-fold product Perf(Λ/I^n)^J with the product t-structure induced from the t-structure on Perf(Λ/I^n); this t-structure is bounded because J is finite. For any projective compactum $K = {K_{\alpha}}_{\alpha \in \Lambda^{\text{op}}}$, we also endow the filtered colimit

$$\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^K = \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^{K_\alpha}$$

with its natural bounded t-structure (Recollection 13.8.1). With this definition, the assignment

$$K \mapsto \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^k$$

is a pyknotic object in stable ∞ -categories with bounded t-structures and t-exact functors.

For any projective compactum K, the limit $\lim_{n\geq 1} \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^K$ is an inverse system of right t-exact functors. Hence we may follow the example of $\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)^{\operatorname{und}}$ and define

$$\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K)_{\geq 0} \coloneqq \lim_{n \geq 1} (\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda/I^n)^K)_{\geq 0},$$

and $\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K)_{\leq 0}$ as the full subcategory of $\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K)$ spanned by those $F = \{F_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ such that for each k > 0, the prosystem $\{H_k(F_n)\}_{n\geq 1}$ vanishes. With this definition, the assignment $K \mapsto \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K)$ is a pyknotic object in stable ∞ -categories with t-structures and t-exact functors.

Given integers $a \le b$, we write $Perf(\Lambda)_{[a,b]}$ for the subfunctor of $Perf(\Lambda)$ given by the assignment

$$K \mapsto (\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)(K))_{[a,b]}$$

The following is now immediate from [17, Lemma 6.5.3] and Lemma 13.7.12:

13.8.4 Lemma. Let X be a topologically noetherian scheme, let Λ be an I-profinite ring, and let F be a constructible Λ -complex on X. Then the exodromy representation

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(A)

is bounded in the sense that there exists integers $a \leq b$ for which ρ_F factors through $\operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)_{[a,b]} \subset \operatorname{Perf}(\Lambda)$.

Now we are ready to extend to \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} -coefficients.

13.8.5 Definition. Let ℓ be a prime number and *E* an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . We define the pyknotic ∞ -category Perf(*E*) as the filtered colimit of pyknotic ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Perf}(E) \coloneqq \operatorname{colim}_{E' \subseteq E} \operatorname{Perf}(\mathcal{O}_{E'})[\mathscr{C}^{-1}],$$

over finite subextensions $\mathbf{Q}_{\ell} \subset E' \subset E$. Here, $C[\ell^{-1}]$ is shorthand for the filtered colimit of pyknotic ∞ -categories

$$C[\ell^{-1}] \coloneqq \operatorname{colim} \left(C \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} C \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} C \xrightarrow{\cdot \ell} \cdots \right),$$

where $\cdot \ell : C \to C$ denotes multiplication by ℓ .

13.8.6 Recollection. Let *X* be a topologically noetherian scheme, and let *E* be an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . Recall [17, Proposition 6.8.14] that the ∞ -category of constructible *E*-complexes on *X* can be identified as the filtered colimit

$$D_{\text{cons}}(X_{\text{pro\acute{e}t}}; E) \simeq \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{E' \subset E} D_{\text{cons}}(X_{\acute{e}t}; O_{E'})[\ell^{-1}],$$

over finite subextensions $\mathbf{Q}_{\ell} \subset E' \subset E$.

Accordingly, we observe that $\operatorname{Perf}(E)^{\operatorname{und}}$ is the usual ∞ -category of perfect *E*-complexes. In particular, if ξ is a geometric point, then $\operatorname{D}_{\operatorname{cons}}(\xi; E) \simeq \operatorname{Perf}(E)^{\operatorname{und}}$.

13.8.7. More generally, we can be unpack the value of the pyknotic ∞ -category Perf(*E*) on a projective compactum $K = \{K_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}}$ quite explicitly:

$$\operatorname{Perf}(E)(K) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{E' \subseteq E} \left(\lim_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} \operatorname{Perf}(\mathcal{O}_{E'} / \mathfrak{m}_{E'}^n)^{K_{\alpha}} \right) [\ell^{-1}]$$

We finish this section by proving the Exodromy Theorem for \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} - and $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients.

13.8.8 Theorem (Exodromy for ℓ -adic sheaves). Let X be a topologically noetherian scheme, ℓ a prime number, and E an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . Then there is a natural equivalence of ∞ -categories

$$D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; E) \simeq Fun^{cts}(Gal(X), Perf(E))$$
.

To prove this theorem, we appeal to the work of Proposition 13.1.14 on the the *almost* compactness of profinite layered ∞ -categories.

Proof of Theorem 13.8.8. Note that for each projective compactum K, the value Perf(E)(K) is a filtered colimit over t-exact functors. Hence combining Theorem 13.7.8, Lemma 13.8.4, and Corollary 13.5.3 we see that we have equivalences

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{cons}}(X_{\mathrm{pro\acute{e}t}};E) &\simeq \operatorname*{colim}_{E'\subseteq E} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{cons}}(X_{\acute{e}t};\mathrm{O}_{E'})[\ell^{-1}] \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{E'\subseteq E} \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{cts}}(\mathrm{Gal}(X),\mathrm{Perf}(\mathrm{O}_{E'}))[\ell^{-1}] \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{E'\subseteq E} \mathrm{colim}_{N\geq 0} \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{cts}}(\mathrm{Gal}(X),\mathrm{Perf}(\mathrm{O}_{E'})_{[-N,N]})[\ell^{-1}] \\ &\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{N\geq 0} \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{cts}}(\mathrm{Gal}(X),\mathrm{colim}_{E'\subseteq E} \mathrm{Perf}(\mathrm{O}_{E'})[\ell^{-1}]_{[-N,N]}) \\ &\simeq \mathrm{Fun}^{\mathrm{cts}}(\mathrm{Gal}(X),\mathrm{Perf}(E)) \,. \end{split}$$

13.8.9. Let X be a topologically noetherian scheme, and let E be an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . Attached to any constructible sheaf F of E-complexes on X, we have an associated *exodromy representation*

$$\rho_F$$
: Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(E)

that is sufficient to reconstruct F.

For more general pyknotic rings Λ , once one has a good pyknotic ∞ -category $Perf(\Lambda)$ of perfect Λ -complexes, it seems sensible simply to *define* constructible sheaves as continuous representations $Gal(X) \rightarrow Perf(\Lambda)$ (even if X does not satisfy any noetherian hypotheses).

13.8.10. Recall the following well-known example of Deligne [17, Example 7.4.9]: let *C* be a smooth complete curve of genus at least 1 over an algebraically closed field, with two points identified. Let *E* be an algebraic extension of \mathbf{Q}_{ℓ} . The usual protruncated étale homotopy type $\prod_{\ell=0}^{\text{ét}} (C)$ is insufficient to reconstruct *E*-local systems on *C*.

However, the profinite *stratified* étale homotopy type does suffice to recover these local systems: the ∞ -category of local systems of *E*-complexes on *C* is equivalent to the ∞ -category of continuous functors $\operatorname{Gal}(C) \to \operatorname{Perf}(E)$ that carry all morphisms of $\operatorname{Gal}(X)$ to equivalences.

Since the classifying space functor ε : $Cat_{\infty} \to S$ preserves finite products, postcomposition with ε defines a left adjoint ε^{pyk} to the inclusion $Pyk(S) \hookrightarrow Pyk(Cat_{\infty})$. For any coherent scheme *X*, one can form the *pyknotic étale homotopy type*

$$\Pi^{\text{pyk,\acute{et}}}_{\infty}(X) \coloneqq \varepsilon^{\text{pyk}}(\text{Gal}(X)) .$$

This pyknotic space suffices to reconstruct local systems with all the coefficient types discussed in this section. Its homotopy groups are the *pyknotic étale homotopy groups* $\pi_*^{\text{pyk},\text{ét}}(X)$.

One can even show that the Bhatt–Scholze proétale fundamental group corepresents the pyknotic fundamental group $\pi_1^{\text{pyk},\text{\'et}}(X)$; we intend to explore this and related points in future work.

13.9 Fibered Galois categories & exodromy for simplicial schemes and stacks

We finish this chapter by extending our notion of Galois categories to simplicial schemes and stacks, and proving our Exodromy Theorem in this context.³⁶

13.9.1 Recollection ([HTT, Definition 6.3.1.6]). Let M be an ∞ -category. A functor $p: X \to M$ is a *topos fibration* if p is a bicartesian fibration, for each $m \in M$ the fiber X_m is an ∞ -topos, and for each morphism $f: n \to m$ of M, the induced pullback functor $f^*: X_n \to X_m$ is left exact.

 $^{^{36}}$ The material from this section first appeared – with a slightly different set-up – in a preprint of the firstand third-named authors [14].

13.9.2 Definition. Let M be an ∞ -category. A bounded coherent topos fibration $X \to M$ is a topos fibration in which each fiber X_m is a bounded coherent ∞ -topos, and for every morphism $f: n \to m$ of M, the induced geometric morphism $f_*: X_m \to X_n$ is coherent. A spectral topos fibration $X \to S$ is a bounded coherent topos fibration in which each fiber X_m is a spectral ∞ -topos (for the canonical profinite stratification of §8.3).

13.9.3. The usual straightening/unstraightening equivalence restricts to an equivalence between the ∞ -category of bounded coherent (respectively, spectral) topos fibrations $X \to M$ and the ∞ -category of functors from M^{op} to the ∞ -category of bounded coherent (resp., spectral) ∞ -topoi (cf. [HTT, Proposition 6.3.1.7]).

For a bounded coherent topos fibration $X \to M$ we write $X_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}} \subseteq X$ for the full subcategory spanned by the objects that are truncated and coherent in their fiber. Then $X_{<\infty}^{\text{coh}} \to M$ is a cocartesian fibration that is classified by a functor from M to the category of bounded ∞ -pretopoi [SAG, Definition A.7.4.1 & Theorem A.7.5.3].

13.9.4 Example. If X_* is a simplicial coherent scheme, then the fibered topos $X_{*,\text{ét}} \rightarrow \Delta$ is a spectral topos fibration.

A fibered form of ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality is what allows us to construct fibered Galois categories. To prove this fibered form of ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality, we need to make sense of ∞ -categories fibered in profinite stratified spaces.

13.9.5 Definition. Let M be an ∞ -category. We say that a functor $f \colon \Pi \to M$ is an ∞ -category over M fibered in layered ∞ -categories if f is a catesian fibration whose fibers are layered ∞ -categories. We write $\operatorname{Lay}_{/M}^{\operatorname{cart}}$ for the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories over M fibered in layered ∞ -categories.

More generally, an ∞ -category over M fibered in profinite layered ∞ -categories is a pyknotic object Π in ∞ -categories over M such that:

- for every projective compactum *K*, the functor $\Pi(K) \to M$ is a cartesian fibration, and
- for every object *m* ∈ *M*, the pyknotic ∞-category $\Pi_m := \Pi \times_M \{m\}$ is a profinite layered ∞-category.

We write $\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart},\wedge}$ for the ∞ -category of ∞ -categories over M fibered in profinite layered ∞ -categories.

13.9.6 Warning. One might also contemplate the ∞ -category $Pro(Lay_{\pi,/M}^{cart})$ of proöbjects in the full subcategory

$$\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart}} \subseteq \operatorname{Lay}_{/M}^{\operatorname{cart}}$$

spanned by those cartesian fibrations whose fibers are π -finite layered ∞ -categories. This is generally *not* equivalent to the ∞ -category of categories over M fibered in profinite layered ∞ -categories. Under straightening/unstraightening, provides equivalences of ∞ -categories

$$\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart},\wedge} \simeq \operatorname{Fun}(M^{\operatorname{op}},\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi}^{\wedge})$$

$$\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi/M}^{\operatorname{cart}}) \simeq \operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Fun}(M^{\operatorname{op}}, \operatorname{Lay}_{\pi}))$$

Thus the ∞ -categories $\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart},\wedge}$ and $\operatorname{Pro}(\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart}})$ coincide when *M* is a finite poset [HTT, Proposition 5.3.5.15], but otherwise typically do not coincide.

13.9.7 (Fibered ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality). Let M be an ∞ -category. By ∞ -Categorical Hochster Duality, the ∞ -category of spectral topos fibrations over M is equivalent to the ∞ -category $\operatorname{Lay}_{\pi,/M}^{\operatorname{cart},\wedge}$. Let us make the equivalence explicit. If $X \to M$ is a spectral topos fibration, then we define an ∞ -category over M fibered in layered ∞ -categories

$$\widehat{\Pi}^M_{(\infty,1)}(X) \to M$$

as follows. An object of $\widehat{\Pi}^{M}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ is a pair (m, ν) , where $m \in M$ and $\nu_* : \mathbf{S} \to X_m$ is a point. A morphism

$$(m, \nu) \rightarrow (n, \xi)$$

consists of morphism $f : m \to n$ of M along with a natural transformation $v_* \to f_*\xi_*$. The ∞ -category $\widehat{\Pi}^M_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ fibered in layered ∞ -categories admits a canonical fiberwise profinite structure; for each object $m \in M$, the fiber $\widehat{\Pi}^M_{(\infty,1)}(X)_m$ is the profinite stratified shape $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(X_m)$.

In the other direction, if $\Pi \to M$ is an ∞ -category over M fibered in profinite layered ∞ -categories, then let $X_0 \to M$ denote the cocartesian fibration in which the objects are pairs (m, F) consisting of an object $m \in M$ and a functor $F : \Pi_m \to S_{\pi}$, and a morphism

$$(f,\phi)$$
: $(m,F) \to (n,G)$

consists of a morphism $f: m \to n$ of M and a natural transformation $\phi: f_!F \to G$. Then $(\widetilde{H})^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty}$ is equivalent to the subcategory of X_0 whose objects are those pairs (m, F) in which F is continuous and whose morphisms are those pairs (f, ϕ) in which ϕ is continuous.

13.9.8 Construction. If M is an ∞ -category and Y is a bounded coherent topos, then the projection $Y \times M \to M$ is a bounded coherent topos fibration. The assignment $Y \mapsto Y \times M$ defines a functor from the ∞ -category of bounded coherent topoi to the ∞ -category of bounded coherent topos fibrations over M. This functor admits a left adjoint, which we denote by $|-|_M$. At the level of ∞ -pretopoi, $(|X|_M)^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty}$ is equivalent to the ∞ -category of cocartesian sections of $X^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty} \to M$, i.e., the limit of the corresponding functor $M \to \text{Pretop}^{\text{b}}_{\infty}$.

Now we arrive at the main topos-theoretic result.

13.9.9 Proposition. Let M be an ∞ -category, and let $X \to M$ be a spectral topos fibration. Then the ∞ -pretopos $(|X|_M)^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty}$ is equivalent to the ∞ -category of continuous functors

$$F: \widehat{\Pi}^{M}_{(\infty,1)}(X) \to \mathbf{S}^{\mathrm{disc}}_{\pi}$$

with the following properties.

and

- (13.9.9.1) The functor F carries every cartesian edge to an equivalence.
- (13.9.9.2) The functor F is uniformly truncated in the following sense: there exists an $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each object $(m, v) \in \widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$, the space F(m, v) is N-truncated.

Proof. The ∞ -pretopos $(|X|_M)^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty}$ can be identified with the ∞ -category of cocartesian sections of the cocartesian fibration $X^{\text{coh}}_{<\infty} \to M$. The description of (13.9.7) completes the proof.

Please note that the condition (13.9.9.2) is automatic if M has only finitely many connected components (e.g., $M = \Delta$).

Finally, since the profinite stratified shape is a delocalization of the protruncated shape (Theorem 10.2.3) we deduce the following:

13.9.10 Proposition. Let M be an ∞ -category, and let $X \to M$ be a spectral topos fibration. Then the protruncated shape of the ∞ -topos $|X|_M$ is equivalent to the protruncation of the classifying prospace of $\widehat{\Pi}^M_{(\infty,1)}(X)$.

13.9.11 Construction (Gal^{Δ}(X_*)). Let X_* be a simplicial coherent scheme. Denote by Gal^{Δ}(X_*) the following 1-category. The objects are pairs (m, ν) consisting of an object [m] $\in \Delta$ and a geometric point $\nu \to Y_m$. A morphism

$$(m, v) \rightarrow (n, \xi)$$

of $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ consists of a morphism $\sigma \colon m \to n$ of Δ and a specialization $v \nleftrightarrow \sigma^*(\xi)$. There is an obvious forgetful functor $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*) \to \Delta$, which is a cartesian fibration. A morphism $(m, v) \to (n, \xi)$ is cartesian over $\sigma \colon m \to n$ in Δ if and only if the specialization $v \nleftrightarrow \sigma^*(\xi)$ is an isomorphism.

The 1-category $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ over Δ is naturally fibered in profinite layered 1-categories. Moreover, the ∞ -category over Δ fibered in profinite layered ∞ -categories $\widehat{\Pi}^{\Delta}_{(\infty,1)}(X_{*,\text{ét}})$ associated to the spectral topos fibration

$$X_{*.\acute{et}} \rightarrow \Delta$$

is identified with $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$.

In this case, Proposition 13.9.9 implies that $(|X_{*,\acute{e}t}|_{\Delta})^{\rm coh}_{<\infty}$ is equivalent to the ∞ -category of continuous functors ${\rm Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*) \to {\bf S}^{\rm disc}_{\pi}$ that carry cartesian edges to equivalences.

13.9.12 Example. If X_* is a simplicial coherent scheme, then classifying prospace of the fiberwise profinite category $\text{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ is equivalent to the protruncation of the étale homotopy type of X_* (Theorem 12.5.1).

Now let us use this formalism to extend the *Exodromy Equivalence* of Theorem 0.4.7 to the context of simplicial schemes and thus stacks.

13.9.13 Construction. Write **Aff** for the 1-category of affine schemes. We employ [HTT, Corollary 3.2.2.13] to construct an ∞ -category **PSh**_{ét} and a cocartesian fibration

$$PSh_{\acute{e}t} \rightarrow Aff^{op}$$

in which:

- The objects of $\mathbf{PSh}_{\acute{e}t}$ are pairs (S, F) consisting of an affine scheme S and a presheaf F on the small étale site of S.
- A morphism $(S, F) \to (T, G)$ is a pair (f, ϕ) consisting of a morphism $f : T \to S$ and a morphism of presheaves $\phi : f^{-1}F \to G$ on the small étale site of T.

Define $\mathbf{Sh}_{\acute{e}t} \subset \mathbf{PSh}_{\acute{e}t}$ to be the full subcategory spanned by those pairs (S, F) in which *F* is a sheaf; then $\mathbf{Sh}_{\acute{e}t} \to \mathbf{Aff}^{\mathrm{op}}$ is a topos fibration. Define $\mathbf{Cons}_{\acute{e}t} \subset \mathbf{Sh}_{\acute{e}t}$ to be the further full subcategory spanned by those pairs (S, F) in which *F* is a constructible sheaf (Definition 9.4.2); then $\mathbf{Cons}_{\acute{e}t} \to \mathbf{Aff}^{\mathrm{op}}$ is a cocartesian fibration.

13.9.14 Definition. Let $X \to Aff$ be a stack, i.e., a right fibration that is classified by an accessible fpqc sheaf $Aff^{op} \to S$. A *constructible sheaf* on X is a cocartesian section

$$F: X^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbf{Cons}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$$

over Aff^{op}. We write Cons_{ét}(X) for the ∞ -category of constructible sheaves on X.

13.9.15 Warning. This can only be expected to be a reasonable definition for coherent stacks.

13.9.16. Informally, a constructible sheaf *F* on *X* assigns to every affine scheme *S* over *X* a constructible sheaf F_S on *S* and to every morphism $f : S \to T$ of affine schemes an equivalence $F_S \simeq f^*F_T$. In other words, the ∞ -category of constructible sheaves on *X* is the limit of the diagram $X^{\text{op}} \to \text{Cat}_{\infty}$ given by the assignment $S \mapsto \text{Cons}_{\acute{e}t}(S) = S_{\acute{e}t}^{\text{cons}}$.

^{et} Since X is not generally a δ_0 -small category, it is not obvious that this limit exists in **Cat**_{∞}. However, if X contains a δ_0 -small limit-cofinal full subcategory Y, then the desired limit exists.

We thus conclude:

13.9.17 Proposition. Let $p: X \to Aff$ is a stack. If X_* is a simplicial coherent scheme presenting X, then there is an equivalence between the ∞ -category $Cons_{\acute{e}t}(X)$ and the ∞ -category of continuous functors

$$\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*) \to \mathbf{S}_{\pi}$$

that carry cartesian edges to equivalences (cf. Definition 13.3.16).

Recall that the protruncated étale homotopy type of a simplicial scheme X_* can be identified with the colimit in protruncated spaces of the simplicial object that carries $[m] \in \Delta$ to the protruncated étale shape of the fibers of the cartesian fibration $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*) \to \Delta$ agree with the protruncated étale shape of the schemes Y_m , it follows from Proposition 13.9.10 that the protruncated shape of the total category $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ is the colimit of this simplicial diagram. In other words: **13.9.18 Theorem.** Let X_* be a simplicial coherent scheme. The classifying protruncated space of $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ recovers the protruncated étale homotopy type of X_* .

Combining this with Proposition 13.9.17 we obtain:

13.9.19 Corollary. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let X be an Artin n-stack. If X_* is a simplicial coherent scheme presenting X, then the localization of $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*)$ at the cartesian edges classifies constructible sheaves on X.

Corollary 13.9.19 speaks only of Artin *n*-stacks, but of course applies just as well to any coherent fpqc stack with a presentation by a simplicial coherent scheme.

13.9.20 Example. Let *k* be a ring, *G* be an affine *k*-group, and *X* be a *k*-scheme with an action of *G*. Recall that the simplicial *k*-scheme $\text{Bar}_{k,*}(X, G, k)$ whose *n*-simplices are $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} G^n$ presents the quotient stack X/G.

By Corollary 13.9.19, the category of G-equivariant constructible sheaves on X is equivalent to the category of continuous functors

$$\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(\operatorname{Bar}_{k}(X,G,k)) \to \mathbf{S}_{\pi}$$

that carry the cartesian edges to equivalences. If R is a finite ring, then the derived category of G-equivariant constructible sheaves of R-modules on X is equivalent to the category of continuous functors

$$\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(\operatorname{Bar}_{k}(X,G,k)) \to \operatorname{Perf}(R)$$

that carry cartesian edges to equivalences.

The objects of the category $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(\operatorname{Bar}_{k,*}(X,G,k))$ can be thought of as tuples

$$([m], \Omega, x_0, g_1, \ldots, g_m)$$

where $[m] \in \Delta$, Ω is a separably closed field, and

 x_0 : Spec $\Omega \to X$ and g_1, \ldots, g_m : Spec $\Omega \to G$

are points with the property that (x_0, g_1, \dots, g_m) is a geometric point of $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} G^m$ such that that Ω is the separable closure of the residue field of the image of (x_0, g_1, \dots, g_m) in the Zariski space of $X \times_{\text{Spec } k} G^m$.

14 Perfectly reduced schemes & reconstruction of absolute schemes

We have shown that the étale ∞ -topos $X_{\acute{e}t}$ of a coherent scheme X can be reconstructed from the profinite ∞ -category Gal(X). Following Grothendieck's *Brief an Faltings* [47, (8)], we can ask to what extent X itself can be recovered from $X_{\acute{e}t}$. We first note that there are three easily-spotted obstacles to the *conservativity* of the functor $X \mapsto X_{\acute{e}t}$.

- (1) One must restrict attention to schemes over a base with suitable finiteness conditions: for example, a nontrivial extension $K \subset L$ of separably closed fields induces an equivalence of étale ∞ -topoi (since both are the terminal ∞ -topos).
- (2) The base must be sufficiently small: over C, for example, any two smooth proper curves of the same genus have equivalent étale ∞-topoi.
- (3) One must account for universal homeomorphisms: for example, the normalization of the cuspidal cubic induces an equivalence of étale ∞-topoi. In fact, any universal homeomorphism induces an equivalence of étale ∞-topoi; this is the *invariance topologique* of the étale ∞-topos [SGA 1, Exposé IX, 4.10; SGA 4_{II}, Exposé VIII, 1.1].

The first two points compel us to impose serious finiteness conditions on our schemes, and this last point compels us to consider the ∞ -category obtained from the 1-category **Sch** of coherent schemes by inverting universal homeomorphisms. Fortunately, it is not necessary to do something excessively abstract: there is a 1-categorical colocalization that performs this function.

Section 14.1 analyzes the effect of universal homeomorphisms on Galois categories. Section 14.2 recalls how to characterize schemes that admit no nontrivial universal homeomorphisms. Section 14.3 shows that the subcategory of such schemes can be obtained from the category of all schemes by formally inverting the universal homeomorphisms. Section 14.4 discusses Grothendieck's anabelian conjectures and proves Theorem 0.0.5; that the Galois category is a complete invariant of normal schemes over a finitely generated field of characteristic 0 (Theorem 14.4.7). Section 14.5 illustrates our main theorem by making explicit how to reconstruct curves from a combination of stratified-homotopy-theoretic and Galois-theoretic data.

14.1 Universal homeomorphisms and equivalences of Galois categories

Now we arrive at a sensitive question: under which circumstances does a morphism of schemes induce an equivalence of étale topoi or, equivalently, of Galois categories? The well-known theorem here is Grothendieck's *invariance topologique* of the étale topos [SGA 4_{II} , Exposé VIII, 1.1], which states that a universal homeomorphism induces an equivalence on étale topoi. Let us reprove this result with the aid of Galois categories.

14.1.1 Recollection ([STK, Tag 01S2]). A morphism of schemes $f : X \to Y$ is *radicial* if the underlying map of Zariski topological spaces is injective and for every $x_0 \in X$,

the field extension $\kappa(f(x_0)) \subseteq \kappa(x_0)$ is purely inseparable. Equivalently, f is radicial if and only if f is universally injective.

A morphism of schemes is a *universal homeomorphism* if and only if it is radicial, surjective, and universally closed.

14.1.2 Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism of coherent schemes. If f is radicial, then every fiber of $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is either empty or a contractible groupoid. Conversely, if f is of finite type, and if every fiber of $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is either empty or a contractible groupoid, then f is radicial.

Proof. If *f* is radicial, then the map $X^{zar} \to Y^{zar}$ is an injection. Moreover, for every point $x_0 \in X^{zar}$, the field extension $\kappa(f(x_0)) \subseteq \kappa(x_0)$ is purely inseparable, so the map $BG_{\kappa(x_0)} \to BG_{\kappa(f(x_0))}$ on fibers is an equivalence. Hence for every geometric point $y \to Y$ with image y_0 , the fiber over *y* is a contractible groupoid.

Conversely, if *f* is of finite type, and if every fiber of $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is either empty or a contractible groupoid, then the map $X^{zar} \to Y^{zar}$ is an injection. In particular, *f* is quasifinite. For every point $x_0 \in X^{zar}$, the fibers of the map $BG_{\kappa(x_0)} \to BG_{\kappa(f(x_0))}$ are all contractible, hence the map $BG_{\kappa(x_0)} \to BG_{\kappa(f(x_0))}$ is an equivalence. Now since the extnesion $\kappa(f(x_0)) \subseteq \kappa(x_0)$ is finite, it is purely inseparable.

14.1.3 Example. The finite type hypothesis in the second half of Proposition 14.1.2 is necessary: any nontrivial extension $K \subset L$ of separably closed fields induces the identity on trivial Galois categories.

14.1.4 Corollary. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism of coherent schemes. If f is radicial and surjective, then every fiber of $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is a contractible groupoid. Conversely, if f is of finite type, and if every fiber of $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is a contractible groupoid, then f is radicial and surjective.

Now we turn to describing integral morphisms in terms of fibrations of Galois categories.

14.1.5 Recollection. A functor between ∞ -categories $f : C \to D$ is a *right fibration* if and only if, for every object $c \in C$, the induced functor $C_{/c} \to D_{/f(c)}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories. Dually, f is a *left fibration* if and only if f^{op} is a right fibration, so that for every object $c \in C$, the induced functor $C_{c/} \to D_{f(c)/}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -categories.

14.1.6 Proposition. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism of coherent schemes. If f is an integral morphism, then $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is a right fibration.

Proof. Assume that *f* is integral. Then for every geometric point $x \to X$, the induced morphism $X^{(x)} \to Y^{(f(x))}$ is also integral, and by Schröer's result [121, Lemma 2.3], it is radicial as well. Hence at the level of Zariski topological spaces, $X^{(x),\text{zar}} \to Y^{(f(x)),\text{zar}}$ is an inclusion of a closed subset; since the source and target are each irreducible, and the inclusion carries the generic point to the generic point, it is a homeomorphism. (In fact, $X^{(x)} \to Y^{(f(x))}$ is a universal homeomorphism.) Thus

$$\operatorname{Gal}(X)_{/x} \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(X^{(x)}) \simeq X^{(x),\operatorname{zar}} \to Y^{(f(x)),\operatorname{zar}} \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(Y^{(f(x))}) \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(Y)_{/f(x)}$$

is an equivalence. That is, $Gal(X) \rightarrow Gal(Y)$ is a right fibration.

An equivalence of categories is a right fibration with fibers contractible groupoids. We thus deduce:

14.1.7 Proposition. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of coherent schemes. If f is a universal homeomorphism, then $Gal(X) \to Gal(Y)$ is an equivalence. In particular, since the étale ∞ -topoi of X and Y depend only on Gal(X) and Gal(Y), it follows that $f_*: X_{\acute{e}t} \to Y_{\acute{e}t}$ is an equivalence of ∞ -topoi.

14.2 Perfectly reduced schemes

The notion of a perfect scheme is usually defined only for \mathbf{F}_p -schemes. Here, we extend this notion to arbitrary reduced schemes in a way that restricts to the usual notion for \mathbf{F}_p -schemes.

Just as a reduced scheme receives no nontrivial nilimmersions, a perfect scheme receives no nontrivial universal homeomorphisms. This is in fact a local condition that can be expressed in very concrete terms:

14.2.1 Lemma. The following are equivalent for a coherent scheme X.

- (14.2.1.1) If $f : X' \to X$ is a universal homeomorphism and X' is reduced, then f is an isomorphism.
- (14.2.1.2) Every universal homeomorphism $X' \to X$ admits a section.
- (14.2.1.3) There exists an affine open covering $\{\text{Spec } A_i\}_{i \in I}$ of X such that for every $i \in I$, the following conditions hold:
 - For all $a, b \in A_i$ such that $a^2 = b^3$, there exists a unique element $c \in A_i$ such that $a = c^3$ and $b = c^2$.
 - For each prime number p and all $a, b \in A_i$ such that $a^p = p^p b$, there exists a unique element $c \in A_i$ such that a = pc and $b = c^p$.

This is discussed in [STK, Tag 0EUK]. See also [84, 1.4 and 1.7; 109, Appendix B; 134, Theorem 1].

14.2.2 Definition. We say that a coherent scheme *X* is *perfectly reduced* if *X* satisfies the equivalent conditions of Lemma 14.2.1. Denote by $\mathbf{Sch}_{perf} \subset \mathbf{Sch}$ the full subcategory spanned by the perfectly reduced schemes.

We say that a coherent scheme X is *seminormal* if and only if there exists an affine open covering {Spec A_i }_{$i \in I$} of X such that for each $i \in I$ and all $a, b \in A_i$ such that $a^2 = b^3$, there exists a unique element $c \in A_i$ such that $a = c^3$ and $b = c^2$.

14.2.3 Remark. Rydh has also studied perfectly reduced schemes under the name *absolutely weakly normal* schemes [109, Definition B.1].

14.2.4 Example. A Q-scheme is perfectly reduced if and only if it is seminormal.

Let *p* be a prime number. A reduced \mathbf{F}_p -scheme is perfectly reduced if and only if it is perfect.

14.3 Perfection

We now show that \mathbf{Sch}_{perf} is the result of inverting the universal homeomorphisms in **Sch**. More precisely, we show that the inclusion $\mathbf{Sch}_{perf} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{Sch}$ admits a right adjoint $X \mapsto X_{perf}$ and the counit $X_{perf} \to X$ is a universal homeomorphism. We first check that inverse limits of universal homeomorphisms are universal homeomorphisms.

14.3.1 Lemma. Let X be a scheme. Let A be an inverse category, and $W : A \to \operatorname{Sch}_{/X}$ a diagram of X-schemes. Assume that for each object $\alpha \in A$, the structure morphism $p_{\alpha} : W_{\alpha} \to X$ is a universal homeomorphism. Then the natural morphism

$$p: W' \coloneqq \lim_{\alpha \in A^{\mathrm{op}}} W_{\alpha} \to X$$

is a universal homeomorphism.

Proof. All the transition morphisms $W_{\alpha} \to W_{\alpha'}$ are universal homeomorphisms. It follows from [EGA IV₃, 8.3.8(i)] that *p* is surjective. For any field *k*, the diagram

$$W(k): A^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbf{Set}$$

is a diagram of injections, hence for each $\alpha \in A^{\text{op}}$, the map $W'(k) \to W_{\alpha}(k)$ is an injection. Thus *p* is a universal injection. It remains to show that *p* is integral. Since *W* is a diagram of affine *X*-schemes, it is enough to observe that the filtered colimit $\operatorname{colim}_{\alpha \in A} p_{\alpha,*} O_{W_{\alpha}}$ is an integral O_X -algebra.

14.3.2 Proposition. The inclusion $\operatorname{Sch}_{\operatorname{perf}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sch}$ admits a right adjoint, and the counit $X_{\operatorname{perf}} \to X$ is a universal homeomorphism.

Proof. For any coherent scheme X, let $UH_X \subset \mathbf{Sch}_{/X}$ be the full subcategory spanned by the universal homeomorphisms $p: Y \to X$. The full subcategory of UH_X spanned by the finite universal homeomorphisms is limit-cofinal in UH_X . Hence the limit of X-schemes

$$X_{\text{perf}} \coloneqq \lim_{Y \in \text{UH}_X} Y$$

exists and defines a universal homeomorphism $c_X : X_{perf} \to X$. Any universal homeomorphism $Y \to X_{perf}$ admits a section, which proves that X_{perf} is perfect. Moreover, if Z is perfect, then for any morphism $f : Z \to X$, the pullback $Z \cong Z \times_X X_{perf} \to X_{perf}$ provides an inverse to the natural map

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}}(Z, X_{\operatorname{perf}}) \to \operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{Sch}}(Z, X)$$
.

This proves that c is a counit morphism exhibiting \mathbf{Sch}_{perf} as a colocalization of \mathbf{Sch} . \Box

14.3.3 Corollary. The ∞ -category obtained from the 1-category Sch by inverting universal homeomorphisms is equivalent to Sch_{perf}.

14.3.4 Definition. We call the right adjoint $X \mapsto X_{perf}$ the *perfection functor*.

14.3.5 (absolute weak normalization). Rydh presented an alternative description of perfection under the name *absolute weak normalization* [109, Appendix B]. Let X be a reduced coherent scheme, and assume that X satisfies one of the following properties:

- (1) The set of irreducible components of X is finite. In this case, write \overline{X} for 'the' *absolute integral closure* of X [7, §1].
- (2) The scheme X is affine. In this case, write \overline{X} for 'the' *total integral closure* of X [37; 56]

In each of these cases, one can show that X_{perf} is isomorphic to the weak normalization of X (in the sense of Andreotti–Bombieri [5, Teorema 2]) under $\overline{X} \to X$.

14.3.6 Example. For reduced **Q**-schemes, perfection agrees with seminormalization [**STK**, Tag 0EUT].

14.3.7 Example. Let *p* be a prime number. If *X* is a reduced \mathbf{F}_p -scheme then by [18, Lemma 3.8] we have a natural isomorphism

$$X_{\mathrm{perf}} \cong \lim \left(\begin{array}{cc} \cdots & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Frob}_X} & X \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Frob}_X} & X \end{array} \right),$$

where Frob_X is the absolute Frobenius.

In preparation for discussing Grothendieck's Conjecture in the next section, the remainder of this section is concerned with studying properties of schemes up to universal homeomorphism.

14.3.8 Definition. Let X and Y be coherent schemes. A *topological morphism* from X to Y is an morphism $f : X_{perf} \rightarrow Y$. If f induces an isomorphism $X_{perf} \rightarrow Y_{perf}$, then we call f a *topological equivalence* from X to Y.

14.3.9 Definition. Let *P* be a property of morphisms of schemes that is stable under base change and composition. We say that a morphism $f : X \to Y$ is *topologically P* if and only if *f* is topologically equivalent to a morphism of schemes $f' : X' \to Y'$ with property *P*.

14.3.10. Let *P* be a property of morphisms of schemes that is stable under base change and composition. The class of topologically *P* morphisms is the smallest class of morphisms P^t that contains *P* and satisfies the following condition: for any commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} Y \\ \phi \downarrow & & \downarrow \psi \\ X' & \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} Y' \end{array}$$

in which ϕ and ψ are universal homeomorphisms, the morphism f lies in P^t if and only if f' does.

A morphism $f : X \to Y$ of perfectly reduced schemes is topologically P if and only if f factors as a universal homeomorphism $X \to X'$ followed by a morphism $X' \to Y$ with property P.

14.3.11 Example. A morphism $f: X \to Y$ of perfectly reduced schemes is topologically radicial, surjective, universally closed, or integral if and only if f is radicial, surjective, universally closed, or integral (respectively). **14.3.12 Example.** A morphism $f: X \to Y$ of perfectly reduced schemes is topologically étale if and only if f is étale. Indeed, if $f' : X' \to Y$ is étale, then X' is perfectly reduced [109, Proposition B.6(ii)].

14.4 Grothendieck's Conjecture & the proof of the Reconstruction Theorem

The étale fundamental group is an information-dense invariant, and Grothendieck's Anabelian Conjectures are roughly an investigation of the extent to which the étale fundamental group is a *complete* invariant for certain classes of schemes. In dimension 0, the classical Neukirch–Uchida Theorem [98; 99; 132] ensures that two number fields are isomorphic if and only if their absolute Galois groups are isomorphic as profinite groups. In dimension 1, Tamagawa [127] and Mochizuki [92] show that dominant morphisms between smooth hyperbolic curves over suitable fields of characteristic zero can be detected at the level of fundamental groups. Work of Pop [102, Theorem 1] shows that an isomorphism between two function fields over finitely generated fields can be detected at the level of Galois groups.

If the étale fundamental group is information-dense, then the étale homotopy type must be even more so. Indeed, Schmidt and Stix [115, Theorem 1.2] show that over a finitely generated field k of characteristic 0, if X and Y are smooth, geometrically connected varieties that can be embedded as locally closed subschemes of a product of hyperbolic curves, then the map

$$\operatorname{Isom}_{k}(X,Y) \to \operatorname{Isom}_{\operatorname{BG}_{k}}(\widehat{\Pi}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}_{\infty}(X),\widehat{\Pi}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}_{\infty}(Y))$$

is a split injection with a natural retraction. Here $Isom_{BG_k}$ denotes the set of homotopy classes of equivalences of profinite spaces over BG_{k} .

In this section we discuss the relationship between the Galois category of a coherent scheme and Grothendieck's anabelian program. We begin by isolating the class of schemes that appear in Grothendieck's Conjecture.

14.4.1 Definition. We call a scheme X absolute if X is perfectly reduced and the morphism $X \to \text{Spec } \mathbb{Z}$ is topologically essentially of finite type. Write $\text{Sch}_{abs} \subset \text{Sch}_{perf}$ for the subcategory whose objects are absolute schemes and whose morphisms are of finite type.

In order to understand the extent to which the formation of the étale ∞ -topos of an absolute scheme is fully faithful, we need to isolate a basic property that morphisms of étale ∞ -topoi induced by morphisms of schemes have that general geometric morphisms do not have. The things to notice is that Chevalley's Theorem ensures that any morphism of finite presentation between coherent schemes carries constructible sets to constructible sets.

14.4.2 Definition (admissible morphisms). Let S and T be spectral topological spaces. We say that a quasicompact continuous map $f: S \to T$ is *admissible* if and only if the f sends constructible subset of S to constructible subsets of T.

Accordingly, we say that a morphism $\Pi \to \Pi'$ of profinite stratified spaces is admissible if and only if the induced quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological

spaces $h_0(\Pi) \to h_0(\Pi')$ is admissible. We write $\mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge, \mathrm{adm}} \subset \mathbf{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}$ for the subcategory containing all objects with morphisms the admissible morphisms.

Likewise, if X and Y are bounded coherent ∞ -topoi, we say that a coherent geometric morphism $f_*: X \to Y$ is *admissible* if and only if the induced quasicompact continuous map of spectral topological spaces $S(X) \to S(Y)$ is admissible (Notation 8.3.8). We write

$$\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc,adm}} \subset \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc}}$$

for the subcategory containing all objects with morphisms the admissible geometric morphisms.

14.4.3 (admissible morphisms of Jacobson spaces). Recall that a topological space *S* is *Jacobson* if every nonempty locally closed subset of *S* contains a closed point of *S* [STK, Tag 005T]. If *S* and *T* are Jacobson spectral topological spaces, then a quasicompact continuous map $f: S \to T$ is admissible if and only if *f* carries closed points of *S* to closed points of *T*. Similarly, if Π and Π' are profinite stratified spaces such that $h_0(\Pi)$ and $h_0(\Pi)$ are Jacobson spectral topological spaces, then a morphism $f: \Pi \to \Pi'$ is admissible if and only if *f* carries minimal objects to minimal objects.

Here is the 'tantalising conjecture' of Grothendieck in his letter to Faltings [47, p. 7]:

14.4.4 Conjecture. The functor

$$(-)_{\acute{e}t} : \mathbf{Sch}_{abs} \to (\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{bc,adm})_{/(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbf{Z})_{\acute{e}t}}$$

is fully faithful. In particular, if X and Y are absolute schemes, then any admissible geometric morphism $X_{\text{ét}} \rightarrow Y_{\text{ét}}$ is induced by a finite type morphism $X \rightarrow Y$.

Conjecture 14.4.4 implies the following stratified anabelian result:

14.4.5 Corollary. Assume Conjecture 14.4.4. Then the functor

Gal: Sch_{abs}
$$\rightarrow$$
 (Str ^{\wedge ,adm})/Gal(Spec Z)

is fully faithful. In particular, if X and Y are absolute schemes, then any admissible morphism $Gal(X) \rightarrow Gal(Y)$ is induced by a finite type morphism $X \rightarrow Y$.

An early paper of Voevodsky [133] provides a proof of Conjecture 14.4.4 when restricted to normal absolute schemes of characteristic 0.

14.4.6 Theorem ([133, Theorem 3.1]). *Let* k be a finitely generated field of characteristic 0, and write $\mathbf{Sch}_{k}^{\text{norm}}$ for the category of normal schemes of finite type over k. Then the functor

$$(-)_{\text{ét}}$$
: $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{norm}} \to (\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{bc,adm}})_{/(\mathrm{Spec}\,k)_{\text{ét}}}$

is fully faithful.

Voevodsky also claims that, with some modifications, his proof will work when *k* is a finitely generated field of positive characteristic and of transcendence degree ≥ 1 .

Voevodsky's result combined with Conceptual Completeness (Theorem 3.11.2= [SAG, Theorem A.9.0.6]) show that a morphism $f : X \to Y$ of reduced normal schemes of finite type over a finitely generated filed of characteristic 0 is an isomorphism if and only if f induces and equivalence on categories of points $Pt(X_{\acute{e}t}) \cong Pt(Y_{\acute{e}t})$. Combining our ∞ -categorical Hochster Duality Theorem with Voevodsky's Theorem and our identification of $\hat{\Pi}^{\acute{e}t}_{(\infty,1)}(X)$ with the topological category Gal(X) (Construction 12.1.5), we can upgrade this conservativity result to the following strong Reconstruction Theorem for these schemes:

14.4.7 Theorem (Reconstruction). Let k be a finitely generated field of characteristic 0 and let $\overline{k} \supset k$ be an algebraic closure of k. Then for any normal k-schemes X and Y of finite type, the natural map

$$\operatorname{Mor}_{k}(X, Y) \to \operatorname{Mor}_{\operatorname{BG}_{k}}(\operatorname{Gal}(X), \operatorname{Gal}(Y))$$

identifies $\operatorname{Mor}_k(X, Y)$ with the subgroupoid of continuous functors $\operatorname{Gal}(X) \to \operatorname{Gal}(Y)$ that carry minimal objects to minimal objects.

In particular, if X and Y are normal k-schemes of finite type, and Gal(X) and Gal(Y) are equivalent as topological categories over BG_k , then X and Y are isomorphic as k-schemes.

Thus the category of normal k-schemes of finite type can be embedded as a subcategory of profinite categories with an action of G_k , as asserted in Theorem 0.0.5.

14.4.8. The data of the map $Gal(X) \rightarrow BG_k$ is the same as a continuous G_k action on the fiber over the point of BG_k specified by the algebraic closure $\overline{k} \supset k$. This fiber can be identified with the Galois category $Gal(X_{\overline{k}})$.

14.4.9 Example. Let *k* be a finitely generated field of characteristic 0 and choose a complex embedding $\overline{k} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}$. Then by Stratified Riemann Existence (Corollary 12.6.6), a normal *k*-variety *X* can be reconstructed from the profinite stratified space

$$\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}(\widetilde{X_{\overline{k}}^{\mathrm{an}}};X_{\overline{k}}^{\mathrm{zar}})$$

with its G_k -action.

14.5 Example: Curves

Let k be a finitely generated field of characteristic 0. In this section, we illustrate how to use Theorem 14.4.7 to reconstruct a connected, smooth, complete curve over k from a combination of stratified-homotopy-theoretic and Galois-theoretic data.

14.5.1 Notation. Let $n \ge 2$ be an integer. Let \wedge_n be the poset with underlying set $\{0, 1, \dots, n-1, \infty\}$, where $0, 1, \dots, n-1$ are pairwise incomparable, and for each element $i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}$ we have $i < \infty$. Let $p_n \colon \wedge_{n+1} \to \wedge_n$ be the map of posets defined by

$$p_n(i) \coloneqq \begin{cases} i , & i \in \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\} \\ \infty , & i \in \{n, \infty\} \end{cases}.$$

Write \wedge for the profinite poset definied by the inverse system

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}_4 \xrightarrow{p_3} \mathbb{A}_3 \xrightarrow{p_2} \mathbb{A}_2$$

As a spectral topological space, \wedge is isomorphic to the underlying Zariski topological space of any connected, normal curve.

For each integer $g \ge 0$ we construct a profinite stratified space \widehat{C}_g that abstractly plays the role of a connected, smooth, complete curve of genus g. To do this, we first identify the décollage over \wedge_n associated to the exit-path ∞ -category of a closed smooth surface of genus g with closed strata given by n marked points.

14.5.2 Construction (the profinite stratified space \hat{C}_g). Let $g \ge 0$ be an integer. Define a spatial décollage

$$C_{g,n}$$
: $sd^{op}(\Lambda_n) \to S$

over \wedge_n as follows. For each $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$, set $C_{g,n}\{i\} := \{i\}$, and let $C_{g,n}\{\infty\}$ be the classifying space of the free group on generators

$$a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, \ldots, a_g, b_g, c_1, c_2, \ldots, c_{n-1}$$

For each $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$, let $C_{g,n}\{i < \infty\}$ be the classifying space of the free group on a single generator ξ_i . The morphisms $C_{g,n}\{i < \infty\} \to C_{g,n}\{\infty\}$ carry the generator ξ_i to

$$\begin{pmatrix} ([a_1, b_1][a_2, b_2] \cdots [a_g, b_g]) (c_1 c_2 \dots c_{n-1})^{-1}, & i = 0 \\ c_i, & i \neq 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Define a morphism of spatial décollages $C_{g,n+1} \rightarrow C_{g,n}$ over p_n by carrying $a_j \mapsto a_j$, $b_j \mapsto b_j$, $c_i \mapsto c_i$ for $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$, and c_n to the identity. We abuse notation and also write $C_{g,n}$ for the \wedge_n -stratified space associated to the spatial décollage $C_{g,n}$. With this notation, we have defined an inverse system of stratified spaces

$$\cdots \rightarrow C_{g,4} \rightarrow C_{g,3} \rightarrow C_{g,2}$$

For each integer $n \ge 2$, let $\hat{C}_{g,n}$ be the profinite completion of the \wedge_n -stratified space $C_{g,n}$. We write \hat{C}_g for the profinite \wedge -stratified space defined by the inverse system of profinite stratified spaces

$$\cdots \to \hat{\mathbf{C}}_{g,4} \to \hat{\mathbf{C}}_{g,3} \to \hat{\mathbf{C}}_{g,2} \; .$$

For the remainder of this section we fix a finitely generated field k of characteristic 0 and an algebraic closure $\overline{k} \supset k$ of k. The following is immediate from Corollary 12.6.6.

14.5.3 Proposition. Let C be a connected, smooth, complete curve over k of genus g. Then $\operatorname{Gal}(C_{\overline{k}})$ is equivalent to the profinite stratified space \widehat{C}_{g} .

Theorem 14.4.7 says that the curve C can be reconstructed from the profinite stratified space $\operatorname{Gal}(C_{\overline{k}}) \simeq \widehat{C}_g$ with its action of G_k .

To explain this point in more detail, let us make the following slightly tongue-incheek definition. 14.5.4 Definition. Let k be a field. An incorporeal field extension of k is a finite transitive G_k -set.

Galois theory shows that the assignment $E \mapsto \operatorname{Gal}(E \otimes_k \overline{k})$ defines an equivalence from the category of finite extensions of k to the category of incorporeal field extensions of k. We partially extend this to curves.

14.5.5 Definition. Let k be a field and $g \ge 0$ an integer. An *incorporeal curve over k* of genus g is a continuous action α of G_k on \hat{C}_g .

Let $(\hat{C}_{g_1}, \alpha_1)$ and $(\hat{C}_{g_2}, \alpha_2)$ be incorporeal curves over k. A k-morphism

$$(\widehat{\mathbf{C}}_{g_1}, \alpha_1) \to (\widehat{\mathbf{C}}_{g_2}, \alpha_2)$$

is a G_k -equivariant continuous functor $\widehat{C}_{g_1} \to \widehat{C}_{g_2}$. Let *S* be an incorporeal field extension of *k*. An *S*-point of an incorporeal curve (\widehat{C}_g, α) over k is a G_k -equivariant functor $S \to \widehat{C}_g$.

Incorporeal curves are completely group-theoretic objects. They amount to inverse families of free profinite groups along with actions of G_k .

14.5.6. Theorem 14.4.7 implies that the assignment $C \mapsto \operatorname{Gal}(C_{\overline{k}})$ defines a fully faithful functor from connected, smooth, complete curves over k to incorporeal curves over k.

Additionally, it allows one to reconstruct the points of C from the corresponding incorporeal curve. For any finite extension $k' \supset k$, we have a natural bijection between the set of k'-points of C and the set of $\operatorname{Gal}(k' \otimes_k \overline{k})$ -points of $\operatorname{Gal}(C_{\overline{k}})$.

References

- STK The Stacks Project Authors, Stacks project, stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2019.
- HTT J. Lurie, *Higher topos theory*, ser. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2009, vol. 170, pp. xviii+925, ISBN: 978-0-691-14049-0; 0-691-14049-9.
- HA _____, *Higher algebra*, Preprint available at math.harvard.edu/~lurie/ papers/HA.pdf, Sep. 2017.
- SAG _____, Spectral algebraic geometry, Preprint available at math.harvard.edu/ ~lurie/papers/SAG-rootfile.pdf, Feb. 2018.
- DAG XIII _____, Derived algebraic geometry XIII. Rational and p-adic homotopy theory, Preprint available at www.math.harvard.edu/~lurie/papers/DAG-XIII.pdf, Dec. 2011.
- EGA IV₃ A. Grothendieck, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., no. 28, p. 255, 1966.
 - SGA 1 Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–61 (SGA 1). Dirigé par A. Grothendieck. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 224. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1960–61, pp. xxii+447.
- SGA 3_{II} Schémas en groupes. II: Groupes de type multiplicatif, et structure des schémas en groupes généraux, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1962–64 (SGA 3). Dirigé par M. Demazure et A. Grothendieck. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 152. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1962–64, pp. ix+654.
- SGA 4, Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 1: Théorie des topos, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1963–64 (SGA 4). Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, J.-L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de N. Bourbaki, P. Deligne, B. Saint–Donat. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 269. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1963–64, pp. xix+525.
- SGA 4_{II} Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 2, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1963–64 (SGA 4). Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, J.-L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de N. Bourbaki, P. Deligne, B. Saint–Donat. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 270. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1963–64, iv+ 418.
- SGA 4_{III} Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 3, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1963–64 (SGA 4). Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, J.-L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de N. Bourbaki, P. Deligne, B. Saint–Donat. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 305. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1963–64, vi+ 640.
- SGA 7_{II} Groupes de monodromie en géométrie algébrique. II, ser. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1967–69 (SGA 7). Dirigé par A. Grothendieck. Par P. Deligne et N. Katz. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 340. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1967–69, pp. x+438.
 - A. Abbes, M. Gros, and T. Tsuji, *The p-adic Simpson correspondence*, ser. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2016, vol. 193, pp. xi+603, ISBN: 978-0-691-17029-9; 978-0-691-17028-2. DOI: 10.1515/9781400881239.

- P. Achinger, Wild ramification and K(π, 1) spaces, Invent. Math., vol. 210, no. 2, pp. 453–499, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s00222-017-0733-5.
- M. Ando, A. J. Blumberg, and D. Gepner, *Parametrized spectra, multiplicative Thom spectra and the twisted Umkehr map*, Geom. Topol., vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 3761–3825, 2018. DOI: 10.2140/gt.2018.22.3761.
- M. Ando, A. J. Blumberg, D. Gepner, M. J. Hopkins, and C. Rezk, *An*∞-*categorical* approach to *R*-line bundles, *R*-module Thom spectra, and twisted *R*-homology, J. Topol., vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 869–893, 2014. DOI: 10.1112/jtopol/jtt035.
- A. Andreotti and E. Bombieri, Sugli omeomorfismi delle varietà algebriche, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup Pisa (3), vol. 23, pp. 431–450, 1969.
- 6. K. Aoki, *Tensor triangular geometry of filtered objects and sheaves*, Preprint available at arXiv: 2001.00319, Jan. 2020.
- 7. M. Artin, On the joins of Hensel rings, Advances in Math., vol. 7, 282–296 (1971), 1971.
- M. Artin and B. Mazur, *Étale homotopy*, ser. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 100. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1969, pp. iii+169.
- 9. R. Asai and J. Shah, *Algorithmic canonical stratifications of simplicial complexes*, Preprint available at arXiv:1808.06568, Aug. 2018.
- D. Ayala, J. Francis, and N. Rozenblyum, A stratified homotopy hypothesis, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 1071–1178, 2019. DOI: 10.4171/JEMS/ 856.
- T. Bachmann and M. Hoyois, Norms in motivic homotopy theory, Preprint arXiv: 1711.03061, Sep. 2018.
- I. Barnea and T. M. Schlank, A projective model structure on pro-simplicial sheaves, and the relative étale homotopy type, Adv. Math., vol. 291, pp. 784–858, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.aim.2015.11.014.
- 13. C. Barwick, *On Galois categories & perfectly reduced schemes*, Preprint available at arXiv:1811.06125, Nov. 2018.
- 14. C. Barwick and P. J. Haine, *Exodromy for stacks*, Preprint available at arXiv: 1901.09414, Jan. 2019.
- 15. ____, *Pyknotic objects, I. Basic notions*, Preprint available at arXiv:1904. 09966, Apr. 2019.
- A. A. Beĭlinson, J. Bernstein, P. Deligne, and O. Gabber, *Faisceaux pervers*, in *Analysis and topology on singular spaces*, *I (Luminy, 1981)*, ser. Astérisque, vol. 100, 2018 réédition, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1982, pp. 5–171, ISBN: 978-2-85629-878-7. DOI: 10.24033/ast.1042.
- B. Bhatt and P. Scholze, *The pro-étale topology for schemes*, Astérisque, no. 369, pp. 99–201, 2015.
- 18. _____, *Projectivity of the Witt vector affine Grassmannian*, Invent. Math., vol. 209, no. 2, pp. 329–423, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s00222-016-0710-4.
- S. Bosch, W. Lütkebohmert, and M. Raynaud, *Néron models*, ser. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3). Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990, vol. 21, pp. x+325, ISBN: 3-540-50587-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-51438-8.

- M. Bunge and S. Lack, *Van Kampen theorems for toposes*, Adv. Math., vol. 179, no. 2, pp. 291–317, 2003. DOI: 10.1016/S0001-8708(03)00010-0.
- 21. D. Carchedi, *On the étale homotopy type of higher stacks*, Preprint available at arXiv:1511.07830, Jul. 2016.
- 22. K. Česnavičius and P. Scholze, *Purity for flat cohomology*, Preprint available at arXiv:1912.10932, Dec. 2019.
- C.-Y. Cho, *Topological types of Algebraic stacks*. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2016, p. 104, Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of California, Berkeley, ISBN: 978-1369-05672-3.
- C.-Y. Chough, *Topological Types of Algebraic Stacks*, Apr. 2019. DOI: 10.1093/ imrn/rnz065. eprint: http://oup.prod.sis.lan/imrn/advance-articlepdf/doi/10.1093/imrn/rnz065/28266095/rnz065.pdf.
- 25. _____, *Proper base change for lcc étale sheaves of spaces*, Preprint available at cgp.ibs.re.kr/~chough/chough_proper.pdf.
- D.-C. Cisinski, *Higher categories and homotopical algebra*, ser. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2019, vol. 180, pp. xviii+430, ISBN: 978-1-108-47320-0. DOI: 10.1017/9781108588737.
- D. Clausen and A. Mathew, *Hyperdescent and étale K-theory*, Preprint available at arXiv:https://arxiv.org/abs/1905.06611, Jun. 2019.
- D. A. Cox, Algebraic tubular neighborhoods I, Math. Scand., vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 211–228, 1978. DOI: 10.7146/math.scand.a-11749.
- 29. _____, *Algebraic tubular neighborhoods II*, Math. Scand., vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 229–242, 1978. DOI: 10.7146/math.scand.a-11750.
- 30. _____, *Homotopy theory of simplicial schemes*, Compositio Math., vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 263–296, 1979.
- 31. P. Deligne, *La conjecture de Weil. II*, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., no. 52, pp. 137–252, 1980.
- S. Douteau, Étude homotopique des espaces stratifiés, Available at arXiv:1908.
 01366, PhD thesis, Université de Picardie Jules Verne, Aug. 2019.
- 33. ____, *Homotopy theory of stratified spaces*, Available at arXiv:1911.04921, Nov. 2019.
- E. J. Dubuc, *The fundamental progroupoid of a general topos*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra, vol. 212, no. 11, pp. 2479–2492, 2008. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpaa.2008. 03.022.
- 35. D. Dugger, *Notes on Delta-generated spaces*, Preprint available at pages.uoregon. edu/ddugger/delta.html.
- T. Ekedahl, On the adic formalism, in The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. II, ser. Progr. Math. Vol. 87, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 197–218.
- E. Enochs, *Totally integrally closed rings*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 19, pp. 701– 706, 1968.
- L. Fajstrup and J. Rosický, A convenient category for directed homotopy, Theory Appl. Categ., vol. 21, No. 1, 7–20, 2008.

- E. M. Friedlander, *Étale homotopy of simplicial schemes*, ser. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982, vol. 104, pp. vii+190, ISBN: 0-691-08288-X; 0-691-08317-7.
- D. Gaitsgory and J. Lurie, Weil's conjecture for function fields. Vol. 1, ser. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2019, vol. 199, pp. viii+311, ISBN: 978-0-691-18214-8; 978-0-691-18213-1.
- D. Gepner and J. Kock, Univalence in locally cartesian closed ∞-categories, Forum Math., vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 617–652, 2017. DOI: 10.1515/forum-2015– 0228.
- J. Giraud, *Cohomologie non abélienne*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971, pp. ix+467, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 179.
- A. M. Gleason, *Projective topological spaces*, Illinois J. Math., vol. 2, pp. 482– 489, 1958.
- 44. M. Goresky and R. MacPherson, *Intersection homology*. *II*, Invent. Math., vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 77–129, 1983. DOI: 10.1007/BF01389130.
- A. Grothendieck, Archives Grothendieck, Mathematical notes compiled by the Université de Montpellier. Available at grothendieck. umontpellier.fr/ archives-grothendieck, 1953–1992.
- 46. _____, Translation of a letter of A. Grothendieck to L. Breen 17/2/1975, Available at webusers . imj prg . fr / ~leila . schneps / grothendieckcircle / Letters/breen1.html, Feb. 1975.
- 47. _____, *Brief an G. Faltings*, in *Geometric Galois actions*, *1*, ser. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. Vol. 242, With an English translation on pp. 285–293, Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1997, pp. 49–58.
- , *Esquisse d'un programme*, in *Geometric Galois actions*, 1, ser. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. Vol. 242, With an English translation on pp. 243– 283, Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1997, pp. 5–48.
- 49. P. J. Haine, *Extended étale homotopy groups from profinite Galois categories*, Preprint available at arXiv:1812.11637, Dec. 2018.
- 50. _____, On coherent topoi & coherent 1-localic ∞-topoi, Preprint available at arXiv: 1904.01877, Apr. 2019.
- 51. _____, On the homotopy theory of stratified spaces, Preprint available at arXiv: 1811.01119, Sep. 2019.
- 52. T. Haraguchi, A homotopy theory of diffeological and numerically generated spaces, PhD thesis, Graduate School of Natural Science and Technology, Okayama University, 2013.
- 53. _____, On model structure for coreflective subcategories of a model category, Math. J. Okayama Univ., vol. 57, pp. 79–84, 2015.
- 54. A. Henriques, *Orbispaces*, Available at dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/ 33091, PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2005.
- 55. _____, A model category for stratified spaces, Preprint available at and reghenriques. com/PDF/Model_Cat_Stratified_spaces.pdf.
- M. Hochster, *Totally integrally closed rings and extremal spaces*, Pacific J. Math., vol. 32, pp. 767–779, 1970.

- 57. M. Hochster, *Prime ideal structure in commutative rings*, PhD thesis, Princeton University, 1967.
- Prime ideal structure in commutative rings, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 142, pp. 43–60, 1969.
- A. Holschbach, J. Schmidt, and J. Stix, *Étale contractible varieties in positive characteristic*, Algebra Number Theory, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 1037–1044, 2014. DOI: 10.2140/ant.2014.8.1037.
- M. Hoyois, A quadratic refinement of the Grothendieck-Lefschetz-Verdier trace formula, Algebr. Geom. Topol., vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 3603–3658, 2014. DOI: 10. 2140/agt.2014.14.3603.
- 61. _____, *A trivial remark on the Nisnevich topology*, Notes available at www.mathematik.ur.de/hoyois/papers/allagree.pdf, Jan. 2016.
- 62. _____, *Higher Galois theory*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra, vol. 222, no. 7, pp. 1859– 1877, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpaa.2017.08.010.
- 63. ____, *The étale symmetric Künneth theorem*, Preprint available at arXiv:1810. 00351, Oct. 2018.
- 64. _____, *Topoi of parametrized objects*, Theory Appl. Categ., vol. 34, Paper No. 9, 243–248, 2019.
- 65. _____, Notes on the Nisnevich topology and Thom spaces in motivic homotopy theory, with a proof of the motivic tubular neighborhood theorem, Notes available at http://www.mathematik.ur.de/hoyois/papers/nisnevich.pdf.
- 66. L. Illusie, Vanishing cycles over general bases after P. Deligne, O. Gabber, G. Laumon and F. Orgogozo, Preprint available at www.math.u-psud.fr/ ~illusie/vanishing1b.pdf, Apr. 2006.
- 67. L. Illusie, Y. Laszlo, and F. Orgogozo, Eds., *Travaux de Gabber sur l'uniformisation locale et la cohomologie étale des schémas quasi-excellents*. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2014, i–xxiv and 1–625, Séminaire à l'École Polytechnique 2006–2008. With the collaboration of Frédéric Déglise, Alban Moreau, Vincent Pilloni, Michel Raynaud, Joël Riou, Benoît Stroh, Michael Temkin and Weizhe Zheng, Astérisque No. 363-364 (2014).
- D. C. Isaksen, A model structure on the category of pro-simplicial sets, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 353, no. 7, pp. 2805–2841, 2001. DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9947-01-02722-2.
- 69. _____, Étale realization on the A¹-homotopy theory of schemes, Adv. Math., vol. 184, no. 1, pp. 37–63, 2004. DOI: 10.1016/S0001-8708(03)00094-X.
- 70. , *Strict model structures for pro-categories*, in *Categorical decomposition techniques in algebraic topology (Isle of Skye, 2001)*, ser. Progr. Math. Vol. 215, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2004, pp. 179–198.
- P. T. Johnstone, *Sketches of an elephant: A topos theory compendium. Vol.* 2, ser. Oxford Logic Guides. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002, vol. 44, i–xxii, 469–1089 and I1–I71, ISBN: 0-19-851598-7.
- 72. P. T. Johnstone and I. Moerdijk, *Local maps of toposes*, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 281–305, 1989. DOI: 10.1112/plms/s3-58.2.281.

- P. T. Johnstone, *Stone spaces*, ser. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986, vol. 3, pp. xxii+370, Reprint of the 1982 edition, ISBN: 0-521-33779-8.
- A. Joyal, *Quasi-categories and Kan complexes*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra, vol. 175, no. 1-3, pp. 207–222, 2002, Special volume celebrating the 70th birthday of Professor Max Kelly. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-4049(02)00135-4.
- 75. , Notes on quasi-categories, Preprint, Dec. 2008.
- _____, The theory of quasi-categories and its applications, in Advanced Course on Simplicial Methods in Higher Categories, Centre de Recerca Matemàtica, vol. 2, 2008.
- A. Joyal and M. Tierney, *Quasi-categories vs Segal spaces*, in *Categories in algebra, geometry and mathematical physics*, ser. Contemp. Math. Vol. 431, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007, pp. 277–326. DOI: 10.1090/conm/431/08278.
- D. M. Kan, On c.s.s. complexes, Amer. J. Math., vol. 79, pp. 449–476, 1957. DOI: 10.2307/2372558.
- 79. _____, *On the homotopy relation for c.s.s. maps*, Bol. Soc. Mat. Mexicana, vol. 2, pp. 75–81, 1957.
- 80. <u>, A combinatorial definition of homotopy groups</u>, Ann. of Math. (2), vol. <u>67</u>, pp. 282–312, 1958. DOI: 10.2307/1970006.
- 81. _____, On homotopy theory and c.s.s. groups, Ann. of Math. (2), vol. 68, pp. 38– 53, 1958. DOI: 10.2307/1970042.
- 82. _____, *A relation between* CW-complexes and free c.s.s. groups, Amer. J. Math., vol. 81, pp. 512–528, 1959. DOI: 10.2307/2372755.
- G. Laumon, Vanishing cycles over a base of dimension ≥ 1, in Algebraic geometry (Tokyo/Kyoto, 1982), ser. Lecture Notes in Math. Vol. 1016, Springer, Berlin, 1983, pp. 143–150.
- J. V. Leahy and M. A. Vitulli, Seminormal rings and weakly normal varieties, Nagoya Math. J., vol. 82, pp. 27–56, 1981.
- 85. J. Lurie, *Lecture 11: Coherent topoi*, Course notes for *Categorical Logic*. Available at www.math.harvard.edu/~lurie/278x.html, Spring 2018.
- _____, Ultracategories, Preprint available at www.math.harvard.edu/~lurie/ papers/Conceptual.pdf, 2018.
- M. Makkai and G. E. Reyes, *First order categorical logic*, ser. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 611. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1977, pp. viii+301, Model-theoretical methods in the theory of topoi and related categories, ISBN: 3-540-08439-8.
- J. P. May and J. Sigurdsson, *Parametrized homotopy theory*, ser. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006, vol. 132, pp. x+441, ISBN: 978-0-8218-3922-5; 0-8218-3922-5. DOI: 10.1090/ surv/132.
- J. S. Milne, Arithmetic duality theorems, Second. BookSurge, LLC, Charleston, SC, 2006, pp. viii+339, ISBN: 1-4196-4274-X.
- J. S. Milne, *Étale cohomology*, ser. Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980, vol. 33, pp. xiii+323, ISBN: 0-691-08238-3.

- M. D. Misamore, *Nonabelian H¹ and the étale van Kampen theorem*, Canad. J. Math., vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 1388–1415, 2011. DOI: 10.4153/CJM-2011-030-x.
- S. Mochizuki, The profinite Grothendieck conjecture for closed hyperbolic curves over number fields, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 571–627, 1996.
- I. Moerdijk and J. J. C. Vermeulen, *Proof of a conjecture of A. Pitts*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra, vol. 143, no. 1-3, pp. 329–338, 1999, Special volume on the occasion of the 60th birthday of Professor Michael Barr (Montreal, QC, 1997).
- 94. _____, *Proper maps of toposes*, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 148, no. 705, pp. x+108, 2000. DOI: 10.1090/memo/0705.
- F. Morel and V. Voevodsky, A¹-homotopy theory of schemes, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., no. 90, 45–143 (2001), 1999.
- 96. S. Nand-Lal, *A simplicial approach to stratified homotopy theory*, PhD thesis, University of Liverpool, 2019.
- 97. S. Nand-Lal and J. Woolf, *A simplicial approach to stratified homotopy theory*, In preparation.
- J. Neukirch, Kennzeichnung der p-adischen und der endlichen algebraischen Zahlkörper, Invent. Math., vol. 6, pp. 296–314, 1969. DOI: 10.1007/BF01425420.
- 99. _____, Kennzeichnung der endlich-algebraischen Zahlkörper durch die Galoisgruppe der maximal auflösbaren Erweiterungen, J. Reine Angew. Math., vol. 238, 135–147, 1969. DOI: 10.1515/cr11.1969.238.135.
- Y. A. Nisnevich, *The completely decomposed topology on schemes and associated descent spectral sequences in algebraic K-theory*, in *Algebraic K-theory: Connections with geometry and topology (Lake Louise, AB, 1987)*, ser. NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. Vol. 279, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1989, pp. 241–342.
- F. Orgogozo, *Modifications et cycles proches sur une base générale*, Int. Math. Res. Not., Art. ID 25315, 38, 2006. DOI: 10.1155/IMRN/2006/25315.
- F. Pop, On Grothendieck's conjecture of birational anabelian geometry, Ann. of Math. (2), vol. 139, no. 1, pp. 145–182, 1994. DOI: 10.2307/2946630.
- 103. M. Porta and T. Y. Yu, *Higher analytic stacks and GAGA theorems*, Adv. Math., vol. 302, pp. 351–409, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.aim.2016.07.017.
- 104. G. Quick, Some remarks on profinite completion of spaces, in Galois-Teichmüller theory and arithmetic geometry, ser. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. Vol. 63, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2012, pp. 413–448. DOI: 10.2969/aspm/06310413.
- D. G. Quillen, *Homotopical algebra*, ser. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1967, vol. 43.
- 106. M. Raynaud, Revêtements de la droite affine en caractéristique p > 0 et conjecture d'Abhyankar, Invent. Math., vol. 116, no. 1-3, pp. 425–462, 1994. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01231568.
- C. Rezk, A model for the homotopy theory of homotopy theory, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 353, no. 3, 973–1007 (electronic), 2001.
- E. Riehl and D. Verity, *Elements of ∞-category theory*, Preprint available at www.math.jhu.edu/~eriehl/elements.pdf, Jul. 2018.

- D. Rydh, Submersions and effective descent of étale morphisms, Bull. Soc. Math. France, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 181–230, 2010.
- 110. _____, Étale dévissage, descent and pushouts of stacks, J. Algebra, vol. 331, pp. 194–223, 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2011.01.006.
- 111. T. Saito, *The characteristic cycle and the singular support of a constructible sheaf*, Invent. Math., vol. 207, no. 2, pp. 597–695, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s00222-016-0675-3.
- 112. T. M. Schlank, Answer to Math Overflow Question 3103: What are the higher homotopy groups of Spec Z? M0: 3103, Oct. 2009.
- 113. T. M. Schlank and L. Yanovski, *On d-categories and d-operads*, Homology Homotopy Appl., vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 283–295, 2020. DOI: 10.4310/hha.2020. v22.n1.a16.
- 114. A. Schmidt, *Extensions with restricted ramification and duality for arithmetic schemes*, Compositio Math., vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 233–245, 1996.
- A. Schmidt and J. Stix, *Anabelian geometry with étale homotopy types*, Ann. of Math. (2), vol. 184, no. 3, pp. 817–868, 2016. DOI: 10.4007/annals.2016.184. 3.5.
- P. Scholze, *Étale cohomology of diamonds*, Preprint available at arXiv: 1709. 07343, Sep. 2017.
- 117. _____, *Condensed mathematics*, Talk at MSRI, www.msri.org/workshops/ 873/schedules/26349, Mar. 2019.
- 118. _____, Condensed mathematics, Notes for an MSRI talk taken by Ian Coley, available at www.msri.org/workshops/873/schedules/26349/documents/ 50220/assets/85849, Mar. 2019.
- 119. _____, *Lectures on condensed mathematics*, Lecture notes for an ongoing course, available at www.math.uni-bonn.de/people/scholze/Condensed.pdf, Apr. 2019.
- 120. U. Schreiber, *Differential cohomology in a cohesive* ∞*-topos*, Preprint available at arXiv:1310.7930, Oct. 2013.
- 121. S. Schröer, *Geometry on totally separably closed schemes*, Algebra Number Theory, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 537–582, 2017. DOI: 10.2140/ant.2017.11.537.
- 122. _____, *Total separable closure and contractions*, Preprint arXiv:1708.06593, Aug. 2017.
- 123. J.-P. Serre, *Galois cohomology*, English, ser. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002, pp. x+210, Translated from the French by Patrick Ion and revised by the author, ISBN: 3-540-42192-0.
- K. Shimakawa, K. Yoshida, and T. Haraguchi, *Homology and cohomology via* enriched bifunctors, Kyushu J. Math., vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 239–252, 2018. DOI: 10.2206/kyushujm.72.239.
- J. Stix, A general Seifert-Van Kampen theorem for algebraic fundamental groups, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 763–786, 2006.
- T. Szamuely, *Galois groups and fundamental groups*, ser. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009, vol. 117, pp. x+270, ISBN: 978-0-521-88850-9. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511627064.

- 127. A. Tamagawa, *The Grothendieck conjecture for affine curves*, Compositio Math., vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 135–194, 1997. DOI: 10.1023/A:1000114400142.
- B. Toën, Vers une interprétation galoisienne de la théorie de l'homotopie, Cah. Topol. Géom. Différ. Catég., vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 257–312, 2002.
- 129. _____, *Homotopical and higher categorical structures in algebraic geometry*, Habilitation thesis available at arXiv:0312262, Dec. 2003.
- 130. B. Toën and G. Vezzosi, *Segal topoi and stacks over Segal categories*, Preprint available at arXiv:0212330, Jun. 2003.
- D. Treumann, *Exit paths and constructible stacks*, Compos. Math., vol. 145, no. 6, pp. 1504–1532, 2009. DOI: 10.1112/S0010437X09004229.
- K. Uchida, *Isomorphisms of Galois groups*, J. Math. Soc. Japan, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 617–620, 1976. DOI: 10.2969/jmsj/02840617.
- V. A. Voevodskiĭ, *Étale topologies of schemes over fields of finite type over* Q, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1155–1167, 1990.
- H. Yanagihara, Some results on weakly normal ring extensions, J. Math. Soc. Japan, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 649–661, 1983.
- V. Zoonekynd, *Théorème de van Kampen pour les champs algébriques*, Ann. Math. Blaise Pascal, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 101–145, 2002.

Index of Notation

Aff, 224 X^{an}, 185 BC_{σ} , 121 $Cat_{\infty}, Cat_{\infty,\delta}, 23$ **Cat**_{*n*}, 23 C_{g,n}, 234 $\hat{C}_g, 234$ $\hat{C}_{g,n}$, 234 $C_{\leq n}, C_{<\infty}, 51$ CO(D), 200 $CO_{< m}(D), 202$ Comp, 207 Cons^S(**X**; *C*), 204 **Cons**_{ét}, 224 CS(D), 200 **CSS**, 43 ົບ, 153 D_A, 190 $D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t}; E), 199$ $D_{cons}(X_{pro\acute{e}t};\Lambda), 198$ $D\acute{e}c(S), D\acute{e}c_P(S), 44$ $\text{D\acute{e}c}(\mathbf{S}_{\pi}), \mathbf{46}$ $\text{D\acute{e}c}(\mathbf{S}^{\wedge}_{\pi}), 47$ $D\acute{e}c(Top^{bc}_{\infty}), 154$ $\operatorname{D\acute{e}c}_{P}(\operatorname{Top}_{\infty}^{\operatorname{bc}}), 153$ $\delta_0, \delta_1, ..., \widetilde{22}$ $\frac{\Delta_{\leq m}}{X^{\text{disc}}}, 201$ eff, 206, 210 ε, 36 $\varepsilon_P, 37$ $e, e_{W \subset \Sigma}, 30$ FC, 31 $\operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{cts}}(C, D), 209$ $Fun_{P,*}(X, Y), 159$ Fun_{*}, Fun^{*}, **50** Fun_{Y,*}, 112 Gal(*X*), 188

 $Gal_{an}(X), 196$ $\operatorname{Gal}^{\Delta}(X_*), 223$ Γ_{*}, 50 h_n, 23 Hom, 96 I_A, 190 ι, 36 ι_P, 36 $i, i_{Z \subset \Sigma}, 30$ $j, j_{U \subset \Sigma}, 30$ λ, 150 λ, 157 λ_P , 150 Lay_{∞} , 39 Lay^{cart}_{/M}, 221 Lay^{cart, \wedge}, 221 Lay^{cart, \wedge}, 221 L_n, 51 Map_{*P*}, 35 mat, 80 N, N^{*}, N[▷], 22 [*n*], 22 N_P, 155 $N_P(\Pi)\{p\leq q\},\,35$ O_{X,x_0}^h , 192 Open^{qc}, 65 Path(*X*), 96 $Perf(\Lambda), 216$ $\Pi_{\infty}, 81$ $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{dec},P}, 176$ $\widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{predéc},P}, \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\text{déc},P}, 176$ $\widehat{\Pi}_{(\infty,1)}, 170$ $\pi_n^{\text{ét}}, 182$ $\Pi^{\acute{e}t}_{\infty}, \Pi^{\acute{e}t,hyp}_{\infty}, 184$ $\Pi_{\infty}^{\acute{e}t}, \Pi_{\infty}^{\acute{e}t, hyp}, \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\acute{e}t}, \widehat{\Pi}_{\infty}^{\acute{e}t, hyp}, 181$ $\Pi_n, 82$ $\Pi_{<\infty}, 82$

 $\Pi_{p}, 35$ $\widetilde{\Pi}$, 157 Pos, Pos^{fin}, 32 $P_{\geq p}, P_{\leq p}, P_{>p}, P_{< p}, 30$ Pro(*C*), 23 Proj, 207 **PSh**_{ét}, 224 Pt, 71 Pyk(*C*), 208 Pyk(S), 206 rk, 211 S, 146 Sch, 188, 226 Sch_{abs} , 231 Sch^{ft}_C, 185 Sch_{perf} , 228 sd, 30 sd^{op}, 44 $Sh_{\acute{e}t}, 224$ Sh_{τ} , 49 Sp, 127 $S, S_{\delta}, 23$ $S_{\pi}, 40$ S^{\wedge}_{π} , 46 Sp, 127 Stn, 206 Str, Str_P, 35 $\widehat{\Pi}^{S}_{(\infty,1)}, 171$ $\frac{(\omega, 1)}{\operatorname{Str}_{\pi}^{\wedge}, 42} \\
\operatorname{Str}_{\pi}, \operatorname{Str}_{\pi, P}, 40$ $\operatorname{Str}_{P,\geq n}, 39$ $\operatorname{Str}_{P,\leq n}, 39$ $StrTop_{\infty}, 142$ $StrTop_{\infty}, StrTop_{\infty,S}, 141$ StrTop^{bcc}_{∞}, StrTop^{bcc}_{∞,S}, 145 StrTop^{cc}_{∞}, StrTop^{cc}_{$\infty,S}, 144</sub>$ **StrTop**^{spec}_{∞}, 161 $\operatorname{Sub}_{\pi}(C), 204$ $\tau_{\leq n}$, 51 $\tau_{<\infty}^{_n}$, 79 Top_{∞}^{bc}, 67 $\mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\widetilde{bc},adm}, 232$

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Top}_{\infty}^{coh},\,54\\ \text{Top}_{<\infty}^{\wedge},\,52 \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}^{\mathrm{loc}}, \ 112 \\ \mathbf{Top}_{n}, \mathbf{Top}_{\infty}, \ 49 \end{array}$ **Top**_{∞,∗}, 115 **Top**^(X)_x, 85 $T_{\geq p}, T_{> p}, T_{\leq p}, T_{< p}, T_{p}, 31$ **TSpc**^{ng}, 34 TSpc^{sob}, 143 $W^{-1}C$, 23 $X_{<\infty}^{\mathrm{coh}}, 54$ $X^{\mathrm{b}}, 53$ X^{coh}, 54 X_{ét}, 66 **X**^{hyp}, 71 $X^{\text{indisc}}, 208$ $X^{n-\mathrm{coh}}, 54$ $X_{nis}, 66$ $X^{P-cons}, 164$ $X_{\text{perf}}, 229$ $X_{\pi}^{\wedge}, 46$ $X^{\text{post}}, 53$ $X_{\text{proét}}, 66$ \widetilde{x} , 50 $X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y, 97$ $X \times_Z Y$, 106 $X \overleftarrow{\times}_Z Y$, 108 $X_{(x)}, 114$ $X_{(x)}$, 192 **X**_s, 142 X^{S-cons}, 165 X^{S-fcons}, 165 X^{S-spec}, 168 **X**_U, 142 X_W , 142 **X**_Z, 142 $X \times Y$, 50 *X*^(*y*), 192 $X_{\rm zar}, 66$ $X \times_Z Y$, 50 $X \downarrow_Z Y$, 25 よ,23 ರ್_τ, 54

$Z \overline{\cup}_{hc}^{W} U, 95$	o, 46
$Z \overline{\cup}^{W} U, 95$	∧, 234 ∧ 233
$Z \overline{\cup}_{\rm bc}^{\phi} U, 92$	$\int_{\mathbf{Pos}}^{n} \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{sd}^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathbf{S}), 44$

Index of Terminology

1-topos coherent, 62

absolute scheme, 231 absolute weak normalization, 229 absolutely integrally closed, 192 absolutely weakly normal, 228 accessible, 23 adjointable, 121 admissible, 231, 232 Alexandroff Duality, 30 Alexandroff topology, 29 almost compact, 69 almost preserves filtered colimits, 69 analytification, 185 animation, 208

basechange condition, 121 truncated, 122 basechange transformation, 95, 121 basis, 74 bounded gluing functor, 91 ∞ -pretopos, 68 ∞ -topos, 52 bounded coherent recollement, 92 ∞ -topos, 67 bounded coherent constructible stratification, 144 bounded coherent oriented pushout, 95 bounded reflection, 53

Postnikov complete, 52 presentable, 23 category object, 200 category object m-skeletal, 201 center of a coëssential geometric morphism, 111 chain, 30 chaotic topology, 148 classifying space of an ∞-category, 36 closed subtopos, 90 coëssential, 111 coëvanescent ∞-topos, 98 coherent 1-topos, 62 geometric morphism, 54 gluing functor, 91 object, 53 scheme, 27 ∞-topos, 53 coherent constructible stratification, 144 colocal ∞-topos, 114 complement closed, 90 complete Segal object, 200 complete Segal space, 43 completeness condition, 200 Conceptual Completeness Theorem, 71 conearby cycles, 98 conical stratification. 35 ∞ -connective, 71 constructible, 164, 165, 204 profinite stratification, 33 stratification, 144 continuous functor, 209 cosieve, 29 covanishing ∞-topos, 98

décollage

profinite, 47 spatial, 44 toposic, 152 decomposition group, 190 deleted tubular neighborhood, 150, 196 Deligne Completeness Theorem, 73 δ -small, 22 locally, 22 discrete pyknotic object, 208 down-finite, 211 effective epimorphism topology, 206, 210 elementary Nisnevich square, 186 enough points, 71 equivalence shape, 81 essential geometric morphism, 111 étale geometric morphism, 50 étale neighborhood, 117 étale shape, 182, 184 profinite, 182 protruncated, 182 étale topological type, 184 étale ∞-topos, 66 étale van Kampen Theorem, 187, 196 evanescent ∞-topos, 98 exit path ∞-category, 35 Exodromy Equivalence for Stratified ∞-Topoi, 171 Exodromy Theorem for ℓ -adic sheaves, 219 exponentiable ∞ -topos, 96 extended étale homotopy progroup, 182 fiber product of ∞-topoi, 50 fibration left, 227

right, 227

topos, 220

 ∞ -site, 54

finitary

finite étale site, 88 formally constructible, 164, 165 functor conearby cycles, 98 nearby cycles, 98 Galois category, 188 geometric morphism coëssential, 111 coherent, 54 essential, 111 étale, 50 local, 112 quasi-equivalence, 110 global sections, 50 gluing functor bounded, 91 coherent, 91 gluing square, 150 ∞-groupoid, 23 henselization, 192 Hochster Duality, 32 Homotopy Theorem, 173 hypercomplete object, 71 ∞-topos, 71 hypercompletion, 71 incorporeal curve, 235 field extension, 235 indiscrete pyknotic object, 208 inertia group, 190 interior of an ∞-category, 36 interval, 29, 191 inverse ∞ -category, 23 limit, 23 of ∞-topoi, 51 Joyal-Kan model structure, 35 knots and primes, 190 layered ∞-category, 39

left adjoint proëxistent, 25 left adjointable, 121 left fibration, 227 limit inverse, 23 of ∞-topoi, 51 link, 35 of a gluing square, 150 lisse, 86, 204 local geometric morphism, 112 ∞-topos, 111 localic. 51 reflection, 51 localization of an ∞-topos, 114 of a scheme, 192 locally π -finite ∞-category, 40, 203 locally coherent ∞-topos, 53 locally constant, 86 locally constant constructible, 86 locally n-coherent ∞ -topos, 53 mapping ∞ -topos, 96 materialization, 80 model structure Joyal-Kan, 35 morphism of ∞-pretopoi, 67 relatively n-coherent, 59 *n*-connected P-stratified space, 39 *n*-truncated profinite stratified space, 174 *n*-coherent object, 53 ∞-topos, 53 nearby cycles, 98 nerve of a stratified space, 45 of a stratified ∞-topos, 155

Nisnevich excision, 186 Nisnevich ∞-topos, 66 *n*-localic reflection, 51 nonabelian derived category nonabelian derived ∞-category, 208 n-site, 49 *n*-topoi, 49 *n*-truncated P-stratified space, 39 numerically generated topological space, 34 object hypercomplete, 71 weakly initial, 191 weakly terminal, 191 open subtopos, 51 oriented fiber product of ∞-categories, 25 of ∞-topoi, 97 oriented pushout, 95 bounded coherent, 95 P-stratified space n-connected, 39 path ∞-topos, 96 perfect complex, 216 perfection, 229 perfectly reduced, 228 π-finite ∞-category, 203 space, 40 stratified space, 40 point of an ∞ -topos, 50 points ∞-category of, 71 poset down-finite, 211 profinite, 32 Postnikov complete ∞-category, 52 Postnikov complete ∞-topos, 53 Postnikov completion, 53

Postnikov towers converge, 52 pröobject, 23 presentable, 23 ∞ -presite, 55 ∞-pretopos, 67 bounded, 68 morphism, 67 proëxistent left adjoint, 25 product of ∞-topoi, 50 proétale ∞-topos, 66 profinite décollage, 47 étale shape, 182 poset, 32 shape, 85 space, 46 S-stratified space, 42 stratified space, 42 profinite completion, 42, 46 *I*-profinite ring, 215 profinite stratification constructible, 33 of a topological space, 33 profinite S-stratified shape, 171 profinite stratified space n-truncated, 174 pro-n-truncated shape, 82 pro-n-truncation, 79 prospace P-stratified, 41 stratified, 41 protruncated étale shape, 182 protruncated shape, 82 protruncation, 79 P-stratified prospace, 41 P-stratified space n-truncated, 39 P-stratified space, 35 pullback of ∞-topoi, 50 pyknotic object, 208

discrete, 208 indiscrete, 208 pyknotic space, 206 quasi-equivalence, 110 radicial, 226 rank, 211 recollement, 25 bounded coherent, 92 reflection Stone, 85 relative adjunction, 26 relatively n-coherent morphism, 59 Riemann Existence Theorem, 186 right fibration, 227 ring I-profinite, 215 scheme absolute, 231 absolutely integrally closed, 192 absolutely weakly normal, 228 coherent, 27 perfectly reduced, 228 seminormal, 228 Segal condition, 200, 201 Segal equivalence, 153 seminormal, 228 shape, 81 equivalence, 81 étale, 182, 184 profinite, 85 profinite étale, 182 pro-n-truncated, 82 protruncated, 82 protruncated étale, 182 trivial, 81 sheaf, 204 constructible, 204 lisse, 86, 204 locally constant constructible, 86 sieve, 29 site. 49 finite étale, 88

∞-site finitary, 54 small, 22 locally, 22 space, 23 π -finite, 40 classifying, 36 finite, 40 profinite, 46 stratified, 35 spatial décollage, 44 specialization preorder, 29 spectra, 127 spectral topological space, 31 ∞ -topos, 161 spectrification, 168 S-stratified space profinite, 42 stabilization, 127 Stone topological spaces, 32 ∞ -topos, 85 Stone reflection, 85 stratification bounded coherent constructible, 144 coherent constructible, 144 conical, 35 constructible, 31, 33, 144 finite, 31 nondegenerate, 31 of a topological space, 31 profinite of a topological space, 33 topological, 35 stratified Postnikov tower, 38 stratified prospace, 41 stratified space, 35 π -finite, 40 profinite, 42 stratified ∞ -topos, 141 stratified weak equivalence, 34 stratum, 31, 35, 142 strict normalization, 192 subdivision, 30

subtopos closed, 90 open, 51 topological equivalence, 230 topological morphism, 230 topological space numerically generated, 34 spectral, 31 topological spaces Stone, 32 topological stratification, 35 topologically P, 230 topology chaotic, 148 effective epimorphism, 206, 210 ∞-topos bounded, 52 bounded coherent, 67 coëvanescent, 98 coherent, 53 colocal, 114 covanishing, 98 étale, 66 evanescent, 98 exponentiable, 96 fiber product, 50 hypercomplete, 71 inverse limit, 51 local, 111 localization, 114 locally coherent, 53 locally n-coherent, 53 mapping, 96 n-coherent, 53 Nisnevich, 66 n-localic, 51 oriented fiber product, 97 path, 96 Postnikov complete, 53 proétale, 66 product, 50 pullback, 50 spectral, 161 Stone, 85 stratified, 141
vanishing, 98 Zariski, 66 topos fibration, 220 bounded coherent, 221 spectral, 221

universal homeomorphism, 227

van Kampen Theorem, 178 étale, 187, 196 vanishing ∞-topos, 98 weak equivalence stratified, 34 weakly initial, 191 weakly terminal, 191 Whitehead Theore for profinite spaces, 85 Whitehead Theorem for profinite stratified spaces, 174